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PART |
SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwardkimg statements within the meaning of Sectiond&the Securities Act of 1933
and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Ac®®4.1Forwardlooking statements are any statements that lodittoe events and consist
among other things, statements regarding our bissirsérategies; anticipated future operating resaltsl operating expenses; our ability to
attract new clients to enter into subscriptions éor solutions; our ability to service those cliemffectively and induce them to renew and
upgrade their deployments of our solutions; ourdigbio expand our sales organization to addredsatively the new industries, geographies
and types of organizations we intend to target; abifity to accurately forecast revenue and appiagly plan our expenses; market
acceptance of enhanced solutions; alternate waygsldfessing talent management needs or new teofieslgenerally by us and our
competitors; continued acceptance of SaaS as ant®i method for delivering talent managementtswis and other business management
solutions; the attraction and retention of qualifiemployees and key personnel; our ability to prioéed defend our intellectual property;
costs associated with defending intellectual propérfringement and other claims; our ability tophoit Big Data to drive increased demand
for our products; events in the markets for ouusiohs and alternatives to our solutions, as wslirmthe United States and global mark
generally; future regulatory, judicial and legisia¢ changes in our industry; our ability to sucdedlg integrate our operations with those
recently acquired companies; and changes in thepatitive environment in our industry and the maskatwhich we operate. In addition,
forward-looking statements also consist of statementdvingptrend analyses and statements including suatds as “may,” “believe,”
“could,” “anticipate,” “would,” “might,” “plan,” “e  xpect,” and similar expressions or the negativewth terms or other comparable
terminology. These forward-looking statements spedk as of the date of this Annual Report on F&f¥K and are subject to business and
economic risks. As such, our actual results coifférdmaterially from those set forth in the forwddooking statements as a result of the fac
set forth below in Part I, Item 1A, “Risk Factorsgghd in our other reports filed with the Securitaasd Exchange Commission. We assume no
obligation to update the forward-looking statemetseflect events that occur or circumstances thast after the date on which they were
made.

” i, ” o ” o ” o

ltem 1. Business
Overview

Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc. was incorporated on 24ay1999 in the state of Delaware and began itecjpal operations in November
1999. Unless the context requires otherwise, thelsvtCornerstone,” “we,” “Company,” “us” and “ouréfer to Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.
and its wholly owned subsidiaries.

Cornerstone is a leading global provider of compnsive talent management solutions delivered asvad-as-a-Service (“SaaS”). Our
solutions are designed to enable organizationsatet the challenges they face in empowering andmiaixig the productivity of their human
capital.

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is a comeredive and unified cloud-based suite that addrdsseg, developing, engaging
employees throughout their careers and cultivédtitgre leaders. Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solutilso helps improve business
execution through integrating with an organizatsoektended enterprise of clients, vendors andldigors by delivering training, certification
programs and other content.

In addition to our Enterprise and Mid-Market sabutj we also offer Cornerstone Growth Edition, forip&nown as Cornerstone for
Small Business. Cornerstone Growth Edition is adibased talent management solution with learnimperformance product offerings
targeted to organizations with fewer than 400 eygHs.

Our clients include multi-national corporationggla domestic and foreign-based enterprises, midkebaompanies, public sector
organizations, higher education institutions, aod-profit entities. We sell our solutions domedticand internationally through both direct
and indirect channels, including direct sales tetimmughout North and South America, Europe, and-/&Racific and distributor relationships
with payroll, consulting and human resource, or H&yices companies.

We have grown our business each of the last 13yand since 2002, we have averaged an annuat deiiémtion rate of approximately
95%, as described in the section titledjldnagement’s Discussion and Analysis of Financahdition and Results of Operations—Financial
Metrics.” Since 2001, our implied monthly recurring reverftom existing clients has been greater at theogéedch year than at the beginning
of the year. Our revenue has grown to $263.6 miliin2014 from $185.1 million in 2013 and from $19 illion in 2012 . As of
December 31, 2014 , 2,153 clients used our Ensamd Mid-Market solution to empower approximafidyl million users across 191
countries in 42 different languages.




The Market

Human capital is both a major asset and expensaliforganizations. Based on the U.S. Bureau obk&iatistics data as of September
2014, total compensation paid to the United Staitésan workforce of approximately 155.8 milliorepple was expected to exceed $10.4
trillion in 2014.

Accordingly, organizations have long sought to mite their investments in human capital. We belignag organizations face six major
challenges in maximizing the productivity of thiternal and external human capital:

« Acquiring TalentIncreasingly seeking to fill open positions by reting internally and by leveraging the externatwarks of their
employees, corporate recruiting has evolved frqmoaess that was principally driven by traditiosalirces such as inbound resume
submissions and job board postings to one thatisrently social in nature.

» Developing Talen. Effectively orienting new hires and training emyates throughout their careers to achieve thdipfitkential,
which has become more difficult with the Millennggneration entering the workforce, increasingstributed workforces and
heightened compliance requirements.

* Engaging Employee Connecting with employees at all levels and laregiof the organization to keep them motivatedgcivimias
become more difficult with the rise of globalizatiand telecommuting.

» Improving Business Executic Ensuring the effective alignment of employee bébvawith the organization’s objectives through goal
management and employee assessment and developseml as by linking compensation to performance.

* Building a Leadership Pipelini Identifying, grooming and retaining individuals feadership positions at all levels and across all
parts of the organization, which has become areathdllenge with the growing mobility and turnoeéemployees and the
impending retirements of the Baby Boomers.

» Integrating with the Extended Enterprise of Cust@n@endors and Distributor: Delivering training, certification programs and
resources to the organization’s network of custemezndors, distributors and other third partied tonstitute the organization’s
extended enterprise, which has become more diffigitih the rise of outsourcing and increasing glaadion.

Until the advent of software technology in the 1'87@ritten tracking systems were the only solutaailable for managing human
capital. Software-based solutions such as spreatilased tracking systems, custom-built softwapdieations, third-party human resource
information systems and third-party software agtlans provided by on-premise software vendorsgaliyl became available. We refer to all
of these approaches as hosted or on-premise swdutio

More recently, SaaS vendors dedicated to provititent management software have emerged. We bdhavgust as organizations are
increasingly choosing SaasS solutions for businppiGations such as sales force management, tieeglso increasingly adopting Saas talent
management solutions.

Many of the existing solutions suffer from one aoreof the following shortcomings:

« Narrow Functionality. As they only address specific stages of the engg@difecycle, many solutions lack sufficient bréadf
functionality to maximize employee productivity egtively.

» Limited Configurability. Most solutions are rigid and limit the ability ofganizations to match their diverse workflowsmatopt
their desired talent management practices.

» Difficult to Use. Inputting, updating, analyzing and sharing infotiorais often cumbersome, resulting in low emplogdeption and
usage.

e Costly to Deploy, Maintain and Upgradélosted or on-premise solutions require signifiepense and time to deploy as well as
require ongoing costs associated with IT suppeativark infrastructure, maintenance and upgrades.

* Inability to Scale Many solutions are designed to support the needsialler organizations and have difficulty meetihg complex
functional requirements or the sizeable infrastrteelemands of larger enterprises.

Given the limitations of existing offerings, we iesle there is a market opportunity for comprehemsimified solutions that help
organizations manage all aspects of their intesndlexternal human capital and link talent managetoeetheir business strategy.

The Cornerstone OnDemand Answer

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is a comeredive SaaS suite that consists of product offeriadnelp organizations manage
their recruiting, onboarding, learning, performarsgccession, compensation and enterprise sodiabocation processes.
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Our suite includes a number of cross-product timlsalent management analytics and reporting, eyg# profile management, and e-
learning content aggregation and delivery. We plswide consulting services for configuration, gnation and training for our suite. We
believe that our Enterprise and Mid-Market solutitslivers the following benefits:

Comprehensive FunctionalityOur suite provides a comprehensive approach eéatahanagement by offering products to address al
stages of the employee lifecycle: recruiting, oney, learning, performance, succession, comp&msahd enterprise social
collaboration processes. Employees use our sokittmoughout their careers to engage in performpnoeesses such as goal
management, performance reviews, competency assessand compensatory reviews; to complete jobipend compliance-
related training; to evaluate potential career geandevelopment plans or succession processefy andnect with co-workers by
leveraging enterprise social networking tools.

Our clients can manage processes that span diffedent management functions because our prodierirgys are unified. For example,
our clients can automatically identify skill gapsart of an employee’s performance review, assajning to address those gaps and monitor
the results of that training. Also, clients canntiy high potential employees for future leadepspositions and place them in executive
development programs.

We believe our comprehensive, unified suite allowsclients to align their talent management preess@nd practices with their broader
strategic goals.

Flexible and Highly Configurable Our suite offers substantial configurability tladlbws our clients to match the use of our software
with most of their specific business processesvenidkflows. Our clients can configure various feayrfunctions and work flows in
our suite by business unit, division, departmesgjan, location, job position, pay grade, cost egrir selfdefined organizational un
Our clients are able to adjust features to conéiguoecific processes, such as performance revigwflows or training approvals, to
match their existing or desired practices. ThihHayel of configurability means that custom codprgjects generally are not requii
to meet the diverse needs of our clients.

Our clients can deploy the product offerings indially or in any combination. As a result, our otiehave the flexibility to purchase
solely those products that solve their immediatentamanagement needs and can incrementally dejpldiional products in the future as their
needs evolve.

Easy-to-Use, Personalized User Interfac@ur suite employs an intuitive user interface aray be personalized for the end user,
typically based on position, division, pay gradeation, manager and particular use of the solufibis ease of use limits the need
enduser training, which we believe increases user talopates and usage. While we typically train atgstrators, most clients do r
need training on using our products.

Software-as-a-Service Solution Lowers the Totat 6Gb®wnership and Speeds Delive@ur suite is accessible through a standard
web browser and does not require the large invegsrie implementation time, personnel, hardware, @nsulting that are typical of
hosted or on-premise solutions. With a single duaie to maintain, we are able to release imprawectibnality on a quarterly basis.
This is a more rapid pace than most hosted or emise solution providers can afford to deliver.

Scalable to Meet the Needs of Organizatio@sir suite has been used by Fortune 100 compainiess 2001. While the complex needs
of these global corporations required us to buislation that can scale to support large, geodcap-distributed employee bases,
our suite is capable of supporting deploymentsaofous sizes. Today we service 17 multi-nationaporations with over 150,000
active users each. Our largest deployment is fer 880, 000 users.

Continued Innovation through Collaborative ProdietvelopmentWe work collaboratively with our clients on an ag basis to
develop almost every part of our suite. The vagority of our thousands of software features wegsighed with existing and
prospective clients based on their specific fumalgequests.

Our Strategy

Our goal is to empower people, organizations, amdrounities with our comprehensive talent managemsentions. Key elements of
our strategy include:

Retain and Expand Business with Existing Client8Ve believe our existing installed base of cliesfters a substantial opportunity for

growth.

Focus on Client Success, Retention and Gro We believe focusing on our clients’ success witld to our own success. We have
developed a Client Success Framework that govemeperational model. Since 2002, we have had erege annual dollar retenti
rate of approximately 95%. We strive to maintaim stwong retention rates by continuing to provide clients with high levels of
service and support and increasing functionality.




« Sell Additional Products to Existing Client8/e believe there is a significant growth opportyim selling additional functionality to
our existing clients. Many clients have added fiomzlity subsequent to their initial deploymentgtasy recognize the benefits of our
unified suite, and as a result, more than halfusfaients today utilize the equivalent of two ooma products. Still, we believe
significant upsell opportunity remains within owisting client base. Not only is our goal to shkse clients additional products and
services, but we also believe there is an oppdyttaisell many of them additional products witlur unified suite.

Strengthen Current Sales ChanneldVe intend to increase our investments in bothctlimed indirect sales channels to acquire new
clients.

» Investin Direct Sales in North Americ We believe that the market for talent managenlarge and remains significantly
underpenetrated. As a result, we plan to contiowgdw both our enterprise and mid-market direttssteams.

» Expand and Strengthen Our Allianc We intend to grow our distribution channels thlokgy business alliances, including
agreements with global vendors such as Aon Hemviirio, Inc., Automatic Data Processing, Inc.,ugilan Company L.P., Tribridg
Workday, Inc., and Xerox Corporation, as well as ¢bntinued expansion of our regional relationshijk distributors like CDP
Group, Limited (China), eLearning99 (China), ISQeatning (Portugal), Kalleo Learning (South Africkpgica plc (Europe), Neoris
de Mexico, S.A. de C.V. (Mexico), Neospheres SAfffEe), Sage Software, Inc. (North America), T2i@jse PTY Ltd. (Asia
Pacific), Talentech (Israel) and Xchanging HR SegsiLimited (United Kingdom).

» Significantly Grow Our International OperationiVe believe a substantial opportunity exists totiome to grow sales of our solutions
internationally. We intend to grow our Europe, Mildtast and Africa, or EMEA, and Asia-Pacific ogénas, which provide for
direct sales, alliances, services and supportdmegions. We have grown our EMEA client base foora client at December 31, 2007
to 316 clients at December 31, 2014 and our Astfiealient base from two clients at December 3209 to 90 clients at
December 31, 2014 .

Continue to Innovate and Extend Our Technologicabhdership. We believe we have developed over the last degatiep
understanding of the talent management challengeslients face. We continually collaborate withr alients to build extensive functionality
that addresses their specific needs and requestplaM to continue to leverage our expertise entainanagement and client relationships to
develop new products, features and functionalitictviwill enhance our solutions and expand our ask#tble market.

Make Cornerstone Built to LastOur growth strategy since inception has been dediie, disciplined and focused on long-term success
This has allowed us to weather periods of econduaniooil and significant changes in the markets e e without undergoing layoffs or
business contraction. We plan to take the samemsgdic approach in the future.

Acquisitions. In April 2012, we completed our acquisition of &ohimited, or Sonar, a clousased talent management solution prov
serving small businesses globally. Sonar’s taleamiagement solution was subsequently rebrandedragStone Growth Edition.

In November 2014 we acquired Evolv Inc., or Evai\§an Francisco based workforce planning and preglianalytics platform provide
The acquisition accelerates our big data initiabiyeaccelerating the roadmap for workforce planrand predictive analytics. In addition, the
acquisition adds a seasoned team with deep malg@ingng and big data analytics expertise to outfpio of talented professionals which is
expected to create synergies and continue to shen@ur core talent management suite.

Evolv’s platform helps organizations utilize relevinternal and external data to objectively eviduhe skills, work experience and
personalities of their employees and job candidatke acquisition of Evolv is expected to expanddients’ ability to make intelligent
workforce decisions by providing:

» Machine Learning Platform Technolo. Evolv applies sophisticated predictive models adgdrithms to large sets of data for
extracting insights from the noise, identifyingteais and uncovering the true drivers of workfqreeformance.

« Data ScienceEvolv's team of data scientists has applied sewsed-of-the-art statistical methodologies ancheatetric techniques
to improve the predictive capabilities of its saut.

» Big Data InfrastructureEvolv has built highly scalable big data analytegeraging modern Hadoop, HBase and Hive Big Data
technologies to process and analyze massive data se




In the future, we may seek to acquire or investdditional businesses, products or technologigsitbadelieve will complement or
expand our solutions, enhance our technical capabibr otherwise offer growth opportunities.

We are also committed to empowering our employedsiae communities around us, in part demonstiiayenlir involvement in the
Cornerstone OnDemand Foundation.

Our Solutions

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is a comredive talent management suite that our client¢aiied, develop, connect,
evaluate and engage their human capital. We Iiitsuite using a single code base and a multintenaulti-user architecture that we host in
our data centers. The suite consists of a colledfgroduct offerings to help organizations mantggr recruiting, onboarding, learning,
performance, succession, compensation, enterfésal €ollaboration processes and a product to gatraining for their external networks of
partners, suppliers, resellers, distributors arslaruers. To complement our product suite, we @feaumber of crosproduct tools for analytic
and reporting, employee profile management ancueiieg content aggregation.

Our Product Offerings
Cornerstone Recruitingdur recruiting product offering supports the modeays that businesses source, recruit and hireemeployees

The recruiting product offering is fully integratedth our existing talent management suite. It Wwast using Cornerstone's pure-cloud, multi-
tenant architecture, leveraging a common platfavorkflow engine, and reporting and administrationd®l. This architecture provides clients
with faster deployments, greater flexibility to atland change the application without cost or régid a seamless user experience across all
Cornerstone applications. Clients use the recaiiroduct offering to:

* manage job requisitior

» post jobs across both traditional job boards amibsaetworks

» create internal career centers and external caites

* manage and enhance employee referral prog

* identify existing employee connections with cantkd;

e quickly assess candidate skills and competer

» collaborate with hiring managers and employeesautijinout the screening proce

« search and compare internal and external candidate

* build ongoing talent pool

Cornerstone Onboardingur onboarding product offering delivers the resesr connections and tools at critical points actbs

employee lifecycle. The onboarding product offeromgnplements the recruiting product offering toussl administrative hassle and promote
collaboration between employees, managers, HR enndgdepartments. Clients use the onboarding ptadiering to:

» provide selfservice portals where new hires can learn aboutdhgpany and access critical informat

* administer new hire forms from one centralized fmeg

» track the entire onboarding process with the ahititset goals and reminders in order to acceldiragto productivity

* engage new hires by establishing virtual commusiied connecting new hires with their colleagurd

e accommodate transitions across the full employeeyicle

Cornerstone LearningQOur learning product offering helps clients deliaad manage enterprise training and developmegtams. It
links employee development to other parts of thentananagement lifecycle, including performancenatgement and succession planning.
learning product offering supports all forms ofitiag, including instructor-led training, e-leargiand virtual classroom sessions. We have
made tens of thousands of online training titlesfidozens of global e-learning providers accestlivigh the learning product offering to
help clients reduce overall training expense arst-etfectively migrate to blended learning currcof online and instructor-led training.
Clients use the learning product offering to:

 manage local and global compliance programsudeg the tracking of any recurring or non-recagriicense, designation,
certification, or other compliance-related trainangd continuing education requirements;

* access thousands of e-learning classes frormasting off-theshelf content provider
e create, publish and deliver the clientwn proprietary training content with our authgriools
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automate the administration of instructor-learting sessions, and launch and track virtual obasss through integrations with third-
party tools like Cisco Webex and Microsoft LiveMiegt

deliver sophisticated curricula that can includdtiple sequenced parts, multiple types of tregrénd enforcement of pre-requisites
and follow-up assignments;

report on costs, participation levels and ev@dns of development programs through permissicsetlalashboards, standard reports
and custom reports; and

enable enterprise social collaboration through user profiles as well as the ability to pagate in discussions, send messages,
contribute to corporate wikis, author blogs, suiticto information feeds and download audio an@e@hsts.

Cornerstone PerformanceOur performance product offering allows clientsliect and measure performance at the individual,

departmental and organizational levels through orgoompetency management, organizational goahgefterformance appraisal, and
development planning. Performance data can alasée by the learning product offering to set tragnpriorities and to make informed
workforce planning decisions. Clients use the perfnce product offering to:

cascade, track and report goals across the orgamiza improve business execution and proactivefynage organizational objectiv

identify competency and skill gaps within anamgation through manager and peer assessmentg,aiter the client’'s own
proprietary models or third-party competency models

automate the annual and interim review prodessefit from a configurable workflow engine to dgsreview questions and steps,
automatically include the reviewee’s individual goand competencies, provide managers with a comassistant and calibrate
review scores;

allow managers to work with employees to devglegsonalized development plans or dynamicallytergalividualized development
plans based on competency gaps; and

view dashboards or generate reports and meanidgtalon every phase of the performance manageiyest

Cornerstone Successio@Qur succession product offering allows clientpttoactively plan for organizational change. Thecegsion

product offering serves both the employee lookgchreer advancement and the executive team plgufioi the future. Clients use the
succession product offering to:

make informed decisions about succession planmiotential organizational changes and retentfdrigh-potential employees at all
hierarchical levels;

develop succession plans that prepare employedstéoe roles and map development p:

create interactive organizational charts thatredlect the current hierarchy of the organizatimd model for potential changes within
the hierarchy; and

allow managers to visualize their organization grid to see performance and potential informa

Cornerstone Compensatio@ur compensation product offering allows cliemtsdward their employees for hard work in dire¢ation

to performance. The compensation product offerimgpées clients to make more informed decisions atheuallocation of base pay, bonus
equity awards. Clients use the compensation praafteting to:

develop a pay-for-performance culture, aligniognpensation allocation decisions with actual eyggoperformance and goal
achievement;

coordinate all types of compensation programsuitiog salaries, merit increases, market adjustmarmdump sum paymen
build and administer various incentive progre

pull key data around compensation adjustment gniel&l an

make informed compensation decisions by combingrimptional data, performance data and compensatiatels

Cornerstone Extended Enterpris®ur extended enterprise product offering helpantti extend talent management to their customers,

vendors, and distributors. The extended enterprisduct offering enables clients to develop newfipcenters, increase sales, cut support ¢
and boost channel productivity. Clients use themad¢d enterprise product offering to:

administer for-profit training programs to theiwn customers more effectively, providing themhaatdelivery tool, an automated
registration system and e-commerce capabilities;

improve strategic partner enablement with betggning, online best practice centers and maadihg-available information on
products and services;

increase customer engagement through sociabmihtion, virtual communities, educational progsand the enablement of
customer-driven product innovation initiatives;
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manage distributor certification programs;
deliver training and targeted information to menshefrtrade associations or other member-based iaajams.

Cornerstone for Salesforcéur Cornerstone for Salesforce product is a legrsblution developed natively on the Salesforaa.co

platform. The Cornerstone for Salesforce produoira organizations to improve sales performanceroyiding access to just-in-time training
embedded within Salesforce. Clients use the Cawreedor Salesforce product offering to:

deliver just-in-time training and onboarding grams for sales and service teams, partners amoheers with target specific content
based on opportunity records;

certify sales and partner knowledge while emgudompliance standards are met with Salesforagifigurable dashboard reporting
for sales leadership; and

assist sales leadership in identifying top peniag reps and those in need of training developrttenugh a comprehensive view of a
company’s sales organization.

Cross-Product Tools

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution has a hurmdferapabilities that cross each of our unifiedduct offerings. These include:

Analytics, Reporting, and Dashboari Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution employsagpietary reporting engine. In addition to
approximately 145 included standard reports, thist®n includes a custom reporting tool that akoelients to create highly specific
reports. This solution also includes dashboardrteldyy to present graphical views of complex data.

Talent Profiles. Managers can access integrated Talent Profilesview key employee data in several locations @coos Enterprise
and Mid-Market solution. Talent Profiles functios @mployee identification cards, detailing useorddnformation, performance
ratings, succession management data, enterprig® sollaboration activity and informal manager qoents. These profiles are
available throughout this solution where quick asa® information is desired, including in perforroa reviews, organizational cha
succession plans, compensation plans and usedrediing.

E-Learning Content AggregationVe have entered into relationships with many b#-shelf e-learning content vendors. This enable
us to provide access to tens of thousands of eiteaclasses for distribution across our Enterpaise Mid-Market solution. E-
learning, like other forms of training, can be defied in conjunction with development plans, corapey assessments, succession
planning scenarios, talent pools and career pgitoeation.

Cornerstone MobileCornerstone Mobile allows clients to access sontheproducts and features of our Enterprise ardiWrket
talent management suite from their mobile devicey Kapabilities of Cornerstone Mobile include emaptlients to view employee
profiles, search the employee directory, and agesssn-time video training.

Consulting Services

We offer comprehensive services to our clientssgisa in the successful implementation of our $ohgt and to optimize our clients’ use

of our solutions during the terms of their engaget®ieOur consulting services are offered at fix@gsfor on a time-and-material basis.

With our SaaS model, we have eliminated the neetkfgthy and complex technology integrations, sagleustomizing software code,

deploying equipment or maintaining unique delivergdels or hardware infrastructure for individudénts. As a result, we typically deploy
our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution in signifitly less time than required for similar deploynseot hosted or on-premise software. Our
consulting services include:

Implementation ServiceWe deploy our Enterprise and Mid-Market solutiortlients through a documented process of discovery,
design, and configuration. Most enterprise impletagons require services for systems integratiata dbading, and software
configuration, as well as support with change manant. For mid-market clients, this solution canrbplemented in a matter of
weeks. For enterprise clients, implementation @giydakes three to four months.

Integration ServicesWe provide a range of services and self-servicks tmoload data into a client’s portal and to imétg our
Enterprise and Mid-Market solution with our cliengxisting systems. Integration services include é#eds to and from HR
information systems and enterprise resource plgnsystems, single sign on, historical data loadsimtegration of proprietary
content.

Content Service§Ve offer e-learning content consulting servicesluding training needs analysis, content selediath curriculum
design. In addition, we help clients manage thd@#agning vendors, and we maintain an aggregaledrl of third-party online
training classes in support of our clients.
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» Business Consulting ServicWe provide business consulting services for exgséind prospective clients, such as business process
mapping, guidance on industry best practices aog@rmanagement services. We expect to add additimisiness consulting
services in the future based on client demand.

» Educational Service'We provide product training to our clients duringplementations and on an ongoing basis. We offédtiptau
forms of training, including custom classroom tia@) virtual instructor-led training, and asynchoas online training. Our training
covers all aspects of administering and managimd=oterprise and Mid-Market solution. In additiamur Educational Services team
offers live coaching and custom content developrsapport for clients.

Account Services

We are dedicated to the success of our clientsh&Ve developed a Client Success Framework whickrgevour operational model, the
structure of our Account Services team and thesyeservices necessary at each stage of a clidetgcle.

Within this framework, we have developed the folllogvroles with primary responsibility to our clierat various levels of their
organizations:

e Account Managers who interact with executieeel sponsors and human resources executivesligndand are focused on the ove
relationship, sales to existing clients and climnsiness concerns;

» Client Success Managers who work directly withaitive-level sponsors and human resources exesudi our clients to maximize
the value of their investment in our Enterprise did-Market solution; and

e Product Specialists who interact with client adistrators and are focused on features and fumstid our Enterprise and Mid-Market
solution.

We believe this lifecycle-driven approach to clisapport and client success has contributed dyréztbur high client retention rate and
high rankings for client satisfaction in independessearch studies.

We offer support in multiple languages, at multilgheels, and through multiple channels, includithgpgl support coverage available 24
hours a day, seven days a week. We use our owrpasgesocial collaboration product to provide olients and distributors with a virtual
community to collaborate on product design, releaaaagement and best practices.

We monitor client satisfaction internally as pdrfarmalized programs and at regular intervals nigithe client lifecycle, including
during the transition from sales to implementatiainthe completion of a consulting project andydbédsed on interactions with the Account
Services team.

Our Customers

As of December 31, 2014 , 2,153 clients used oterrise and Mid-Market solution with approximaté®.1 million registered users
across 191 countries and 42 languages. Our clieptesent a variety of different industries, inéhgdbusiness services, financial services,
insurance, non-profits, retail, travel, educatiod publishing, healthcare, media and communicatithespublic sector and technology. No
single client accounted for 10% or more of ourlt¢aenue in 2014 , 2013, or 2012 . Some of ogmificant clients across a variety of
different industries who have agreed to be nameldidie:

Automotive

BMW AG

Jaguar Land Rover Automotive plc
PSA Peugeot Citroén

Business Services

Automatic Data Processing, Inc.
Deutsche Post AG

ID Logistics Group SA

Education & Publishing

Kaplan Higher Education Corporation
Los Angeles Unified School District
Pennsylvania State University

Financial Services
BNP Paribas
Commonwealth Bank
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Société Générale Group

Food & Restaurants
Anheuser-Busch InBev SA/NV
Carlsberg Group

Wendy'’s International, LLC

Healthcare

Carilion Clinic

Dignity Health
McKesson Corporation

Insurance

American International Group, Inc.
AXA

RSA Insurance Group plc

Media & Communications

CSC Holdings LLC

Turner Broadcasting System, Inc.
Virgin Media Limited

Non-Profits

KIPP Foundation

Save the Children Federation, Inc.
Teach for America, Inc.

Government

State of Nebraska

State of North Carolina

U.S. Department of the Treasury

Retail

Inter IKEA Systems B.V.
Unilever

Walgreen Co.

Technology
BMC Software Inc.

Flextronics International
Royal Philips Electronics

Travel

Hyatt Hotels Corporation

MGM Resorts International

Starwood Hotels & Resorts Worldwide Inc.

Technology, Operations and Development
Technology

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is desigmeth an on-demand architecture which our clienteas via a standard web browser.
Our Enterprise and Midldarket solution uses a single code base, withfaluo clients running on the current version of eaftware. From tim
to time, we may maintain a marginally divergentsien for a strategic client for a limited periodtiwhe, solely for our convenience. Our
Enterprise and Mid-Market solution has been speallij built to deliver:

* aconsistent, intuitive end-user experiencénit the need for product training and to encourhigg levels of end-user adoption and
engagement;

* modularity and flexibility, by allowing our clients activate and implement virtually any combinataf the features we offt

* high levels of configurability to enable our clisrib mimic their existing business processes, vimnd, and organizational hierarch
within our suite;
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* web services to facilitate the importing and@ting of data to and from other client systemghsas enterprise resource planning anc
human resource information system platforms;

» scalability to match the needs of the largest dlebgerprises and to meet future client growth;
» rigorous security standards and high levels ofesygterformance and availability demanded by oents

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution offers adliwed user interface and currency conversion défied It is currently available in
the following languages: Arabic, Bahasa (MalaysBa)lgarian, Chinese Simplified, Chinese Traditioftébng Kong), Croatian, Czech, Dani
Dutch, English (Australia), English (UK), Englist$), Estonian, Finnish, French (Canada), Frencan@e&), German, Greek, Hebrew,
Hungarian, Indonesian, Italian, Japanese, Koreatvjdn, Lithuanian, Norwegian, Polish, Portugudgetil), Portuguese (Portugal),
Romanian, Russian, Serbian, Slovakian, SlovenipaniSh (Latin America), Spanish (Spain), SwedidtgiTTurkish, Ukrainian and
Vietnamese.

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is deploymsihg a multi-tenant and multiser architecture, which provides our enterprigants
with their own instance of a database. We emplmpodularized architecture to balance the load eintdi on separate s@vironments, as we
as to provide a flexible method for scalability atit impacting other parts of the current environm&his architecture allows us to provide
the high levels of uptime required by our clief@sir existing infrastructure has been designed stifficient capacity to meet our current and
estimated near term future needs.

Security is of paramount importance to us due ¢osinsitive nature of employee data. We have dedigar Enterprise and Mid-Market
solution to meet rigorous industry security staddand to assure clients that their sensitive idgteotected across the system. We ensure hic
levels of security by segregating each cliemtata from the data of other clients and by eirigra consistent approach to roles and rights m
the system. These restrictions limit system actteesly those individuals authorized by our clieMe also employ multiple standard
technologies, protocols and processes to monést and certify the security of our infrastructaoamtinuously, including periodic security
audits and penetration tests conducted by ourtsli@md commissioned by us from third parties.

We are standardized on Microsoft .NET technologies write the majority of our software in indusstgndard software programming
languages, such as C#. We use Web 2.0 technolegigls,as AJAX, extensively to enhance the usabpigyformance, and overall user
experience of our Enterprise and Mid-Market solutiglicrosoft SQL Server is deployed for our relatbdatabase management system. Apa
from these and other third-party components, otireeBnterprise and Mid-Market solution has beeec#rally built and upgraded by our in-
house development team.

Operations

We physically host our Enterprise and Mid-Markdusion for our clients in two secure third-partyta@enter facilities, one located in El
Segundo, California and the other located near bontnited Kingdom. Both facilities are leased fr&quinix, Inc. These facilities provide
physical security, including manned security 36%sda year, 24 hours a day, seven days a week, bioraecess controls and systems sect
redundant power and environmental controls.

Our infrastructure includes firewalls, switcheqjtars, load balancers, and IDS/IPS from Cisco Syst@nd other widely commercially
available vendors to provide the networking infrasture and high levels of security for the envimamt. We use industry standard blade and
rack-mounted servers to run our Enterprise and Midket solution and Akamai Technologies’ Global Metk of Edge Servers for content
caching. We use storage area network, or SAN, hamnglfvom HP at our data center. These SAN systews been architected for high
performance and data-loss protection, and we helisese systems have the capacity and scalaloilépable us to grow.

Research and Developme

The responsibilities of our research and developrogganization include product management, prodaeelopment and quality
assurance. Our research and development orgamiZzatiocated primarily in our Santa Monica, Califiar headquarters. Our development
methodology, in combination with our SaaS delivargdel, allows us to release new and enhanced sefti@atures on a regular and
predictable basis, currently quarterly. We followell-defined communications protocol to suppont clients with release management. We
patch our software on a bi-weekly basis. Basedeedtiack from our clients and prospects and purgaantr own innovation, we continuously
develop new functionality while enhancing and maiming our existing product offerings. We do notddo maintain multiple engineering
teams to support different versions of the codebse all of our clients are running on the curevemsion of our product offerings.

Our research and development expenses were $3lidghrm 2014 , $21.3 million in 2013, and $14.9man in 2012 .
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Sales and Marketing
Sales

We sell our software and services both directlptigh our sales force, and indirectly through oundstic and international network of
distributors. We currently service clients in a &ighnge of industries, including, among othersrmss services, financial services, healthcare
insurance, manufacturing, retail, and high techgpl®e have a number of direct sales teams orgaigenarket segment, industry and
geography, which are as follows:

» Strategic AccountsWe have a strategic accounts sales team focussdlemnto some of the top 150 largest multi-nationa
corporations.

» Enterprise. Our enterprise sales team sells to large enteprigth 5,000 or more employees. This team is camp@rimarily of
experienced solution sales executives, with anageetenure of 20 years in sales.

* Mid-Market. Our mid-market sales team sells to organizatioitis eetween 1,000 and 4,999 employees. This teamongposed
primarily of experienced sales individuals, witharerage tenure of 16 years in sales.

* Majors.Our majors sales team sells to organizations watiwben 400 and 999 employees. This was a new tezated in 201
»  Growth Edition. Our Cornerstone Growth Edition sales team is tadyto clients with fewer than 400 employ:

» Public Sector Our public sector sales team targets federak stadl local government, as well as K-12 and highecation
institutions.

» Healthcare.Our healthcare sales team targets healthcare grevstich as hospitals, healthcare equipment anitagr
pharmaceuticals, biotechnology and related lifersoé organizations.

« EMEA. We have both enterprise and mid-market sales gsfeals based in core European markets. Thisiieaomposed primarily
of experienced sales individuals, with an averageite of 18 years in sales.

» APAC.We have enterprise sales professionals based énAsiaPacific markets including Australia, China, Indiad Japal
* LATAM. We have enterprise sales professionals basemténL@tin and South America markets including Mexand Brazil

Our direct sales team is supported by product afists who provide technical and product expetistacilitate the sales process. Our
sales enablement professionals provide on-boagatidgongoing professional development for the galefessionals to increase their
effectiveness at selling in the field. We also ngiima separate team of account managers respefsibienewals and up-sales to existing
clients, as described above.

Marketing

We manage global demand generation programs, desales pipelines and enhance brand awarenesgthoom marketing initiatives.
Our marketing programs target HR executives, teldgyoprofessionals and senior business leaderspfneipal marketing initiatives include:

» Demand Generatior Our demand generation activities include lead e through email and direct mail campaignstipigiation
in industry events, securing event speaking oppdiéis, online marketing and search marketing.

» Corporate Marketing.We market to our clients by leveraging productketing, client success stories, thought leadersbitent, anc
brand awareness advertising campaigns. Additionakyhost regional client user group meetings aadlso co-market with our
strategic distributors, including joint press anmoements and demand generation activities.

» Marketing CommunicationWe undertake media relations, corporate commuwicgtianalyst relations activities and social media
outreach.

Strategic Relationships

We have entered into alliance agreements in ocdexpand our capabilities and geographic presemt¢g@vide our clients with access
to specific types of content. We have entered ietationships with various third party consultingrfs, such as Appirio, Inc., Bluewater
Learning Inc. and Tribridge to assist in the sustdsmplementation of our solutions and to optienaur clientsuse of our solutions during t
terms of their engagements. We utilize these filwrsssist in delivery of implementation and intggm services amongst other consulting
services. As our business grows, we expect to moatio utilize increasing amounts of these services
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Outsourcing and Distribution Relationships

We have developed a network of outsourcing, distidim, and referral relationships to expand oucheand provide product and services
sales through indirect channels. These includeeageats with global vendors such as Aon Hewitt, Aippinc., Automatic Data Processing,
Inc., Ellucian Company L.P., and Xerox Corporatismwell as regional distributors such as BS| Temgial in Brazil, CDP Group, Limited in
China, eLearning99 in China, 1ISQ eLearning in RgatuKalleo Learning in South Africa, Logica plcBurope, Neoris de Mexico, S.A. de
C.V. in Mexico, Neospheres SAS in France, Sagengo#, Inc. in North America, Xpert Learning in UrdtArab Emirates, T2 Optimise PTY
Ltd. in Asia Pacific, Talentech Ltd. in Israel, a¥dhanging HR Services Limited in the United KingudWVe expect to continue to add
distributors to build our sales presence in cerggiographic and vertical markets.

Consulting and Services Relationships

We have entered into alliance relationships withd#Rsulting firms to deliver consulting servicascls as implementation and content
development services, to clients.

Content and Product Relationships

We have entered into distributor agreements withde range of vendors which provide off-the-sheléarning content and custom
learning content development services. Throughrtais/ork, we are able to offer an extensive libm@frgnline training content to our clients
through our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution. @antent distributors for e-learning content inéuddustry leaders as well as regional and
vertically-focused online training providers. Inditibn, we have agreements with providers of specibmpetency models for use by our
clients directly in our Enterprise and Mid-Marketigion.

Competition

The market for talent management software spetificand for human resource technology generadiyhighly competitive, rapidly
evolving and fragmented. This market is subjeattanging technology, shifting client needs anddesy introductions of new products and
services.

Most of our sales efforts are competitive, oftevoiring requests for proposals, or RFPs. We compeiearily on the basis of providing
a comprehensive, fully integrated suite for tal@ainagement as opposed to specific service offerings

In the applicant tracking systems segment, whietréicruiting and onboarding product offerings esetve, our competitors include
Oracle Corporation, and International Business NahCorporation. We compete in this segment pilgnan the basis of:

« the level of integration of our recruiting and oabding product offerings within our talent managetmiite

» the social nature of our recruiting product dffg, which leverages our clients’ ecosystems dsagentegrations with leading social
networks to offer enhanced recruiting capabilities;

« the ability to compare internal and external caatkd to fill open positions and enable talent niigt
» the quality of our service and focus on client &8s

« our ability to provide scalability and flexibilitior large global deployments; ¢

» the ease of use of our recruiting and onboardiogypt offerings and overall user experie

In the learning management systems segment, wiickearning and extended enterprise product offsréach serve, our competitors
include Oracle Corporation, Saba Software, IncR@¥nerica, Inc., and SkillSoft Corp, which acquigmTotal Systems, Inc. in 2014. In
segment, we compete primarily based on:

« the quality of our service and focus on client 885

» the ease of use of our learning and extended ergenqproduct offerings and overall user experie

» the breadth of our learning and extended entarmroduct offerings to meet our clientsirrent and evolving nee:

» our ability to provide scalability and flexibilitipr large and complex global deployme

e our integration with third-party kearning providers domestically and internatiornadigic

* our ability to serve the extended enterprisewfclients’ partners, distributors, contractotapai, members, volunteers and
customers.

In the performance management systems segmenth wtegerformance, succession and compensationigirotferings each serve, our
competitors include Halogen Software, Inc., Lumdssgted, Oracle Corporation, Peoplefluent, Inc.,
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and SAP America, Inc. These vendors are, likeargely SaaS providers. We compete in this segnrémagly on the basis of:

» the criticality of learning and development toeffective performance management program, relgmgur strengths in both learning
and performance management;

» the quality of our service and focus on client &8s
» the breadth and depth of our product function:

» the flexibility and configurability of our perfmance, succession and compensation product affettimeet the changing content and
workflow requirements of our clients’ business anit

» the level of integration, configurability, seityr scalability and reliability of our performancguccession and compensation product
offerings; and

« our vision of unified talent management, combinétth\wur ability to innovate and respond to clieeeds rapidly

In addition, we occasionally compete with custonittaoftware that is designed to support the neddssingle organization, as well as
with third-party talent and human resource applicaproviders that focus on specific aspects artaimanagement.

Many of our competitors and potential competitaagengreater name recognition, longer operatinghést and larger marketing budgets
than we do. For additional information, seRisk Factors—Risks Related to Our Business andstngda-The market in which we participate is
intensely competitive, and if we do not competttely, our operating results could be harrienhd “ Risk Factors—Mergers of or other
strategic transactions by our competitors could kexaour competitive position or reduce our revehue.

Government Contracts

Many of our contracts with government agenciessal®ect to termination at the election of the gaweent agency. While none of our
government contracts provide for renegotiationeafsfat the election of the Government, it is pdsditat the government agency could req
and that we could under certain circumstances dgreke renegotiation of the payments otherwisapke under such contracts. However, we
have not in the past renegotiated significant paytrterms under our government contracts. For agditiinformation, see Risk Factors—We
face risks associated with our sales to governmemttities”

The Cornerstone OnDemand Foundation

To demonstrate our commitment to empowering peaptecommunities, we helped form the Cornerstoneédminhd Foundation, or the
Foundation, in 2010. The Foundation seeks to empoam@munities in the United States and internatigrzy increasing the impact of the
non-profit sector through the utilization of ourtBrprise and Mid-Market solution and capacity binigdstrategies.

The Foundation focuses its efforts on the area&slo€ation, workforce development and disasterfréNe have enlisted the help of our
employees, clients and distributors to supportfendation in its efforts. The Foundation is desifjto be self-sustaining over time through a
variety of ongoing funding streams, such as donatisponsorships and distribution fees. The Foimdaffers a number of programs to
support the non-profit sector, including:

» Strategic Partnership Programrlhe Foundation offers non-profit clients our Eptése and Mid-Market solution and services at a
discount, in certain cases of up to 100%. We ctisrdrave direct agreements providing similar pricimith non-profit clients,

including:
Education Workforce Development Disaster Relief
KIPP Goodwill Feeding America
Boys & Girls Clubs of America United Way Oxfam
Teach for America Year Up Save the Children

« HR Pro Bono Corps In our experience, noprofits often lack the capacity or HR resourcemt@st in the training and developmen
their employees and volunteers. In response, thadation formed an HR Pro Bono Corps in order técmaon-profits in need of
human capital management related consulting withprtiRessionals from our global client base whovweiténg to consult on a
voluntary basis.

* NonprofitReady.orgThis program offers non-profits the unique oppoitiuto access online training and development atasi. Most
non-profit organizations lack the budget and thgacity to consistently and effectively invest ieith
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people. Through NonprofitReady.org, the Foundagimvides relevant content including videos, welsnamitepapers, and e-learning
courses to organizations domestically and abroad-tofit professionals have unlimited access toemtban 200 resources
customized for the nonprofit professional.

» DisasterReady.or¢ In addition to its support of individual non-prisfi the Foundation seeks to improve the sect@rgelby
incubating and implementing strategic initiativeattaddress a critical market need. In 2013, thea&ation launched
DisasterReady.org, a free online training websgtcHically designed by experts in training, capabuilding and humanitarian
assistance to help prepare aid workers for the ddmthoey face in the field. Informed and suppohggrominent aid agencies such as
Save the Children, IRC, UNHCR, CARE, IFRC, and Wdrision, DisasterReady.org offers hundreds oficgtedge e-learning
courses, live and recorded webinars on key hunméanitéssues, and related training resources focasatisaster preparedness and
response.

» Impact Grant ProgramThe Impact Grant program allows nonprofit organas to achieve substantial social impact by usagning
technology to expand the reach and scale of tlgeicaional programs and services. Through the linpeant program, the
Foundation selects four nonprofit organizationsuadly from around the globe to each receive a ywar grant equal to $1.0 million
value. Grantees are awarded unlimited usage dé#raing product offering as well as access tngeaof pro bono business
consulting services. Using the learning producerirfig, organizations can effectively and efficigrg€ale their programs by
automating the delivery of their training to clisntolunteers, partner agencies, and anyone etsgydime. Grantees include
organizations such as Project HOPE, The OunceDankhess to Light.

Proprietary Rights

To safeguard our proprietary and intellectual propeghts, we rely upon a combination of patewipygright, trade secret and trademark
laws in the United States and in other jurisdicsicsnd on contractual restrictions. Our key asaetsde our software code and associated
proprietary and intellectual property rights, intgaular the trade secrets and know-how associatddour Enterprise and Mid-Market talent
management solution which we developed internallr the years. We were issued a patent for ouwsodtin 2003 which expires in 2021;"
have since filed for additional patent protectioe, own registered trademarks and we will contiruevialuate the need for additional patents
and trademarks. We have confidentiality and liceaggeements with employees, contractors, cliemsyjlilitors and other third parties, which
limit access to and use of our proprietary infolioratnd software.

Though we rely in part upon these legal and conied@rotections, we believe that factors suchhasskills and ingenuity of our
employees, creation of new modules, features, amctibnality, collaboration with our clients, amg@duent enhancements to our solutions are
larger contributors to our success in the markegla

Despite our efforts to preserve and protect oupietary and intellectual property rights, unauthed third parties may attempt to copy,
reverse engineer, or otherwise obtain portionsunfowoduct. Competitors may attempt to develop Isimgroducts that could compete in the
same market as our products. Unauthorized dis@asuour confidential information by our employeeshird parties could occur. Laws of
other jurisdictions may not protect our proprietand intellectual property rights from unauthorizese or disclosure in the same manner as tt
United States. The risk of unauthorized uses ofpoaprietary and intellectual property rights magrease as we continue to expand outside c
the United States.

Third-party infringement claims are also possibl®ur industry, especially as software functioyadihd features expand, evolve, and
overlap with other industry segments. Current aridré competitors, as well as npracticing patent holders, could claim at any tiimst som:
or all of our software infringes on patents thewrtmld or might obtain or be issued in the future.

Seasonality

Our sales are seasonal in nature. We sign a hfgreentage of agreements with new clients, asagalenewal agreements with existing
clients, in the fourth quarter of each year. Iniidd, within a given quarter, we sign a signifitgortion of these agreements during the last
month, and often the last two weeks, of that quaviée believe this seasonality is driven by seviaetiors, most notably the tendency of
procurement departments at our clients to purcteadenology at the end of a quarter or calendar, yemsibly in order to use up their available
quarterly or annual funding allocations, or to béeao deploy new talent management capabilities po the beginning of a new financial or
performance period. As the terms of most of owrtlagreements are measured in full year incremagteements regardless of when
executed, will generally come up for renewal at #zane time in subsequent years.
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Business Segment and Geographical Information

We operate in a single operating segment. For g@big financial information, see Note 13 to oursmidated financial statements,
which is incorporated herein by reference.

Working Capital Practices

Information about our working capital practicesnisluded in Item 7, ‘Management’'s Discussion and Analysis of Financiahdition
and Results of Operationsunder the heading Liquidity and Capital Resourcésand is incorporated herein by reference.

Employees

At December 31, 2014 , we had 1,361 employees,iwibia 38% increase from 987 employees at DeceB1het013 . None of our
employees are covered by a collective bargainimgeagent, and we have never experienced a strigenilar work stoppage. We consider our
relations with our employees to be strong. Intdynale strive to empower our people by using outeFgrise and Mid-Market solution to on-
board, develop, connect, align, assess, retaipandote our own employees.

Additional Information

Our Internet address is www.cornerstoneondemandasahrour investor relations website is located at
investors.cornerstoneondemand.com. We make availed## of charge through our investor relationssitelour Annual Reports on Form 10-
K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Repornt$-orm 8K, and amendments to those reports filed or fuedsbursuant to Section 13
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as ameraedpon as reasonably practicable after we etéctdty file such materials with, or furnish
them to, the SEC. Information contained on, or tzet be accessed through, our website is not incated by reference into this report, and
you should not consider information on our webgitbe part of this repor

The SEC maintains an Internet site (www.sec.gaoa) tontains reports, proxy and information statesieand other information
regarding issuers that file electronically with ®EC. The public also may read and copy thesafilat the SEC’s Public Reference Room at
100 F Street N.E., Washington, DC 20549. Informmatibout this Public Reference Room is availabledling (800) SEC-0330.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The following risk factors and other informatiorcinded in this Annual Report on Form 10-K shouldcheefully considered. The risks
and uncertainties described below are not the onlys we face. Additional risks and uncertaintiespresently known to us or that we
presently deem less significant may also impairtmusiness operations. Please see Ite* Business—Forward Looking Statemeénter a
discussion of the forward-looking statements thatqualified by these risk factors. If any of thvemts or circumstances described in the
following risk factors actually occurs, our busisesperating results, and financial condition cobkel materially adversely affecte

Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
We have a history of losses, and we cannot be @eittzat we will achieve or sustain profitability.

We have incurred losses since our inception. Weempced net losses of $64.9 million , $40.4 milliand $31.4 million in 2014 , 2013
and 2012 , respectively. At December 31, 2014 acgumulated deficit was $301.4 million and totatkholders’ equity was $35.5 million .
We expect to continue to incur operating losses E&sult of expenses associated with the contidegdlopment and expansion of our busir
Our expenses include among others, sales and rimaykedsearch and development, consulting and stippovices and other costs relating to
the development, marketing and sale and servicaio$olutions that may not generate revenue wattl Iperiods, if at all. Any failure to
increase revenue or manage our cost structure asplement initiatives to grow our business couldvent us from achieving or sustaining
profitability. In addition, our ability to achievgrofitability is subject to a number of the risksdauncertainties discussed below, many of whict
are beyond our control. We cannot be certain tleatwll be able to achieve or sustain profitability a quarterly or annual basis.
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Unfavorable conditions in our industry or the globaconomy, or reductions in information technologypending, could limit our ability to
grow our business and negatively affect our opengtiresults.

Our operating results may vary based on the implachanges in our industry or the global economyssior our clients. The revenue
growth and potential profitability of our businedspends on demand for enterprise application soétaad services generally and for talent
management solutions in particular. We sell oueBnise and Mid-Market solution primarily to largeid-sized and small business
organizations whose businesses fluctuate basedmmra economic and business conditions. In additigoortion of our revenue is attributa
to the number of users of our solutions at eadbuofclients, which in turn is influenced by the dayment and hiring patterns of our clients
and potential clients. To the extent that weak eouin conditions cause our clients and potenti@nt§ to freeze or reduce their headcount,
demand for our solutions may be negatively affedtéistorically, economic downturns have resultedwerall reductions in spending on
information technology or talent management sohgias well as pressure for extended billing teamgyccurred during the recent recession. |
economic conditions deteriorate or do not matsriafiprove, our clients and potential clients magceto decrease their information technol
and talent management budgets by deferring or sédering product purchases, which would limit obiliey to grow our business and
negatively affect our operating results.

Our financial results may fluctuate due to our longariable and, therefore, unpredictable sales &/ahd our focus on large and midiarke!
organizations.

We plan our expenses based on certain assumptions the length and variability of our sales cyti@ur sales cycle becomes longe
more variable, our results may be adversely aftec@ur sales cycle generally varies in duratiomveen two to nine months and, in some
cases, much longer depending on the size of trenpal client. Factors that may influence the l&rapd variability of our sales cycle include
among others:

» the need to educate potential clients about the aisé benefits of our solutio

» the relatively long duration of the commitment olie make in their agreements with

» the discretionary nature of potential cliemgsrchasing and budget cycles and decis

» the competitive nature of potential clients'aluation and purchasing proces

» evolving functionality demands of potential clie

« fluctuations in the talent management needs ofrpiatieclients

» announcements or planned introductions of new prisdoy us or our competitors; &

» lengthy purchasing approval processes of potedligits

The fluctuations that result from the length andatality of our sales cycle may be magnified by éacus on sales to large and nsidec

organizations. If we are unable to close an explesignificant transaction with one or more of thesmpanies in a particular period, or if an

expected transaction is delayed until a subseqesiad, our operating results, and in particularlmaokings, for that period, and for any future
periods in which revenue from such transaction watherwise have been recognized, may be adveaffelgted.

Our financial results may fluctuate due to otherdtors, including invoicing terms, some of which mag beyond our control.

There are a number of other factors that may causénancial results to fluctuate from period &ripd, including among others:
» changes in billing cycles and the size of advaraements relative to overall contract value in dliggreement
» the extent to which new clients are attracted tosmlutions to satisfy their talent management gj
» the timing and rate at which we sign agreements ngw clients

e our access to service providers when we outgotlrent service projects and our ability to mantmgequality and completion of the
related client implementations;

» the timing and duration of our client implemeigas, which is often outside of our direct contiahd our ability to provide resources
for client implementations and consulting projects;

» the extent to which we retain existing clients aatsfy their requiremen
» the extent to which existing clients renew thelrsariptions to our solutions and the timing of ¢nosnewal:
» the extent to which existing clients purchase ecdintinue the use of additional solutions and adi#korease the number of us

« the extent to which our clients request enhamrgsito underlying features and functionality of solutions and the timing for us to
deliver the enhancements to our clients;
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» the addition or loss of large clients, includingoilgh acquisitions or consolidatio

» the number and size of new clients, as well asittber and size of renewal clients in a particptaiod
» the mix of clients between small, médzed and large organizatio

» changes in our pricing policies or those of our petiiors

» seasonal factors affecting demand for our smhstior potential clientgurchasing decisior

» the financial condition and creditworthiness of olients

« the amount and timing of operating expensesuydicg those related to the maintenance and expamdiour business, operations and
infrastructure;

» the timing and success of new product and seraiteductions by u

» the timing of expenses related to the developmenéw products and technologies, including enhamedsito our solution

* our ability to exploit Big Data to drive increaséemand for our produc

e continued strong demand for talent management&itts. and Europ

« our ability to successfully integrate our opinas with those of recently acquired privatélgld companie

» the timing and success of current and new competitroducts and services by our competi

» other changes in the competitive dynamics of odustry, including consolidation among competitaignts or strategic partne

» our ability to manage our existing business andreugrowth, including in terms of additional headiep additional clients, incremen
users and new geographic regions;

» expenses related to our network and data centdrtharexpansion of such networks and data ce

» the effects of, and expenses associated wittuisitions of third-party technologies or businesard any potential future charges for
impairment of goodwill resulting from those acqticsis;

* equity issuances, including as consideration irusitipns or due to the conversion of our outstagdionvertible note
e general economic, industry and market conditions

» various factors related to disruptions in ouaS#&osting network infrastructure, defects in amlutions, privacy and data security, and
exchange rate fluctuations, each of which is dbsdrelsewhere in these risk factors.

In light of the foregoing factors, we believe tlat financial results, including our revenue anteded revenue levels, may vary
significantly from period-to-period. As a resulerpd-to-period comparisons of our operating resoilay not be meaningful and should not be
relied on as an indication of future performance.

Forecasts of our business growth may prove to bacicurate, and even if the markets in which we corgachieve the forecasted growth,
cannot assure you our business will grow at similates, or at all.

Our forecasts are subject to significant uncenyaamd are based on assumptions and estimates wiaigmot prove to be accurate. These
assumptions and estimates include the timing ahtbvaf agreements with our customers, variabilityhie service delivery periods for our
customers, and expected growth in our market. @smraptions and estimates related to our businesgiyrincluding the performance of our
core business and emerging businesses and the déanaur solutions in the U.S., Europe and otlegions, may prove to be inaccurate. E
if the markets experience the forecasted growthmag not grow our business at similar rates, @ilaDur growth is subject to many factors,
including our success in implementing our busirstsgtegy, which is subject to many risks and uradeties.

Even if demand for talent management products arehdces increases generally, there is no guarantest demand for SaaS solutions ik
ours will increase to a corresponding degree.

The widespread adoption of our solutions depentlsmly on strong demand for talent management pisdand services generally, but
also for products and services delivered via a asthess model in particular. There are stillgmificant number of organizations that have
adopted no talent management functions at alljtaedinclear whether such organizations will exgopt such functions and, if they do,
whether they will desire Saa$S talent managemeantieak like ours. As a result, we cannot assuretiatiour SaaS talent management
solutions will achieve and sustain the high levieharket acceptance that is critical for the suse#our business.
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Our business depends substantially on clients reimgatheir agreements and purchasing additional stkns from us or adding additional
users. Any decline in our client renewals or purcbes of additional products or additional users wduiarm our future operating results.

In order for us to improve our operating resultss important that our clients renew their agreetaevith us when the initial contract
term expires and also purchase additional prodarcasid additional users. Our clients have no ohibgato renew their subscriptions after the
initial subscription period, and we cannot assure that our clients will renew subscriptions at $aene or higher level of service, if at all.
Every year, some of our clients elect not to rettesir agreements with us. Moreover, certain of@ients have the right to cancel their
agreements for convenience, subject to certaic@odquirements and, in some cases, early termimgges. Our clients’ renewal rates may
decline or fluctuate as a result of a number ofdia; including their satisfaction or dissatisfantiwith our solutions, pricing, the prices of
competing products or services, mergers and atiguisiaffecting our client base, reduced hiringoly clients or reductions in our clients’
spending levels. If our clients do not renew tiseiibscriptions, renew on less favorable termsjdgilurchase additional products, or fail to add
new users, our revenue may decline, and our opgregsults may be harmed.

The market in which we participate is intensely cpatitive, and if we do not compete effectively, amerating results could be harmed.

The market for talent management software is higbiypetitive, rapidly evolving and fragmented. Mariyour competitors and potent
competitors are larger and have greater brand maocognition, much longer operating histories, lamgarketing budgets and significantly
greater resources than we do, and, with the intrtbolu of new technologies and market entrants, xpeet competition to intensify in the
future. If we fail to compete effectively, our bnsss will be harmed. Some of our principal compegibffer their products or services at a
lower price, which has resulted in pricing pressufmilarly, some competitors offer different initi terms, which has resulted in pressures o
our billing terms. If we are unable to maintain guicing levels and billing terms, our operatingukts could be negatively impacted. In
addition, pricing pressures and increased competgenerally could result in reduced sales, redutadjins, losses or the failure of our
solution to achieve or maintain more widespreadketagicceptance, any of which could harm our busines

We face competition from paper-based processesleskiop software tools. We also face competitiomfcustom-built software that is
designed to support the needs of a single orgaoigats well as from third-party talent and humesource application providers. These
software vendors include, without limitation, HadmgSoftware, Inc., International Business Machi@emoration, Lumesse AS, Oracle
Corporation, Peoplefluent, Inc., Saba Software,, IB&AP America, Inc., and Skillsoft Corp, which azgd SumTotal Systems, Inc. in 2014. In
addition, some of the parties with which we maimtaisiness alliances offer or may offer productsesvices that compete with our product
services.

Many of our competitors are able to devote gre@sources to the development, promotion and saleeaf products and services. In
addition, many of our competitors have establigmadketing relationships, access to larger clieseband major distribution agreements with
consultants, system integrators and distributorsredver, many software vendors could bundle hureaaurce products or offer such product:
at a lower price as part of a larger product daladdition, some competitors may offer softwaret drddresses one, or a limited number, of
talent management functions at a lower price pmintith greater depth than our solutions. As altesur competitors may be able to respond
more quickly and effectively than we can to nevcloanging opportunities, technologies, standarddient requirements. Further, some
potential clients, particularly large enterprisesy elect to develop their own internal solutidagt all of these reasons, we may not be able tc
compete successfully against our current and futonepetitors.

Mergers of or other strategic transactions by ousrapetitors could weaken our competitive positionreduce our revenue

If one or more of our competitors were to mergejuée or partner with another of our competitong thange in the competitive
landscape could adversely affect our ability to peta effectively. For example, in February 2012PS¥merica, Inc. acquired SuccessFactors
Inc.; in April 2012, Oracle Corporation acquiredd@Corporation; and in August 2012 InternationasBess Machines Corporation acquired
Kenexa, Inc. Our competitors may also establisstr@ngthen cooperative relationships with our atrog future strategic distributors, systems
integrators, HR outsourcers, payroll services cargs third-party consulting firms or other partieith whom we have relationships, thereby
limiting our ability to promote our solutions arithlting the number of consultants available to iempént our solutions. Disruptions in our
business caused by these events could reducevanue
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Our business and operations are experiencing ragiowth and organizational change. If we fail to &fttively manage such growth and
change in a manner that preserves the key aspettao corporate culture, our business and operatingsults could be harmed.

We have experienced, and may continue to experjeapi growth and organizational change, whichgiased, and may continue to
place, significant demands on our management, tipeahand financial resources. For example, oadiseunt has grown from 987 employees
on December 31, 2013 to 1,361 employees on Dece®ihe014 . In addition, we have established dofficeAustralia, Brazil, France,
Germany, Hong Kong, India, Israel, Japan, Nethedahew Zealand, Spain, Sweden and the United KimgdVe may continue to expand
international operations into other countries ia filiture, either organically or through acquisiioWe have also experienced significant gre
in the number of users, transactions and datatita$aaS hosting infrastructure supports. Finally,organizational structure is becoming
more complex as we improve our operational, finalnend management controls as well as our reposiistems and procedures. We will
require significant capital expenditures and thecaltion of valuable management resources to grmvchange in these areas without
undermining our corporate culture of rapid innowatiteamwork and attention to client success thatbeen central to our growth so far. If we
fail to manage our anticipated growth and changenmanner that preserves the key aspects of opoiaie culture, the quality of our solution
may suffer, which could negatively affect our bramdl reputation and harm our ability to retain atithct clients.

For a detailed discussion of the risks relatedutoamility to expand our business internationaiygnage growth in our SaaS hosting
network infrastructure, and expand parts of ouanization to implement improved operational, finahand management controls and
reporting systems, see the following risk factorsAs a public company, we are obligated to devetapraaintain proper and effective
internal control over financial reporting. If ouniernal control over financial reporting is ineftaee, our financial reporting may not be
accurate, complete and timely, and our auditors tm@yinable to attest to its effectiveness whenimedjuthus adversely affecting investor
confidence in our company.” and “—We currently ha#mited number of international offices and @&ganding our international
operations. Additionally, we do not have substdmigerience in all international markets and may achieve the results that we expect.”

We may acquire other companies or technologies,aithiould divert our management’s attention, resuitadditional dilution to our
stockholders or otherwise disrupt our operationscaharm our operating results

In April 2012, we acquired Sonar Limited, a Sad&mamanagement solution provider serving smallimsses, and in November 2014,
we acquired Evolv Inc., a machine learning and daiance platform provider. In the future, we magksto acquire or invest in other
businesses, products or technologies that we lgetieuld complement or expand our existing solutientance our technical capabilities or
otherwise offer growth opportunities. The pursdipotential acquisitions may divert the attentidmmmnagement and cause us to incur variou
expenses in identifying, investigating and purswsngable acquisitions, whether or not they argnately consummated.

Other than our acquisitions of Sonar Limited andlZv¥nc., we do not have any experience in acqgidther businesses. We may not be
able to successfully integrate the personnel, dipasand technologies of any other businessesmbahay acquire in the future or effectively
manage the combined business following the acéprisitVe may also not achieve the anticipated bengfim other acquired businesses dt
a number of factors, including:

* unanticipated costs or liabilities associated \lith acquisitior

* incurrence of acquisitiorelated cost

« diversion of managemestattention from other business conce

* harm to our existing relationships with distribw@nd clients as a result of the acquisi
» the potential loss of key employe

» the use of resources that are needed in othergfaoty business; ai

» the use of substantial portions of our availabkhda consummate the acquisit

In addition, a significant portion of the purchgsie of companies we acquire may be allocatedd¢uised goodwill, which must be
assessed for impairment at least annually, ortémgible assets, which are assessed for impairapent certain triggering events. In the future,

if our acquisitions do not yield expected retumus,may be required to take charges to our operagisigts based on this impairment
assessment process, which could harm our openatiodfs.

Acquisitions could also result in dilutive issuas@d equity securities or the incurrence of delfticlv could adversely affect our
operating results. For example, in our acquisiibBonar Limited, we issued an aggregate of 46s6@des of our common stock. In additior
an acquired business fails to meet our expectatmnsoperating results, business and financiatlitmm may suffer.
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As a public company, we are obligated to develogd amintain proper and effective internal control evfinancial reporting. If our internal
control over financial reporting is ineffective, auinancial reporting may not be accurate, complet@d timely, and our auditors may be
unable to attest to its effectiveness when requjrénis adversely affecting investor confidence inrcompany.

We are required, pursuant to Section 404 of thbeBes-Oxley Act, to furnish a report by managemanamong other things, the
effectiveness of our internal control over finahcéporting. Our auditors also need to audit tHeatfveness of our internal control over
financial reporting. These assessments need todadisclosure of any material weaknesses in derrial control over financial reporting.

We have and continue to incur significant costessag our system of internal control over finah@aorting and processing
documentation necessary to perform the evaluagéeaed to comply with Section 404. We may discoaed, may not be able to remediate,
future significant deficiencies or material wealsess or we may be unable to complete our evaluatisting or any required remediation in a
timely fashion. Failure of our internal control emancial reporting to be effective could cause financial reporting to be inaccurate,
incomplete or delayed. Moreover, even if thereasmaccuracy, incompletion or delay of reportinguis, if we identify one or more material
weaknesses in our internal control over finan@glorting, we will be unable to assert, and ourausliwill be unable to affirm, that our inter
control is effective, in which case investors masel confidence in the accuracy and completenessrdinancial reports, which could have a
material adverse effect on the price of our comstook.

Our systems collect, access, use and store persamalother client proprietary information. As a raft, we are subject to security risks and
are required to invest significant resources to peat or correct problems caused by security breachga security breach occurs, our
reputation could be harmed, our business may suffend we could incur significant liability.

Our talent management solutions involve the stoeagktransmission of clientptoprietary and confidential information over timerne!
(including public networks), and security breachesuthorized access, unauthorized usage, virsisniliar breach or disruption could result in
loss of this information, damage to our reputatear]y termination of our contracts, litigationgtatory investigations or other liabilities. In
addition, errors in the storage or transmissioguath information could compromise the securityhaft information. If our security measures
are breached as a result of third-party action,leyee error, malfeasance or otherwise and, asudtreemeone obtains unauthorized access t
client data, our reputation will be damaged, owibess may suffer and we could incur significaability. Advances in computer capabilities,
new discoveries in the field of cryptography orestbvents or developments could result in compresnis breaches of our security systems
and the data stored in these systems. Becauseshetine lag associated with developing adegpattections against such new development
and techniques, unauthorized access or sabotage ef/stems and the information processed in cdimmewith our business may result. If an
actual or perceived security breach occurs, th&kebgrerception of our security measures could lbméd and we could lose sales and clients.
Any violations of privacy or information securitpald result in the loss of business, litigation aadulatory investigations and penalties that
could damage our reputation and adversely impacoperating results and financial condition, inchgdour ability to make required reporting
and disclosures as a public company. Moreoverhi§h-profile security breach occurs with respecamother SaaS provider, our clients and
potential clients may lose trust in the securityhaf SaaS business model generally, which couldradly impact our ability to retain existing
clients or attract new ones.

Any significant disruption in our SaaS hosting netwk infrastructure could harm our reputation, reque us to provide credits or refund
result in early termination of a client agreement a loss of clients, and adversely affect our busés.

Our SaasS hosting network infrastructure is a @itpart of our business operations. Our clientg@ssour talent management solutions
through a standard web browser and depend on diadioand reliable access to our solutions. Ounso€ is proprietary, and we rely on the
expertise of members of our engineering and soéwlavelopment teams for the continued performahoermsolutions. We have experienced,
and may in the future experience, disruptions incmmputing and communications infrastructure. &acthat may cause such disruptions that
may harm our reputation include:

*  human erro

e security breache

» telecommunications outages from thparty providers

e computer viruse

» acts of terrorism, sabotage or other intentiontd atvandalism, including cyber attac
» unforeseen interruption or damages experiencediing hardware to a new locati

« fire, earthquake, flood and other natural disastare

* power loss
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Although we generally back up our client databdsrsly, store our data in more than one geographidastinct location at least weekly
and perform real-time mirroring of data to disasemovery locations, we do not currently offer intlisde access to disaster recovery locations
in the event of a disaster or major outage. Thuthé event of any of the factors described abowegrtain other failures of our computing
infrastructure, clients may not be able to acckess tlata for 24 hours or more. There is a rembgace that client data from recent transact
may be permanently lost or otherwise compromiseakeldver, some of our agreements include performgnaeantees and service level
standards that obligate us to provide credits famigs or termination rights in the event of a sligant disruption in our SaaS hosting network
infrastructure or other technical problems thaateto the functionality or design of our solutions

We rely on various third-party consulting firms tdeliver consulting services to our clients, sohiese firms fail to deliver these services
effectively, or if we are unable to maintain exisg relationships or enter into new relationships,dould impact the timing of the recognitic
of the revenue associated with such services.

We rely on various third party consulting firmsassist us in the successful implementation of oluti®ns and to optimize our clients'
use of our solutions during the terms of their gyagaents. Further, if these firms fail to deliveesh services to our customers in an effective
and timely manner, we may suffer reputational hana our result of operations may be adversely itgoh@lso, unfavorable global econor
conditions may hurt our providers, making them keffsctive or causing them to modify or cancel thelationships with us. If we are unable
maintain our existing relationships or enter inkswones, we would have to devote substantially meseurces to delivering our consulting
services, which could impact the timing of the igtition of the revenue associated with such sesvice

We rely on third-party computer hardware and softvgathat may be difficult to replace or could causerors or failures of our service.

In addition to the software we develop, we relycomputer hardware, purchased or leased, and seftigansed from third parties in
order to deliver our solutions. This hardware apfthgre may not continue to be available on commab#ycreasonable terms, if at all. Any loss
of the right to use any of this hardware or sofevemuld result in delays in our ability to provider solutions until equivalent technology is
either developed by us or, if available, identifiettained and integrated. In addition, errorsefedts in third-party hardware or software used
in our solutions could result in errors or a fa@lwf our solutions, which could harm our businéssreover, we utilize self-managed, co-
location facilities. If our co-location facilitiedo not scale and support our continued growth moee cost-effective basis than a fully managec
third-party environment, our business may be neghtimpacted.

Defects in our solutions could affect our reputatipresult in significant costs to us, and impair oability to sell our solutions and relate
services

Defects in our solutions could adversely affect myoutation, result in significant costs to us, angair our ability to sell our solutions in
the future. The costs incurred in correcting anytsan defects may be substantial and could adieeféect our operating results. Although
continually test our solutions for defects and watth clients through our client support organiaatio identify and correct errors, defects in
our solutions are likely to occur in the future.yAaefects that cause interruptions to the avaitgtof our solutions could result in:

» lost or delayed market acceptance and sales cfautions
» early termination of client agreements or lossl&nts;
» credits or refunds to clien
» product liability suits against
« diversion of development resourc
* injury to our reputation; at
* increased maintenance and warranty ¢
While our client agreements typically contain liatibns and disclaimers that purport to limit oabiiity for damages related to defect:

our solutions, such limitations and disclaimers maybe enforced by a court or other tribunal tieowvise effectively protect us from such
claims.
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If we fail to manage our SaaS hosting network inBaucture capacity, our existing clients may expence service outages and our ni
clients may experience delays in the deploymenbwf talent management solutions.

We have experienced significant growth in the nundb@isers, transactions and data that our hogtiingstructure supports. We seek to
maintain sufficient excess capacity in our SaaSimgsietwork infrastructure to meet the needs bbfbur clients. We also seek to maintain
excess capacity to facilitate the rapid provisibnew client deployments and the expansion of egstlient deployments. However, the
provision of new hosting infrastructure requiregndicant lead time. If we do not accurately prediar infrastructure capacity requirements,
our existing clients may experience service outdigaismay subject us to financial penalties, finahtabilities and client losses. If our hosting
infrastructure capacity fails to keep pace withréased sales, clients may experience delays asele® obtain additional capacity, which
could harm our reputation and adversely affectreuenue growth.

Our growth depends in part on the success of ouatgic relationships with third parties.

We anticipate that we will continue to depend oriauss thirdparty relationships in order to grow our businéssddition to growing ot
indirect sales channels, we intend to pursue adhditirelationships with other third parties, sustiechnology and content providers and
implementation consultants. Identifying, negotigtand documenting relationships with third parteguire significant time and resources, as
does integrating third-party content and technol@yr agreements with distributors and providerseohnology, content and consulting
services are typically non-exclusive, do not prdttiem from working with our competitors or fronffering competing services. Our
competitors may be effective in providing incengie third parties to favor their products or seegi or to prevent or reduce subscriptions to
our solutions. In addition, these distributors analviders may not perform as expected under oweagents, and we have had, and may in the
future have, disagreements or disputes with susthilolitors and providers, which could negativefigetf our brand and reputation. A global
economic slowdown could also adversely affect tigresses of our distributors, and it is possitée they may not be able to devote the
resources we expect to our relationships with slistnibutors.

If we are unsuccessful in establishing or maintajrour relationships with these third parties, ahifity to compete in the marketplace or
to grow our revenue could be impaired and our dpeyaesults could suffer. Even if we are succdssfa cannot assure you that these
relationships will result in improved operatinguks.

Failure to effectively expand our direct sales tearand develop and expand our indirect sales chanm#l impede our growth.

We will need to continue to expand our sales anketisng infrastructure in order to grow our clidr@se and our business. We plan to
significantly expand our direct sales teams andagagdditional third-party distributors, both dotiwdly and internationally. Identifying,
recruiting and training these people and entitidsraquire significant time, expense and attenti®ur business will be seriously harmed and
our financial resources will be wasted if our effaio expand our direct and indirect sales chardwlsot generate a corresponding increase in
revenue. In particular, if we are unable to hireyalop and retain talented sales personnel orrihew direct sales personnel are unable to
achieve expected productivity levels in a reasanpbriod of time, we may not be able to signifibairtcrease our revenue and grow our
business.

If we fail to retain key employees and recruit qifééd technical and sales personnel, our businessild be harmed

We believe that our success depends on the codtemployment of our senior management and otheekgyloyees, such as our chief
executive officer. In addition, because our futsmecess is dependent on our ability to continuentnce and introduce new software and
services, we are heavily dependent on our abditgttract and retain qualified engineers with #guisite education, background and industry
experience. As we expand our business, our corttisuecess will also depend, in part, on our abititgttract and retain qualified sales,
marketing and operational personnel capable ofatipg a larger and more diverse client base. ©ke 0f the services of a significant numbe
of our engineers or sales people could be disreptivour development efforts or business relatimsstin addition, if any of our key employse
joins a competitor or decides to otherwise compétie us, we may experience a material disruptionwfoperations and development ple
which may cause us to lose clients or increaseatipgrexpenses as the attention of our remainingpsenanagers is diverted to recruit
replacements for the departed key employees.

In cases where we are asked by clients to deplaysolutions on their behalf, failure to effectivelgnanage such client deployments by us
our third-party service providers could adversefgpact our business.

Clients have the option of implementing our solnsishemselves or relying on us to do so on thdialieln cases where we are asked to
deploy a solution for a client, we need to havealestantial understanding of such client’s busirsesthat we can configure the solution in a
manner that complements its existing business psaseand integrates the solution into its exisgirgjems. It may be difficult for us to mane
the timeliness of these deployments and the allocatf personnel and
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resources by us or our clients. In certain situegtiave also work with third-party service providershe deployment of our solutions, and we
may experience difficulties managing such thirdipar Failure to successfully manage client depleyts by us or our third-party service
providers could harm our reputation and cause Usswexisting clients, face potential client digsuor limit the rate at which new clients
purchase our solutions.

Because we recognize revenue from client subsaoipgi over the term of the agreement, a significatchturn in our business may not t
immediately reflected in our operating results.

Generally, we recognize revenue from subscriptgne@ements monthly over the terms of these agreamehtch is typically three years
for our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution. As aul, a significant portion of the revenue we reéporach quarter is generated from client
agreements entered into during previous periodas€guently, a decline in new or renewed subscriptip any one quarter may not impact
revenue and financial performance in that quabtetr will negatively affect our revenue and finahgarformance in future quarters. If a
number of contracts expire and are not renewelddrsame quarter, our revenue will decline signifilyain that quarter and subsequent
quarters. In addition, we may be unable to adjusfii@ed costs in response to reduced revenue. ilaogly, the effect of significant declines
sales and market acceptance of our solutions malgeneflected in our short-term operating results.

Because we generally recognize subscription revefroe our clients over the terms of their agreemerigut incur most costs associated w
generating such agreements upfront, rapid growthanr client base may put downward pressure on opecating income in the short tern

The expenses associated with generating clieneaggsts are generally incurred up front but theltiegusubscription revenue is
generally recognized over the life of the agreesigherefore, increased growth in the number ofatiants will result in our recognition of
more costs than revenue during the early periodsred by such agreements, even in cases whergtbenaents are expected to be profitable
for us over their full terms.

Certain of our operating results and financial mets are difficult to predict as a result of seasditi

We have historically experienced seasonality imteof when we enter into client agreements forsmlutions. We sign a significantly
higher percentage of agreements with new clients ranewal agreements with existing clients, inftheth quarter of each year and a
significant portion of these agreements are sighethg the last month, and with respect to eachitgquaoften the last two weeks of the quar
This seasonality is reflected to a much lessemgxéad sometimes is not immediately apparentuinrevenue, due to the fact that we genel
recognize subscription revenue over the term otlieeit agreement, which is generally three yeafs.expect this seasonality to continue, in
the future, which may cause fluctuations in certdinur operating results and financial metricg] #rus difficulties in predictability.

Integrated, comprehensive SaaS solutions such assoapresent a relatively recent approach to addiag organization’ talent
management challenges, and we may be forced to destine prices we charge for our solutions, or thiécpng model upon which they are
based, as the market for these types of solutionshees.

Providing organizations with applications to ad@rdir talent management challenges through iatedy comprehensive SaaS soluti
is a developing market. The market for these smhgtis therefore still evolving, and competitivenegnics may cause pricing levels, as well as
pricing models generally, to change, as the markatires and as existing and new market participatrteduce new types of solutions and
different approaches to enable organizations toemsddtheir talent management needs. As a resulhayebe forced to reduce the prices we
charge for our solutions or the pricing model oricktthey are based, and may be unable to renewrexidient agreements or enter into new
client agreements at the same prices and uporathe terms that we have historically, which couldeha material adverse effect on our
revenue, gross margin and other operating results.

Existing or future laws and regulations relating tprivacy or data security could increase the cokbar solutions and subject us or ot
clients to litigation, regulatory investigations @hother potential liabilities.

Our talent management solutions enable our clientsllect, manage and store a wide range of ddéded to every phase of the
employee performance and management cycle. ThedSitates and various state governments have adoppeoposed limitations on the
collection, distribution and use of personal infatimn. Several foreign jurisdictions, including tBeropean Union and the United Kingdom,
China, Korea, Japan, Singapore, Australia and Jindige adopted legislation (including directivesagulations) that increase or change the
requirements governing data collection and stonagieese jurisdictions. If our privacy or data setyumeasures fail to comply with current or
future laws and regulations, we may be subjedtigation, regulatory investigations or other liiies. Moreover, if future laws and regulatic
limit our clients’ ability to use and share empleygata or our ability to store, process and shate with our clients over the Internet, demand
for our solutions could decrease, our costs caudtease, and our operating results and financiadition could be harmed.
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Evolving regulation of the Internet or changes ié infrastructure underlying the Internet may adveely affect our financial condition b
increasing our expenditures and causing client digisfaction.

As Internet commerce continues to evolve, regubattip federal, state or foreign agencies may iner€dke are particularly sensitive to
these risks because the Internet is a critical @mapt of our business model. In addition, taxatibservices provided over the Internet or o
charges imposed by government agencies or by privaanizations for accessing the Internet may ladsinposed. Legislation has been
proposed that may impact the way that Internetisemroviders treat Internet traffic. The outconfiswuch proposals is uncertain but certain
outcomes may negatively impact our business oeas® our operating costs. Any regulation imposiegtgr fees for Internet use or restric
information exchanged over the Internet could teisuh decline in the use of the Internet and tladility of Internet-based services, which
could harm our business.

In addition, the rapid and continual growth of ti@bn the Internet has resulted at times in slownection and download speeds among
Internet users. Our business expansion may be ldafrfe Internet infrastructure cannot handle dients’ demands or if hosting capacity
becomes insufficient. If our clients become frustdawith the speed at which they can utilize odutsans over the Internet, our clients may
discontinue the use of our talent management solsitind choose not to renew their contracts with us

We currently have a limited number of internationalffices and are expanding our international opefans. Additionally, we do not have
substantial experience in all international marketsd may not achieve the results that we exp

We currently have international offices in AustaalBrazil, France, Germany, Hong Kong, India, Ird&pan, Netherlands, New Zeale
Spain, Sweden and the United Kingdom, and we mpgreck our international operations into other cadaatin the future. International
operations involve a variety of risks, including:

» unexpected changes in regulatory requirementss tévaele laws, tariffs, export quotas, custom dubieother trade restrictiol
« differing labor regulation
* regulations relating to data security and the umaized use of, or access to, commercial and pafsoformation

» potential penalties or other adverse consequfoceriolations of anti-corruption, anti-briberméother similar laws and regulations,
including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Adl &me U.K. Bribery Act.

« greater difficulty in supporting and localizing ganmoducts
» changes in a specific country’s or reg®political or economic conditior

« challenges inherent in efficiently managing meréased number of employees over large geogrd@tances, including the need to
implement appropriate systems, controls, polidiesefits and compliance programs;

» limited or unfavorable intellectual property prdien; anc
* restrictions on repatriation of earnir

We have less significant experience in marketiediing and supporting our products and servicesadhrOur less significant experience
in operating our business internationally incredbesisk that any potential future expansion éfféhat we may undertake will not be
successful. If we invest substantial time and resgsito expand our international operations andiaable to do so successfully and in a timel
manner, our business and operating results wilesuf

If we fail to develop our brand co-effectively, our business may suffer.

We believe that developing and maintaining awargéshe Cornerstone OnDemand brand in a costteféemanner is critical to
achieving widespread acceptance of our existingfatuge solutions and is an important element iraating new clients. Furthermore, we
believe that the importance of brand recognitiolh wtrease as competition in our market increaSescessful promotion of our brand will
depend largely on the effectiveness of our marfegiifiorts and on our ability to provide reliabledamseful services at competitive prices. In
past, our efforts to build our brand have involegghificant expenses. Brand promotion activitieyymat yield increased revenue, and even if
they do, any increased revenue may not offsetxpereses we incurred in building our brand. In addijtthe Cornerstone OnDemand
Foundation shares our company name and any negeigeptions of any kind about the Cornerstone @mérel Foundation could adversely
affect our brand and reputation. If we fail to segsfully promote and maintain our brand, or inarssantial expenses in an unsuccessful
attempt to promote and maintain our brand, we radyd attract enough new clients or retain ousgmng clients to the extent necessary to
realize a sufficient return on our brand-buildirffpes, and our business could suffer.

28




We face risks associated with our sales to governtakentities.

The risks associated with doing business with gowental entities include, but are not limited teg following:
» Selling to governmental entities can be more peatitive, expensive and tinensuming than selling to private entit

» Governmental entities may have significant lagerin negotiations, thereby enabling such entitielemand contract terms that differ
from what we generally agree to in our standar@agents, including, for example, most favored matiauses and terms allowing
contract termination for convenience;

* Government demand and payment for our solutioag be influenced by public sector budgetary cyales funding authorizations,
with funding reductions or delays having an advérggact on public sector demand for our solutiGrs]

e Government contracts are generally subject thtaand investigations, which we have no expegenith, including termination of
contracts, refund of a portion of fees receivedeifture of profits, suspension of payments, finad suspensions or debarment from
future government business.

While our experience dealing with governmentaltegihas so far been limited, to the extent thaba@me more reliant on contracts
with government clients in the future, our expodiarsuch risks could increase, which, in turn, daadversely impact our business.

If for any reason we are not able to develop enhantents and new features, keep pace with technoklaigievelopments or respond to futu
disruptive technologies, our business will be hamine

Our future success will depend on our ability taptdand innovate. To attract new clients and irseavenue from existing clients, we
will need to enhance and improve our existing sohg and introduce new features. The success oéahgncement or new feature depends o
several factors, including timely completion, irduztion and market acceptance. If we are unabdeicoessfully develop or acquire new
features or products or enhance our existing prisdoaneet client needs, our business and operaguts will be adversely affected.

In addition, because our solutions are designexgbévate on a variety of network, hardware and softvplatforms using Internet tools
and protocols, we will need to continuously modifyd enhance our solutions to keep pace with changeternet-related hardware, software,
communication, browser and database technolodies &re unable to respond in a timely and costeiffe manner to these rapid
technological developments, our solutions may bectss marketable and less competitive or obsaettpur operating results may be
negatively impacted.

Finally, our ability to grow is subject to the riskfuture disruptive technologies. If new techrgiés emerge that are able to deliver ta
management solutions at lower prices, more effijear more conveniently, such technologies cowdeasely impact our ability to compete.

We might require additional capital to support bugss growth, and this capital might not be availakin acceptable terms, if at all.

We intend to continue to make investments to supparbusiness growth and may seek additional fimadespond to business
challenges, including the need to develop new featar enhance our existing solutions, improveaparating infrastructure or acquire
complementary businesses and technologies. Acagydiwe may need to engage in additional equitgledst financings to secure additional
funds. If we raise additional funds through issunef equity or debt securities, our existing shmitters could suffer significant dilution, and
any new equity securities we issue could have sigtrieferences and privileges superior to thogehfers of our common stock. Any debt
financing secured by us in the future could invalestrictive covenants relating to our capitalirajsactivities and other financial and
operational matters, which may make it more ditfiéor us to obtain additional capital and to purdwsiness opportunities, including poter
acquisitions. In addition, we may not be able tmobadditional financing on terms favorable toifigt all. If we are unable to obtain adequate
financing or financing on terms satisfactory towbkgn we require it, our ability to continue to popt our business growth and to respond to
business challenges could be significantly impaired
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Our ability to make scheduled payments of the fpelmf, to pay interest on or to refinance ourdhtedness, including our convertible
notes, depends on our future performance, whishlgect to economic, financial, competitive andeotfactors beyond our control. Our
business may not generate cash flow from operatotige future sufficient to satisfy our obligatoander the notes and any future
indebtedness we may incur and to make necessaitalaaxpenditures. If we are unable to generatd sash flow, we may be required to ac
one or more alternatives, such as reducing or degagvestments or capital expenditures, sellingets refinancing or obtaining additional
equity capital on terms that may be onerous orlpidhutive. Our ability to refinance the notesfature indebtedness will depend on the ca
markets and our financial condition at such time Way not be able to engage in any of these detwitr engage in these activities on
desirable terms, which could result in a defaultl@notes or future indebtedness.

The conditional conversion feature of the notestiiiggered, may adversely affect our financial cdtidn and operating results.

In the event the conditional conversion featuréhefnotes is triggered, holders of notes will betled to convert the notes at any time
during specified periods at their option. If onemore holders elect to convert their notes, we @dd required to settle a portion of our
conversion obligation through the payment of cagfich could adversely affect our liquidity. In atdn, even if holders do not elect to con
their notes, we could be required under applicabt®unting rules to reclassify all or a portiorthe# outstanding principal of the notes as a
current rather than long-term liability, which wdulesult in a material reduction of our net workoapital.

The accounting method for our convertible debt seities that may be settled in cash, such as theasptmay have a material effect on our
reported financial results.

In May 2008, the Financial Accounting Standardsr8pwhich we refer to as FASB, issued FASB Staffifan No. APB 14-1,
Accounting for Convertible Debt Instruments ThatyMge Settled in Cash Upon Conversion (IncludingiBa€ash Settlement), which has
subsequently been codified as Accounting Standaedification 470-20, Debt with Conversion and Otbgations, which we refer to as ASC
470-20. Under ASC 470-20, an entity must separaedpunt for the liability and equity componentgha convertible debt instruments (such
as the notes) that may be settled entirely oralbriin cash upon conversion in a manner that c&fléhe issuer's economic interest cost. The
effect of ASC 470-20 on the accounting for the aasethat the equity component is required to lokughed in the additional paid-in capital
section of stockholders' equity on our consoliddteldnce sheet, and the value of the equity comypameuld be treated as original issue
discount for purposes of accounting for the delbdponent of the notes. As a result, we will be regflito record a greater amount of non-cast
interest expense in current periods presentedesu#t of the amortization of the discounted cargyalue of the notes to their face amount
over the term of the notes. We will report lowet imeome (or greater net loss) in our financiaulessbecause ASC 470-20 will require interes
to include both the current period's amortizatibthe debt discount and the instrument's coupaarést, which could adversely affect our
reported or future financial results, the markétgoof our common stock and the trading price efribtes.

In addition, convertible debt instruments (suclhasnotes) that may be settled entirely or partlgash are currently accounted for
utilizing the treasury stock method, the effectmbiich is that the shares issuable upon converditimeonotes are not included in the calculatior
of diluted earnings per share except to the extaitthe conversion value of the notes exceeds phieicipal amount. Under the treasury stock
method, for diluted earnings per share purposesr#imsaction is accounted for as if the numbehafes of common stock that would be
necessary to settle such excess, if we electegttie such excess in shares, are issued. We charstre that the accounting standards in the
future will continue to permit the use of the tneigsstock method. If we are unable to use the tngastock method in accounting for the share
issuable upon conversion of the notes, then outatilearnings per share would be adversely affected

If we fail to adequately protect our proprietarygits, our competitive advantage and brand coulditmaired and we may lose valuak
assets, generate reduced revenue and incur cogtfation to protect our rights.

Our success is dependent, in part, upon proteotingroprietary technology. We rely on a combinatd patents, copyrights, tradema
service marks, trade secret laws and contractetriicgons to establish and protect our proprietégiits in our products and services. Howe
the steps we take to protect our intellectual priypmay be inadequate. We will not be able to protair intellectual property if we are unable
to enforce our rights or if we do not detect unattted use of our intellectual property. Despite piecautions, it may be possible for
unauthorized third parties to copy our products aselinformation that we regard as proprietaryréate products and services that compete
with ours. Some license provisions protecting agfaimauthorized use, copying, transfer and disctostiour licensed products may be
unenforceable under the laws of certain jurisdietiand foreign countries. Further, the laws of somentries do not protect proprietary rights
to the same extent as the laws of the United Statethe extent we expand our international adéisjtour exposure to unauthorized copying
and use of our products and proprietary informati@y increase. We enter into confidentiality anceimtion assignment agreements with our
employees and consultants and enter into confidiégtagreements with the parties with
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whom we have strategic relationships and businéas@es. These agreements may not be effectigentrolling access to and distribution of
our products and proprietary information. Furtlieese agreements do not prevent our competitons iitdependently developing technologies
that are substantially equivalent or superior tosmlutions. Litigation brought to protect and ewfour intellectual property rights could be
costly, time consuming and distracting to managérard could result in the impairment or loss oftjpms of our intellectual property. If we
fail to secure, protect and enforce our intellecpwaperty rights, we may lose valuable assetsegda reduced revenue and incur costly
litigation to protect our rights, which could sergdy harm our brand and adversely impact our bgsine

We may be sued by third parties for alleged inframgent of their proprietary rights or may find it messary to enter into licensing
arrangements with third parties to settle or foraitsuch claims, either of which could have a maitdradverse effect on our operating
results and financial condition.

There is considerable patent and other intellegit@erty development activity in our industry. Guiccess depends in part upon our no
infringing the intellectual property rights of otise However, our competitors, as well as a numbether entities and individuals, may own or
claim to own intellectual property relating to andustry or, in some cases, our technology or peteddFrom time to time, such third parties
may claim that we are infringing their intellectyabperty rights, and we may actually be foundeartiringing such rights. Moreover, we may
be subject to claims of infringement with respecteichnology that we acquire or license from tipiadties. The risk that we could be subject tc
infringement claims is increasing as the numbasrotlucts and companies competing with our solutgiosvs. Any claims or litigation could
require the commitment of substantial time andueses and, if successfully asserted against usd cequire that we pay substantial damages
or ongoing royalty or licensing payments, indemmfyr clients, distributors or other third partiesadify or discontinue the sale of our
products, or refund fees, any of which would deptair resources and adversely impact our busiésdave in the past obtained, and may ir
the future obtain, licenses from third partiesdrettall or settle potential claims that our pradumnd technology infringe the intellectual
property rights of others. Discussions and negotiatwith such third parties, whether successfulrmuccessful, could result in substantial
costs and the diversion of management resourdesy @if which could seriously harm our business.

Indemnity provisions in various agreements potetfiffaexpose us to substantial liability for intellégal property infringement and othe
losses.

Our agreements with clients and other third pariay include indemnification provisions under whigé agree to indemnify them for
losses suffered or incurred as a result of claifmstellectual property infringement, damages causg us to property or persons, or other
liabilities relating to or arising from our prodsgservices, or other contractual obligations. fEne of these indemnity provisions generally
survives termination or expiration of the appli@bbreement. Large indemnity payments could hambwsiness, operating results and
financial condition. From time to time, we are regied by clients to indemnify them for breach affatentiality with respect to personal data.
Although we normally do not agree to, or contrattyuiamit our liability with respect to, such regses, the existence of such a dispute with a
client may have adverse effects on our clienti@iahips and reputation.

We use open source software in our products, whicluld subject us to litigation or other actions.

We use open source software in our products andus@ynore open source software in the future. Enom to time, there have been
claims challenging the ownership of open sourcensot against companies that incorporate open s@afitware into their products. As a
result, we could be subject to suits by partiesrdtey ownership of what we believe to be open sewaftware. Litigation could be costly for
to defend, have a negative effect on our opera#gglts and financial condition or require us teate additional research and development
resources to change our products. In additiongifwere to combine our proprietary software produgtis open source software in a certain
manner, we could, under certain of the open sdigenses, be required to release the source codergiroprietary software products. If we
inappropriately use open source software, we magdeired to re-engineer our products, discontitieesale of our products or take other
remedial actions.

We are subject to governmental export and imporhtols that could impair our ability to compete imternational markets due to licensing
requirements and subject us to liability if we am@t in full compliance with applicable laws.

Our solutions are subject to export controls, idolg the Commerce Department’s Export Administrafegulations and various
economic and trade sanctions regulations establisii¢he Treasury Department’s Office of Foreigrséts Controls, and exports of our
solutions must be made in compliance with these ldfwe fail to comply with these U.S. export cariiaws and import laws, including U.S.
Customs regulations, we and certain of our empleyeeald be subject to substantial civil or crimipahalties, including the possible loss of
export or import privileges; fines, which may bepmsed on us and responsible employees or managersin extreme cases, the incarceratiol
of responsible employees or managers.
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In addition, if our distributors fail to obtain agmpriate import, export or re-export licenses ahatizations, we may also be adversely affectec
through reputational harm and penalties. Obtaittiegnecessary authorizations, including any reddicense, for a particular sale may be
time-consuming and is not guaranteed, and maytrigstile delay or loss of sales opportunities. fremnore, the U.S. export control laws and
economic sanctions laws prohibit the shipment ofaie products and services to U.S. embargoedratissaed countries, governments and
persons. Even though we take precautions to prexargolutions from being shipped or provided t& sanctions targets, our solutions and
services could be shipped to those targets or geovby our distributors despite such precautiomy. #uch shipment could have negative
consequences, including government investigatip@salties and reputational harm. In addition, waioountries regulate the import of certain
encryption technology, including through importpéting or licensing requirements, and have enalzed that could limit our ability to
distribute our solutions or could limit our clieh&bility to implement our solutions in those coti@s. Changes to our solutions or changes in
export and import regulations may create delayhénntroduction and sale of our solutions in intfonal markets, prevent our clients with
international operations from deploying our solns@r, in some cases, prevent the export or ingfatir solutions to certain countries,
governments or persons altogether. Any changeporéxr import regulations, economic sanctionsaeteited laws, shift in the enforcement or
scope of existing regulations, or change in thenties, governments, persons or technologies tadd®f such regulations, could result in
decreased use of our solutions, or in our decrealsiity to export or sell our solutions to exigfior potential clients with international
operations. Any decreased use of our solutionsrotation on our ability to export or sell our stitns would likely adversely affect our
business, financial condition and operating results

Fluctuations in the exchange rate of foreign curreies could result in foreign currency gains and kess.

We currently have foreign sales denominated in dalisn Dollars, Brazilian Reals, Canadian Dolld&sros, Great British Pounds, Ind
Rupees, Japanese Yen, New Zealand Dollars, Sing&milars, and South African Rand and may in theruhave sales denominated in the
currencies of additional countries. In addition, iweur a portion of our operating expenses in GBritsh Pounds and Euros and, to a much
lesser extent, in Australian Dollars, Brazilian Re&anadian Dollars, Chinese Yuan, Danish KrorandiKong Dollars, Indian Rupees, Israeli
New Shekels, Japanese Yen, New Zealand Dollarsy®pan Kroner, Polish Zloty, Swedish Krona and Swisanc. Further, our overse
subsidiaries’ results are also impacted by exchaaigs affecting the carrying value of U.S. Dotlenominated intercompany loans with us.
Fluctuations in the exchange rates of these foreigrencies negatively impact our business, firdrmndition and operating results. We have
not previously engaged in foreign currency hedgifigie decide to hedge our foreign currency expeswe may not be able to completely
eliminate the impact of fluctuations in the exchanates.

Changes in financial accounting standards or pracéis may cause adverse, unexpected financial repgrfluctuations and affect our
reported operating results.

A change in accounting standards or practices a@a h significant effect on our reported resulis mnay even affect our reporting of
transactions completed before the change is effediiew accounting pronouncements and varyingpnééaitions of accounting
pronouncements have occurred and may occur iruttiest Changes to existing rules or the questionfrmurrent practices may adversely
affect our reported financial results or the wayaseduct our business.

Our investment portfolio is subject to general cigdiquidity, counterparty, market and interest ta risks, any of which could impair the
market value of our investments and harm our finaiatresults.

At December 31, 2014 , we had $166.6 million inhcasd cash equivalents and $119.2 million in ster and longerm investments i
marketable securities, consisting of corporate bpmibney market funds backed by United States Tirgdiills, U.S. treasury securities and
agency securities. Although we follow an establisimvestment policy and set of guidelines to mamagenvestment portfolio, our
investments are subject to general credit, liqujdibunterparty, market and interest rate riskdckvhave been exacerbated by the recent
financial and credit crisis, rising bankruptcyrfis in the United States, and the ongoing debirgeilebate.

Because the market value of fixed-rate debt seesnihay be adversely impacted by a rise in inteedses, our future investment income
may fall short of expectations if interest rategriln addition, we may suffer losses if we areddrto sell securities that have experienced a
decline in market value because of changes indsteates. Currently, we do not use financial ddives to hedge our interest rate exposure.

The fair value of our investments may change sicguiftly due to events and conditions in the cradd capital markets. Any investment
securities that we hold, or the issuers of suchr#ges, could be subject to review for possiblevdgrade. Any downgrade in these credit
ratings may result in an additional decline in éséimated fair value of our investments. Changekérnvarious assumptions used to value thes
securities and any increase in the perceived maidieassociated with such investments may alsdtrgsa decline in estimated fair value.
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In the event of adverse conditions in the credit eapital markets, and to the extent we make fuhwestments, our investment portfolio
may be impacted, and we could determine that sora# of our investments experienced an other-tteanporary decline in fair value,
requiring impairment, which could adversely impaot financial position and operating results.

We may invest in companies for strategic reasons amay not realize a return on our investments

In November 2013, we launched a strategic initextiveated to invest in, advise and collaborate piitimising cloud startups building
innovative business applications that support thetinued expansion of our market reach. From tioninte we may make direct investment
privately held companies. The privately held conmgsim which we may invest are considered inheyaigky. The technologies and products
these companies have under development are typinathe early stages and may never materializégtwtould result in a loss of all or a
substantial part of our initial investment in thesenpanies. The evaluation of privately held congmis based on information that we reques
from these companies, which is not subject to #mesdisclosure regulations as U.S. publicly tractmdpanies, and as such, the basis for the:
evaluations is subject to the timing and accurddh@ data received from these companies.

To the extent that our pre-tax income or loss beaswelatively modest, our ability to conclude tlatontrol deficiency is not a material
weakness or that an accounting error does not regua restatement could be adversely affected.

Under the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, our managéimeaquired to assess the impact of control deiides based upon both
guantitative and qualitative factors, and dependipgn that analysis we classify such identifiedaleficies as either a control deficiency,
significant deficiency or a material weakness. @menent of our analysis of the significance of aagtrol deficiency is its actual or potential
financial impact. This assessment will vary depegdin our level of pre-tax income or loss. For egkana smaller pre-tax income or loss will
increase the likelihood of a quantitative assessmofea control deficiency as a significant defigigror material weakness.

To the extent that our pre-tax income or loss latingely small, if management or our independegtsiered public accountants identify
an error in our interim or annual financial statatseit is more likely that such an error may btedwined to be a material weakness or be
considered a material error that could, dependpanuhe complete quantitative and qualitative asialyresult in our having to restate
previously issued financial statements.

Risks Related to Tax Issues

We are a multinational organization faced with ineasingly complex tax issues in many jurisdictiomsd we could be obligated to pay
additional taxes in various jurisdictions.

As a multinational organization, we are subjediatation in several jurisdictions around the warith increasingly complex tax laws,
the application of which can be uncertain. The amofi taxes we pay in these jurisdictions couldéase substantially as a result of chang:
the applicable tax principles, including increat®drates, new tax laws or revised interpretatimnasxisting tax laws and precedents, which
could have a material adverse effect on our liquidnd operating results. In addition, the autlesitn these jurisdictions could review our tax
returns and impose additional tax, interest andlpes, and the authorities could claim that vasiaithholding requirements apply to us or out
subsidiaries or assert that benefits of tax treatre not available to us or our subsidiaries,airwhich could have a material impact on us and
our operating results. If we are selected for fitexaminations that uncover incorrect tax positisrescould be subject to additional taxes,
interest, and penalties.

Taxing authorities could reallocate our taxable inme among our subsidiaries, which could increase consolidated tax liability.

We conduct operations worldwide through subsidsairevarious tax jurisdictions pursuant to trangfiécing arrangements between our
subsidiaries. If two or more affiliated companies cated in different countries, the tax lawsegulations of each country generally will
require that transfer prices be the same as thetse=bn unrelated companies dealing at arms’ lemgdhthat contemporaneous documentation
is maintained to support the transfer prices. Wihigebelieve that we operate in compliance with i@pple transfer pricing laws and intend to
continue to do so, our transfer pricing procedaresnot binding on applicable tax authoritiesak authorities in any of these countries were t
successfully challenge our transfer prices asefta#ating arm’s length transactions, they coulduiegjus to adjust our transfer prices and
thereby reallocate our income to reflect thesesezVitransfer prices, which could result in a highgriability to us. In addition, if the country
from which the income is reallocated does not awriée the reallocation, both countries could tag #ame income, resulting in double taxa
If tax authorities were to allocate income to aheigtax jurisdiction, subject our income to doutalgation or assess interest and penalties, it
would increase our consolidated tax liability, whiould adversely affect our financial conditiopgeating results and cash flows.
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Our ability to use net operating loss carryforwartts reduce future tax payments may be limited if experience a change in ownership, or
if taxable income does not reach sufficient levels.

Under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Cod€861las amended, if a corporation undergoes anéwship change” (generally
defined as a greater than 50% change (by valu& eguity ownership over a three year period),cigoration’s ability to use its pre-change
net operating loss carryforwards and other pre-gbdax attributes (such as research tax creditsif$et its post-change income may be
limited. We may experience ownership changes irfuhee and subsequent shifts in our stock ownprgks a result, we may be limited in the
portion of net operating loss carryforwards thatoaa use in the future to offset taxable incomdJf@. Federal income tax purposes.

Risks Related to Ownership of our Common Stock
The trading price of our common stock may be vdati

The trading price of our common stock has at titrex=n volatile and could continue to be subjectgnificant fluctuations in response to
various factors, some of which are beyond our cbnitn addition, the stock market in general, amg tarket for technology companies in
particular, has experienced extreme price and velfiactuations that have often been unrelated sprdportionate to the operating
performance of the companies operating in such etarkhe market price of our common stock may blaily volatile, and investors in our
common stock may experience a decrease in the vhtheir shares, including as a result of factoreelated to our operating performance ant
prospects. The market price of our common stockdcbe subject to wide fluctuations in response twuaber of factors, including:

» our operating performance and the performancetaragimilar companie

» the financial projections we provide to the pubdiny changes in these projections or our failun@éet or exceed these projectic
» the overall performance of the equity mark

» developments with respect to intellectual propedits:

» publication of unfavorable research reports absutruour industry or withdrawal of research coverhy securities analys

» speculation in the press or investment commt

e the size of our public floe

* natural disasters or terrorist a

* announcements by us or our competitors of digarit contracts, new technologies, acquisitionsjroercial relationships, joint
ventures or capital commitments; and

» global economic, legal and regulatory factors wateal to our performanc

In addition, in the past, following periods of viiligy in the overall market and the market prideagparticular company’s securities,
securities class action litigation has often bestiated against these companies. This litigatibimjtiated against us, could result in substdr
costs and a diversion of our management’s atteatiohresources.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or publish misleading or unfavorable reselrabout our business, the market pri
of our common stock and trading volume could dedin

The trading market for our common stock depengsaith on the research and reports that securitiesedastry analysts publish about us,
our business or our market. If one or more of thaysts who covers us downgrade our common stogkiblish incorrect or unfavorable
research about our business, the market priceraf@umon stock would likely decline. In additiohphe or more of these analysts cease
coverage of our company or fail to publish reporisus regularly, demand for our common stock colgckease, which could cause the marke
price of our stock or trading volume to decline.

The issuance of additional stock in connection wilzquisitions, our stock incentive plans or othesgiwill dilute all other stockholdings.

Our certificate of incorporation authorizes usssuie up to 1,000,000,000 shares of common stockmial 50,000,000 shares of
preferred stock with such rights and preferencenasbe determined by our board of directors. Sultigecompliance with applicable rules ¢
regulations, we may issue all of these sharesattgamot already outstanding without any actionpgraval by our stockholders. We intend to
continue to evaluate strategic acquisitions inftitere. We may pay for such acquisitions, partlynofull, through the issuance of additional
equity. Any issuance of shares in connection withacquisitions, the exercise of stock options Mixgting of restricted stock units or otherv
would dilute the percentage ownership held by sgshvestors.
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Conversion of our convertible notes may dilute themnership interest of existing stockholders, inciad holders who had previously
converted their notes, or may otherwise depressghee of our common stock.

The conversion of some or all of our convertibléesawill dilute the ownership interests of existstgckholders to the extent we deliver
shares upon conversion of any of the notes. Amgssalthe public market of the common stock issaialplon such conversion could adversely
affect prevailing market prices of our common stdokaddition, the existence of the notes may erageishort selling by market participants
because the conversion of the notes could be ossatisfy short positions, or anticipated convarsibthe notes into shares of our common
stock could depress the price of our common stock.

We do not expect to declare any dividends in theeéeeable future.

We do not anticipate declaring any cash dividendsolders of our common stock in the foreseealilgréu Consequently, investors may
need to sell all or part of their holdings of oommmon stock after price appreciation, which mayemeccur, as the only way to realize any
future gains on their investment. Investors seekimgh dividends should not purchase our commotk.stoc

Anti-takeover provisions in our charter documents an@lBware law may delay or prevent an acquisitionoafr company.

Our certificate of incorporation, bylaws and Delagvkaw contain provisions that may have the efééatelaying or preventing a change
in control of us or changes in our management.d@tificate of incorporation and bylaws include yasions that:

» authorize “blank check” preferred stock, whiduld be issued by the board without stockholderaygl and may contain voting,
liquidation, dividend and other rights superioota common stock;

» create a classified board of directors whose bemserve staggered thngear terms

» specify that special meetings of our stockhaddmm be called only by our board of directors carperson of the board, the chief
executive officer or the president;

» establish an advance notice procedure for stdkh approvals to be brought before an annualingef our stockholders, including
proposed nominations of persons for election tobmard of directors;

e provide that our directors may be removed onlyctuse

» provide that vacancies on our board of directoay be filled only by a majority of directors thenoffice, even though less than a
quorum;

» specify that no stockholder is permitted to cumaulaites at any election of directors;
e require supermajority votes of the holders of ammmon stock to amend specified provisions of oarigh document

These provisions, alone or together, could delgyrevent hostile takeovers and changes in controhanges in our management.

In addition, because we are incorporated in Delaywae are governed by the provisions of Sectiondf@Be Delaware General
Corporation Law, which limits the ability of stoakdlders owning in excess of 15% of our outstandioting stock to merge or combine with

Any provision of our certificate of incorporation bylaws or Delaware law that has the effect ofyiglg or deterring a change in control
could limit the opportunity for our stockholdersraxeive a premium for their shares of our comntonks and could also affect the price that
some investors are willing to pay for our commatkt

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen
Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

Our principal offices are located in Santa Moni€alifornia, where we occupy approximately 108,000sse feet of office space under
operating leases that expire in January 2019. We hdditional established offices in Amsterdam, ldaed, Dusseldorf, Hong Kong, London,
Madrid, Mumbai, Munich, Paris, San Francisco, Sdol®, Stockholm, Sunnyvale, Sydney, Tel Aviv, ammkyo to support our international
operations. We believe that our facilities are adeg for our current needs and that suitable anditior substitute space will be available as
needed to accommodate planned expansion of ouatipes. Our foreign subsidiaries lease office sgacéheir operations, including their
local sales and professional services personnel.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

From time to time, we are involved in a varietyct#ims, suits, investigations and proceedingsragifiom the ordinary course of our
business, including actions with respect to intéllal property claims, breach of contract clairabor and employment claims, tax and other
matters. Although claims, suits, investigations prmteedings are inherently uncertain and theurlt®sannot be predicted with certainty, we
believe that the resolution of our current pendiragters will not have a material adverse effecbonbusiness, consolidated financial position
results of operations or cash flow. Regardlest@foutcome, litigation can have an adverse impactsobecause of defense costs, diversion o



management resources and other factors. In additisnpossible that an unfavorable resolutiomieé or more such proceedings could ir
the future materially and adversely affect our ficial position, results of operations or cash flamva particular period.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosurt

Not applicable.

PART Il
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Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Skbwlder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Seities
Market for Our Common Stock and Related StockholderMatters

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQdbI8blect Market under the symbol “CSOD” since Miat@, 2011. Prior to that
time, there was no public market for our commorlstd he following table sets forth for the peridddicated the high and low closing sale
prices for our common stock as reported on the NAQlobal Select Market.

Fiscal 2014 Fiscal 2013
High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 60.8¢ $ 459¢ $ 35.2¢ % 29.8¢
Second Quarter 49,65 34.5¢ 45.67 31.3¢
Third Quarter 46.2( 34.41 54.6( 43.9(
Fourth Quarter 36.8: 275k 53.31 455t

Holders of Record

As of January 31, 2014 there were 30 holders afrceof our common stock. Because many of our shafreemmon stock are held of
record by brokers and other institutions on bebg#ftockholders, we are unable to estimate thé motaber of stockholders represented by
record holders.

Dividend Policy

We have never declared or paid, and do not anteigeclaring or paying, any cash dividends on oanrmon stock. Any future
determination as to the declaration and paymedividends will be at the discretion of our boarddokctors and will depend on then-existing
conditions, including our financial condition, opéng results, contractual restrictions, capitguieements, business prospects and other fe
our board of directors may deem relevant.

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

This performance graph shall not be deemed “filéaf’ purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exgbact of 1934, as amended (the
Exchange Act), or incorporated by reference intg filing of Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc. under theusities Act of 1933, as amended,
the Exchange Act, except as shall be expressipritby specific reference in such filing.

The following graph compares (i) the cumulativeatatockholder return on our common stock from Mat@, 2011 through
December 31, 2014 with (ii) the cumulative totalira of the NASDAQ Global Market Index and (iii)@ftNASDAQ Computer & Data
Processing Index over the same period, assuminig¥lestment of $100 in our common stock and in ludtthe other indices on March 17,
2011 and the reinvestment of all dividends. Asulised above, we have never declared or paid adeadend on our common stock and do
not anticipate declaring or paying a cash dividienithe foreseeable future.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN OF CORNERSTON E ONDEMAND*
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* Returns are based on historical results andhatr@ecessarily indicative of future performancee $he disclosure in Part I, Item 1A.
“Risk Factors.”

March 17, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,

2011 2011 2012 2013 2014
Cornerstone OnDemand $ 100.0C $ 956t $ 154.8¢ $ 2795 $ 184.5¢
NASDAQ Global Market Index $ 100.0¢ % 86.6( $ 100.0¢ $ 166.9: $ 176.9¢
NASDAQ Computer & Data Processing Index $ 100.0C $ 101.9° $ 114.6¢ $ 151.3: $ 181.4:

The comparisons shown in the graph are based uptoribal data. We caution that the stock pricdgranance shown in the graph ab«
is not necessarily indicative of, nor is it intedde forecast, the potential future performancewfcommon stock.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The information required by this item will be indied under the caption “Equity Compensation and RiEormation” in our Proxy
Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockhide be filed with the SEC within 120 days of ftseal year ended December 31, 2014 ,
and is incorporated herein by reference.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
None.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The statement of operations data for the threesyeaded December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 arizhthece sheet data at
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, ar@etkfrom, and qualified by reference to, our autifteancial statements included elsewhere
in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The statemefitsperations data for the two years ended Dece®be2011 and 2010 and the balance
sheet data at December 31, 2012, 2011 and 20&atésely, are derived from our audited financialtsments not included in this Annual

Report on Form 10-K.

The selected consolidated financial data belownataecessarily indicative of future performancd ahould be read in conjunction with
Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis aofdficial Condition and Results of Operations” aredldbnsolidated financial statements
and related notes thereto included in Item 8 &f Aninual Report on Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,

Consolidated statements of operations data:

Gross revenu® $

Common stock warrant charge

Net revenue
Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative

Amortization of certain acquired intangible
assets

Total operating expenses

Loss from operations
Other income (expense):

Interest income (expense) and other incorr
(expense), net

Change in fair value of preferred stock
warrant liabilities®

Loss before provision for income taxes
Income tax benefit (provision)

Net loss $
Accretion of redeemable preferred stock

Net loss attributable to common stockholde$

Net loss per share attributable to common
stockholders, basic and dilutéd $

Weighted average common shares
outstanding, basic and diluted

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

263,56( $ 185,12¢ $ 117,91« $ 75,52: $ 46,60¢
— — — (2,500) (2,877)
263,56¢ 185,12¢ 117,91- 73,02: 43,73:
77,68¢ 53,54¢ 34,59 21,28¢ 14,28(
185,88:- 131,58: 83,32: 51,731 29,45
162,55: 109,73 73,56: 45,77: 28,13«
30,61¢ 21,26( 14,88¢ 10,14¢ 5,60z
41,80z 33,57 25,91 15,12: 8,55¢
82¢ 1,004 73¢ — —
235,80( 165,57: 115,10( 71,044 42,29
(49,916 (33,99) (31,77) (19,307 (12,840
(14,129 (6,562) (402) (1,859 (1,320
— — — (42,559 (34,079
(64,049 (40,554 (32,179 (63,719 (48,239
(85E) 12¢€ 78¢ (182) (137)
(64,899 $ (40,4260 $ (31,390 $ (63,900 $ (48,370
— — — (5,209) (8,23%)
(64,899 $ (40,426 $ (31,390 $ (69,109 $ (56,60
(1229 $ 0.79 $ (0.6 $ 179 $ (6.15)
53,26 51,42; 49,92¢ 39,82/ 9,20¢

(1) During the second quarter of 2011 and thetfoguarter of 2010, we recorded a $2.5 million 88® million reduction of revenue,
respectively, associated with common stock warrdrttere were no such reductions of revenue in dmgreriods presented. We have
presented gross revenue excluding non-cash comtockwarrant charges because these charges delat to sales activity in the

period, and we do not consider the issuance ofamgsro be indicative of our core operating pertamge.
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(2) In connection with our IPO in March 2011, @fllour warrants to purchase shares of preferrezkst@re exercised, and all outstanding
shares of preferred stock were converted into sh@reommon stock on a one-for-one basis. At ihat tthe preferred stock warrant
liabilities were reclassified to additional paiddapital. As a result after the first quarter oL 20we no longer record any change in the
fair value of these liabilities in our statement®perations.

(3) See Note 2 and Note 4 to our consolidatechfired statements for a description of the methaatius compute basic and diluted net los:
per share attributable to common stockholders.

At December 31,

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(in thousands)

Consolidated balance sheet data:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 166,55 $ 109,58. $ 76,44: $ 85,40¢ $ 7,067
Property and equipment, net 21,424 14,43¢ 7,941 3,66: 3,97¢
Working capital, excluding deferred revenue 356,55: 369,49¢ 115,29« 112,09« 18,88¢
Total assets 505,65! 451,35! 171,83: 135,36: 42,89:
Debt, current portion 351 51¢ 91¢€ 26E 14
Deferred revenue, current and non-current port 191,33 138,82. 92,25: 55,88( 33,81¢
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion — 21¢ 1,223 1,05¢ 1,52:
Debt, net of current portion 225,09: 218,35 1,83¢ 40¢ 8,70¢
Preferred stock warrant liabilities — — — — 39,75¢
Convertible preferred stock — — — — 42,08¢
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 35,50: 52,89¢ 46,64¢ 62,46( (97,23)
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operatior

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read togettidr the financial statements and the
related notes set forth in Item 8. “Financial Staients and Supplementary Data.” The following dis@usalso contains forward-looking
statements that involve a number of risks and uatdies. See Part |, “Special Note Regarding Foréaooking Statements” for a discussion
of the forward-looking statements contained belowd Rart I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” for a discussiai certain risks that could cause our
actual results to differ materially from the resu#tnticipated in such forward-looking statements.

Overview

We are a leading global provider of talent managgrselutions delivered as Software-as-a-Servic§&aaS. We enable organizations to
meet the challenges they face in recruiting, deyafpand evaluating their workforces by empowethmgjr people and maximizing the
productivity of their human capital.

Our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is a comemtive and unified cloud-based suite consistingrofluct offerings to help
organizations manage their recruiting, onboardiegrning, performance, succession, compensatiorataprise social collaboration
processes. We also offer Enterprise and Mid-Maokganizations an additional product, Extended Emigg, to manage training for their
external networks of partners, suppliers, reseltdisdributors and customers. To complement oudpcbsuite, we offer a number of cross-
product tools for analytics and reporting, emplogesfile management and e-learning content aggi@gatVe also provide consulting services
for configuration and training as well as third4{yag-learning content for use with our solutiontekfthe initial purchase of our solution, we
continue to market and sell to our existing cliemtBo may renew their subscriptions, add additigmatiucts, broaden the deployment of the
solution across their organizations and increaageusf the solution over time.

In addition to our Enterprise and MMarket solution, we also offer Cornerstone for Stdece and Cornerstone Growth Edition, form:
known as Cornerstone for Small Business. CorneesimnSalesforce is a cloud-based learning solut®reloped natively on the
Salesforce.com platform. Cornerstone for Salesfaliosvs organizations to provide seamless accesalés enablement and just-in-time
training embedded within Salesforce. Cornerstormn@r Edition is a cloud-based talent managemenitisol with learning and performance
product offerings targeted to organizations witlvde than 400 employees. We currently do not inciienumber of clients and users of our
Cornerstone for Salesforce and Cornerstone Growitio solutions in our client and user count mestas we believe the client and user cour
metrics for our Enterprise and Mid-Market solut@gime a better indication of our overall performance
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We currently have over 2,100 clients who use ouefmise and Mid-Market solution to empower appnadely 18.1 million users
across 191 countries in 42 different languages2B&# and 2013, no single client or distributazamted for more than 10% of our revenue.
The number of clients using our Enterprise and Malket solution has grown from 105 at December28D7 to 1,237 at December 31, 2012
to 1,631 at December 31, 2013 and to 2,153 at DeeeB1, 2014 .

We generate most of our revenue from the sale n$olutions pursuant to multi-year client agreerae®ur sales processes are typically
competitive, and sales cycles generally vary iratian from two to nine months depending on the eizfie potential client. We price
our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution based onrthmber of products purchased and the permittecbruf users with access to each
product. Client agreements for our Enterprise andMarket solution typically have terms of threeay® We also generate revenue from
consulting services for configuration, trainingdaronsulting, as well as from the resale or hostiftird-party e-learning content.

We sell our solutions through our direct sales teand, to a lesser extent, indirectly through astributors. We intend to continue to
invest in our direct sales and distribution aciiatto address our market opportunity.

We generally recognize revenue from subscriptiatesaly over the term of the client agreement andnae from consulting services as
the services are performed. In certain instanagsclgents request enhancements to the underlg@atufes and functionality of our Enterprise
and Mid-Market solution, and in these instancegemnee from subscriptions is recognized over theairimg term of the agreement once the
additional features are delivered to the client. §rerally invoice our clients a portion of the aalnsubscription fees upfront for multi-year
subscriptions and upfront for consulting servides. amounts not invoiced in advance for multi-ygaoscriptions or consulting services, we
invoice under various terms over the subscriptiath service periods. We record amounts invoicedfmual subscription periods that have no
occurred or services that have not been performmetkferred revenue on our balance sheet. Withrithetly in the number of clients, our
revenue has grown to $263.6 million for the yeateghDecember 31, 2014 from $185.1 million for thme period in 2013 .

We have historically experienced seasonality imteof when we enter into client agreements. We aigignificantly higher percentage
of agreements with new clients, as well as renagedements with existing clients, in the fourthrtgraof each year. In addition, within a gi\
quarter, we sign a large portion of these agreesmduning the last month, and often the last twokseef that quarter. We believe this
seasonality is driven by several factors, mosthigttne tendency of procurement departments aenterprise clients to purchase technolog
the end of a quarter or calendar year, possibtyrdier to use up their available quarterly or anfiuadling allocations, or to be able to deploy
new talent management capabilities prior to therbegg of a new financial or performance period.tAs terms of most of our client
agreements are measured in full year incrementsgawents initially entered into the fourth quadetast month of any quarter will generally
come up for renewal at that same time in subsequeans. This seasonality is reflected to a muckeleextent, and sometimes is not
immediately apparent, in our revenue, due to thetfeat we recognize subscription revenue ovetdha of the client agreement, which is
generally three years. In addition, this seasgnaditeflected in changes in our deferred reveralartte, which generally is impacted by the
timing of when we enter into agreements with nelents, the timing of when we invoice new clients timing of when we invoice existing
clients for annual subscription periods, and thertg of when we recognize revenue. We expect #asanality to continue in the future, wh
may cause fluctuations in certain of our operata®gylts and financial metrics, and thus limit obitigy to predict future results.

We believe the market for talent management remaige and underpenetrated, providing us with icamt growth opportunities. We
expect businesses and other organizations to entmincrease their spending on talent managesodutions in order to maximize the
productivity of their employees, manage changingkfemce demographics and ensure compliance withajloegulatory requirements.
Historically, many of these software solutions haeen human resource applications running on hasdiwaated on organizations’ premises.
However, we believe that just as organizations hiaweeasingly chosen SaaS solutions for busineggkcations such as sales force
management, they are also increasingly adoptin® &lant management solutions.

We have focused on growing our business to purdwe we believe is a significant market opportundgtyg we plan to continue to invest
in building for growth. As a result, we expect @asst of revenue and operating expenses to incredsture periods. Sales and marketing
expenses are expected to increase, as we condirex@and our direct sales teams, increase our tivaglkactivities, and grow our international
operations. Research and development expensegpaeted to increase as we continue to improve xistirg functionality for our solutions.
We also believe that we must invest in maintairarggh degree of client service and support thetiial for our continued success. We plan
to continue our policy of implementing best praeti@cross our organization, expanding our techpjpatations and investing in our network
infrastructure and services capabilities in ordesupport continued future growth. We also
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expect to incur additional general and administeaéixpenses as a result of our growth. In additmthe extent that we make additional
strategic acquisitions in the future, our investtaén operations may increase.

Our operating results have fluctuated in the padtraay continue to fluctuate in the future basee@ mumber of factors, many of which
are beyond our control. In addition to those in‘tiRisk Factors' section of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, sdiabtors include:
» our ability to attract new clien
» the timing and rate at which we enter into agregmfar our solutions with new clien

» the timing and duration of our client implemeigas, which is often outside of our direct contiahd our ability to provide resources
for client implementations and consulting projects;

» the extent to which our existing clients renew tiseibscriptions for our solutions and the timindgtaise renewal
» the extent to which our existing clients purchadeittonal products or add incremental us

« the extent to which our clients request enhamrgsito underlying features and functionality of solutions and the timing for us to
deliver the enhancements to our clients;

» changes in the mix of our sales between new arsliegiclients

» changes to the proportion of our client bas¢ithaomprised of enterprise or mséidzed organization

» seasonal factors affecting the demand for our ®ols

* our ability to manage growth, including in termsnefw clients, additional users, additional headtamd new geographit
e our ability to expand our enterprise and mmdrket sales tean

e our ability to maintain stable and consistent quadtainment rate

» our ability to exploit Big Data to drive increaséemand for our produc

e continued strong demand for talent management&itts. and Europ

» the timing and success of solutions offered bycampetitors

« changes in our pricing policies and those of oumpetitors

* our ability to successfully integrate our opanas with those of recently acquired privatélgtd companies; ai
» general economic and market conditions includingtfiations in foreign exchange ra

One or more of these factors may cause our opgregsults to vary widely. As such, we believe that results of operations may vary
significantly in the future and that period{eriod comparisons of our operating results mayoeaineaningful and should not be relied upo
an indication of future performance.

Metrics

We regularly review a number of metrics, includthg following key metrics, to evaluate our businessasure our performance, iden
trends affecting our business, formulate finanpiajections and make strategic decisions.

* RevenueWe generally recognize subscription revenue owectntract period, and as a result of our reveacegnition policy and
the seasonality of when we enter into new cliené@gents, revenue from client agreements sign#tkeiourrent period may not be
fully reflected in the current period. As a restyenue increases period over period are primédly contracts that existed prior to
the beginning of that period.

» Bookings. Under our revenue recognition policy, we gengnadtognize subscription revenue from our clieneagents ratably over
the terms of those agreements. For this reasomaj@r portion of our revenue for a period will foem client agreements signed in
prior periods rather than from new business agtigitring the current period. In order to assesshoisiness performance with a metric
that more fully reflects current period businestivity, we track bookings, which is a non-GAAP fim@al measure we define as the
sum of revenue and the change in the deferred veviealance for the period. We include changesard#ferred revenue balance to
calculate bookings so it better reflects new bussreectivity in the period as evidenced by prepaymenbillings under our billing
policies arising from acquisition of new clientales of additional products to existing clientg #udition of incremental users by
existing clients and client renewals. Bookingsaffected by our billing terms, and any change$ose billing terms may shift
bookings between periods. Due to the seasonalibyoales, bookings growth is inconsistent frorartgr to quarter throughout a
calendar year. For a reconciliation of bookingseteenue, please seé&esults of Operations — Revenue and Metfics
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Annual dollar retention rat. We define annual dollar retention rate as thdigdpmonthly recurring revenue under client agreetsie
at the end of a fiscal year, divided by the implrdnthly recurring revenue, for that same cliersehat the end of the prior fiscal year
and excluding implied monthly recurring revenuenirolients of our Cornerstone for Salesforce anch€atone Growth Edition
solutions. This ratio does not reflect implied nfdntrecurring revenue for new clients added betwtderend of the prior fiscal year
and the end of the current fiscal year. Beginnmg013, incremental sales up to and not exceedimgtiginal renewal amount to the
existing client base are included in this ratio. Wééine implied monthly recurring revenue as thtaltamount of minimum recurring
revenue to which we have a contractual right ue@eh of our client agreements over the entire tdrthe agreement, but excluding
non-recurring support, consulting and maintenares fdivided by the number of months in the terthefagreement. Implied
monthly recurring revenue is substantially comptieésubscriptions to our Enterprise and Mid-Mar@iution. We believe that our
annual dollar retention rate is an important matimeasure the long-term value of client agreemant our ability to retain our
clients.

Number of client. We believe that our ability to expand our clibate is an indicator of our market penetrationtaedyrowth of our
business as we continue to invest in our direessidams and distributors. Our client count incductntracted clients for our
Enterprise and Mid-Market solution as of the enthefperiod and excludes clients of our Cornersfon&alesforce and Cornerstone
Growth Edition solutions.

Number of usersSince our clients generally pay fees based onthgber of users of our solutions within their orgations, we
believe the total number of users is an indicatdhe growth of our business. Our user count inetudctive users for our Enterprise
and Mid-Market solution and excludes users of oomérstone for Salesforce and Cornerstone GrowitioBEdsolutions.

Key Components of Our Results of Operations

Sources of Revenue and Revenue Recogni

Our solutions are designed to enable organizatmnseet the challenges they face in maximizingpttegluctivity of their human capital.

We generate revenue from the following sources:

Subscriptions to Our SolutionSlients pay subscription fees for access to owrti&nls for a specified period of time, typically¢dle
years for our Enterprise and N-Market solution and annual or three-year periadfir Cornerstone for Salesforce and Cornerstone
Growth Edition solutions. Fees are based on a nuofifactors, including the number of users hawaegess to a solution. We
generally recognize revenue from subscriptionsbfgtaver the term of the agreements.

Consulting Service$Ve offer our clients assistance in implementing smlutions and optimizing their use. Consultingvsms include
application configuration, system integration, Ingsis process re-engineering, change managemetraandg services. Services are
billed either on a time-and-material or a fixed-besis. These services are generally purchasearbsffa subscription arrangement
and are typically performed within the first severmnths of the arrangement. Clients may also msettonsulting services at any
other time. Our consulting services are performgdddirectly or by third-party service providers engage. Clients may also choose
to perform these services themselves or engageawei third-party service providers. We generadlgagnize revenue from fixed fee
consulting services using the proportional perfarogamethod over the period the services are peefdrand as time is incurred for
time-and-material arrangements.

E-learning ContentWe resell third-party on-line training content, wiiwe refer to as e-learning content, to our ctieWe also host
other e-learning content provided by our cliente §énerally recognize revenue from the resaleleiming content as it is delivered
and recognize revenue from hosting as the hoséngces are provided.

Our client agreements generally include both sujpsen to access our solutions and related comgubirvices, and may also include e-

learning content. Our agreements generally do owtaéin any cancellation or refund provisions otfan in the event of our default.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs relateldosting our solutions; personnel and relatqebages, including stock-based

compensation, for network infrastructure, IT suppoonsulting services and on-going client suppeattyments to external service providers
contracted to perform implementation services; éejption of data centers; amortization of capiadizoftware costs, amortization of
developed technology and software license rigluntent and licensing fees; and referral fees. titich, we allocate a portion of overhead,
such as rent, IT costs, depreciation and amontizatnd employee benefits costs, to cost of reveased on headcount. The costs associated
with providing consulting services are significgritigher as a percentage of revenue than the asstgiated with providing access to our
solutions due to the labor costs to provide thesattimg services.

Operating Expenses

Our operating expenses are as follows:

Sales and Marketingsales and marketing expenses consist primariheifgnnel and related expenses for our sales aricbtimay
staff, including salaries, benefits, bonuses, stmrded compensation and commissions; costs of tiragkand promotional events,
corporate communications, online marketing, prodaoatketing and other brand-building activities; afidcated overhead.

We intend to continue to invest in sales and mageind expect spending in these areas to incesage@ continue to expand our
business both domestically and internationally. &pect sales and marketing expenses to continbe &mong the most significant
components of our operating expenses.

Research and DevelopmeResearch and development expenses consist prinoaplgrsonnel and related expenses for our researct
and development staff, including salaries, bendfitmuses and stock-based compensation; the costtafn third-party service
providers; and allocated overhead. Research arglamwment costs, other than software developmerts cpslifying for capitalizatiol
are expensed as incurred.

We have focused our research and developmentgfiartontinuously improving our solutions. We bedi¢hat our research and
development activities are efficient because weefieflom maintaining a single software code basesfaich of our solutions. We
expect research and development expenses to irdreabsolute dollars in the future, as we scateesearch and development
department and expand our network infrastructure.

General and Administrativéseneral and administrative expenses consist piliynafrpersonnel and related expenses for
administrative, legal, finance and human resouta#, $ncluding salaries, benefits, bonuses andksttased compensation;
professional fees; insurance premiums; other catpa@xpenses; and allocated overhead. We expegeaeral and administrative
expenses to increase as we continue to expandpeuatmns.

Amortization of Certain Acquired Intangible AssiAmortization of certain acquired intangibles cotsisf amortization of
acquisition-related intangibles, including customedationships, non-compete agreements, pateat® trames and trademarks. We
also record amortization of developed technology saftware license rights in cost of revenue.

Other Income (Expense)

Interest Incomt. Interest income consists primarily of interestame from investment securities partially offsetdoyortization of
investment premiums. We expect interest incomadeease as a result of our investments in marletaddurities, which include
corporate bonds, agency bonds and U.S. treasunyities, in the year ended December 31, 2014 ai8.20

Interest Expensdnterest expense consists primarily of interesiease from our promissory notes, convertible dedaretion of debt
discount, amortization of debt issuance costs apital lease payments. We expect interest expenserease primarily as a result of
the convertible debt and related interest.

Other, NetOther, net consists of income and expense assdaiatie fluctuations in foreign currency exchangeesaand other non-
operating expenses. We expect interest income asg)@nd other income (expense) to vary dependirtbeomovement in foreign
currency exchange rates and the related impacuoforeign exchange gain (loss).
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Income Tax (Provision) Benefi

The income tax provision is related to foreign ardain state income taxes. As we have recordetl @afluation allowance against our
United States, United Kingdom, New Zealand, Hongné¢kand Brazil net deferred tax assets, we haveagorded a provision for United
States, United Kingdom, New Zealand, Hong Kong Bratil income taxes. Certain foreign subsidiaried hranches of ours provide
intercompany services and are compensated on @lussbasis, and therefore, have incurred liab#ifior foreign income taxes in their
respective jurisdictions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and theedlabtes included elsewhere in this Annual Repoftarm 10-K are prepared in
accordance with accounting principles generallyepted in the United States. The preparation oftlcesisolidated financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets, liabilitiegenue, costs and expenses, provision for
income taxes and related disclosures. We basestiomages on historical experience and on variobsraissumptions that we believe to be
reasonable under the circumstances. Changes inmtaog estimates are reasonably likely to occumfpgeriod to period. Accordingly, actual
results could differ significantly from the estirmatmade by our management. We evaluate our estimateassumptions on an ongoing basis.
To the extent that there are material differenads/ben these estimates and actual results, oueffihancial statement presentation, financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows &l affected.

We believe that the following critical accountinglipies involve a greater degree of judgment or plaxity than our other accounting
policies. Accordingly, these are the policies whdwe are the most critical to aid in fully undenstling and evaluating our consolidated
financial condition and results of operations.

Revenue Recognition and Deferred Rever

We recognize revenue when: (i) persuasive evidehae arrangement for the sale of our solutionsamsulting services exists, (ii) our
solutions have been made available or deliveredupservices have been performed, (iii) the sptee is fixed or determinable, and
(iv) collectability is reasonably assured. The timand amount we recognize as revenue is deterrbametl on the facts and circumstances of
each client arrangement. Evidence of an arrangeomaisists of a signed client agreement. We consiidgrdelivery of our software has
commenced once we provide the client with log-leimation to access and use our solutions. If tangard acceptance periods or non-
standard performance criteria exist, revenue reiiogrcommences upon the satisfaction of the aeoeggt or performance criteria, as
applicable. Our fees are fixed based on stated sgtecified in each client agreement. We asseksctability based in part on an analysis of
creditworthiness of each client, as well as otké&want economic or financial factors. If we do consider collection reasonably assured, we
defer the revenue until the fees are actually ctalik We record amounts that have been invoicedtalients in accounts receivable and as
either deferred revenue on our balance sheet entevon our statement of operations, dependinghather the revenue recognition criteria
have been met.

The majority of our client arrangements include tiplé deliverables, such as subscriptions to oftnsoe solutions accompanied by
consulting services. Therefore, we recognize regénaccordance with the guidance for arrangemeitismultiple deliverables under
Accounting Standards Update 2009-1Révenue Recognition (Topic 605)—Multiple-DeliveedRevenue Arrangements—a Consensus of th
Emerging Issues Task For,” or ASU 2009-13 (formerly known as EITF 08-1Révenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliveralileg\s our
clients do not have the right to the underlyingwafe code of our solutions, our revenue arrangésrame outside the scope of software client
recognition guidance.

For such arrangements, we first assess whetherdedigkrable has value to the client on a standalmsis. Our solutions have
standalone value because once we give a clienssctey are fully functional and do not requirg additional development, modification or
customization. Our consulting services have stamalalue because third-party service providesdridutors or our clients themselves can
perform these services without our involvement. §besulting services we provide are to assist tdignith the configuration and integration
our solutions. The performance of these services dot require highly specialized individuals.

Based on the standalone value of our deliverables, since clients generally do not have a righietfrn with respect to the included
consulting services, we allocate revenue amongédparate deliverables under the relative sellimgepnethod using the selling price hierarchy
established in ASU 2009-13. This hierarchy requihesselling price of each deliverable in a mudtigeliverables arrangement to be based on
in descending order of preference, (i) vendor-djmeabjective evidence of fair value, or VSOE, (lijrd-party evidence of fair value, or TPE,
or (iii) management’s best estimate of the selfinge, or BESP.
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We are not generally able to determine VSOE or Td?Bur deliverables because we sell them sepgratel within a sufficiently narro
price range only infrequently, and because we li@termined that there are no third-party offeriregsonably comparable to our solutions.
Accordingly, we determine the selling prices of suiiptions to our solutions, consulting serviced aflearning content based on BESP. In
determining BESP for subscriptions to our solutjams consider the size of client arrangements, essnored by number of users; whether the
sales were made by our direct sales team or distri&; and whether the sales are to a domestio mtarnational client. We group sales of our
solutions into multiple categories based on theer@. We then compute an average selling piiceeich group. This average selling price
represents our BESP for that type of client arramgy#. For consulting services, we analyze both kaghdrrangements that include
subscriptions to our solutions and consulting &, as well as standalone purchases of diffeypestof consulting services made subsequer
to the original subscription. For these consul8egvices arrangements, we then examine the actigaper hour we charge or, for fixed fee
arrangements, the implied average rate per howdoas the fixed fee divided by the estimated htoiomplete the service. The BESP is ther
the product of this average rate per hour and stimate of the hours needed to complete the sexviem elearning content, we estimate BE
by reviewing fees for content in order to establishaverage annual fee per user that reflectsatene incur to acquire the related content
from third-party providers. Additionally, we estiteaBESP by reviewing fees for content-hosting byewing the selling price of gigabytes
sold in order to establish a fee on a per useandtyidth basis.

The determination of BESP for our deliverables escdbed above requires us to make significantneséis and judgments, including the
comparability of different subscription arrangenseaind consulting services and estimates of theshreguired to complete various types of
services. In addition, we consider other factoctuding:

» Nature of the deliverableFor example, in categorizing our subscriptions m&aningful groupings for determining BESP, we
consider the number and type of products the cpenthased. For consulting services, we considetythe of consulting service and
the estimated hours required to complete the sexvi@verage selling price for fixed fee servicasdu on our historical experience.

» Location of our clientsOur pricing is different for domestic and interoaidl clients, and therefore in determining BESP of
subscriptions to our solutions, we evaluate doroestangements separately from international amanamts.

» Market conditions and competitive landscape fordhke.Our pricing and discounting varies based on the&aeac environment and
competition. We consider these factors in detemgjithe grouping of comparable services and the@gderver which we compare
arrangements to compute the BESP.

» Internal costsOur pricing for consulting services and e-learniogtent considers our internal costs to providecthesulting services
and the third-party purchase costs of e-learningert.

» Size of the arrangemeriscounting generally increases as the relative gfzan arrangement increases, and we take this int
consideration in the grouping of our clients toedetine BESP. Our discounting for multiple-delivdeairrangements varies based on
the extent and type of the consulting servicesamient included with the subscriptions in the mgement.

The determination of BESP is made through consattatith our senior management. We update our eséismof BESP on an ongoing
basis as events and circumstances require, angdaeataiour determination to use BESP on a periaaigsbincluding assessing whether we
determine VSOE or TPE.

After we determine the fair value of revenue alldeao each deliverable based on the relativengefirice method, we recognize the
revenue for each based on the type of deliver&giesubscriptions to our solutions, we recognizerfvenue on a straight-line basis over the
term of the client agreement, which is typicallyet years. For consulting services, we generaflggeize revenue using the proportional
performance method over the period the servicepenfermed.

In a limited number of cases, the client’s intended of a solution requires enhancements to itenlyidg features and functionality. In
some of these cases, revenue is recognized asdr@ accounting on a straighitte basis from the point at which the enhancembat® bee
made to the solution through the remaining ternhefagreement. In other cases where the enhanc@maattrequired for the client’s intended
use, revenue is not recognized as one unit of aticawurather the allocated value of the enhancensargicognized on a straight-line basis once
the enhancement has been made.

For arrangements in which we resell third-partga&rhing content to our clients or host client ardiparty etearning content provided |
the client, we recognize revenue in accordance agttounting guidance as to when to report grossney as a principal and when to report
revenue as an agent. We recognize e-learning doretégnue in the gross amount that we invoice bencwhen: (i) we are the primary
obligor, (ii) we have latitude to establish the
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price charged and (iii) we bear the credit riskhie transaction. For arrangements involving ous séle-learning content, we charge our clients
for the content based on pay-per-use or a fixeslfoata specified number of users and recognizgithes amount invoiced as revenue as the
content is delivered. For arrangements where dipatchase e-learning content directly from a tpiadty, or provide it themselves, and we
integrate the content into our solutions, we charppesting fee. In such cases, we recognize theiaihmvoiced for hosting as the content is
delivered, excluding any portion we invoice thaatgibutable to fees the third-party charges fier ¢ontent.

Commission Expense

We defer commissions paid to our sales force bectugse amounts are recoverable from future revieamethe non-cancelable client
agreements that give rise to the commissions. Vi&r égpense recognition upon payment and amorkperese to sales and marketing
expenses over the term of the client agreementopqggtion to the revenue that is recognized. Cominiss are direct and incremental costs of
our client agreements and generally have beenipaie: periods we received payment from the clisrter the associated client agreement.
Commencing in the fourth quarter of 2012, we payeussions between 45 and 75 days after executitimeatlient agreement.

Stoclk-based Compensation

We account for stock-based awards granted to eraptogind directors by recording compensation exgzaesed on the awards’
estimated fair values. We grant stock options astricted stock units that vest over time basethercontinuing employment of the employee.
as well as restricted stock units that vest baseth@eting certain performance targets. We expettalr expense related to stock-based
compensation will increase over time.

We estimate the fair value of our stock-based asvasdof the date of grant using the Black-Schoi¢i®-pricing model. Determining
the fair value of stock-based awards under thisehmtjuires judgment, including estimating (i) tledue per share of our common stock,
(ii) volatility, (iii) the term of the awards, (ivihe dividend yield and (v) the risk-free interegte. The assumptions used in calculating the fair
value of stock-based awards represent our bestast$, based on management’s judgment and sulgjdéotive expectations. These estimates
involve inherent uncertainties. If any of the asptions used in the model change significantly, lstoased compensation recorded for future
awards may differ materially from that recorded d@rards granted previously.

We use the average volatility of similar publictagded companies as an estimate for our volathity.purposes of determining the
expected term of the awards in the absence ofcgerfti historical data relating to stock option exsgs for our company, we apply a simplified
approach in which the expected term of an awapdesumed to be the mid-point between the vestitg alad the expiration date of the award.
The risk-free interest rate for periods within theected life of an award, as applicable, is basethe United States Treasury yield curve in
effect during the period the award was granted. &timated dividend yield is zero, as we have ndtdo not currently intend to declare
dividends in the foreseeable future.

Once we have determined the estimated fair valwaip§tockbased awards, we recognize the portion of thateviidat corresponds to |
portion of the award that is ultimately expectedést, taking estimated forfeitures into accoumisTamount is recognized as an expense ove
the vesting period of the award using the straliglgt-method. We estimate forfeitures based uporhaiorical experience and, for each period
review the estimated forfeiture rate and make chamg factors affecting the forfeiture rate cakos and assumptions change.

In addition, we issued performance-based restristieck units that are dependent on performancesgwaharket conditions, established
by the Board of Directors, for a predeterminedqubriThe fair value of the performance-based awardsletermined using a Monte-Carlo
simulation model that factors in the probabilitytioé award vesting. For performance-based awardgatr value is not determined until all of
the terms and conditions are established.
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Information related to our stock-based compensatativity, including weighted-average grant date ¥alues and associated Black-
Scholes option-pricing model assumptions associattidtime-based options, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Stock options granted (in thousands) 2,20¢ 2,39¢ 2,55
Weighted-average exercise price $ 44.1¢  $ 4332 % 22.0¢
Weighted-average grant date fair value per shastook options granted $ 2172 % 215; % 11.1z
Weighted-average Black-Scholes model assumptions:
Estimated fair value of common stock $ 44.1¢ $ 433 % 22.0¢
Estimated volatility 49.9% 51.5% 53.¢%
Estimated dividend yield — — —
Expected term (years) 6.C 6.C 5.8
Risk-free rate 1.%% 1.5% 1.C%

As of December 31, 2014 , we had approximately B68llion of unrecognized employee related stockdzhcompensation, net of
estimated forfeitures, relating to stock optiore tlre expect to recognize over a weighted-averagegof approximately 2.8
years. Unrecognized compensation expense related toasted restricted stock units was $22.0 million et&@nber 31, 2014 , which is
expected to be recognized as expense over the tediglverage period of 3.3 years. Additionally, dgr2014, we granted certain performance
based restricted stock units. Unrecognized compiensaxpense related to performance based optiahsiaits was $1.5 million at December
31, 2014 , which is expected to be recognized perese over the weighted-average period of 2.5 y&aesamount of compensation cost
relating to performance awards may change in fytereds to the extent that another target levebbes probable of achievement.

Stock-based compensation expense is expectedramsecin 2015 compared to 2014 as a result ofasiireg unrecognized stock-based
compensation and as we issue additional stock-tmsadis to continue to attract and retain emplayees

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

On a quarterly basis we evaluate the need to éstiadmh allowance for doubtful accounts, by analyznr clients’ creditworthiness. Our
evaluation and analysis includes specific iderdtiimn and review of all outstanding accounts reslelie balances, review of our historical
collection experience with each client, and corsitien of overall economic conditions, as well &suoy specific facts and circumstances that
may indicate that a specific client receivableads eollectible. We make judgments as to our abtlitgollect outstanding receivables and
establish an allowance when collection becomestfidudt December 31, 2014 and 2013, our allowafoceloubtful accounts was $2.2
million and $1.0 million , respectively, based arr evaluation and analysis. If our future actudlextions are lower than expected, our cash
flows and future results of operations could beatiegly impacted.

Capitalized Software Costs

We capitalize the costs associated with softwaveldped or obtained for internal use, includingtsascurred in connection with the
development of our solutions, when the preliminamgject stage is completed, management has detidedke the project a part of a future
offering, and the software will be used to perfdaha function intended. These capitalized costsuntelexternal direct costs of materials and
services consumed in developing or obtaining irteuse software, personnel and related expensesrfployees who are directly associated
with, and who devote time to, internade software projects and, when material, inter@sts incurred during the development. Capitaliratf
these costs ceases once the project is substamtiatiplete and the software is ready for its ineshdurpose. Costs incurred for upgrades and
enhancements to our solutions are also capitalRest-configuration training and maintenance castsexpensed as incurred. Capitalized
software costs are amortized to cost of revenugubie straight-line method over an estimated UdiéfLof the software of typically three
years, commencing when the software is ready $antended use
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Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is requitedbe tested for impairment annually and undeaéertircumstances. We perform such
testing of goodwill in the fourth quarter of eaakay, or as events occur or circumstances changetiuidd more likely than not reduce the fair
value of a reporting unit below its carrying amaougents or changes in circumstances which coigder an impairment review include a
significant adverse change in legal factors ohanliusiness climate, an adverse action or assesbgnamegulator, unanticipated competitio
loss of key personnel, significant changes in tlaamer we use the acquired assets or the stratepawesfor our overall business, significant
negative industry or economic trends, or signiftaamderperformance relative to expected histocgdrojected future results of operations.

As part of the annual impairment test, we conducissessment of qualitative factors to determinethndr it is more likely than not that
the fair value of a reporting unit is less tharciisrying amount. If we determine that it is makelly than not that the fair value of a reporting
unit is less than its carrying amount, we then cmtthe first step of a two-step impairment teste Tirst step of the test for goodwiill
impairment compares the fair value of the applieabporting unit with its carrying value. Fair valis determined using a discounted cash
method and/or prevailing earnings multiples fortdgorting unit. The use of discounted cash floggaiires the use of various economic,
market and business assumptions in developingndeimial forecasts, the useful life over which ctsivs will occur, and determination of our
weighted average cost of capital that reflect mstlestimates when performing the annual impairtestt Judgment is required in selecting
relevant earnings multiples.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less ththe reporting unit's carrying value, we perform skeeond step of the test for impairment of
goodwill. During the second step, we compare thaied fair value of the reporting unit's goodwilitivthe carrying value of that goodwiill.
The estimate of implied fair value of goodwill magguire valuations of certain internally generadad unrecognized intangible assets and
other assets and liabilities. If the carrying vadii¢he goodwill exceeds the calculated implied falue, the excess amount will be recognized
as an impairment loss.

Management reorganized Cornerstone Growth Edifamerly Cornerstone Small Business, resulting anange in the reporting unit in
2014. We are now structured as one reporting onibfir purpose of our impairment analysis as ofdbswer 31, 2014 . Management recorded
goodwill related to the Evolv acquisition in Noveent2014, which was considered in the impairmentyaiga Based on the results of the
annual impairment test, the fair value of the répgrunit exceeded its carrying value by a sigaifitamount and therefore no impairment of
goodwill existed at December 31, 2014 .

Intangible Asset:

Identifiable intangible assets primarily consistm@ide names and intellectual property and acdunisielated intangibles, including
developed technology, customer relationships, mnpete agreements, patents, trade names and tnddeMée determine the appropriate
useful life of our intangible assets by performarganalysis of expected cash flows of the acquissets. Intangible assets are amortized ove
their estimated useful lives ranging from two to years, generally using the straight-line methdurch approximates the pattern in which the
economic benefits are consumed.

We evaluate the recoverability of our loliged assets with finite useful lives, includingangible assets for impairment, whenever ev
or changes in circumstances indicate that the icey@mounts may not be recoverable. Such triggexirmnts or changes in circumstances ma
include: a significant decrease in the market poica long-lived asset, a significant adverse ckanghe extent or manner in which a long-
lived asset is being used, a significant advers@agé in legal factors or in the business climédte jimpact of competition or other factors that
could affect the value of a long-lived asset, aificant adverse deterioration in the amount oerawe or cash flows expected to be generated
from an asset group, an accumulation of costsfgnily in excess of the amount originally expekcter the acquisition or development of a
long-lived asset, current or future operating @ahclow losses that demonstrate continuing lossesdated with the use of a long-lived asset,
or a current expectation that, more likely than adbng-lived asset will be sold or otherwise disgd of significantly before the end of its
previously estimated useful life. We perform impaént testing at the asset group level that repteska lowest level for which identifiable
cash flows are largely independent of the cashdlofwther assets and liabilities. If events omgjes in circumstances indicate that the
carrying amount of an asset group may not be reableand the expected undiscounted future casfs figtributable to the asset group are
less than the carrying amount of the asset graupnpairment loss equal to the excess of the assattying value over its fair value is
recorded. Fair value is determined based upon asdhdiscounted future cash flows. There were nmirment charges related to the
identified intangible assets in the years endecebder 31, 2014 and 2013 .
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Investments in Marketable Securitie

Our available-for-sale investments in marketabteigtes are recorded at fair value, with any ulized gains and losses, net of taxes,
reported as a component of stockholders’ equitit tedlized or until a determination is made thatogher-than-temporary decline in market
value has occurred. If we determine that an othentemporary decline has occurred for debt seesitihat we do not then currently intend to
sell, we recognize the credit loss component dftaer-than-temporary impairment in other incomepémse) and the remaining portion in
other comprehensive income (loss). The credit d@ssponent is identified as the amount of the pregalne of cash flows not expected to be
received over the remaining term of the securi@gdal on cash flow projections. In determining wletn other-than-temporary impairment
exists, we consider: (i) the length of time andeke&ent to which the fair value has been less twat; (ii) the financial condition and near-term
prospects of the issuer of the securities; anddiir intent and ability to retain the security #operiod of time sufficient to allow for any
anticipated recovery in fair value. The cost of kegable securities sold is determined based osgheific identification method and any
realized gains or losses on the sale of investnastseflected as a component of interest incomexpense. In addition, we classify market:
securities as current or non-current based upomgtarity dates of the securities. At December2814 , we had $119.2 million of
investments in marketable securities.

Strategic Investment

In June 2014, we made a $0.5 million investmerat debt security of a privately-held company. Weehelected fair value accounting for
this debt security, and therefore, the currentesgia investment is recorded at fair value, witly ahanges in value recorded in other income
(expense) in the accompanying Consolidated Stateofiédperations. In September 2014, we made adlidn investment in equity
securities of a privately-held company. We are antiag for this investment using the cost methodafounting. This investment is subject to
a periodic impairment review and is consideredeganhpaired when a decline in fair value is judgedé¢ other-than-temporary. These
investments are included in long-term investmentthe Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Senior Convertible Note

In accounting for senior convertible notes (the t&&3) at issuance, we separated the Notes intoatebequity components pursuant to
the accounting standards for convertible debtumsénts that may be fully or partially settled irsltaupon conversion. The fair value of the «
component was estimated using an interest rath,taiins similar to the Notes, excluding the conegréeature. The carrying amount of the
liability component was calculated by measuringfievalue of a similar liability that does notJeaan associated convertible feature. The
excess of the principal amount of the Notes oveif#lir value of the debt component was recordeal et discount and a corresponding
increase in additional paid-in capital. The delstdunt is accreted to interest expense over thedéthe Notes using the interest method. The
amount recorded to additional paid-in capital istodoe remeasured as long as it continues to theeatonditions for equity classification.

Income Taxes

We use the liability method of accounting for inamtaxes. Under the liability method, deferred texx@sdetermined based on the
temporary differences between the financial statérand tax bases of assets and liabilities, ugingdtes expected to be in effect during the
years in which the bases differences are expectesl/erse. We record a valuation allowance whenntore likely than not that some of ¢
net deferred tax assets will not be realized. bemeining the need for valuation allowances, wesiaer our projected future taxable income
and the availability of tax planning strategies. ié&e recorded a full valuation allowance to reduceUnited States and United Kingdom net
deferred tax assets to zero, because we have dederthat it is not more likely than not that arfyoar United States and United Kingdom net
deferred tax assets will be realized. If in theifatwe determine that we will be able to realizg @inour United States and United Kingdom ne
deferred tax assets, we will make an adjustmetite¢@llowance, which would increase our incoméaperiod that the determination is made

We have assessed our income tax positions anddesttaix benefits for all years subject to examimatbased upon our evaluation of the
facts, circumstances and information availableagheperiod end. For those tax positions where we hdatermined there is a greater than 50%
likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustained, agve recorded the largest amount of tax benefitrttay potentially be realized upon ultimate
settlement with a taxing authority that has fulblutedge of all relevant information. For those im@btax positions where we have determinec
there is a less than 50% likelihood that a tax bewdl be sustained, no tax benefit has been gaized in our financial statements.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For information regarding recent accounting prorcaments, refer to Note 2 of notes to consolidatehtial statements included in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our results of opienas for each of the periods indicated (in thoasdnThe period-tgeriod comparison
financial results is not necessarily indicativedtire results.

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Revenue $ 263,56¢ $ 185,12¢ $ 117,91.
Cost of revenue 77,68¢ 53,54¢ 34,59:
Gross profit 185,88« 131,58: 83,32!
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing 162,55. 109,73 73,56
Research and development 30,61¢ 21,26( 14,88¢
General and administrative 41,80: 33,57 25,91:
Amortization of certain acquired intangibles 82¢ 1,00¢ 73¢
Total operating expenses 235,80( 165,57: 115,10(
Loss from operations (49,916 (33,99) (31,777
Other income (expense):
Interest income 72C 357 —
Interest expense (12,157 (6,56%) (442)
Other, net (2,69)) (35€) 4C
Other income (expense), net (14,129 (6,562) (402)
Loss before income tax (provision) benefit (64,044 (40,554 (32,179
Income tax (provision) benefit (85%) 12¢ 78¢
Net loss $ (64,899 $ (40,42¢) $ (31,390

The following table sets forth our revenue and ketrics that we use to evaluate our business, measu performance, identify trends
affecting our business, formulate financial pra@es and make strategic decisions:

Metrics
At or For Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Revenue (in thousands) $ 263,56¢ $ 185,12¢ $ 117,91:
Bookings (in thousands) $ 316,08: $ 231,69¢ $ 154,28t
Annual dollar retention rate 93.7% 94.% 94.2%
Number of clients 2,15: 1,631 1,23
Number of users (in millions) 18.1 14.1 10.€

Revenue increased $78.4 million , or 42% , fonjtbar ended December 31, 2014 as compared to thesamod in 2013 . The increase
was primarily the result of a $64.8 million increas revenue from existing clients, specificallgyenue from client agreements that were
entered into prior to January 1, 2014. In additRayenue increased by $13.6 million from the adtiorsof new clients during the year ended
December 31, 2014 .

Revenue increased by $67.2 million, or 57%, forytkar ended December 31, 2013 as compared tortee gariod in 2012. The increase
was primarily the result of a $45.0 million increas revenue from existing clients, specificallpyenue from client agreements that were
entered into prior to January 1, 2013. In additi@venue increased by $22.2 million from the adtjaisof new clients during the year ended
December 31, 2013.
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The rate at which revenue increased year overdesined in the current period, from a 57% reveingeease from the year ended
December 31, 2012 to the year ended December 33B,1®0a 42% revenue increase from the year endedrblger 31, 2013 to the year ended
December 31, 2014. Our growth rate can dependvamiety of factors, such as the size, volume amdpexity of our agreements with our
customers, our ability to work with our customersmplement and deliver our solutions, our abiliyupsell and renew our existing customers
the success of our alliance and partnership armagts, and the expansion of our business througnggny markets.

The following table sets forth our revenue basethenocation of our clients for each of the pesiindicated (dollar amounts in
thousands):

At or For Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue for United States $ 180,83: $ 128,98: $ 81,83
Percentage of total revenue for United States 69% 70% 69%
Revenue for all other countries $ 82,73¢ 56,14¢ $ 36,071
Percentage of total revenue for all other countries 31% 30% 31%
$ 263,56¢ $ 185,12¢ % 117,91.

Bookings increased $84.4 million , or 36% for tleayended December 31, 2014 as compared to thepsaiod in 2013 , reflecting the
increase in revenue for the period, plus an ineréasleferred revenue at December 31, 2014 fronedeer 31, 2013 compared to the increas
at December 31, 2013 from December 31, 2012 . Towth rates for revenue and bookings are not caedlwith each other in a given period
due to the seasonality of when we enter into cigmeements, the varied timing of billings, theogedtion of subscription revenue generally or
a straight-line basis over the term of each clégreement, and the recognition of consulting regeganerally on a proportional performance
basis over the period the services are performed.

As discussed above under the headiMgtrics,” bookings is a non-GAAP financial measure defiasdhe sum of revenue and the
change in the deferred revenue balance for thegedanagement uses bookings in analyzing its irsmesults and believes it is useful to
investors, as a supplement to the corresponding Ef&asure, in evaluating our ongoing operationdbpeance and trends and in compal
our financial measures with other companies instimae industry. However, it is important to note tither companies, including companies ir
our industry, may calculate bookings differentlynat at all, which may reduce its usefulness asnaparative measure.
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The following table presents a reconciliation ofereue to bookings for each of the periods presemettiousands):

Deferred
Revenue Year Ended
Balance December 31, 2014
Revenue $ 263,56¢
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2013 $ 138,82:
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2014 191,33t
Change in deferred revenue 52,51«
Bookings $ 316,08:
Deferred
Revenue Year Ended December
Balance 31, 2013
Revenue $ 185,12¢
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2012 $ 92,25:
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2013 138,82:
Change in deferred revenue 46,57(
Bookings $ 231,69¢
Deferred
Revenue Year Ended December
Balance 31, 2012
Revenue $ 117,91
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2011 $ 55,88(
Deferred revenue at December 31, 2012 92,25;
Change in deferred revenue 36,37:
Bookings $ 154,28t

We believe our revenue and bookings growth is altre$ our continued investment in and developnadrdur direct sales team. We
believe these investments have enabled us to achreater sales coverage and better sales exedutiaddition, we have increased our
marketing activities which we believe has improbeand awareness and created higher demand fophutiosis. We have also continued to
enhance our Enterprise and Mid-Market solution,clvhive believe has encouraged existing clients yonbuitiple products with their initial
purchase and add additional products and userstloeéerm of their agreement.

Our number of clients grew 32% at December 31, 2ftiiMpared to December 31, 2013 . Our number okusereased 29% at
December 31, 2014 compared to December 31, 2013 .

Cost of Revenue, Gross Profit and Gross Margin

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)
Cost of revenue $ 77,68: $ 53,54¢ $ 34,59:
Gross profit $ 185,88 $ 13158: $ 83,32!
Gross margin 71% 71% 71%

Cost of revenue increased $24.1 million , or 45662014 as compared to 2013, principally attriblggo $10.5 million in increased
costs related to outsourced consulting serviceg, Blion in increased allocated overhead sucteas IT costs, depreciation and amortizatior
and employee benefits costs, $2.7 million in inseekemployee-related costs due to higher headcd2uitmillion in increased amortization of
capitalized software mainly due to the additiomabatization of software obtained through the acitjois of Evolv, $2.0 million in increased
third-party content cost, and $1.1 million in ingsed reseller and referral fees. These costs weweréd to service our existing clients and
support our continued growth. The remaining incee@$ates to various other costs associated witkrgéing revenue from our clients.

52




Cost of revenue increased $19.0 million, or 55%20t3 as compared to 2012, attributable to $8.Ramiin increased costs related to
outsourced consulting services, $6.0 million irégased employee-related costs due to higher heatj&iu4 million in increased amortization
of capitalized software, and $1.2 million in incsed reseller and referral fees, in each case viceavur existing clients and support our
continued growth. We also incurred $0.8 milliorinoreased third-party content costs and $0.7 mililoincreased allocated overhead such as
rent, IT costs, depreciation and amortization angleyee benefits costs. The remaining increas¢e®ta various other costs associated with
generating revenue from our clients.

The following table presents our estimate of refimgimmortization expense for each of the five sadagg fiscal years for finite-lived
intangible assets that existed at December 31, g@thousands):

2015 $ 10,56¢
2016 9,28
2017 7,41¢
2018 10
2019 3

Total $ 27,28.

Estimated remaining amortization expense of $10llom, $9.1 million , $7.4 million , $10,000 , dr$3,000 will be recorded in cost of
revenue for 2015, 2016, 2017 , 2018 , and 20&8Spectively. The remaining estimated amortizatiopense will be recorded in amortization
of certain acquired intangible assets within opega¢xpenses.

Sales and Marketing

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)
Sales and marketing $ 162,55. $ 109,73  $ 73,56
Percent of revenue 62% 5¢% 62%

Sales and marketing expenses increased $52.8milio48% , in 2014 as compared to 2013 . Thesas® was attributable to the
expansion of our sales force as well as increaaled sommissions and increases in marketing pragtaraddress additional opportunities in
new and existing markets. Total headcount in sabesmarketing at December 31, 2014 increased cadparDecember 31, 2013,
contributing to an increase in employee-relatedsco$37.9 million. In addition, we incurred inased travel costs associated with our direct
sales teams of $5.4 million, overhead costs, saakm, IT costs, and depreciation and amortizatib$5.1 million, and increased costs
associated with outsourced marketing programs gedts of $4.3 million.

Sales and marketing expenses increased $36.2mitlicd9%, in 2013 as compared to 2012. The inereas attributable to the
expansion of our sales force and increases in rtiagkprograms to address additional opportunitiesdw and existing markets. Total
headcount in sales and marketing at December 3B 2@reased compared to December 31, 2012, catitripto an increase in employee-
related costs of $24.0 million. In addition, weuned increased costs associated with outsourceketireg programs and events of $4.3
million, increased travel costs associated withditect sales teams of $3.5 million, overhead ¢astsh as rent, IT costs, and depreciation ant
amortization, of $2.2 million, and increased c@sisociated with the use of sales contractors ia &sd Latin America of $1.2 million.

Research and Development

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)
Research and development $ 30,61¢ % 21,260 % 14,88t
Percent of net revenue 12% 11% 13%
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Research and development expenses increased $Boh mor 44% , in 2014 as compared to 2013 . ifleeease was principally due to
an increase in research and development headcoDecamber 31, 2014 compared to December 31, 20f®intain and improve the
functionality of our solutions. As a result, we imeed increased employeelated costs of $6.9 million. The remaining inae@rimarily relate
to allocated overhead costs.

Research and development expenses increased $ofh noir 43%, in 2013 as compared to 2012. Theease was principally due to an
increase in research and development headcourgcaniber 31, 2013 compared to December 31, 2012ittan and improve the
functionality of our solutions. As a result, we umed increased employee-related costs of $5.9omillThe remaining increases relate to
allocated overhead costs.

We capitalize a portion of our software developnwsts related to the development and enhancemgats solutions, which are then
amortized to cost of revenue. The timing of ouritzdigzable development and enhancement projectsaffagt the amount of development
costs expensed in any given period. We capital#ield4 million , $7.9 million and $5.7 million of Bware development costs and amortized
$6.3 million , $4.3 million and $2.8 million in 2@1, 2013 and 2012 , respectively.

General and Administrative

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)
General and administrative $ 4180: $ 3357: $ 25,91:
Percent of net revenue 16% 18% 22%

General and administrative expenses increaseddii@n , or 25% , in 2014 as compared to 2013 e Tiicrease was driven by higher
costs to support our growing business. We incumetased employee-related costs of $4.1 millioa essult of increased headcount and
stock-based compensation awards at December 34,&@0bidpared to December 31, 2013. In addition, waried $1.3 million in costs related
to the acquisition of Evolv Inc. General and adstirtive expenses are expected to increase withrdveth of our company.

General and administrative expenses increasedn$iflign, or 30%, in 2013 as compared to 2012. Thereéase was driven by higher
costs to support our growing business. We incumedkased employee-related costs of $4.6 millioa essult of increased headcount and
stock-based compensation awards at December 33,cdipared to December 31, 2012. In addition, waried increased software license
subscription fees of $1.6 million. General and adstiative expenses are expected to increase hetgrowth of our company.

Amortization of certain acquired intangible assets

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(dollars in thousands)

Amortization of certain acquired intangible assets $ 82 $ 1,00¢ $ 73¢

Amortization of acquired intangibles decreased $ailRon for the year ended December 31, 2014 aspared to the same period in
2013 due to the amortization of intangible assetmimed through the April 2012 acquisition of Sanar
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Other Income (Expense)

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

(in thousands)
Interest income $ 72C $ 357 $ =
Interest expense (12,157 (6,569) (442)
Other, net (2,697) (35€) 40
Other income (expense), net $ (14,128 $ (6,562 % (402)

Interest income for the year ended December 314 2feased by $0.4 millioas compared to the same period in 2013 due totbes
income earned on purchase of investment secuniéiesf purchased premium amortization in the yeadled December 31, 2014 .

Interest expense for the year ended December 34, i2@reased $5.6 million as compared to the samiegin 2013 due to the increase
in the accretion of debt discount and the amoitradf debt issuance costs of $4.0 million andrieséexpense of $1.8 million for the
convertible notes issued in June 2013. Refer tadotion titled'Liquidity and Capital Resourcesbelow for additional information on the
convertible notes.

Other, net is comprised of foreign exchange gamklasses related to transactions denominatedigfio currencies and unrealized gi
and losses related to our intercompany loans andigeash accounts. Foreign exchange gains asddder the years ended December 31,
2014 , 2013 and 2012, respectively, were primatilyen by fluctuations in the Euro and U.S. Dollarelation to the British Pound.

Income Tax (Provision) Benefit

Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(in thousands)

Income tax (provision) benefit $ (855) $ 126§ 78¢

We have recorded a full valuation allowance againstUnited States, United Kingdom and New Zealaeiddeferred tax assets and
therefore have not recorded a (provision) benefiiricome taxes for the year ended December 34,2fither than provisions for certain
foreign current income taxes. The tax benefitsGh®and 2012 were primarily related to reversin@itde differences in New Zealand, which
did not have a valuation allowance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

In June 2013, we issued $253 million of 1.5% cofibker notes due July 1, 2018 (the “Notes”) and eorently entered into convertible
notes hedges and separate warrant transaction®dthe mature on July 1, 2018, unless earlier caegteUpon conversion of any Notes, we
will deliver cash up to the principal amount, anel lnave the right to settle any amounts in excesiseoprincipal in cash or shares. We receive:
proceeds of $246.0 million from the issuance ofNloées, net of associated fees, received $23.2omiltom the issuance of the warrants and
paid $49.5 million for the note hedges. The Notescassified as a non-current liability on our solidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2014.

In November 2014, we used $43.3 million in cashdnnection with our acquisition of Evolv, Inc. AeBember 31, 2014 , our principal
sources of liquidity were $166.6 million of cashdarash equivalents, investments in marketable gsuof $119.2 million , and $84.5 million
of accounts receivable.

We intend to use our cash for general corporatpgaas, including potential future acquisitions threo transactions. Depending on
certain growth opportunities, we may choose to lacate investments in sales and marketing, researdldevelopment, technology and
services, which may require the use of proceedsuoh additional expansion and expenditures. Basaxlir current level of operations and
anticipated growth, we believe our future cash dmm operating activities and existing cash aagheequivalents will provide adequate fu
for our ongoing operations and general corporatpgses for at least the next twelve months. Owréutapital requirements will depend on
many factors, including our rate of revenue, bijjirgrowth and collections, the level of our sales marketing efforts, the timing and extent of
spending to support product development effortseaquénsion into new territories, the timing of ettuctions of new services and
enhancements to existing services, the timing oégad and
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administrative expenses as we grow our adminisgatifrastructure, and the continuing market acameq# of our solution. To the extent that
existing cash and cash from operations are noicgarit to fund our future activities, we may needdise additional funds or utilize our cash
resources. Although we are not currently a parigrp agreement or letter of intent with respegidtential investments in, or acquisitions of,
complementary businesses, services or technologemay enter into these types of arrangementseifiuture, which could also require us to
seek additional financing or utilize our cash reses.

The following table sets forth a summary of ourctisws for the periods indicated (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 33,00¢ $ 17,43, $ 10,29-
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 15,00¢ (213,44) (19,587
Net cash provided by financing activities 10,84( 228,92¢ 312

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Our cash flows from operating activities are sigpaiftly influenced by our growth, ability to maiirtaour contractual billing and
collection terms, and our investments in headcaudtinfrastructure to support anticipated growtlve@ the seasonality and continued growth
of our business, our cash flows from operationswaity from period to period.

Cash provided by operating activities of $33.0 imillduring 2014 was a result of the continued ghoeftour business and our continued
investments for further growth. In the year ended¢@nber 31, 2014 , $59.5 million, or 92%, of ourlass of $64.9 million consisted of non-
cash items, including $33.7 million of stock-basethpensation, $15.1 million of depreciation and aiation, $8.3 million of accretion of
debt discount and amortization of debt issuancesc84.7 million of unrealized foreign exchangeskxs and amortization of a purchased
premium of $0.8 million related to investment séties.

Cash provided by operating activities includes &.$5nillion increase in deferred revenue due togased billings during the year ended
December 31, 2014, a $6.4 million increase in attiabilities primarily due to the timing of paymts, an increase in accounts payable of
$4.6 million attributable to increased expenses@ated with our growth, and $1.2 milliakecrease in prepaid and other assets primarily@
the timing of payments to vendors. Cash providedjsrating activities is partially offset by a $A8nillion increase in accounts receivable
attributable to higher billings in the fiscal ye20r14 due to an increased number of clients, a $hilibn increase in deferred commissions due
to increased sales, and decrease in other ligildf $0.3 million .

Cash provided by operating activities during 201$1¥7.4 million was a result of the continued grbwf our business and our continued
investments for further growth. In the year endet@&@nber 31, 2013, $32.2 million, or 80%, of ourloss of $40.4 million consisted of non-
cash items, including $20.8 million of stock-basedhpensation, $9.7 million of depreciation and dimation, and $4.3 million of accretion of
debt discount and amortization of debt issuancesc@tese non-cash expenses were partially offsatpurchased premium of $2.0
million related to investment securities, net ofoatization. Cash provided by operating activitieslides a $45.2 million increase in deferred
revenue due to increased billings during the yaded December 31, 2013, a $6.8 million increaseaiued liabilities primarily due to the
timing of payments, an increase in accounts payaft#®.1 million attributable to increased expersesociated with our growth, and an
increase in other liabilities of $0.7 million. Caglovided by operating activities is partially afdy a $19.0 million increase in accounts
receivable attributable to higher billings in thechl year 2013 due to an increased number oftsli@n$7.1 million increase in deferred
commissions due to increased sales, and a $6.ibmiiticrease in prepaid and other assets due itwcagase in business activity associated
the growth of our business and the timing of payisiémvendors.

Cash provided by operating activities during 201.$10.3 million was a result of the continued grbwf our business and our ability to
bill and collect from our customers, partially @ffoy our continued investments for further groviththe year ended December 31, 2012,
$18.2 million, or 58%, of our net loss of $31.4Imih consisted of non-cash items, including $12ilion of stock-based compensation and
$7.0 million of depreciation and amortization. The®n-cash expenses were partially offset by acash-deferred tax benefit of $1.0 million.
Cash provided by operating activities includes a.$3nillion increase in deferred revenue due togased billings during the year ended
December 31, 2012, a $6.3 million increase in attiabilities primarily due to the timing of paynts, and an increase
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in other liabilities of $3.7 million. Cash providéy operating activities is partially offset by 4263 million increase in accounts receivable
attributable to higher billings in the fiscal ye2012 due to an increased number of clients, ai®libn increase in deferred commissions due
to increased sales and a change in our commistaorppyment schedule during the period, and a$ldn increase in prepaid and other
assets due to an increase in business activitgiassd with the growth of our business and thertgrf payments to vendors.

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities

Our primary investing activities have consistednestments, capital expenditures to develop opitalized software as well as to
purchase software, computer equipment, leasehgdcbvements, and furniture and fixtures in suppbebxgpanding our infrastructure and
workforce. In July 2013 we began to invest the peats of our convertible notes in investment sdesritn addition, in June and September
2014, we made strategic investments in privatelg-hempanies. In November of 2014 we purchasegtivately held company, Evolv, Inc.
As our business grows, we expect our capital exipgned and our investment activity to continuertorease.

Cash provided by investing activities during 20£415.0 million was primarily due to $203.1 milligalated to cash received from the
maturities and sales of investment securities. @ael in investing activities was partially offegt$124.2 million in purchases of investment
securities, $43.3 million used in our acquisitidrEwolv Inc., $11.0 million in purchases of addital equipment, and $9.5 million of
investments in our capitalized software duringpkeod. Our investments in fixed assets consist&18.9 million in corporate office
renovations, purchases of additional furniture agdipment for our expanding infrastructure and wiorke, which were primarily financed
through $11.0 million in cash, and $2.9 millionaghgh our accounts payable and accrued expenses.

We used $213.4 million of cash in investing aci@gtin the year ended December 31, 2013, primdtig/to $204.0 million in purchases
of investment securities, $8.8 million in purchaséadditional equipment, and $6.9 million of intragnts in our capitalized software during
the period. Cash used in investing activities wasially offset by a $6.2 million increase relatedcash received from the maturities and sales
of investment securities. Our investments in fiasdets consisted of $10.1 million in corporateceffienovations, purchases of additional
furniture and equipment for our expanding infrastuwe and work force, which were primarily finanadadough $0.1 million in capital leases
and other financing arrangements, $8.8 millionaalg and $1.2 million through our accounts payahtbaccrued expenses.

We used $19.6 million of cash in investing acteatin the year ended December 31, 2012, due tousshin our acquisition of Sonar
Limited of $12.4 million, $5.0 million of investménin our capitalized software, and $2.1 milliorcash purchases of net investments in fixed
assets. Our investments in fixed assets consi$ted.® million in corporate office renovations, pbases of additional furniture and equipmen
for our expanding infrastructure and work forcejekhwere primarily financed through $2.9 milliondapital leases and other financing
arrangements, $2.1 million in cash, $1.5 millioa &ilease arrangement with Water Garden Realtyiitpld C, and $0.7 million through our
accounts payable.

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Cash provided by financing activities of $10.8 raiil in the year ended December 31, 2014 was priynduie to proceeds from stock
option exercises of $12.3 million . These proceeeee partially offset by our payments of $0.9 miflion our capital lease and financing
obligations and repayment of our credit facility$f.6 million .

Cash provided by financing activities of $228.9limil in the year ended December 31, 2013 was pilynduwe to proceeds from the
Notes of $245.7 million and proceeds from the isseeof warrants of $23.2 million, and proceeds faioctk option exercises of $13.4 millic
These proceeds were partially offset by our payrfarthe convertible note hedges of $49.5 milliond aepayment of our credit facility of $4.0
million.

The cash provided by financing activities of $0.@iom in the year ended December 31, 2012 was arilyndue to proceeds of $2.7
million from stock option exercises and common ktavarrant exercises, borrowings of $1.0 millionan line of credit with Silicon Valley
Bank, partially offset by payments of $1.9 million our capital lease and financing obligations, égldt repayment of $1.5 million.
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Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments consist of obligations doitstanding debt, leases for our office spaceypder equipment, furniture and
fixtures, contractual commitments for professiosetlvice projects and third party consulting firfke following table summarizes our
contractual obligations at December 31, 2014 (@u#fands):

Year Ending December 31,

Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Long-term debt obligations
including interest $ 266,64¢ $ 2,26 $ 3,79t $ 3,79t $ 256,79' $ — ¢ =
Capital lease obligations 23¢ 23¢ — — — — —
Operating lease obligations 27,92: 5,852 7,23: 7,04¢ 7,21 581 —
Other contractual obligatiortd 45,324 20,24 7,96( 5,92z 5,60( 5,60( —

$ 340,13t $ 28,59 $ 18,98¢ $ 16,76¢ $ 269,61( $ 6,181 $ =

(1) Other contractual obligations include agreemevith various third party service providers wherale have committed to assign
certain dollar amounts or hours of professionaliserprojects related to implementation and otleevises for our clients.

At December 31, 2014 , liabilities for unrecognizad benefits of $0.4 million which are attributaltd foreign income taxes and interest
and penalties, are not included in the table alb@aause, due to their nature, there is a high degfrencertainty regarding the time of future
cash outflows and other events that extinguishetfiabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

As part of our ongoing business, we do not haveralaionships with other entities or financial fp@rships, such as entities often
referred to as structured finance or special pwegugities, that have been established for thegsarpf facilitating off-balance sheet
arrangements or other contractually narrow or Bhipurposes. We are therefore not exposed to aagding, liquidity, market or credit risk
that could arise if we had engaged in those typeslationships.

During 2013, we amended a standby letter of ciadissociation with a building lease and signethadby letter of credit for a
contractual arrangement in Israel. In addition,mantain standby letters of credit in associatiothwther contractual arrangements. The total
amount outstanding is $1.5 million at December2iL4 .

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisks

We have operations both within the United Statekiaternationally, and we are exposed to marké&sris the ordinary course of our
business. These risks primarily include interet, rforeign exchange and inflation risks, as weltiaks relating to changes in the general
economic conditions in the countries where we cohbusiness. To reduce certain of these risks, waitor the financial condition of our lar
clients and limit credit exposure by collectingaidvance and setting credit limits as we deem apiatep In addition, our investment strategy
has been to invest in financial instruments inalgdiorporate bonds, U.S. treasury, agency secudtid money market funds backed by Ur
States Treasury Bills within the guidelines estli#d under our investment policy. We also makeegii@investments in privately-held
companies in the development stage. To date, we hatvused derivative instruments to mitigate thpact of our market risk exposures. We
have also not used, nor do we intend to use, dar@égafor trading or speculative purposes.

Interest Rate Risk

At December 31, 2014 , we had cash and cash equaigabf $166.6 million and investments of $119.R%iom , which primarily consiste
of corporate bonds, U.S. treasury and agency s&synmoney market funds backed by United Stateadury Bills and other debt securities.
The carrying amount of our cash equivalents redsgragproximates fair value due to the short méasgiof these instruments.

The primary objectives of our investment activitige the preservation of capital, the fulfillmeftiquidity needs and the fiduciary
control of cash and investments. We do not enteriitvestments for trading or speculative purpo€rs.investments are exposed to market
risk due to fluctuations in interest rates, whichynaffect our interest income and the fair marleti® of our investments. Due to the nature of
our investment portfolio, however, we do not beti@n immediate 10% increase or decrease in interest would have a material effect on
fair market value of our portfolio. We therefore niat expect our operating results or cash flowseanaterially affected by a sudden change i
market interest rates.
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We do not believe our cash equivalents, corporateld, U.S. treasury securities and agency seauhitige significant risk of default or
illiquidity. While we believe our cash investmenlis not contain excessive risk, we cannot providei@ce that in the future our investments
will not be subject to adverse changes in markktevdn addition, we maintain significant amountsash and cash equivalents at one or mor
financial institutions that are in excess of fedlgrmsured limits. We cannot be assured that wiénait experience losses on these deposits.

Foreign Currency Risk

We have foreign currency risks related to our rereesind operating expenses denominated in curreoitiesthan the U.S. Dollar. Our
historical revenue has primarily been denominateld.B5. Dollars, and a significant portion of ourremt revenue continues to be denominatec
in U.S. Dollars. However, we expect an increasiagipn of our future revenue to be denominateduimencies other than the U.S. Dollar,
primarily the Euro and British Pound. To a lessdent, we also have revenue denominated in Auatrddiollars, Brazilian Reals, Canadian
Dollars, Indian Rupees, Japanese Yen, New Zealatid®, Singapore Dollars, South African Rand, atfter foreign currencies. Our
operating expenses are generally denominated iouttiencies of the countries in which our operatiare located, primarily the United States
and, to a much lesser extent, the United KingddheroEuropean Union countries, Australia, Brazdn@da, China, Hong Kong, India, Israel,
Japan and New Zealand. Increases and decreas@sforeign-denominated revenue from movementsiieifm exchange rates are often
partially offset by the corresponding decreasda@eases in our foreign-denominated operating esge Our other income (expense) is also
impacted by the re-measurement of U.S. Dollar denated intercompany loans with and cash accourtshyeour overseas subsidiaries.

As our international operations grow, our risksoagsed with fluctuation in currency rates will loeece greater, and we will continue to
reassess our approach to managing this risk. liti@adcurrency fluctuations or a weakening U.SlIBocan increase the costs of our
international expansion. To date, we have not edtarto any foreign currency hedging contractscalth we may do so in the future. The
effect of an immediate 10% adverse change in fareighange rates on foreign-denominated accoume@mber 31, 2014 , including our
intercompany loans with our subsidiaries, wouldilieis a foreign currency loss of approximately Bhillion.

Inflation Risk

We do not believe that inflation has had a matefifgct on our business, financial condition omuitsof operations. Nonetheless, if our
costs were to become subject to significant irdleiry pressures, we may not be able to fully oseh higher costs through price increases.
Our inability or failure to do so could harm oursiness, financial condition and results of operetio

Counterparty Risk

Our financial statements are subject to counteypagdit risk, which we consider as part of theralidair value measurement. We
attempt to mitigate this risk through credit morniitg procedures.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cstone OnDemand, Inc.

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and the related consolidated statenmfenpei@tions, comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity and cash flows present fairyall material respects, the financial positidrCornerstone OnDemand, Inc. and its
subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013, anck¢hits of their operations and their cash floarsefach of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014 in conformity with accawnprinciples generally accepted in the Unitede&tatf America. Also in our opinion, the
Company maintained, in all material respects, éffednternal control over financial reporting dsDecember 31, 2014, based on criteria
established imnternal Control - Integrated Framework (201i8sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrike Treadway
Commission (COSO). The Company's management isms#ge for these financial statements, for mamiej effective internal control over
financial reporting and for its assessment of ffiecéveness of internal control over financial ogjing, included in Management's Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting appeatimgler Item 9A. Our responsibility is to expresgams on these financial statements and
on the Company's internal control over financiglarting based on our integrated audits. We condumte audits in accordance with the
standards of the Public Company Accounting Ovetdglard (United States). Those standards requatevtl plan and perform the audits to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether thecfal@tatements are free of material misstatemedhtnehether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all matergdpects. Our audits of the financial statememisiited examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the iahstatements, assessing the accounting prirscyled and significant estimates made by
management, and evaluating the overall financé&éstent presentation. Our audit of internal cordxa@r financial reporting included obtain
an understanding of internal control over finanogdorting, assessing the risk that a material wes&k exists, and testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbivased on the assessed risk. Our audits altadiedt performing such other procedures as
we considered necessary in the circumstances. Weyd¢hat our audits provide a reasonable basisdo opinions.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (fppeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettiansactions and dispositions of the assetseofdmpany; (ii) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@awith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioazations of management and
directors of the company; and (iii) provide readwaassurance regarding prevention or timely detectf unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢tmisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 27, 2015
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CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par values)

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 166,55 $ 109,58:
Short-term investments 116,10t 199,92!
Accounts receivable, net 84,49¢ 67,19:
Deferred commissions 26,23¢ 16,63¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,001 14,11¢
Total current assets 406,40! 407,45
Capitalized software development costs, net 15,71¢ 10,66¢
Property and equipment, net 21,42« 14,43¢
Long-term investments 3,93¢ —
Intangible assets, net 27,28 4,63
Goodwill 25,89 8,19:
Other assets, net 4,99: 5,97¢
Total Assets $ 505,65! $ 451,35!
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 16,737 $ 10,03"
Accrued expenses 29,47¢ 22,28¢
Deferred revenue, current portion 180,59¢ 135,32.
Capital lease obligations, current portion 23€ 90t
Debt, current portion 351 51¢
Other liabilities 3,052 4,20:
Total current liabilities 230,45( 173,27-
Convertible notes, net 225,09: 217,96!
Other liabilities, non-current 3,871 3,111
Deferred revenue, net of current portion 10,73¢ 3,50(
Capital lease obligations, net of current portion — 21¢
Debt, net of current portion — 392
Total liabilities 470,15: 398,46(
Commitments and contingencies (Note 15)
Stockholders’ Equity:
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 1,000,000 shattedzed, 53,826 and 52,470 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 argl 201 5 5
Additional paid-in capital 336,69: 289,30
Accumulated deficit (301,36¢) (236,46
Accumulated other comprehensive income 171 50
Total stockholders’ equity 35,50z 52,89¢
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 505,65! $ 451,35!

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenue
Cost of revenue
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Amortization of certain acquired intangible assets
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income
Interest expense
Other, net
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income tax (provision) benefit
Income tax (provision) benefit
Net loss
Net loss per share, basic and diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding, bagidiluted

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012

$ 263,56 $ 185,12¢ $ 117,91
77,68 53,54¢ 34,59:

185,88 131,58; 83,32:

162,55: 109,73 73,56

30,61¢ 21,26( 14,88¢

41,80: 33,57: 25,91

82¢ 1,00¢ 73¢

235,80 165,57: 115,10(
(49,916 (33,99)) (31,77Y)

72C 357 —

(12,15 (6,569 (442)

(2,691) (35€) 40

(14,12 (6,562) (402)

(64,044 (40,559 (32,179

(85E) 12¢ 78¢

$ (64,899 $ (40,4260 $ (31,390
$ (122 $ 0.79 $ (0.69)
53,26’ 51,42 49,92¢

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.




CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $ (64,899 $ (40,42¢) $ (31,390
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustment 30¢ 3 (273
Net change in unrealized (losses) gains on invesgsne (187) 13C —
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 121 132 (279)
Total comprehensive loss $ (64,779 $ (40,299 % (31,667)

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetk8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(In thousands)

Common Treasury e
Additional Accumulated
Stock Stock Paid-In Other
Par At Capital Accumulated Comprehensive
Shares Value Shares Cost (Deficit) Deficit Income (Loss) Total

Balance as of
December 31, 2011 4927: % 5 — 3 — $ 226,91t $ (164,65) $ 19C $ 62,46(

Issuance of common

stock for the exercise

of warrants to purchase

common stock 13C — — — 20€ — — 20¢

Issuance of common
stock upon the exercis

of options 1,125 — — — 2,49( — — 2,49(
Vesting of early

exercised options — — — — 55 — — 55
Vesting of restricted

stock units 112 — — — — — — —

Shares issued for
acquisition of Sonar

Limited 47 — — — 33t — — 33t
Stock-based

compensation — — — — 12,76: — — 12,76
Net loss — — — — — (31,390 — (31,390
Other comprehensive

loss, net of tax — — — — — — (279) (279)
Balance as of

December 31, 2012 50,69C % 5 — % — $ 242,76 $ (196,04) $ (83 $ 46,64t

Issuance of common
stock upon the exercis
of options 1,56¢ — — — 13,43: — — 13,43:

Vesting of early
exercised options — — — — 28 — — 28

Vesting of restricted

stock units 214 — — — — — — —
Tax benefits from

employee stock plans — — — — 29 — — 29
Stock-based

compensation — — — — 21,76¢ — — 21,76¢

Net change in
unrealized gains on

investments — — — — — — 13C 13C
Equity component of

convertible notes — — — — 11,28: — — 11,28:
Net loss — — — — — (40,42¢) — (40,42¢)
Other comprehensive

income, net of tax — — — — — — 3 3
Balance as of

December 31, 2013 52,47C $ 5 — 3 — $ 289,300 $ (236,46) % 50 $ 52,89t

Issuance of common
stock upon the exercis

of options 1,15¢ — — — 12,14 — — 12,14:
Vesting of restricted
stock units 202 — — — — — — —
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Stock-based

compensation — — 35,24: — — 35,24:
Net change in

unrealized gains on

investments — — — — (187) (187)
Net loss — — — (64,899 — (64,899
Other comprehensive

income, net of tax — — — — 30¢ 30¢
Balance as of

December 31, 2014 53,82t % 5 $ $ 336,69: $ (301,360 $ 171 $ 35,50:

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetk8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash pliexviby operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Accretion of debt discount and amortization of debtiance costs
Purchased investment premium, net of amortization
Unrealized foreign exchange loss (gain)
Stock-based compensation expense
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, neffetts from acquisition:
Accounts receivable
Deferred commissions
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchases of investments
Maturities of investments
Purchases of property and equipment
Capitalized software costs
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acquired
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible notes, net
Payments for convertible note hedges
Proceeds from the issuance of warrants
Proceeds from the issuance of debt
Repayment of debt
Principal payments under capital lease obligations
Proceeds from stock option and warrant exercises
Net cash provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cashue@lents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivakent
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental cash flow information:
Cash paid for interest
Cash paid for income taxes
Non-cash investing and financing activities:
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Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(64,899 $ (40,420 $ (31,390
15,08¢ 9,70( 7,031

8,271 4,27: 142
81€ (2,031) —
1,65¢ 247 (182)
33,68( 20,84( 12,20°
@ (865) (965)
(18,67 (19,046 (12,25
(10,097 (7,085) (5,691)
1,24¢ (6,057) (4,189
4,56: 5,08: 19C
6,44¢ 6,82¢ 6,32t
55,21¢ 45,23( 35,32;
(295) 74€ 3,73t
33,00¢ 17,43: 10,29:
(124,19)) (203,959 —
203,07 6,18- —
(11,025 (8,762) (2,129
(9,529) (6,906) (5,030)
(43,329 — (12,429
15,00¢ (213,449 (19,58
— 245,66 —

— (49,537 —

— 23,22t —

— 1,91¢ 1,04:
(55¢) (4,03¢) (1,510
(88€) (1,747 (1,919
12,28¢ 13,44; 2,69¢
10,84( 228,92 312
(1,880) 227 8
56,97+ 33,14: (8,967)
109,58: 76,44 85,40¢
166,55 $ 109,58 $ 76,44:
3,88 $ 229 341
546 $ 485 $ 102






Assets acquired under capital leases and otherding arrangements
Common stock issued for business acquisition

Capitalized assets financed by accounts payablaecrdied expenses
Capitalized stock-based compensation

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financetke8tents are an integral part of these statements.
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CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. ORGANIZATION
Company Overview

Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc. (“Cornerstone” or themfiany”) was incorporated on May 24, 1999 in tlaesbf Delaware and began its
principal operations in November 1999 .

The Company is a leading global provider of talaahagement solutions delivered as Software-as-@esdf'SaaS”). The Company’s
Enterprise and Mid-Market solution is a comprehemsind unified cloud-based suite consisting of pobafferings to help organizations
manage their recruiting, onboarding, learning, ganince, succession, compensation and enterpisd sollaboration processes.

The Company’s solutions are designed to enablenargiions to meet the challenges they face in engpioy and maximizing the
productivity of their human capital. These challesignclude hiring and developing employees throughiweir careers, engaging all employees
effectively, improving business execution, cultimgtfuture leaders, and integrating with an orgatiin’s extended enterprise of clients,
vendors and distributors by delivering trainingitifieation programs and other content. Managenhastdetermined that the Company opel
in one segment as it only reports financial infaioTaon an aggregate and consolidated basis tGdnepany’s chief executive officer, who is
the Company'’s chief operating decision maker.

Office Locations

The Company is headquartered in Santa Monica,dald and has offices in Amsterdam, Auckland, Disksé Hong Kong, London,
Madrid, Mumbai, Munich, Paris, San Francisco, Saol® Stockholm, Sunnyvale, Sydney, Tel Aviv, arukyo.

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Consolidatior

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of Cornerstone OnDemand, &ndl its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant inter-company transaiecs and balances have been eliminated in corsiul

Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalccepted in the United States of
America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estéma@and assumptions that affect the reported ammaidm@tssets and liabilities and
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements and the teg@mounts of revenue and expenses durir
reporting period. Actual results could differ frahose estimates.

On an on-going basis, management evaluates itaas$, including among others those related tdhé¢iyealization of tax assets and
estimates of tax liabilities and reserves, (ii) teeognition and disclosure of contingent liakéig] (iii) the collectability of accounts receivable
(iv) the evaluation of revenue recognition criteffecluding the determination of standalone valnd astimates of the selling price of multiple-
deliverables in the Company’s revenue arrangeméntsair values of investments in marketable siims and strategic investments carried at
fair value, (vi) the fair values of acquired assetd assumed liabilities in business combinatifng,the useful lives of property and
equipment, capitalized software and intangible tas$eiii) impairment of long-lived assets, incladigoodwill, (ix) the amount and period of
amortization of the commission payments to recoreipense in proportion to the revenue that isgeieed, (x) assumptions used in the
Black-Scholes option pricing model to determineftievalue of stock options, and (xi) assumptiased in the valuation of various types of
performance-based awards. These estimates are tmaséstorical data and experience, as well aouarother factors that management
believes to be reasonable under the circumstatieesesults of which form the basis for making jodgnts about the carrying value of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent frother sources. The Company engages third-partyatiatuspecialists to assist with the
allocation of the purchase price in business coatlins. Such estimates required the selection mfogpiate valuation methodologies and
models, and significant judgment in evaluating esgf assumptions and financial inputs.
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Business Combination

The results of businesses acquired in a businesbination are included in the Company’s consoliddieancial statements from the
date of the acquisition. Purchase accounting regulissets and liabilities of an acquired busibedsg recorded at their estimated fair values
on the acquisition date. Any excess consideratien the fair value of assets acquired and liabgitaissumed is recognized as goodwill.

The Company performs valuations of assets acqainediabilities assumed for an acquisition andaates the purchase price to its
respective net tangible and intangible assets.ridiéng the fair value of assets acquired and litds assumed requires management to use
significant judgment and estimates including tHec®n of valuation methodologies, estimates dfifel revenue and cash flows, discount r
and selection of comparable companies. The Comeaggges the assistance of valuation specialistsnoluding on fair value measurements
in connection with determining fair values of assstquired and liabilities assumed in a businessamation.

Transaction costs associated with business coniiisadre expensed as incurred, and are includgeriaral and administrative expen
in the consolidated statement of operations. Ti@msacosts were $1.3 million and $0.7 million fbe year ended December 31, 2014 and
2012, respectively. There were no transaction dostthe year ended December 31, 2013.

Revenue Recoghnitio
The Company derives its revenue from the followsogrces:

»  Subscriptions to the Compa’s solutions—Clients pay subscription fees for access to the@my's solutions for a specified period
time, typically three years for the Company’s Eptere and Mid-Market solution or annually or thigsar periods for the Company’s
Cornerstone for Salesforce and Cornerstone GrowitioB solutions. Fees are based on a number @rdncluding the number of
users having access to a solution. The Companyr@gneecognizes revenue from subscriptions ratawigr the term of the agreement.

» Consulting services—The Company offers its clients assistance in imgleting its solutions and optimizing their use. Qdting
services include application configuration, systatagration, business process re-engineering, éharanagement, and training
services. Services are billed either on a time4aadkerial or a fixed-fee basis. These services anemlly purchased as part of a
subscription arrangement. Clients may also purchassulting services at any other time. Consulseryices are performed by the
Company directly or by third-party professionahéeg providers the Company engages. Clients mayddsose to perform these
services themselves or engage their own third-matyice providers. The Company generally recogniegenue from fixed fee
consulting services using the proportional perfarogamethod over the period the services are peefdrand as time is incurred for
time-and-material arrangements.

e E-learning content—The Company resells third-party on-line trainimgntent, referred to as e-learning content, tolients. In
addition, the Company also hosts other e-learnimgent provided by its clients. The Company gemgratognizes revenue from the
resale of e-learning content as it is delivered r@edgnizes revenue from hosting as the hostingcgsr are provided.

The Company recognizes revenue when: (i) persuasigdence of an arrangement for the sale of the@amyis solutions or consulting
services exists, (ii) the solutions have been n@aéable or delivered, or services have been pad, (iii) the sales price is fixed or
determinable, and (iv) collectability is reasonadbgured. The timing and amount the Company rezegris revenue is determined based on
the facts and circumstances of each client arrapgerividence of an arrangement consists of a diglient agreement. The Company
considers that delivery of a solution has commermcext it provides the client with log-in informatito access and use the solution. If non-
standard acceptance periods or non-standard pexnfmercriteria exist, revenue recognition commenges the satisfaction of the non-
standard acceptance or performance criteria, dicaple. Standard acceptance or performance claetas to the Company’s solutions
meeting certain perfunctory operating thresholégsFare fixed based on stated rates specifie@ iolignt agreement. If collectability is not
considered reasonably assured, revenue is defentédhe fees are collected. The majority of cliarrangements include multiple deliverab
such as subscriptions to the Company’s softwangtisok and consulting services. The Company thezafecognizes revenue in accordance
with the guidance for arrangements with multiplévégables under Accounting Standards Update (“AS2009-13 “Revenue Recognition
(Topic 605)—Multiple-Deliverable Revenue Arrangetsera Consensus of the Emerging Issues Task FoocéASU 2009-13. As clients do
not have the right to the underlying software ctmtehe solutions, the Company’s revenue arrangésrame outside the scope of software
revenue recognition guidance. The Company’s agraengenerally do not contain any cancellation éuné provisions other than in the event
of the Company’s default.
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For multipledeliverable revenue arrangements, the Companyafistsses whether each deliverable has value ¢tigheon a standalol
basis. The Company has determined that the sotutiawe standalone value, because, once accessiistgia client, the solutions are fully
functional and do not require any additional depaient, modification or customization. Consultingvéses have standalone value because
third-party service providers, distributors or olie themselves can perform these services witheu€bmpany’s involvement. The consulting
services assist clients with the configuration emegration of the Company’s solutions. The perfance of these services generally does not
require highly specialized or skilled individualsdaare not essential to the functionality of thiions.

Based on the standalone value of the deliverahfebsince clients do not have a general righttoinerelative to the included consulting
services, the Company allocates revenue amongfieate deliverables in an arrangement under thiéveeselling price method using the
selling price hierarchy established in ASU 2009-8is hierarchy requires the selling price of edeliverable in a multiple deliverable
arrangement to be based on, in descending orjleer{dor-specific objective evidence of fair va{tiéSOE"), (ii) third-party evidence of fair
value (“TPE”") or (iii) management’s best estimatéhe selling price (‘BESP”).

The Company is generally not able to determine V®OEPE for its deliverables, because the deliiesabre sold separately and within
a sufficiently narrow price range only infrequentynd because management has determined thaktteene third-party offerings reasonably
comparable to the Company’s solutions. Accordintiig, selling prices of subscriptions to the sohgiand consulting services is based on
BESP. The determination of BESP requires the Compamake significant estimates and judgments. Chmpany considers numerous
factors, including the nature of the deliverablesmselves; the geography, market conditions angettive landscape for the sale; internal
costs; and pricing and discounting practices. Téterthination of BESP is made through consultatidth senior management. The Company
updates its estimates of BESP on an ongoing bassents and as circumstances may require.

After the contract value is allocated to each dehible in a multiple deliverable arrangement basethe relative selling price method is
determined, revenue is recognized for each deleraased pattern in which the revenue is earnedsibscriptions to the solutions, revenue
is recognized on a straight-line basis over thessujbtion term, which is typically three years. [eonsulting services, revenue is recognized
using the proportional performance method oveiptniod the services are performed. Fdeaning content and hosting, revenue is recogtr
ratably over the period the content is deliveretiasting service is provided.

In a limited number of cases, the client’s intended of a solution requires enhancements to itenlyidg features and functionality. In
some of these cases, revenue is recognized asdr@ accounting on a straighitte basis from the point at which the enhancembat® bee
made to the solution, through the remaining terrthefagreement. In other cases where the enhant&west required for the clierstintender
use, revenue is not recognized as one unit of aticawurather the allocated value of the enhancensargicognized on a straight-line basis once
the enhancement has been made.

For arrangements in which the Company resells 4béndy e-learning training content to clients ostsoclient or third-party e-learning
training content provided by the client, revenugeisognized in accordance with accounting guidasce when to report gross revenue as a
principal or report net revenue as an agent. Thagamy recognizes third-party content revenue agthes amount invoiced to clients when
(i) the Company is the primary obligor, (ii) the i@pany has latitude to establish the price charged (iii) the Company bears the credit risl
the transaction. For arrangements involving the eathird-party content, clients are charged fer ¢ontent based on pay-per-use or a fixed
rate for a specified number of users, and revesueciognized at the gross amount invoiced as thiegbis delivered. For arrangements where
clients purchase third-party content directly frarthird-party vendor, or provide it themselves, grelCompany integrates the content into a
solution, the Company charges a fee per user dvdeed on estimated bandwidth. In such caseseésedire recognized at the net amount
charged by the Company for hosting services asdhgent is delivered.

The Company records amounts that have been invtdcisi clients in accounts receivable and in eitteferred revenue or revenue
depending on whether the revenue recognition @itéescribed above have been met. Deferred revbatigvill be recognized during the
succeeding twelve month period from the respedialance sheet date is recorded as current defe@vedue and the remaining portion is
recorded as noncurrent.
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Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue consists primarily of costs relateldosting the Company’s solutions; personnelratated expenses, including stock-
based compensation, and related expenses for retmfastructure, IT support, consulting servicasl @n-going client support staff; payments
to external service providers; amortization of talpied software costs, developed technology arah§ing fees; and referral fees. In addition,
the Company allocates a portion of overhead, sagk, IT costs, depreciation and amortizationemgloyee benefits costs, to cost of
revenue based on headcount. Costs associatednwittdipg consulting services are recognized asrieclwhen the services are performed.
Out-of-pocket travel costs related to the delivefriprofessional services are typically reimbursgdHhe client and are accounted for as both
revenue and expense in the period in which theisasturred.

Commission Payments

The Company defers commissions paid to its saleg fand related payroll taxes because these amatetecoverable from the future
revenue from the non-cancelable client agreeméatgjave rise to the commissions. Commissionsefieriegd on the balance sheet and are
recognized as sales and marketing expense oveertheof the client agreement in proportion to teeenue that is recognized. Commissions
are considered direct and incremental costs totdligreements and were generally paid in the petivel Company received payment from the
client under the associated client agreement. Coming in the fourth quarter of 2012, the Compangarepaying commissions between 45 tc
75 days after execution of the client agreement.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2048 2612 , the Company deferred $31.7 million , 828illion and $16.1 million ,
respectively, of commissions on the balance sli®eing the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2028 2612 , the Company recognized
$22.1 million , $15.5 million and $10.3 million Gommissions expense to sales and marketing expexspectively. As of December 31, 2014
and 2013, deferred commissions on the Companyisatimlated balance sheets totaled $26.2 million%&lr&l6 million , respectively.

Research & Developmet

Research and development expenses consist prinoaplgrsonnel and related expenses for the Compaagearch and development
staff, including salaries, benefits, bonuses andksbased compensation; the cost of certain thémdypservice providers; and allocated
overhead. Research and development expensestliudinesoftware development costs qualifying for taiziation, are expensed as incurred.
The Company’s research and development expenses$86r6 million in 2014 , $21.3 million in 2013nda$14.9 million in 2012 .

Advertising

Advertising expenses for 2014, 2013, and 20&8re $3.7 million, $2.0 million, and $0.4lion , respectively, and are expense:
incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for stock-based compensatiarda granted to employees and directors by resgrddmpensation expense
based on the awards’ estimated fair value. The Gmypstimates the fair value of its stock optiomefathe date of grant using the Black-
Scholes option-pricing model. The resulting failuea net of estimated forfeitures, is recognizedrdiie period during which an employee is
required to provide service in exchange for therdwasually the vesting period, which is generédlyr years. The Company recognizes the
value of stock-based compensation for awards wticttain only service conditions on a straight-lrasis over the vesting period of the
awards. The Company recognizes the fair valueoaksbased compensation for awards which contaifopaance conditions based upon the
probability of the performance conditions being nmett of estimated forfeitures, using the gradesting method. Estimated forfeitures are
based upon the Company’s historical experiencel@@€ompany revises its estimates, if necessagybisequent periods if actual forfeitures
differ from initial estimates.

The Black-Scholes option pricing model requiresiagsions, estimated volatility, risk-free rate, egfed term and estimated dividend
yield. The assumptions used in calculating thevfalue of stock options represents the Com’s best estimates, based on management
judgment. The Company uses the average volatiigimilar publicly traded companies as an estinfiatestimated volatility. The Compal
determines the expected term of awards which comtaly service conditions using the simplified aggarh, in which the expected term of an
award is presumed to be the mid-point between ¢isting date and the expiration date of the awarth@ Company does not have sufficient
historical data relating to stock-option exercides. awards granted which contain performance ¢immdi the Company estimates the expecte
term based on estimates of post-vesting employteemination behavior taking into account the lifdtee award. The risk-free interest rate
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for periods within the expected or contractual tifehe option, as applicable, is based on theddn8tates Treasury yield curve in effect during
the period the options were granted. The estimditedend yield is zero, as the Company has notatted, and does not currently intend to
declare, dividends in the foreseeable future.

The following information represents the weightedrage of the assumptions used in the Black-Sclogsn-pricing model:

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Risk-free interest rate 1.S% 1.5% 1.C%
Expected term (in years) 6.C 6.C 5.8
Estimated dividend yield —% —% —%
Estimated volatility 49.9% 51.5% 53.¢%

The Company estimates the fair value of its perforoe-based restricted stock units, which includadheket condition performance
criteria, using a Monte Carlo simulation model tfaattors in the probability of the award vestingr performance-based awards, the fair value
is not determined until all of the terms and caodis are established.

Due to the full valuation allowance provided onritt deferred tax assets, the Company has notded@ny tax benefit attributable to
stock-based compensation expense as of Decemb20B4 and 2013 .

Capitalized Software Costs

The Company capitalizes the costs associated witivare developed or obtained for internal useluitiong costs incurred in connection
with the development of its solutions, when thdiprnmary project stage is completed, managementleagied to make the project a part of its
future offering, and the software will be used &fprm the function intended. These capitalizedcoxlude external direct costs of materials
and services consumed in developing or obtainitermal-use software, personnel and related expdosesployees who are directly
associated with and who devote time to internalagdtvare projects and, when material, interestsciogurred during the development.
Capitalization of these costs ceases once thegbrigjsubstantially complete and the software aslyefor its intended purpose. Costs incurred
for upgrades and enhancements to the solutiorslsseapitalized. Post-configuration training anaimenance costs are expensed as incurre
Capitalized software costs are amortized to costwénue using the straight-line method over ameséd useful life of the software of three
years, commencing when the software is ready for iterided use. The Company does not transfer ownes§hip lease its software to its
clients.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@b@ , the Company capitalized $11.4 million Smillion , and $5.7 million ,
respectively, of software development costs tdotlance sheet. During the years ended Decemb@034,, 2013 and 2012 , the Company
amortized $6.3 million , $4.3 million , and $2.8llipn to cost of revenue, respectively. Based an@ompany’s capitalized software costs at
December 31, 2014 , estimated amortization expeh$&.4 million , $5.6 million , $2.6 million andd¥® millionis expected to be recognize(
2015, 2016, 2017 and 2018 , respectively.

Comprehensive Loss

Comprehensive loss encompasses all changes ity ejuér than those arising from transactions wititclholders, and consists of net
loss, currency translation adjustments and unre@digains or losses on investments. For the yeaedebecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012,
accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) dsatpa cumulative translation adjustment. For @y ended December 31, 2014 and
2013, accumulated other comprehensive income atdoded net unrealized gains (losses) on invesgnent

Income Taxes

The Company uses the liability method of accountargncome taxes. Under the liability method, dedd taxes are determined baset
the temporary differences between the financiagkstant and tax basis of assets and liabilitiesiguix rates expected to be in effect during
years in which the bases differences are expectegl/erse. A valuation allowance is recorded whénmore likely than not that some of 1
deferred tax assets will not be realized. In deiteimg the need for valuation allowances, the Comypaomsiders projected future taxable
income and the availability of tax planning stragsg The Company has recorded a full valuationnaditce to reduce its United States, United
Kingdom, New Zealand, Hong Kong and Brazil net defeé tax assets to zero, as it has determinedttisatot more likely than not that these
deferred tax assets will be realized.
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The Company has assessed its income tax positimheeaorded tax benefits for all years subjecix@ngnation, based upon its
evaluation of the facts, circumstances and infoionadvailable at each period end. For those takipos where the Company has determined
there is a greater than 50% likelihood that a &xdfit will be sustained, the Company has recotdedargest amount of tax benefit that may
potentially be realized upon ultimate settlemerthwai taxing authority that has full knowledge dfralevant information. For those income tax
positions where it is determined there is less B@# likelihood that a tax benefit will be sustalpao tax benefit has been recognized.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers cash and cash equivaleintsitmle short-term, highly liquid investments thag¢ readily convertible to known
amounts of cash and so near their maturity that pinesent insignificant risk of changes in valueluding investments with original or
remaining maturities from the date of purchaséhof¢ months or less. At December 31, 2014 and 2048h and cash equivalents consisted c
cash balances of $76.0 million and $43.9 millivespectively, and money market funds backed byddrfstates Treasury Bills $80.6 millior
and $65.7 million , respectively.

Investments in Marketable Securitie

The Company’s available-for-sale investments inketable securities are recorded at fair value, aith unrealized gains and losses, ne
of taxes, reported as a component of stockholdepsity until realized or until a determination isde that an other-than-temporary decline in
market value has occurred. If the Company detersringt an other-than-temporary decline has occdaredebt securities that the Company
does not then currently intend to sell, the Compaepgnizes the credit loss component of an otentemporary impairment in other incor
(expense) and the remaining portion in other colmgmeive income (loss). The credit loss componeidteistified as the amount of the present
value of cash flows not expected to be received theeremaining term of the security, based on ¢ashprojections. In determining whether
an other-than-temporary impairment exists, the Camronsiders: (i) the length of time and the extenvhich the fair value has been less
than cost; (ii) the financial condition and neamigprospects of the issuer of the securities; @dHe Company’s intent and ability to retain
the security for a period of time sufficient toaall for any anticipated recovery in fair value. Tduest of marketable securities sold is determ
based on the specific identification method andr@ajized gains or losses on the sale of investsremet reflected as a component of interest
income or expense. In addition, the Company cliessiharketable securities as current or non-cubyaséd upon the maturity dates of the
securities. At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , theiamy had $119.2 million and $199.9 million , regpety, of investments in marketable
securities.

Strategic Investment

In June 2014, the Company made a $0.5 million itnwest in a debt security of a privately-held comparhe Company accounted for
this debt security using fair value accounting, Hretefore, the current strategic investment ismeed at fair value, with any changes in value
recorded in other income (expense) in the acconipgr§onsolidated Statement of Operations. In Sep&erd014, the Company made a $0.4
million investment in equity securities of a priegtheld company. The Company accounted for thisstment using the cost method of
accounting. This investment is subject to a pecidaipairment review and is considered to be imphivben a decline in fair value is judged to
be other-than-temporary. These investments araded in long-term investments on the Consolidateldfce Sheet.

Restricted Casl

Included in current and non-current other asseBeabember 31, 2014 and 2013 were restricted ca$h.afmillion and $0.2 million ,
respectively, in relation to a standby letter afdit in British Pounds for a foreign sales arrangethwith a customer in the United Kingdom.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

The Company bases its allowance for doubtful actsoon its historical collection experience andaew in each period of the status of
the then-outstanding accounts receivable.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaainallowance for doubtful accounts for the yeardesd December 31, 2014 , 2013
and 2012 , is as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Beginning balance, January 1 $ 1,021 $ 464 $ 158
Additions and adjustments 2,08¢ 96¢ 35¢
Write-offs (92¢) (411) 47
Ending balance, December 31 $ 2,177 $ 1,021 $ 464

Property and Equipment, Ne

Property and equipment are recorded at historizst, ¢ess accumulated depreciation and amortizalepreciation is computed using
the straight-line method based upon the estimasetlllives of the assets, generally two to seveary (See Note 7).

The Company leases equipment under capital leaaegaments. The assets and liabilities under ddpiétae are recorded at the lesser o
the present value of aggregate future minimum lpagenents, including estimated bargain purchasemgtor the fair value of the asset unde
lease. Assets under capital lease are depreciateg the straight-line method over the lesser efastimated useful life of the asset or the tern
of the lease.

Leasehold improvements are depreciated on a stitaghbasis over the shorter of their estimategfuidives or lease terms. Repair and
maintenance costs are charged to expense as idcuinde renewals and improvements are capitalized.

Impairment of Long Lived Asset

The Company evaluates the recoverability of itgitimed assets with finite useful lives, includimgangible assets, for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances irdibat the carrying amounts may not be recover&hleh triggering events or changes in
circumstances may include: a significant decreaska market price of a long-lived asset, a sigaift adverse change in the extent or manne
in which a long-lived asset is being used, a sigaift adverse change in legal factors or in théness climate, the impact of competition or
other factors that could affect the value of a limgd asset, a significant adverse deterioratiothe amount of revenue or cash flows expecte
to be generated from an asset group, an accumulaticosts significantly in excess of the amouigioally expected for the acquisition or
development of a long-lived asset, current or Ritaperating or cash flow losses that demonstraterzong losses associated with the use of
long-lived asset, or a current expectation thatenigely than not, a long-lived asset will be soldotherwise disposed of significantly before
the end of its previously estimated useful lifeeT®ompany performs impairment testing at the agseip level that represents the lowest leve
for which identifiable cash flows are largely in@gwlent of the cash flows of other assets and iliegsil If events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset groap not be recoverable and the expected undiseddunture cash flows attributable to the
asset group are less than the carrying amouneaddket group, an impairment loss equal to thesexafethe asset’s carrying value over its fair
value is recorded. Fair value is determined baged @stimated undiscounted future cash flows. There no impairment charges related to
identifiable long lived assets in the years endeddbnber 31, 2014 and 2013 .

Intangible Asset:

Identifiable intangible assets primarily consistr@ide names and intellectual property and acdunisielated intangibles, including
developed technology, customer relationships, mmnpete agreements, trade names and trademark§€orhpany determines the appropriate
useful life of its intangible assets by performarganalysis of expected cash flows of the acquissets. Intangible assets are amortized over
their estimated useful lives ranging from two to years, generally using the straight line methbéctvapproximates the pattern in which the
economic benefits are consumed.
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Goodwill

Goodwill is not amortized, but instead is requitedbe tested for impairment annually and underagetircumstances. The Company
performs such testing of goodwill in the fourth jeaof each year, or as events occur or circunssgohange that would more likely than not
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit belowcisrying amount. Events or changes in circumstmadgch could trigger an impairment
review include a significant adverse change inllémzors or in the business climate, an advertieraor assessment by a regulator,
unanticipated competition, a loss of key persorsighificant changes in the manner of the Compaugé&sof the acquired assets or the strateg
for the Company’s overall business, significantatege industry or economic trends, or significantlerperformance relative to expected
historical or projected future results of operasion

As part of the annual impairment test, the Compaay conduct an assessment of qualitative factodetermine whether it is more

likely than not that the fair value of a reportimgit is less than its carrying amount. If the Compdetermines that it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is lessrtlits carrying amount, it then conducts the fitepsof a twostep impairment test. The first stef
the test for goodwill impairment compares the failue of the applicable reporting unit with itsigémng value. Fair value is determined using a
discounted cash flow method and/or prevailing eeymimultiples for the reporting unit. The use afcdiunted cash flows requires the use of
various economic, market and business assumptiotievieloping the reporting unit’s revenue, cost eexh flow forecasts, the useful life over
which cash flows will occur, and determination lod¢ reporting unit’'s weighted average cost of cafitat reflect the Company’s best estimates
when performing the annual impairment test.

If the fair value of a reporting unit is less ththe reporting unit’'s carrying value, the Companyfgrens the second step of the test for
impairment of goodwill in which the Company compatiee implied fair value of the reporting unit'sagiwill with the carrying value of that
goodwill. The estimate of implied fair value of giwaill may require valuations of certain internafignerated and unrecognized intangible
assets and other assets and liabilities. If theyicey value of the goodwill exceeds the calculatedlied fair value, the excess amount will be
recognized as an impairment loss. Based on thésexfithe annual impairment test, no impairmenga@ddwill existed at December 31, 2014 .

Senior Convertible Note

In accounting for senior convertible notes (the t&&3) at issuance, the Company separated the Natedebt and equity components
pursuant to the accounting standards for convertiebt instruments that may be fully or partiaéi§tied in cash upon conversion. The fair
value of the debt component was estimated usirigtarest rate, with terms similar to the Notes,leding the conversion feature. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculatedasuring the fair value of a similar liabilityathdoes not have an associated convertible
feature. The excess of the principal amount ofNb&es over the fair value of the debt componentasrded as a debt discount and a
corresponding increase in additional paiczapital. The debt discount is accreted to irgeexpense over the term of the Notes using tieeds
method. The amount recorded to additional paidajpital is not to be remeasured as long as it coesito meet the conditions for equity
classification.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair value represents the exchange price that wmelletceived for an asset or paid to transfertdlitia(an exit price) in the principal or
most advantageous market for the asset or lialilign orderly transaction between market participan the measurement date. Valuation
techniques used to measure fair value must maxithzese of observable inputs and minimize theofismobservable inputs. The fair value
hierarchy is based on the following three levelgpits, of which the first two are considered otsable and the last one is considered
unobservable:

» Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active kats for identical assets or liabilities that magragnt has the ability to access at the
measurement date.

» Level 2—nputs other than quoted prices included withinélel/that are observable for the asset or liabiétther directly or indirectl

* Level 3—Unobservable input

Observable inputs are based on market data obt&imedindependent sources.

76




Concentration of Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@npany to concentration of credit risk consish@ipally of cash, cash equivalents,
restricted cash, and accounts receivable. The Coyipaash and cash equivalents are deposited withaddiveancial institutions and, at time
may exceed federally insured limits, as applicablee Company performs ongoing credit evaluationissaglients.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 &kl 2t single client comprised more than 10% efG@lompany’s revenue. No single
client had an accounts receivable balance grezart0% of total accounts receivable at Decembg?@14 or 2013 .

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translateaW.S. Dollars at the rates of exchange in eff¢the date of the transaction.
Transaction (losses) gains were approximately $¢hilfion , $(0.3) million and $0.2 million for thgears ended December 31, 2014 , 2848
2012 , respectively, and are included in otherwitttin other income (expense), net, in the accamjay consolidated statements of
operations.

The Company has entities in various countries.gftities where the local currency is different thiaa functional currency, the local
currency financial statements have been remeasumedthe local currency into the functional currgnusing the current exchange rate for
monetary accounts and historical exchange ratesdiomonetary accounts, with exchange differencegmeasurement included in other
income (loss). To the extent that the functionatency is different than the U.S Dollar, the finestatements have then been translated into
U.S. Dollars using period-end exchanges ratesdseta and liabilities and average exchanges ratdlsd results of operations. Foreign
currency translation gains and losses are incladeal component of accumulated other comprehenstesnie or loss in the consolidated
balance sheets.

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting StandardsrBd&FASB”) issued a hew accounting standards uptizt provides principles for
recognizing revenue for the transfer of promiseddgoor services to customers with the consideratiavhich the entity expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services. The guoelaiill be effective for reporting periods beginpiafter December 15, 2016. Early adoption
is not permitted. The Company is currently evahmthe accounting, transition and disclosure rexpiénts of the standard and cannot curr
estimate the financial statement impact of adoption

In June 2014, the FASB issued a new accountinglatds update amending the accounting guidancédadisclosure requirements of
Variable Interest Entities relating to developmstiaige entities. The new standard is effective matsely for reporting periods beginning af
December 15, 2015. The Company early adopted tiwegn@lance in the three months ended June 30, A0ftadoption of this guidance did
not have a significant impact on the Company’sldEaes and the results of operations or finarpmaition.

3. BUSINESS ACQUISITION
2014 Business Acquisition

On November 3, 2014, the Company completed theisitiqn of Evolv Inc., (“Evolv”), a San Franciscafed SaaS company. Evolv's
platform has been developed with big data architecand machine learning algorithms to perform jgtae and prescriptive analytics and has
broad data capturing capabilities that are usdwblp companies solve workforce management chalterigee acquisition was completed
pursuant to a merger whereby Evolv became a wiosltyed subsidiary of the Company. In connection withmerger, the Company paid tc
purchase consideration of approximately $43.4iomill

The acquisition has been accounted for under theisiion method of accounting in accordance wlid FASB’s Accounting Standards
Cadification (*“ASC”) Topic 805,Business CombinationdAs such, the Evolv assets acquired and liaksliigssumed are recorded at their
acquisition-date fair values. Acquisitioalated transaction costs are not included as gonent of consideration transferred, but are aceol
for as an expense in the period in which the castsncurred. Any excess of the acquisition consititen over the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwiliieh is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwilattributable primarily to expected syner
and other benefits, including the acquired workéoifcom combining Evolv with the Company. The Compacquired Evolv to allow clients
leverage the power of big data analytics to makibworkforce decisions.
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The Company’s allocation of the total purchase itmration as of November 3, 2014 is summarizedvio€io thousands):

Cash and cash equivalents $ 107
Account receivables 97¢
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 194
Property and equipment 77
Intangibles - Developed technology 26,18¢
Goodwill 17,70

Total assets acquired 45,24;
Accounts payable 712
Accrued expenses 61¢
Deferred revenue 477

Total liabilities assumed 1,80¢
Total purchase price $ 43,43

The developed technology is being amortized omaagstt-line basis over 3 years.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following table reflects the unaudited pro faroonsolidated results of operations as if the Egobuisition had taken place on
January 1, 2013, after giving effect to certairuatipents including the amortization of acquiredmgfible assets and the elimination of the
Company’s and Evolv's non-recurring acquisitionatet expenses (in thousands):

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2014 2013
Pro Forma Pro Forma
Revenue $ 268,77: $ 190,55:
Net loss $ (85,527 $ (64,472

The unaudited pro forma information presented datpurport to be indicative of the results thatldohave been achieved had the
acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 20A.8f the results which may occur in the futurkepro forma adjustments are based upo
available information and certain assumptions thatCompany believes are reasonable. The unaystiteftbrma information does not include
any adjustments for any restructuring activitiggerating efficiencies or cost savings.

2012 Business Acquisition

On April 5, 2012, the Company completed the actjaisiof all of the issued and outstanding shareSasfar, a New Zealand based Saas
talent management vendor serving small businessddwide. Purchase consideration for the acquisiti@s approximately $12.5 million in
cash and 15,530 shares of the Company’s commok, stith a fair value of approximately $0.3 milligwalued on the acquisition date.
Approximately $1.8 million of the cash consideratand the shares issued were placed in escrowmqenesolution of any post-acquisition
representations and warranties. The escrow periddcein April 2013.

The acquisition has been accounted for under theisiion method of accounting in accordance wlid FASB’s Accounting Standards
Cadification (“ASC”) Topic 805Business CombinationsAs such, the Sonar assets acquired and liabilssumed are recorded at their
acquisition-date fair values. Acquisitioalated transaction costs are not included as gooent of consideration transferred, but are adeal
for as an expense in the period in which the castsncurred. Any excess of the acquisition cornsitilen over the fair value of assets acquired
and liabilities assumed is allocated to goodwiliah is not deductible for tax purposes. Goodwgilattributable primarily to expected syner
and other benefits, including the acquired workéofcom combining Sonar with the Company. The Camypecquired Sonar to strengthen its
ability to serve small businesses with less thahel@iployees.
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The Company'’s allocation of the total purchase imration as of April 5, 2012 is summarized belawtlousands):

Acquired intangible assets:

Developed technology $ 3,80(
Customer relationships 2,40(
Non-compete agreements 61C
Domains/trademark/tradenames 32C
Total acquired intangible assets 7,13(C
Goodwill 8,19:
Other assets (including cash of $76) 81t
Current liabilities (50¢€)
Deferred revenue (427)
Borrowings (557)
Net deferred tax liabilities (1,809
Net Assets Acquired $ 12,83¢

The developed technology, customer relationshifangibles, non-compete agreements and trade naawstiarks are being amortized
on a straight-line basis over 4 , 4 , 2.5 and 2gjgaspectively, with a combined weighted-avenmaggful life of 3.8 years.

Unaudited Pro Forma Financial Information

The following table reflects the unaudited pro faroonsolidated results of operations as if the Gaoquisition had taken place on
January 1, 2011, after giving effect to certairuatipents including the amortization of acquiredimgfible assets and the associated tax effect
and the elimination of the Company’s and Sonarts-recurring acquisition-related expenses (in thodsi

For the Years Ended

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Actual Actual Pro Forma
Revenue $ 263,56¢ $ 185,12¢ $ 118,91°
Net loss $ (64,899 $ (40,426) $ (31,079

The unaudited pro forma information presented datpurport to be indicative of the results thatidohave been achieved had the
acquisition been consummated as of January 1, 20A.af the results which may occur in the futurkepro forma adjustments are based upo
available information and certain assumptions thatCompany believes are reasonable. The unaystitefbrma information does not include
any adjustments for any restructuring activitiggemating efficiencies or cost savings.

4. NET LOSS PER SHARE

The following table presents the basic and dillésg per share (in thousands, except per shareras)ou

For the Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (64,899 $ (40,426 $ (31,390)
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding 53,26% 51,427 49,92¢
Net loss per share — basic and diluted $ (129 $ 079 $ (0.69)
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The following table presents the number of antitilile shares excluded from the calculation of éitlihet loss per share (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common stock and restrictexk stoits 8,55¢ 7,73(C 7,331
Convertible notes 4,68 4,68 —
Common stock warrants 4,682 4,682 —
Shares issued for purchase consideration helcchows — — 1€
Common stock subject to repurchase right — — 1C
Other restricted common stock — 12 31
Total shares excluded from net loss per share 17,91¢ 17,10¢ 7,38¢

Under the treasury stock method, the convertibtesiand common stock warrants will have a dilutinpact on net earnings per share
when the average stock price for the period excdezieespective conversion prices and the Compasyhkt income. The Company also
entered into note hedge transactions (“Note Hedde<onnection with the convertible notes withgest to its common stock to minimize the
impact of potential economic dilution upon conversof the convertible notes. The Note Hedges watstanding as of December 31, 2014 .
Since the beneficial impact of the Note Hedges we@tedilutive, they were excluded from the calculatidrdiduted net income (loss) per sh
See Note 9 of the Notes to Consolidated Finandatkghents.

5. INVESTMENTS

The Company’s investments in available-for-salekatable securities are made pursuant to its investimolicy, which has established
guidelines relative to the diversification of ther@pany’s investments and their maturities, withghaciple objective of capital preservation
and maintaining liquidity that is sufficient to nieash flow requirements.

The following is a summary of investments in maakde securities, including cash equivalents, @3exfember 31, 2014 and 2013 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2014

Amortized Cost

Basis Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Money market funds $ 90,56¢ $ — $ — $ 90,56¢
Corporate bonds 43,03 — (42 42,98¢
Agency bonds 64,21( 1 (15) 64,19¢
U.S. treasury securities 12,00( — D 11,99¢
$ 209,81( $ 1 $ (58) $ 209,75:

December 31, 2013

Amortized Cost

Basis Unrealized Gains  Unrealized Losses Fair Value
Money market funds $ 65,70 $ — % —  $ 65,70(
Corporate bonds 78,48¢ 121 — 78,60¢
Agency bonds 121,30° 14 (5) 121,31¢
$ 265,49' $ 135 % 5 % 265,62!

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company’s investrireobrporate bonds, agency bonds and U.S. treasayrities had a weighted-
average maturity date of approximately eight monttiarealized gains and losses on investments m@rsignificant, and the Company does
not believe the unrealized losses represent olfzr-temporary impairments as of December 31, 20d@imarketable securities held have b
in a continuous unrealized loss position for mbi@t12 months as of December 31, 2014 .
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Strategic Investment

In June 2014, the Company made a $0.5 million itvest in a debt security of a privately-held comparhe Company accounted for
this debt security using fair value accounting #relfair value was determined to be $0.5 milliooBBecember 31, 2014 .

In September 2014, the Company made a $0.4 mitheestment in equity securities of a privately-hetsnpany. The Company is
accounting for this investment using the cost methifoaccounting. This investment is subject to @gakc impairment review and is conside
to be impaired when a decline in fair value is jedgo be other-than-temporary. As of December 8142 the Company determined there wa:
no impairment of this investment.

6. GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Finite-lived Intangibles
The Company has finitéved intangible assets which are amortized oveirtbstimated useful lives on a straight line habiee following

table presents the gross carrying amount and adatsduamortization of finite-lived intangible assas of December 31, 2014 and 2013 (in
thousands):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Net Gross Net

Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying

Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
Developed technology $ 29,98 % (4,059 $ 2593( $ 3,80C $ (1,649 $ 2,151
Customer relationships 2,40( (1,642 75¢€ 2,40( (1,042 1,35¢
Domains/trademarks/tradenames 32C (320 — 32C (27¢) 42
Software license rights 1,65¢ (1,060 594 1,65¢ (759 89t
Non-compete agreements 61C (610 — 61C (429) 18¢€
Total $ 34,96¢ $ (7,686 $ 27,28: $ 8,78¢ $ (4,152) $ 4,63

In November 2014, the Company recorded additianékflived intangible assets totaling $26.2 mitliprelated to developed technology
from the acquisition of Evolv (see Note 3).

Total amortization expense from finite-lived inténlg assets were $3.5 million , $2.3 million and7%hillion for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectivehyorfization expense of $2.7 million , $1.3 milliand $1.0 million for the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectivelgtad to developed technology and software liceigéss was recorded in cost of revenue
and the remainder in “Amortization of certain acqdiintangible assets” in the accompanying Conatdidl Statements of Operations.

The following table presents the Company’s estinotemaining amortization expense for each offibee succeeding fiscal years for
finite-lived intangible assets that existed at Deber 31, 2014 (in thousands):

2015 $ 10,56¢
2016 9,282
2017 7,41¢
2018 10
2019 3

Total $ 27,28:

Estimated remaining amortization expense of $10lom, $9.1 million , $7.4 million , $10,000 , dr$3,000 will be recorded in cost of
revenue for 2015, 2016 , 2017 , 2018 , and 20&9pectively. The remaining estimated amortizatigpense will be recorded in amortization
of acquired intangible assets within operating esgs.
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Goodwill

The following table presents the changes in theyoay amount of goodwill for the years ended Decentil, 2014 and 2013 (in
thousands):

Goodwill as of December 31, 2012 $ 8,19:

Adjustments —

Goodwill as of December 31, 2013 $ 8,19¢

Goodwill from Evolv acquisition 17,70:

Goodwill as of December 31, 2014 $ 25,89
7. OTHER BALANCE SHEET AMOUNTS

The balance of property and equipment, net is likafe (in thousands):

December 31,

Useful Life 2014 2013

Computer equipment and software 2 -5years $ 22,35 $ 15,76¢
Furniture and fixtures 7 year: 2,91( 2,26t
Leasehold improvements 2 —6 years 8,45: 4,19(
Renovation in progress n/a 703 954
34,41¢ 23,171

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (12,999 (8,747
Total property and equipment, net $ 21,42 $ 14,43¢

Depreciation expense for the years ended Decenih@034 , 2013 and 2012 was $5.2 million , $3.2iomil, $2.5 million , respectively.
At December 31, 2014 and 2013 , property and eqeiipimcludes computer equipment and software ucalgital leases with a cost basis of
$1.8 million and $2.8 million , respectively, antctamulated depreciation of $1.6 million and $2.0iori , respectively. Depreciation of
computer equipment and software under capital teases $0.7 million , $0.9 million , and $1.1 milidor the years ended December 31, 201/
2013 and 2012, respectively.

The balance of accrued expenses is as followsdnsands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Accrued bonuses $ 7,811 $ 6,86(
Accrued commissions 10,08¢ 7,24¢
Other accrued expenses 11,577 8,18:
Total accrued expenses $ 2947¢  $ 22,28t
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8. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value oacarrring basis include the following as of Deceni 2014 and 2013 (in thousands):

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash equivalents $ 9056¢ $ 90,56¢ $ — % — $ 6570 $ 6570 $ — % —
Corporate bonds 42,98¢ — 42,98¢ — 78,60 — 78,60¢ —
Agency bonds 64,19¢ — 64,19¢ — 121,31¢ — 121,31¢ —
U.S. treasury securities 11,99¢ — 11,99¢ — — — — —
Strategic investments 50C — — 50C — — — —

$ 210,25! $ 9056¢ $ 119,18 $ 50C $ 265,62! $ 6570( $ 199,92! $ —

The Company’s cash equivalents at December 31, @0d4£2013 consisted of money market funds withimaignaturity dates of three
months or less backed by U.S. Treasury Bills. Gaglivalents are classified as Level 1.

As of December 31, 2014 , corporate bonds, ageongdand U.S. treasury securities were classifituimlLevel 2 of the fair value
hierarchy. The bonds were valued using informatibtained from pricing services, which obtained gdanarket prices from a variety of
industry data providers, security master files fiange financial institutions, and other third-gasburces. The Company performed
supplemental analysis to validate information aitedifrom its pricing services. As of December 3112, no adjustments were made to such
pricing information.

Strategic Investment

The Company'’s investments in privately-held comparire shown in the accompanying Consolidated Bal8heets in Long-term
investments and accompanying Consolidated Statsnoé@ash Flows in Purchases of investments. Tvestment in debt securities is
considered Level 3 in the fair value hierarchytdsas been valued using significant unobservalgataor data from various valuation
approaches and is measured each reporting perfad aalue.

The following table presents a reconciliation af thvestment in debt securities measured at féirevasing significant unobservable
inputs (Level 3) as of December 31, 2014 (in thads

Balance as of December 31, 2013 $ —
Additions 50C
Balance as of December 31, 2014 $ 50C

Senior Convertible Note

The Company’s senior convertible notes are showthéraccompanying Consolidated Balance Sheetgiatdtiginal issuance value, net
of unamortized discount, and are not re-measuréait@alue each period. The approximate fair vali€ompany’s convertible notes as of
December 31, 2014 was $247.2 million . The faiueadf the convertible notes was estimated on teesled quoted market prices, which, due
to limited trading activity, are considered LevahzZhe fair value hierarchy.

9. DEBT AND OTHER FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS
Senior Convertible Note
In 2013, the Company issued senior convertibleste “Notes”) raising gross proceeds of $253.iani.

The Notes are governed by an Indenture, dated Jin2013 (the “Indenture”), between the Company ldrél Bank National
Association, as trustee. The Notes mature on JU18, unless earlier repurchased or convertatlbaar interest at a rate of 1.50% per yea
payable semi-annually in arrears on January 1 alydlJof each year, commencing January 1, 2014.
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The Notes are convertible at an initial conversie of 18.5046 shares of common stock per $1p@id@ipal amount of Notes, which
represents an initial conversion price of approxetya $54.04 per share, subject to adjustmenafbrdilutive issuances, voluntary increase
the conversion rate and make-whole adjustments agandamental change. A fundamental change insladghange in control, delisting of
the Company's common stock and a liquidation ofGbmpany. Upon conversion, the Company will delieash for the principal amount, and
the Company has the right to settle any amoungséess of the principal in cash or shares.

Prior to April 1, 2018, the Notes are only conva@diupon satisfaction of certain conditions asofeb:

. during any calendar quarter after SeptembeRB03, if the last reported sale price of commoulsfor at least 20 trading
days (whether or not consecutive) during a periogloconsecutive trading days ending on the laslitg day of the

immediately preceding calendar quarter is gre&t@n br equal to 130% of the conversion priceashepplicable trading
day;

. during the five business day period after amg ionsecutive trading day period in which theitrggrice
per $1,000 principal amount of the Notes for eaatlihg day of that five consecutive trading dayigebivas less than 98%
of the product of the last reported sale priceahmon stock and the conversion rate on each sadimg) day; or

. upon the occurrence of specified corporate eventiefined in the Indentu

Holders of the Notes may convert their Notes attamg on or after April 1, 2018, until the closelmfsiness on the second scheduled
trading day immediately preceding the maturity date

The holders of the Notes may require the Compamggarchase all or a portion of their Notes atsha&purchase price equal to 1009
the principal amount of the Notes being repurchagles accrued and unpaid interest, upon a fundahelnange and events of default,
including non-payment of interest or principal aitter obligations under the Indenture.

In accounting for the Notes at issuance, the Compaparated the Notes into debt and equity compgsmemsuant to the accounting
standards for convertible debt instruments that beafully or partially settled in cash upon convens The fair value of the debt component
was estimated using an interest rate for noncoithedebt, with terms similar to the Notes, exchglthe conversion feature. The carrying
amount of the liability component was calculatedhiigasuring the fair value of a similar liabilityathdoes not have an associated convertible
feature. The excess of the principal amount oiNbtes over the fair value of the debt componentwasrded as a debt discount and a
corresponding increase in additional paidzapital. The debt discount is accreted to irteexpense over the term of the Notes using tleeds
method. The amount recorded to additional paidajpital is not to be remeasured as long as it coesiio meet the conditions for equity

classification. Upon issuance of the $253.0 milladriNotes, the Company recorded $214.3 millionabtcand $38.7 million to additional paid-
in capital for the debt discount.

The Company incurred transaction costs of approtaln&7.3 million related to the issuance of thedgo In accounting for these costs,
the Company allocated the costs to the debt andyezpmponents in proportion to the allocation oégeeds from the issuance of the Notes to
such components. Transaction costs allocated tdeghecomponent of $6.2 million are deferred aasset and amortized to interest expense
over the term of the Notes. The transaction cdkisaed to the equity component of $1.1 millionreveecorded to additional paid-in capital.
The transaction costs allocated to the debt compiomere recorded as deferred offering costs inratbaecurrent assets.

The net carrying amount of the liability componehthe Notes as of December 31, 2014 consistseofdtowing (in thousands):

Principal amount $ 253,00
Unamortized debt discount (27,90¢)
Net carrying value $ 225,09
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The following table presents the interest expeasegnized related to the Notes for year ended Bbee31, 2014 and 2013 (in
thousands):

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2014 2013
Contractual interest expense at 1.5% per annum $ 3,79t $ 2,04t
Amortization of debt issuance costs 1,14t 591
Accretion of debt discount 7,12¢ 3,681
Total $ 12,06¢ $ 6,317

The net proceeds from the Notes were approxima$26.0 million after payment of the initial pueders' offering expenses. The
Company used approximately $49.5 million of thepreceeds of the Notes offering to pay the coshefNote Hedges described below, whict
was partially offset by $23.2 million of the prodsgrom the Company's sale of the Warrants alsoribesi below.

Note Hedge:

Concurrent with the issuance of the Notes, the Goypgntered into note hedges (the “Note HedgesH eértain bank counterparties,
with respect to its common stock. The Company ggd®.5 million for the Note Hedges. The Note Hexlgever approximately 4.7 million
shares of the Company's common stock at a strike pf $54.04er share, and are exercisable by the Company egrorersion of the Note
The Note Hedges will expire upon the maturity &f thotes. The Note Hedges are intended to reduqeotieatial economic dilution upon
conversion of the Notes in the event that theviaiue per share of the Company's common stocledirtte of exercise is greater than the
conversion price of the Notes.

Warrants

Separately and concurrently with the entry by teenBany into the Note Hedges, the Company entetednarrant transactions, where
it sold warrants to the same bank counterparti¢beablote Hedges to acquire up to 4.7 millionrsebaf the Company's common stock at a
strike price of $80.06 per share (“Warrants"hjsat to anti-dilution adjustments. The Companyeieed proceeds of $23.2 million from the
sale of the Warrants. The Warrants expire at varaates during 2018 and 2019. If the fair valuesbare of the Company's common stock
exceeds the strike price of the Warrants, the Witsraill reduce diluted earnings per share to ttterg that the calculation does not have an
anti-dilutive effect.

The amounts paid and received for the Note Hedgedhe Warrants have been recorded in additioridtipacapital. The fair value of
the Note Hedges and the Warrants are not remeatumdyh earnings each reporting period.

Silicon Valley Bank

In June 2013, concurrent with the issuance of tbee$) the Company repaid its total outstandingdwairrgs under the SVB Credit
Facility in the amount of $3.0 million . The SVBe&giit Facility was extinguished upon the June 2@J&ayment.

Other Debt Arrangements

The Company has entered into other debt arrangsmsttit finance companies to finance the purchageagerty, equipment and
software. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , ttadunts outstanding under these arrangements Weterfillion and $0.9 million ,
respectively. Principal and interest is generallg dhonthly, through 2015.

Maturities of outstanding borrowings under the ofthebt arrangements as of December 31, 2014 wdotl@ass for each year ending
December (in thousands):

2015 $ 351
Total current debt $ 351

The weighted-average interest rate on borrowingth® years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 @&%sdhd 7.0% , respectively.
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The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt 84 million and $0.9 million at December 31, 2@ 2013 , respectively. The fair
value was estimated based on discounted cash flalyses using appropriate current discount raa#g into consideration the particular
terms of the borrowing agreements, at the endefabpective periods. The carrying value of the @amy’s line of credit was considered to
approximate fair market value, as the interessraféhese instruments were based predominantiadable reference rates. These estimates
involve considerable judgment and changes in thesamptions could significantly affect the estimate

Although the Company has determined the estimatedélue amounts using commonly accepted valuatiethodologies, judgment is
required in interpreting market data to developektimates of fair value. Accordingly, the estinsedee not necessarily indicative of the
amounts the Company, or holders of the instrumentdd realize in a current market exchange. Tleeofislifferent assumptions and/or
estimation methodologies could have a materiakefia the estimated fair values. The fair valuéesies are based on information availabl
of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . These amountsriwv®een revalued since those dates, and curremiadss of fair value could differ
significantly from the amounts presented.

10. CAPITALIZATION

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company’s authortedk consists of 1,000,000,000 shares of commamk spar value of $0.0001 per
share, and 50,000,000 shares of preferred stockahze of $0.0001 per share. No shares of prefesteck were issued or outstanding at
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

11. STOCK-BASED AWARDS
1999 and 2009 Plans

In November 1999, the Company adopted the 199%FRtam (“1999 Plan”) as amended. In January 208 Ctompany adopted the
2009 Plan (“2009 Plan”) as amended. Stock optisastgd under the 1999 and 2009 Plans may be ineestibck options or non-statutory
stock options. Incentive stock options may onlyghented to employees. Stock purchase rights mayb&granted under the 1999 and 2009
Plans. The Board of Directors determines the peasigat which stock options become exercisable. Haneaxcept in specific cases of stock
options granted to officers, directors and consiitastock options become exercisable at a ratetdess than 20% per year over five years
from the date the stock options are granted. Optgpanted under the 1999 and 2009 Plans expirgeians after the grant date and generally
vest one-fourth on the first anniversary of thengiend ratably thereafter for the following thigix months . The exercise price of incentive
stock options and non-statutory stock options cabhadess than 100% and 85% , respectively, ofaimenarket value per share of the
Company’s common stock on the grant date as datedriy the Company’s Board of Directors. If an undlial owns stock representing more
than 10% of the outstanding shares, the price di @&entive stock option or non-statutory stockapshare must be at least 110% of fair
market value, as determined by the Board of Dirscithe term of the stock options is ten yesesept for incentive stock options granted tc
individual who owns stock representing more tha¥ 1 the outstanding shares, in which case the térie stock options is 5 years . The
Company may also grant options that are immediabedycisable upon the Board of Directors’ approval.

At December 31, 2014 , no shares are issuable thedr999 and 2009 Plans.

2010 Plan

In March 2011, upon the completion of the Compahy®, the Company adopted the 2010 Plan and detechthat it will no longer
grant any additional awards under the 1999 Plantlze@009 Plan. However, the 1999 Plan and the P09 continue to govern the terms anc
conditions of the outstanding awards previoushntgd under each respective plan. Upon the adopfitiee 2010 Plan, the maximum
aggregate number of shares issuable thereundes, 688,480 shares, plus (i) any shares subjecbtk stptions or similar awards granted
under the 1999 Plan or 2009 Plan prior to March208,1 that expire or otherwise terminate withowtihg been exercised in full and (ii) sha
issued pursuant to awards granted under the 1280aPld 2009 Plan that are forfeited to or repumthidédy the Company after March 16, 2011,
with the maximum number of shares to be addeda@€@10 Plan from the 1999 Plan and 2009 Plan equgb14,36%hares of common stot
In addition, the number of shares available fonaggee under the 2010 Plan will be annually incréasethe first day of each fiscal year
beginning with 2012, by an amount equal to thedee$5,500,000 shares, 4.5% of the outstandingeshaf the Company’s common stock as
of the last day of the immediately preceding fiser, or such other amount as the Company’s Bofairectors determines.
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Shares issued pursuant to awards under the 20hQHalbare repurchased by the Company or thatexpiare forfeited, as well as she
used to pay the exercise price of an award orttsfgahe minimum tax withholding obligations retatto an award, will become available for
future grant or sale under the 2010 Plan. In amlujtio the extent that an award is paid out in catther than shares, such cash payment wil
reduce the number of shares available for issuander the 2010 Plan.

The 2010 Plan permits the grant of incentive stouions to employees and the grant of non-statigtigk options, restricted stock,
restricted stock units, stock appreciation rightsformance units and performance shares to thep@oys employees, directors and
consultants.

Stock Options

The exercise price of stock options granted unte2010 Plan must equal at least the fair markeewvaf the Company’s common stock
on the date of grant. The term of an incentivelstq@tion may not exceed ten yeaprovided, however, that an incentive stock optieid by ¢
participant who owns more than 10% of the total biored voting power of all classes of the Comparstbck, may not have a term in exces
five years and must have an exercise price ofast [£10% of the fair market value of the Compargsimon stock on the grant date.

Restricted Stock Awards

The Company may grant restricted stock under ti® Zdan. Restricted stock awards are grants oeshafrthe Company’s common
stock that are subject to various restrictionduidiog restrictions on transferability and forfeuprovisions. Recipients of restricted stock
awards generally will have voting and dividend tgtvith respect to such shares upon grant withegend to vesting, unless the Board of
Directors provides otherwise. Shares of restristedk that do not vest for any reason will be fibeie by the recipient and will revert to the
Company. The fair value of each share of restristedk granted is equal to the grant date fair etarklue of the Company’s common stock.

Restricted Stock Units

The Company may also grant restricted stock umitieuthe 2010 Plan. The fair value of each restlistock unit granted is equal to the
grant date fair market value of the Company’s commstock. The payment of restricted stock units imayn the form of cash, shares, orin a
combination thereof, as determined by the Boamiodctors. During 2014 , the Company granted 54G e based restricted stock units
under the 2010 Plan.

Stock Appreciation Rights

The Company may also grant stock appreciationgightler the 2010 Plan. Stock appreciation righsvahe recipient to receive the
appreciation in the price of the Company’s comntoglsbetween the date of grant and the exercise @ate payment of stock appreciation
rights may be in the form of cash, shares, ordnrabination thereof, as determined by the Boamdigdctors. As of December 31, 2014 , no
stock appreciation rights had been granted unee2@10 Plan.

Performance Units/Performance Shares

The Company may also grant performance units arfdrpgance shares under the 2010 Plan. Performanitsand performance shares
are awards that will result in a payment to a pgudint only if performance goals for a predetermiperiod, established by the Board of
Directors, are achieved or the awards otherwise ¥ée fair value of each performance unit andgentince share awarded is equal to the
grant date fair market value of the Company’s comstock when the performance goals are definedysiojereference to the Compasydwn
operations. The fair value of each performance amit performance award that contain performancks gieal to performance of the
Company’s common stock is estimated using a MomtdeGimulation. The payment of performance unitd performance shares may be in
the form of cash, shares, or a combination thessfletermined by the Board of Directors.

Under the 2010 Plan, 2,184,168 shares remainethhieafor issuance, at December 31, 2014 .
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Stock Options

The Company has granted stock options which vest npeeting service conditions. The following tatlenmarizes the stock option
activity which contain only service conditions, @ndhe Company’s 1999, 2009 and 2010 Plans (insdrmis, except per share and term

information):

Outstanding, December 31, 2013

Granted
Exercised
Forfeited

Outstanding, December 31, 2014
Exercisable at December 31, 2014

Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2014

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Price Term Value
7,121 23.07 81 % 215,54
2,20¢ 44.1¢
(1,147 10.6¢
(44¢) 38.2:
7,74¢ 30.0¢ 7.8 77,49¢
3,85¢ 19.3¢ 6.8 67,74¢
7,602 29.8¢ 78 $ 77,20¢

The following table summarizes information abowick&toptions, which contain only service conditiomsger the Company’s equity
incentive plans at December 31, 2014 (in thousamdspt term information):

Range of Exercise Prices
$0.34 to $1.65
$5.93 to $8.88

$12.54 to $15.41
$16.24 to $18.82
$20.85 to $23.94
$27.55 to $31.44
$32.92 to $36.15
$38.03 to $45.76
$46.20 to $56.05

Options Outstanding
at December 31, 2014

Options Exercisable
at December 31, 2014

Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Remaining Remaining
Contractual Contractual
Term (in Term (in
Number of Options years) Number of Options years)
424 4.6 424 4.6
95¢ 5.9 951 5.9
497 6.7 374 6.7
59¢ 7.0 49¢ 7.0
85t 7.4 59t 7.4
411 8.3 231 7.8
65¢ 8.5 21€ 8.2
1,52¢ 9.0 31t 8.5
1,82¢ 9.1 25C 8.7
7,74¢ 78 3,85¢ 6.8

The total intrinsic value of options exercised dgrthe years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 ar®th284 $42.9 million , $57.7
million , and $23.9 million , respectively. Thedbgrant date fair value of stock options vestedmduthe years ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012 was $27.6 million , $15.3 milliomd&7.5 million , respectively. The Company recagdi compensation expense related to
stock options of $28.8 million , $17.2 million ,ca$10.3 million for the years ended December 3142013 , and 2012 , respectively.

Unrecognized compensation expense relating to siptikns was $69.1 million at December 31, 2@Mich is expected to be recogniz

over a weighted-average period of 2.8 years.

The aggregate grant date fair value of stock optgnanted for the years ended December 31, 20043, @nd 2012 was $48.0 million ,

$51.5 million , and $28.4 million , respectively.
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Restricted Stock Award

In connection with the acquisition of Sonar, then@any issued 31,164 restricted shares of its constank, valued at approximately
$0.7 million , to certain Sonar shareholders wisw ddlecame employees of the company post-acquisklumvesting of the restricted shares is
subject to continued employment, and the fair valune restricted shares is recognized as a magtisition compensation expense over the 2
year vesting period (seNote 3 ). As of December 31, 2014 , all 31,164 ahavere vested.

Restricted Stock Unit

Restricted stock unit activity for the year endestBmber 31, 2014 under the Company’s equity ineeians is summarized as follows
(shares in thousands):

Weighted
Average Grant Date

Number of Shares Fair Value
Nonvested shares subject to restricted stock ooittanding at December 31, 2013 38z $ 27.81
Granted 54¢ 37.0¢
Forfeited a7 36.41
Vested (202 20.0¢
Nonvested shares subject to restricted stock unitautstanding at December 31, 2014 711 g 36.91

The Company recognized compensation expense retatedtricted stock units of $5.7 million , $3.4llon and $1.7 million for the
years endeDecember 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , respectivelyetdgnized compensation expense related to nad/esstricted stock units
was $22.0 million at December 31, 2014 , whichxigeeted to be recognized as expense over the weeligiverage period of 3.3 years.

Performance Based Restricted Stock Ur

In March 2014, the Company granted performanceebeesgricted stock units. The number of shareb@Qompany’s common stock
issuable upon the vesting of these awards is basea (a) the Company meeting certain revenue wmigeDecember 31, 2014, and (b) the
recipient continuing to provide service throughleateasurement date, as defined in the agreemelitatyp to the award. The awards
generally vest over a three year period and haeenaof 10 years. The Company estimated the gratet fair value for each target level at the
grant date and is recognizing stock-based compensater the vesting period using a graded vestingel based upon the revenue target tha
is probable of being achieved. The maximum numbshares of the Company’s common stock issuable wpsting of these restricted stock
units should the maximum target level become priebist69,000 . In September 2014, based on cuarhforecasted sales and service
delivery levels, the Company determined that tlvemee target would not be met. As such, the Compeeyrded a reversal of $0.7 million of
previously recorded compensation expense duringeheended December 31, 2014 .

In July 2014, the Company granted additional pentoice-based restricted stock units. The numbdrares of the Company’s common
stock issuable upon the vesting of this performeracged restricted stock award is based upon (g)atfermance of the Comparsystock price
relative to a certain independent market index, (@hdhe recipient continuing to provide serviceotigh the end of the three year term of the
award. Achievement of the maximum performance lexalld result in the issuance of 60,900 shares.ddmpany has used a Monte Carlo
simulation to estimate the fair value of this awatdch factors in the probability of the award \wegt The grant date fair value of the award
was $1.8 million , which will be recognized ratablyer the three year term of the award.

The Company recognized compensation expense reétamatformance based awards of $0.7 million , $ilBon and $0.4 million for
the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 20d&cognized compensation expense related to stety@erformance based options anc
restricted stock units was $1.5 million at Decener2014 , based on the probable performancettatgleat date, which is expected to be
recognized as expense over the weighted-averagalpEr2.5 years.
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Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation expense related to sptidns, restricted stock units, restricted stockmals and performandeased restricte
stock units is included in the following line itenimsthe accompanying Consolidated Statement of @juers for the years ended December 31
2014 , 2013, and 2012 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Cost of revenue $ 2,66¢ $ 2,200 $ 1,66(
Sales and marketing 18,36¢ 9,86¢ 3,98
Research and development 3,551 2,052 94¢
General and administrative 9,09¢ 6,71¢ 5,61¢
Total $ 33,680 $ 20,84( $ 12,20"

In certain instances the Company is responsibledgroll taxes related to stock options exercisethe underlying shares sold by its
employees. The Company accrues its obligationseetitne of the exercise of the stock options orstile of the underlying shares.

12. INCOME TAXES
The components of the Company’s loss before prowi@benefit) for income taxes are as follows (ioubands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
United States $ (59,249 $ (36,82) $ (20,179
Foreign (4,79 (3,739 (12,00¢)
Loss before provision for income taxes $ (64,049 $ (40,559 $ (32,179

The components of the provision (benefit) for ineotaxes attributable to continuing operations areobows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Current income tax provision:
Federal $ — % — 3 —
State 4C 117 —
Foreign 822 62C 17¢
Total current income tax provision 862 737 17¢
Deferred income tax benefit:
Federal — — —
State — — —
Foreign @) (865) (965)
Total deferred income tax benefit @) (865) (965)
Total income tax provision (benefit) $ 85t $ (128) $ (789

On a consolidated basis, the Company has incupethting losses and has recorded a full valuatiowance against its United States,
United Kingdom, New Zealand, Hong Kong and Braeilaired tax assets for all periods to date andyrdowly, has not recorded a provision
(benefit) for income taxes for any of the periodgsgented other than a provision (benefit) for éerfi@areign income taxes. Certain foreign
subsidiaries and branches of the Company provigedompany services and are compensated on alossbasis, and therefore, have incurrec
liabilities for foreign income taxes in their resfige jurisdictions. The foreign deferred tax benfefr the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012 is primarily the result of the amortizationnaft deferred tax liabilities and changes in otteferred taxes recorded in connection with the
2012 acquisition of Sonar (See Note 3).
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The differences in the total provision for incorages that would result from applying the 34% fetstatutory rate to loss before
provision for income taxes and the reported prowisor income taxes are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
U.S. Federal tax benefit at statutory rates $ (21,799 $ (13,789 $ (20,94
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit (2,019 (41%) (6C)
Foreign rate differential 734 1,35¢ 1,00¢
Stock based compensation 4,121 2,03¢ 1,36(
Other permanent differences 941 41C 654
Other (82 76 (199
Valuation allowance 18,94¢ 10,19: 7,38¢
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ 85t % (12¢) $ (789

Major components of the Company’s deferred taxtag$iabilities) at December 31, 2014 and 2013awéollows (in thousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses $ 1,798 % 2,02¢
Long-lived intangible assets and fixed assets —ishiifference 58t 5,71(
Net operating loss carryforwards 63,43¢ 33,82
Stock-based compensation 8,63( 4,81¢
Deferred revenue 1,532 1,90¢
Convertible note hedge 13,91 16,70¢
Other 71t 452
Total deferred tax assets 90,60¢ 65,44
Valuation allowance (73,90¢) (48,55¢)
Deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 16,70z 16,88
Deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and deferred commissions (5,940 (3,619
Convertible note discount (10,519 (13,029
Other (121) (220
Total deferred tax liabilities (16,577 (16,767)
Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ 13C $ 12:

At December 31, 2014 , the Company had federak atad foreign net operating losses of approximaah4.4 million , $221.6 million
and $24.1 million , respectively. The federal ne¢mting loss carryforward will begin expiring i619, the state net operating loss
carryforward began expiring in 2014, and the fanaigt operating loss has an unlimited carryforw@edod. The Internal Revenue Code of
1986, as amended, imposes substantial restriabiortise utilization of net operating losses in therg of an “ownership change” of a
corporation. Accordingly, a comparsyability to use net operating losses may be linéte prescribed under Internal Revenue Code Se®8i
(“IRC Section 382"). Events which may cause limdas in the amount of the net operating lossesttteaCompany may use in any one year
include, but are not limited to, a cumulative ovgigp change of more than 50% over a three-yeaogefue to the effects of historical equity
issuances, the Company has determined that theefutilization of a portion of its net operatingées is limited annually pursuant to IRC
Section 382. The Company has determined that nbite reet operating losses will expire becausenefannual limitation. The Company
acquired federal and state R&D credits as a redulte Evolv acquisition in the amounts of $0.4limil and $0.5 million , respectively. The
federal R&D credit will begin the expire in 2030gtstate credit has indefinite carryforward.
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The Company has recorded a full valuation allowaaganst its otherwise recognizable United Stafested Kingdom, New Zealand,
Hong Kong and Brazil deferred income tax assetsf &ecember 31, 2014 . Management has determiified eavaluating all positive and
negative historical and prospective evidence, itiatmore likely than not that these assets woll Ine realized. The net increase to the valuatio
allowance of $25.3 million , $14.5 million and $#llion for the years ended December 31, 20141328nd 2012 respectively, was primari
due to additional net operating losses generatatidoCompany, net operating losses from the adouisif Evolv and basis differences in
long-lived assets.

The Company has excluded excess windfall tax besnefsulting from stock option exercises as comptmef the Company’s gross
deferred tax assets and corresponding valuatiowafice disclosures, as tax attributes relateddb windfall tax benefits should not be
recognized until they result in a reduction of &payable. The tax effected amount of gross umelet operating loss carryforwards, and
their corresponding valuation allowances resulfiogn stock option exercises was $33.9 million at&aber 31, 2014 ; the corresponding
gross amount is $91.9 million . When realized, sgogindfall tax benefits are credited to additiopaid-in capital. The Company follows the
with-and-without allocation approach to determirteew such net operating loss carryforwards have tesdized.

Deferred income taxes have not been provided onnhestributed earnings of the Company’s foreighssdiaries because the Company
practice and intent is to permanently reinvestdhezrnings. The cumulative amount of such undigith earnings was $2.1 million and $0.9
million at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 20&8pectively. Any future distribution of thesenAld.S. earnings may subject the
Company to both U.S. federal and state income taseadjusted for tax credits, and foreign withirddaxes that the Company estimates
would be $177,000 and $125,000 at December 31, @0d4£013 , respectively.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amaoaininrecognized tax benefits for the years endecember 31, 2014 , 2013, and
2012 is as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Balance at January 1 $ 27¢ % 27¢ $ 27€
Additions for tax positions related to the currgear — — —
Balance at December 31 $ 27¢ 9 27¢  $ 27¢€

The provision for uncertain tax positions relatdtsiness in territories outside of the United &tat

The Company'’s policy is to classify interest andadges on uncertain tax positions as a componktaxcexpense. An insignificant
amount of interest and penalties on unrecognizetiéaefits were accrued during the 2014 tax yelag. dmount of accrued interest and
penalties on unrecognized tax benefits was insamif, as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 . The Coynglaes not expect the change in
uncertain tax positions to have a material impacit®financial position, results of operationdiquidity. The recognition of previously
unrecognized tax benefits on uncertain positionsld/eesult in a $0.4 million tax benefit. The Compaloes not expect any significant
increases or decreases to its unrecognized tafitsewéhin the next twelve months.

The Company is subject to United States federainmetax as well as to income tax in multiple statd foreign jurisdictions, including
the United Kingdom. Federal income tax returnshef€ompany are subject to IRS examination for @ElZhrough 2014 tax years. State
income tax returns are subject to examinationfer2010 through 2014 tax years. Foreign incomeegaxns are subject to examination for the
2007 through 2014 tax years.
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13. GEOGRAPHIC INFORMATION
Revenue by geographic region, as determined bas#tedocation of the Company’s clients is setHfdrélow (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Revenue
United States $ 180,83« $ 128,98. $ 81,83’
United Kingdom 28,93¢ 19,44¢ 12,93(
All other countries 53,79¢ 36,69¢ 23,147
Total revenue $ 263,56¢ $ 185,12¢ $ 117,91«

Property and equipment by region is set forth beliovthousands):

December 31,

2014 2013
Property and equipment, net
United States $ 16,99 $ 10,45¢
United Kingdom 2,80z 3,18t
All other countries 1,63 79¢€
Total property and equipment, net $ 21,42 $ 14,43¢

14. 401(K) SAVINGS PLAN

The Company has a defined contribution savings {ifen“Plan”) under Section 401(k) of the InterR&lvenue Code. The Plan covers
substantially all employees who meet minimum agesmvice requirements and allows participantseferda portion of their annual
compensation on a ptex basis. Company contributions to the plan magnbde at the discretion of the Board of DirectBesginning in 2012
the Plan provided for a Company match of employeestributions in an amount equal to 50% of an eygé’s contributions up to $2,4per
year which vests oviour years.

The Company incurred approximately $1.3 milliord,8million and $0.3 million of matching contribati expenses related to the Plan
during the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2012@h2| respectively.

15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases

The Company has various non-cancelable operatasgpsefor its offices and its managed hosting fasliand services. These leases
expire at various times through 2019. Certain leggeements contain renewal options, rent abatemedtescalation clauses. The Company
recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basistbe lease term, commencing when the Companyg fadssession of the property. Certain o
the Company’s office leases entitle the Companmgéeive a tenant allowance from the landlord. Thenany records tenant allowances as a
deferred rent credit, which the Company amortizes straight-line basis, as a reduction of reneesp, over the term of the underlying lease.
Total rent expense under operating leases was@apmately $5.7 million , $4.1 million , $3.2 milliofor the years ended December 31, 2014 ,
2013 and 2012 , respectively. The Company finatteepurchase of equipment under capital lease ggraants and other debt arrangements
(See Note 9).

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgd@eating and capital leases at December 31, 2@ldsafollows (in thousands):
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Operating Leases Capital Leases

2015 $ 585. $ 23¢
2016 7,238 —
2017 7,04¢ —
2018 7,21F —
2019 581 —
Total minimum lease payments $ 27,92, 23¢
Less: Amounts representing interest (3)
Present value of capital lease obligations 23€
Less: Current portion (23€)
Long-term portion of capital lease obligations $ —

Letters of Credil

During 2013, the Company amended a standby lettenedit in association with its building lease aigned a standby letter of credit for
a contractual arrangement in Israel. In additibe,Company maintains standby letters of credissoaiation with other contractual
arrangements. Total letters of credit outstandirigecember 31, 2014 was $1.5 million .

Other Commitments

In July 2012, the Company entered into a cloud siifition agreement with a provider of enterpriseud computing and social enterpi
solutions. The Company is obligated to pay remgiri@es under this agreement of $1.0 million ia%0

In November 2014, the Company assumed a hostingceaagreement as part of the Evolv acquisitiore Tompany is obligated to pay
remaining fees under this agreement of $0.8 miliiA015 and $0.7 million in 2016.

As of December 31, 2014 , the Company had agreeamsétit various third party service providers wheréie Company has committed
to assign certain dollar amounts or hours of psifesl service projects related to implementatiod @ther services for clients of the
Company'’s Enterprise and Mid-Market solution. Igaegate, these estimated commitments total appeirign$18.4 million in 2015, $7.2
million in 2016, $5.9 million in 2017 and $5.6 nolh in each of 2018 and 2019.

Guarantees and Indemnifications

The Company has made guarantees and indemnities which it may be required to make payments taaranteed or indemnified
party, in relation to certain transactions, inchglrevenue transactions in the ordinary courseausiness. In connection with certain facility
leases, the Company has agreed to indemnify gsiedor certain claims arising from the facilitytbe lease. The Company is obligated to
indemnify its directors and officers to the maximawrtient permitted under the laws of the State da®are. However, the Company has a
directors and officers insurance policy that maju its exposure in certain circumstances andemnaple it to recover a portion of future
amounts that may be payable, if any. The duratfidheguarantees and indemnities varies and, irymases, is indefinite but subject to
statutes of limitations. To date, the Company hademo payments related to these guarantees aswiiiies. The Company estimates the
value of its indemnification obligations as insifigant based on this history and the Company’srensce coverage and therefore has not
recorded any liability for these guarantees anérnmuities in the accompanying consolidated balaheets.

Litigation

During 2012, the Company received an unfavorabllagun arbitration related to an employment matiaised on this ruling, the
Company estimated the probable loss for this matteluding both the award and estimated plaimifbrneys’ fees, to be approximately $2.6
million and accrued this amount within other cutréabilities. In August 2014, the matter was ssttland no further obligation has resulted
from the final settlement of $2.6 million .

The Company is subject to various legal proceedamgsclaims that arise in the ordinary course sffmss. If the Company determines
that it is probable that a loss has been incurnetthhe amount is reasonably estimable, the Compélhgecord a liability. Except for the matt
described above, the Company has determined ttaé# not have a potential liability related to &gal proceedings or claims that would
individually or in the aggregate materially advéysafect its financial conditions or operating ués.
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Taxes

From time to time, various federal, state and oftvésdictional tax authorities undertake reviewtltd Company and its filings. In
evaluating the exposure associated with varioudiliag positions, the Company accrues chargepémsible exposures. The Company beli
any adjustments that may ultimately be required eesult of any of these reviews will not be maitleid its consolidated financial statements.

16. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In 2010, the Cornerstone OnDemand Foundation,eoFthundation, was formed to empower communitiekénUnited States and
internationally by increasing the impact of the fpofit sector through the utilization of talent nagement technology including the
Company’s Enterprise and Mid-Market solution. Thenpany’s Chief Executive Officer is on the Boarddifectors of the Foundation. The
Company does not direct the Foundation’s activitesl accordingly, the Company does not consolitfegd-oundatiors statement of activitis
with its financial results. During the current yetlre Company has provided at no charge certaguress to the Foundation, with approximate
value of $2.2 million .

During June 2010, an executive officer of an actiogrsoftware company joined the Company’s Boar®ioéctors. During May 2012,
an executive officer of a travel and expense mamagé software company joined the Company's Boamligfctors. For the years ended
December 31, 2014 , 2013 and 2012 , the Compaiyded $0.8 million , $0.5 million and $0.3 milligmespectively, in expenses related to
the use of the accounting and travel and experfsgage from companies whose executive officers agmn the Compang’Board of Directol
during those years.

17. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

During January and February 2015, the Compens&mnmittee of the Company’s Board of Directors gedndtock options to purchase
14,110 shares of common stock at a weighted-averegreise price of $34.28 per share. The stoclonptvest over four year®uring Januat
and February 2015, the Board of Directors grangstricted stock units for 147,180 shares of comstock which vest annually over four
years.

During January and February 2015, the Company eshiato operating leases with commitments of apiprately $0.5 million in 2015,
$0.3 million in 2016 and $0.1 million in 2017.

The Compensation Committee of the Company’s Boaiirectors also granted additional performanceebagstricted stock units
during December 2014, in which the terms were iinea in February 2015. Achievement of the probadget level would result in the
issuance of 535,000 shares of the Company’s canstozk upon the vesting of the restricted stodkstand achievement of the maximum
target would result in the issuance of 1,070,8d@res of the Company’s common stock upon thengesfithe restricted stock units. The
performance-based restricted stock units will Bly feested after three years.
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18. SELECTED QUARTERLY DATA (UNAUDITED)

The following unaudited quarterly consolidated estag¢nts of operations for each of the quartersaryéars ended December 31, 2014
and 2013 have been prepared on a basis considtarthes Company’s audited annual financial stateiiand include, in the opinion of
management, all normal recurring adjustments nacgssr the fair statement of the financial inforima contained in these statements.

Quarter Ended
(in thousands, except per share data)

Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2013 2013 2013 2013 2014 2014 2014 2014

Revenue $ 37657 $ 4434¢ $ 4827( $ 5485 $ 5740¢ $ 61,46¢ $ 68318 $ 76,37
Cost of revenue 11,25: 13,16¢ 13,64 15,48¢ 17,40: 17,40¢ 19,37 23,49'

Gross profit 26,40" 31,18: 34,62¢ 39,36¢ 40,00¢ 44,05¢ 48,94« 52,87¢
Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing 23,01( 26,27 28,60: 31,85: 35,13¢ 39,60¢ 41,51 46,29:

Research and

development 4,41¢ 5,23 5,71¢ 5,89t 6,88: 6,90( 7,552 9,28:

General and

administrative 8,56¢ 7,53( 8,261 9,21t 10,45- 10,45: 9,57¢ 11,31°

Amortization of certain

acquired intangible

assets 251 251 251 251 251 212 211 152

Total operating
expenses 36,24¢ 39,281 42,82¢ 47,21 52,72; 57,17¢ 58,85: 67,04¢

Loss from operations (9,84)) (8,10%) (8,209 (7,849 (12,727 (13,119 (9,907 (14,170
Other income (expense):

Interest income

(expense) and other

income (expense), net (92 (714) (2,749 (3,009 (2,919 (3,319 (4,226 (3,672)
Loss before income tax
(provision) benefit (9,939 (8,819 (20,950 (10,857 (15,63) (16,437 (14,13 (17,847
Income tax (provision)
benefit 1) 13€ (104) 97 (15%) (200) (a7¢) (329
Net loss $ (993) $ (8,68) $ (11,059 $ (10,75H) $ (15,790 $ (16,637 $ (14,31) $ (18,16¢)
Net loss per share, basic and
diluted $ (0.20 $ (0.17) $ (0.2)) $ (0.21) % (0.30) $ (0.3) $ (0.27) $ (0.39
Weighted average commor
shares outstanding, basic a
diluted 50,79¢ 51,15 51,54« 52,18t 52,72¢ 53,197 53,42: 53,66(
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedure
(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedurg

The term “disclosure controls and procedures,”&fdd in Rules 13a-15(e) and 1568¢e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 193.
amended (the “Exchange Act”), refers to controld procedures that are designed to ensure thaniafowsn required to be disclosed by a
company in the reports that it files or submitsemitie Exchange Act is recorded, processed, sumetband reported, within the time periods
specified in the SEC's rules and forms. Disclosoetrols and procedures include, without limitatioantrols and procedures designed to
ensure that such information is accumulated anchwanicated to a company’s management, includingritecipal executive and principal
financial officers, as appropriate to allow timelgcisions regarding required disclosure.

Our management, with the participation of our Cligécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, tasluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2® 4 , the end of the period covered by thisushfReport on Form 10-K. Based upon
such evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer ande€Rinancial Officer have concluded that our distire controls and procedures were
effective as of such date.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Fhancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finahaaorting as defined in Rules 13a-
15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. Ouerin&l control over financial reporting is a procdssigned to provide reasonable assuranct
regarding the reliability of financial reportingathe preparation of our consolidated financialesteents for external purposes in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles. {bternal control over financial reporting includia®se policies and procedures that:

» pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflecttthasactions and dispositions of our
assets;

* provide reasonable assurance that transactienmgeorded as necessary to permit preparationrofansolidated financial statements
in accordance with generally accepted accountiimgimes, and that receipts and expenditures aregbmade only in accordance w
authorizations of our management and board of @irsrand

» provide reasonable assurance regarding preveatiimely detection of any unauthorized acquisitiuse or disposition of our assets
that could have a material effect on our consadiddinancial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢fnancial statement misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of internal toheffectiveness to future periods are subjec¢h#orisk that controls may become inadequat
because of changes in conditions, or that the degfreompliance with the policies or procedures metgriorate.

Our management, with the participation of our Clagécutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ressessed the effectiveness of our
internal control over financial reporting as of Batber 31, 2014 . In making this assessment, marexgamed the criteria set forth by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tred@ommission ("COSO") imternal Control-Integrated FrameworkBased on this
assessment, our management has concluded thaitewnal control over financial reporting was effeetas of December 31, 2014 .

The effectiveness of our internal control over fio@l reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealby
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent regisfaiblic accounting firm, as stated in its repattich appears in Item 8 of this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repaing

There was no change in our internal control oveairitial reporting that occurred during the quasteted December 31, 2014 that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, our internal control over financigporting.

As noted in Note 3 to our Consolidated Financiat&nents, we acquired Evolv Inc. on November 3420Lring the year
ended December 31, 2014, we are in the processoifiorating our internal control over financigbogting into Evolv Inc.

Iltem 9B. Other Information

Not applicable.

PART Il
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govente

The information required by this item will be indled in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual mgedf Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year eh@®ecember 31, 2014 , and is incorporated heseneference.

Item 11. Executive Compensatio

The information required by this item will be indied in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meedf Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal yeareth@®ecember 31, 2014 , and is incorporated hesemeference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners atanagement and Related Stockholder Matti

The information required by this item will be indled in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual gedf Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year @h@®ecember 31, 2014 , and is incorporated heseneference.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, adaector Independenc:

The information required by this item will be indled in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual gedf Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal year eh@®ecember 31, 2014 , and is incorporated heseneference.

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Servict

The information required by this item will be indied in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meedf Stockholders to be filed
with the SEC within 120 days of the fiscal yeareth@®ecember 31, 2014 , and is incorporated hegemefierence.

With the exception of the information incorporatedtems 10, 11, 12, 13, and 14 of this Annual Repa Form 10-K, our Proxy

Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockhade be filed with the SEC within 120 days of flseal year ended December 31, 2014 is

not deemed “filed” as part of this Annual Reportkorm 10-K.
PART IV

Iltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduli

Documents filed as part of this report are as fedlo

1. Consolidated Financial Stateme

Our Consolidated Financial Statements are listedeariIndex to Consolidated Financial Statementsiear Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

2. Financial Statement Schedu
Financial Statement Schedules have been omittedasmation required is inapplicable or the infotina is presented in the

consolidated financial statements and the relabéeisn
3. Exhibits

The documents listed in the Exhibit Index immediafellowing the signature page of this Annual Repmn Form 10-K are
incorporated by reference or are filed with thiswdial Report on Form 10-K, in each case as indittetein (numbered in
accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K).
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this Annual
Report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalfi®/undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on Feepr2i7, 2015 .

CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.

By: /s/ Adam L. Miller
Name: Adam L. Miller
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each persbose signature appears below constitutes anuirgppAdam L.
Miller and Perry A. Wallack, jointly and severallyis attorney-in-fact, with the power of substituitj for him in any and all capacities, to sign
any amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10wKta file the same, with exhibits thereto and pti@cuments in connection therewith,
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, heratifying and confirming all that each of saidoaitteys-in-fact, or his substitute or
substitutes, may do or cause to be done by virtuedi.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélptihe following persons on behalf
of the Company and in the capacities and on thesdatlicated:

Signature Title Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and Directoriripipal executive officer) February 27,

/sl Adam L. Miller 2015
Adam L. Miller
Chief Financial Officer (principal financial andaunting officer) February 27,
/sl Perry A. Wallack 2015

Perry A. Wallack

Director February 27,
/sl R.C. Mark Baker 2015
R. C. Mark Baker
Director February 27,
/s Harold W. Burlingame 2015
Harold W. Burlingame
Director February 27,
/sl James McGeever 2015
James McGeever
Director February 27,
/sl Joseph Payne 2015
Joseph Payne
Director February 27,
/sl Kristina Salen 2015

Kristina Salen
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Exhibits and Financial Statements

Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit Description Form
2.1 Amended and Restated Share Purchase Agreemert,atatd April  10-Q
5, 2012, by and among the Registrant, Dolphin Asitjon Limited,
Sonar Limited, the Company Stockholders (as deftheckin), and,
with respect to Article Il only, the Stockholdeepresentative (as
defined therein). The schedules and exhibits rafaré in the
agreement have been omitted pursuant to Item 6(2) (b
Regulation S-K. A copy of any omitted schedule xtrikit will be
furnished supplementally to the SEC upon request.
2.2 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as ofli@ctd, 2014, by and
among the Registrant, Evolv Inc., Data Acquisitiub, Inc. and,
with respect to Article VII, Article VIII, ArticlelX and Article X
thereof only, the Escrow Representative (as defiheckin) and
U.S. National Bank Association as Escrow Agentdgfined
therein). The schedules and exhibits referencéldemgreement
have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) ofuRemn S-K. A
copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit will berfished
supplementally to the SEC upon request.
3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorpamadf the S-1/A
Registrant.
3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant. S1/A
4.1 Indenture between the Registrant and U.S. Beailonal 8-K
Association, dated as of June 17, 2013.
10.1*  Form of Indemnification Agreement betweea Registrant and S-1/A
each of its directors and executive officers.
10.2*  The Registrant’s 1999 Stock Plan, includimg form of stock S-1
option agreement, as amended and currently inteffec
10.3*  The Registrant’s 2009 Equity Incentive Pliaxcjuding forms of S-1
stock option agreements, as currently in effect.
10.3A* Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreamhender 2009 Equity S-1/A
Incentive Plan.
10.4*  The Registrant’s 2010 Equity Incentive Pliacjuding form of S-1/A
stock option agreement.
10.5*  The Registrant’s 2010 Employee Stock Puretian. SEHA
10.6*  Employment Agreement between the RegisgadtAdam Miller,  S-1/A
dated as of November 8, 2010.
10.7*  Employment Agreement between the Regis@adtPerry Wallack, S-1/A
dated as of November 8, 2010.
10.8*  Employment Agreement between the RegistadtMark Goldin, S-1
dated as of May 24, 2010.
10.9*  Amended and Restated Employment Agreememntesn the S-1/A

Registrant and David J. Carter, dated as of Nove@h2010.
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File No.
001-3509¢

333-169621

333-169621
001-3509¢

333-169621

333-169621

333-169621

333-169621

333-169621

333-169621
333169621

333-169621

333-169621

333-169621

Exhibit
2.1

3.2

3.4
4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.3A

10.4

10.5
10.6

10.7

10.11

10.9

Filing Date
May 15, 201:

November 9, 201

November 9, 201
June 17, 201

December 17, 201
September 29, 20:
September 29, 20:
December 17, 201
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THIS AGREEMENT AND PLAN OF MERGER (this Agreement”) is made and entered into as of October 7, 20:
and among Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc., a Delawangomaion (“ Parent "), Evolv Inc., a Delaware corporation (the
Company "), Data Acquisition Sub, Inc., a Delaware corpamatand a whollyowned subsidiary of Parent Sub”), and, witt
respect toArticle VII , Article VIII , Article IX and Article X hereof only, Fortis Advisors LLC, a Delaware lindtéability
company, as escrow representative (tEs¢row Representative’), and U.S. Bank National Association as Escroveit

RECITALS

A. The boards of directors of each of Parent, Subta@dCompany believe it is advisable and in the bdstests ¢
each corporation and their respective stockholttexsParent acquire the Company through the stgtumerger of Sub with ai
into the Company (theMerger ") and, in furtherance thereof, have approved Agezement and the Merger.

B. Pursuant to the Merger, among other things, angesulbo the terms and conditions of this Agreemeitthe
Effective Time (as defined below) (i) all of thesied and outstanding shares of Company Common $&isdakefined below) sh
be cancelled and extinguished without considerafigrall of the issued and outstanding share€ofnpany Preferred Stock v
be converted into the right to receive the consitien set forth herein, (iii) all of the Companytidps (as defined below) shall
cancelled and extinguished, and (iv) all of theuégks and outstanding Company Warrants (as definevber other securitie
convertible into or exchangeable for shares of CamgpCapital Stock shall be terminated.

C. The Company, on the one hand, and Parent and Sutheoother hand, desire to make certain repretemds
warranties, covenants and other agreements in cbonavith the Merger.

D. Concurrently with the execution and delivery okthigreement, and as a condition and inducemendtenPto ente
into this Agreement, (i) each of the Key Stockhodd€as defined below) has entered into and deliveie Parent
non-competition and non-solicitation agreement, infibven attached hereto as Exhibit,Ao be effective as of the Closing C
(as defined below) (theNon-Competition Agreements”); (ii) each of the Key Employees (as defined belovs) dratered into ¢
“at will” employment arrangement with Parent or a subsidieseof, to be effective as of the Closing Datespant to such Ke
Employee’s execution of an offer letter and a pedpry information and inventions assignment agesgmeach on Parest’
standard form (collectively, theKey Employee Agreements); (iii) each of Michael Karbushev, Max Simkoff, Asifaghar an
Dennis Yen has entered into a change of contra@raece agreement with Parent, in the form attableeeto as Exhibit B to be
effective as of the Closing Date (th@arent Severance Agreementy; and (iv) 80% of the Priority Service Providers dasinec
below) have entered into an employment or indepandentractor arrangement with Parent or a subsidih Parent, to k
effective as of the Closing Date, pursuant to Rgbrity Service Provides execution of either (i) a Parent Offer Letterdafinec
below) and proprietary information and inventiossignment agreement or (ii) Parent Contractor Age¥ (as defined belov
as applicable.

E. Immediately following the execution and delivery thfis Agreement by the parties hereto and as ariak
inducement to Parent and Sub to enter into thigémient, the Company shall obtain and shall detivéarent a true, correct ¢
complete copy of an executed Action by Written Gmmqthe “Initial Stockholder Consent ), evidencing the approval of tl
Agreement, the Merger, the Certificate Amendmestd@fined below), and the other transactions copiteied hereby, in the for
attached hereto as Exhibit@@e “ Stockholder Written Consent”), signed by certain stockholders constituting the URetg
Stockholder Vote (as defined below), and each stmtkholder shall have also

1




executed and delivered to Parent a joinder agreemesubstantially the form attached hereto_as Bkl (each, a “Joinder
Agreement” and collectively, the ‘Joinder Agreements”).

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual agnents, covenants and other promises set fortinhéne mutue
benefits to be gained by the performance thereul, far other good and valuable consideration, #weipt and sufficiency
which are hereby acknowledged and accepted, thiepaereby agree as follows:

ARTICLE |
THE MERGER

1.1 _The Merger At the Effective Time and subject to and upoe thrms and conditions of this Agreement anc
applicable provisions of the Delaware General Cation Law (“ Delaware Law "), Sub shall be merged with and into
Company, the separate corporate existence of Slbcglase, and the Company shall continue as thvévslg corporation and as
wholly-owned subsidiary of Parent. The surviving corporatafter the Merger is sometimes referred to haftn as the
Surviving Corporation .”

1.2 Effective Time; ClosingUnless this Agreement is earlier terminated pamstoSection 8.1hereof, the closing
the Merger (the ‘Closing ") will take place on a Business Day (as defined belasvpromptly as practicable after the execi
and delivery hereof by the parties hereto, butlaiet than one (1) Business Day following satiséacbr waiver of the conditio
set forth inArticle VI hereof, at the offices of Cornerstone OnDemand,, h801 Cloverfield Blvd., Suite 620 South, Si
Monica, CA 90404, unless another time or place igually agreed upon in writing by Parent and then@any; provided,
however, that the Closing shall not occur on a date thaluiring the last ten (10) Business Days prioh&last Business Day o
fiscal quarter of Parent. The date upon which thusi@g actually occurs shall be referred to heeairthe “Closing Date.” On the
Closing Date, the parties hereto shall cause thegdido be consummated by filing a Certificate ofriykr, in substantially tl
form attached hereto as Exhibit(fhe “ Certificate of Merger ”), with the Secretary of State of the State of Delavan
accordance with the applicable provisions of Delanaaw (the time of the filing of such Certificaté Merger, or the time
effectiveness thereof that is specified thereidijfferent, shall be referred to herein as tlgffective Time ).

1.3 _Effect of the Merger At the Effective Time, the effect of the Mergehall be as provided in the applice
provisions of Delaware Law. Without limiting therg@ality of the foregoing, and subject theretahat Effective Time, all of tf
property, rights, privileges, powers and franchisethe Company and Sub shall vest in the Survi@agporation, and all deb
Liabilities (as defined below) and duties of then@pany and Sub shall become the debts, Liabilitres duties of the Survivir
Corporation.

1.4 Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws

@ Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior toBffective Time, the certificate of incorporation
the Surviving Corporation shall be amended andatedtas of the Effective Time to be identical te tertificate of incorporatic
of Sub as in effect as of immediately prior to Eféective Time, until thereafter amended in accaomawith Delaware Law and
provided in such certificate of incorporatioprovided, however, that at the Effective Time, Article | of the dédate of
incorporation of




the Surviving Corporation shall be amended andatedtin its entirety to read as followd:He name of the corporation is Ev
Inc.”

(b) Unless otherwise determined by Parent prior to Hffective Time, the bylaws of the Survivi
Corporation shall be amended and restated as oEftteetive Time to be identical to the bylaws ofbSwas in effect as
immediately prior to the Effective Time, until teafter amended in accordance with Delaware Law angrovided in tt
certificate of incorporation of the Surviving Corption and such bylaws, except that all referertoeSub in the bylaws of tl
Surviving Corporation shall be changed to refereno€'Evolv Inc.”

1.5 Directors and Officers

(@) _Directors of Surviving CorporatiotJnless otherwise determined by Parent prior ¢oBffective Time, th
directors of Sub as of immediately prior to theeffve Time shall be the directors of the Survividgrporation immediately aft
the Effective Time, each to hold the office of eedtor of the Surviving Corporation in accordanathwhe provisions of Delawa
Law and the certificate of incorporation and bylaefsthe Surviving Corporation until their successare duly elected a
qualified.

(b) Officers of Surviving CorporationUnless otherwise determined by Parent prior ¢oBffective Time, th
officers of Sub as of immediately prior to the Etfee Time shall be the officers of the Survivingr@oration immediately aft
the Effective Time, each to hold office in accordamnvith the provisions of the bylaws of the SumiyiCorporation until the
successors are duly appointed and qualified.

1.6 _Definitions For all purposes of this Agreement, the follogvierms shall have the following respective measting

“ Adjusted Net Equity Adjustment Amount ” shall mean (a) if the Adjusted Net Equity Amountess than tt
Adjusted Net Equity Target, the amount by which &djusted Net Equity Amount is less than the AdpasiNet Equity Targ
(expressed as a negative number) or (b) if the gidfliNet Equity Amount is greater than the Adjusted Equity Target, tt
amount by which the Adjusted Net Equity Amountiieajer than the Adjusted Net Equity Target (exmess a positive numbe

“ Adjusted Net Equity Amount ” shall mean an amount equal to, as of the Closajaqll Current Assets of t
Company_lesgb) all Current Liabilities of the Company.

“ Adjusted Net Equity Target ” shall be an amount equal to $(3,000,000).

“ Advisor Deal Bonuses' shall mean the cash bonuses payable to the indigdnd in the amounts set fortr
Schedule 1.6(c)(2)

“ Affiliate " shall mean, with respect to the Company, a Peisandirectly, or indirectly through one or m
intermediaries, controls or is controlled by, orusder common control with, the Company, includimgthout limitation, al
directors and officers of the Company.

“ Aggregate Junior Preferred Consideration” shall mean the result of (a) the Total Consideratess(b) the
Series D Preference.




“ Aggregate Junior Preferred Preference’ shall mean the sum of (a) the Series A Prefergfiehe Series
Preference, and (c) the Series C Preference.

“ Assumed Debt” shall mean up to $2,000,000, measured as of theingldate, of Indebtedness owed by
Company to Silicon Valley Bank pursuant to thattaier Second Amended and Restated Loan and Se@gigement by ar
between the Company and Silicon Valley Bank, datedf May 24, 2012, as amended by that certain Air&ndment to Seco
Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreematgddis of on December 24, 2012, and that cergorsl Amendment
Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security dgrge dated as of February 19, 2014.

“ Business Day(s) shall mean each day that is not a Saturday, Suodather day on which Parent is closec
business or banking institutions located in Samé&iszo, California are authorized or obligated dy br executive order to close.

“ Certificate Amendment” shall mean the amendment to the Company Certifichtacorporation in the for
attached hereto as Exhibit F

“ Certificates ” shall mean the Closing Certificates and the O@ertificates.

“ Closing Cash Amount” shall mean the amount of cash on hand owned byCtmpany as of the close
business on the day before the Closing Date.

“ Closing Certificates” shall mean the certificates delivered pursuarseation 6.2(u)(Certificate of Compan'
andSection 6.2(v)Certificate of Secretary of the Company).

“ Closing Indebtedness” shall mean Indebtedness of the Company (other thanAssumed Debt) as
immediately prior to the Closing (without givingfett to the payment or other discharge of any dndkbtedness in connect
with the transactions contemplated hereby), urdash Indebtedness is repaid at Closing withouh&robligation through the L
of funds that are both (a) not included as Curfasets in the calculation of the Adjusted Net Bgéitnount and (b) not provids
by Parent on behalf of the Company or any CompaogkBolder.

“ Closing Third-Party Payoff Amount ” shall mean the amount of (i) the Assumed Debt,tt{&) Closin
Indebtedness, (iii) the Company Thirdwty Expenses, and (iv) the Executive Transa®&mmuses (in the case of (ii), (iii) and (i
as set forth in the Closing Statement Certificatievdred to Parent at the Closing).

“ Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 198&nasnded.

“ Company Bridge Amount” shall mean all amounts (including principal andraed and unpaid interest) t
have been or may be loaned by certain of the ComBeackholders to the Company prior to the Clogingsuant to the purche
of convertible promissory notes under that certdote Purchase Agreement by and among the Compahysaeh Compar
Stockholders, dated September 26, 2014, as it mayrtended from time to time.

“ Company Bridge Interim Amount ” shall mean the portion of the Company Bridge Amo(intluding
principal and accrued and unpaid interest) thatdsrred after the date hereof.

“ Company Capital Stock” shall mean the Company Common Stock, the Compaafefed Stock and any otl
shares of capital stock, if any, of the Compankematogether.




“ Company Common Stock’ shall mean shares of common stock, par value(i0p@r share, of the Company.

“ Company Junior Preferred Stock ” shall mean shares of Company Series A PreferredkStoompan
Series B Preferred Stock, and Company Series @1fPeef Stock.

“ Company Optionholder” shall mean any Person holding Company Options.

“ Company Options” shall mean all issued and outstanding optionsyding commitments to grant options,
excluding Company Warrants, if any) to purchasetberwise acquire Company Capital Stock (whetherobivested) held by a
Person.

“ Company Preferred Stock” shall mean shares of Company Series A PreferredkStompany Series
Preferred Stock, Company Series C Preferred StoekCompany Series D Preferred Stock.

“ Company Privacy Policy” means each external or internal, past or prepemficy policy or privacy-or
securityrelated representation, obligation, or promisehef Company, including any policy, representatidsligation, or promis
relating to: (i) the privacy of users of any websiproduct, or service operated by or on behalthef Company or (i) tf
collection, storage, hosting, disclosure, transimigstransfer, disposal, or other processing ousgcof any Customer Data
Personal Data.

“ Company Series A Preferred Stock shall mean shares of Series A Preferred Stockyalae $0.001 per sha
of the Company.

“ Company Series B Preferred StocK shall mean shares of Series B Preferred Stockigdae $0.001 per sha
of the Company.

“ Company Series C Preferred Stock shall mean shares of Series C Preferred Stockjgbae $0.001 per sha
of the Company.

“ Company Series D Preferred Stock shall mean shares of Series D Preferred Stockiglae $0.001 per sha
of the Company.

“ Company Stockholder” shall mean any holder of Company Capital Stock.

“ Company Third-Party Expenses” shall mean the cash amount of Thirdrty Expenses that are expected f
payable by the Company and estimated by the Comipaggod faith and based on reasonable assumgmn$ the Closing Da
as set forth in the Closing Statement Certificatbd delivered to Parent pursuanSection 1.8(a)(i)of this Agreement.

Company Transaction Expenses’ shall mean severance (including any related statuliabilities, bu
excluding any amounts of severance paid to Non4@wuing Service Providers in excess of the N@wnitinuing Service Provid
Severance Amounts that are hereafter committeditmg to be paid by Parent, which excess amoumid e borne by Parer
change-ofeontrol, golden parachute, management retenti@inoitar payments of the Company resulting from ¢basummatio
of the Merger, including the No@Gentinuing Service Provider PTO Amount, Executivetdftion Bonuses, the Execu
Transaction Bonuses, and the Employee Deal Bonbaesxcluding the Continuing Employee PTO Amourd ¢he Advisor Dei
Bonuses.




“ Company Warrants ” shall mean all issued and outstanding warrangitchase Company Capital Stock.

“ Continuing Contractor ” shall mean each Target Service Provider who isredfean independent contrac
arrangement with Parent or a subsidiary thereaets such offer prior to the Closing, and remaimsndependent contractor
Parent or a subsidiary thereof as of the Closing.

“ Continuing Employee” shall mean each Target Service Provider whofisrefl atwill employment with Pare
or a subsidiary thereof, accepts such offer oivilitemployment prior the Closing, and remains anptoyee of Parent or
subsidiary thereof as of the Closing.

“ Continuing Employee PTO Amount” shall mean the amount of all vacation and/or paig off that has bet
accrued but unused by any of the Continuing Emg@syas of the Closing.

“ Contract ” shall mean any mortgage, indenture, lease, contcastenant, plan, insurance policy or o
agreement, instrument, arrangement, obligationerstdnding or commitment, permit, concession, fig®c or license, whett
oral or written.

“ Current Assets” shall mean all current assets of the Companyseaisforth onSchedule 1.6(a), but shal
exclude cash, cash equivalents and restrictedaraghfor the avoidance of doubt, shall not incladg Tax assets (other than
Xerox Receivable, if applicable).

“ Current Cash Amount ” shall mean the amount of cash on hand owned bytmpany as of the close
business on the day before the date hereof.

“ Current Liabilities ” shall mean all current Liabilities of the Compamg set forth oschedule 1.6(b)but shal
exclude Indebtedness, Company THrakty Expenses and Company Transaction Expensedaarttle avoidance of doubt, st
not include any Tax Liabilities.

“ Customer Data” shall mean all text, data (including Personal Datantent or other material uploadec
otherwise transmitted by the Company’s customersrtetored by the Company’s customers on, any @omproduct.

“Dollars ” or “ $” shall mean United States Dollars.

“ Employee Deal Bonuse$ shall mean the cash bonuses payable to the ohas set forth oischedule 1.6(c)

1).

“ Escrow Agent” shall mean U.S. Bank National Association, or aeothstitution acceptable to Parent anc
Escrow Representative.

“ Escrow Amount ” shall mean the sum of (i) the Stockholder EscrowoAnt and (ii) the Transaction Bor
Escrow Amount.

“ Excess Company Bridge Amount’ shall mean an amount of cash equal to (A) ClosiaghCAmount, plt
(B) the lesser of (i) $600,000 or (ii) one-halfZ)Lbf the Interim Cash Burn Amount.

“ Executive Escrow Amount” shall mean an amount of cash equal to the regu#it,800,000 minuthe Escroy

Amount.




“ Executive Retention Bonuse shall mean the portion of the Gross Considerationu8 Pool allocated to e
of Max Simkoff, Asif Qamar, Mike Housman, Dennisr¥and Mike Karbushev oBchedule 1.6(dand payable as a cash bont
each such individual pursuant to his respective Keyployee Agreement.

“ Executive Transaction Bonuses shall mean the portion of the Gross Considerationu8 Pool allocated
each of Carl Tsukahara, Steven Love, Patrick WiiaJim Meyerle and Rich Wyckoff dschedule 1.6(dand payable as a c:
bonus to each such individual, provided that saclividual enters into a Transaction Bonus Lettere&gnent with the Compa
on or prior to the Closing Date.

“ Executive Transaction Bonus Letter’ shall mean a transaction bonus letter in substhntfe form attache
hereto as Exhibit G

“ Executive Transaction Bonus Recipients shall mean Carl Tsukahara, Steve Love, Patricki&¥is, Jin
Meyerle and Rich Wyckoff.

“ GAAP ” shall mean United States generally accepted axtowuprinciples consistently applied.

“ Gross Consideration” shall mean an amount equal to the Total Constiteraplusthe Executive Retentit
Bonuses, pluthe Executive Transaction Bonuses.

“ Gross Consideration Bonus Podl shall mean a Dollar amount equal to 10% of thegsrConsideration.

“ Indebtedness” of any Person shall mean, as of any specified da¢eamount equal to the sum (without
double-counting or duplication with Thifdarty Expenses) of the following obligations (wlegtbr not then due and payable’
the extent they are of such Person or its subgidiaguaranteed by such Person or its subsidiaciiding through the grant o
security interest upon any assets of such Pergpall utstanding indebtedness for borrowed mooeyed to third partie
(i) accrued interest payable with respect to inddbess referred to in clause (i), (iii) all obligas for the deferred purchase p
of property or services (including any potentialufe earn-out, purchase price adjustment, releatéboldbacks” or similal
payments, but excluding (A) any such obligationghe extent there is cash being held in escrowusketly for purposes
satisfying such obligations and (B) trade payallesccruals incurred in the ordinary course of hess (“Deferred Purchast
Price ”)), (iv) all obligations evidenced by notes, bonds, aélr@s or other similar instruments (whether or cantvertible) o
arising under indentures, (v) all obligations awisbut of any financial hedging, swap or similarmagements, (vi) all obligatio
as lessee that would be required to be capitalizextcordance with GAAP, (vii) all obligations immnection with any drav
letter of credit, bankes’ acceptance, guarantee, surety, performance @abppnd, or similar credit transaction and (vifig
aggregate amount of all prepayment premiums, pesalbreakage costs, “make whole amount®sts, expenses and of
payment obligations of such Person that would afvgleether or not then due and payable) if all siieims under claus
(1) through (viii) were prepaid, extinguished, unvmal and settled in full as of such specified dat.purposes of determining
Deferred Purchase Price obligations as of a specifiate, such obligations shall be deemed to bemdsémum amount «
Deferred Purchase Price owing as of such spedifi¢el (whether or not then due and payable) or fatgnowing at a future dat

“ Interim Cash Burn Amount ” shall mean an amount of cash equal to (A) Curr@ash Amount,plus
(B) Company Bridge Interim Amount, min¢&8) Closing Cash Amount.
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“ Key Employees” shall mean Jen Cullen, Michael Housman, Michaelbishev, Chandar Lakshminaray
Max Simkoff, Asif Qamar and Dennis Yen.

“ Key Stockholders” shall mean Max Simkoff and Jim Meyerle.

“ Knowledge” or “ Known " shall mean with respect to the Company, the adtaivledge of the individug
listed onSchedule 1.6(eqfter due and diligent inquiry of all relevant ewy®es that directly report to such individuals whsunat
individuals should reasonably believe would haveuac knowledge of the matters representgdovided that Chande
Lakshminarayan will be deemed to be an employededihectly reports to Asif Qamar for purposes a$ttiefinition.

“ Law ” shall mean any applicable U.S. or nors. federal, state, local or other constitutiosy,l statute
ordinance, rule, regulation, published adminisgeposition, policy or principle of common law, amy order, in any case issL
enacted, adopted, promulgated, implemented or wiberput into legal effect by or under the authyoof any Government
Entity.

“ Liability " or “ Liabilities ” shall mean, with respect to any Person and witHaptication, all liabilities of ar
kind (whether known or unknown, contingent, acctuéde or to become due, secured or unsecured, edatur otherwise
including but not limited to Taxes, accounts pagalbyalties payable, and other reserves, accroeddes, accrued vacati
employee expense obligations, deferred revenueraese (including any related statutory liabilifjeshange-ofontrol, golde
parachute, management retention or similar paymantsall other liabilities of such Person or ahyt®subsidiaries, regardless
whether such liabilities are required to be reidadn a balance sheet in accordance with GAAP.

“ Lien " shall mean any lien, pledge, charge, claim, nauytg security interest or other encumbrance ofany

“ Material Adverse Effect ” with respect to the Company, shall mean any sthtlaas, condition, chanc
development, event or effect that, either alonénotombination with any other state of facts, cdiodi change, developme
event or effect, is, or would be reasonably likielybe, materially adverse to the business, asadtstiier tangible or intangibl
condition (financial or otherwise), operations,capitalization of the Companprovided, howeverthat in determining whethe
Material Adverse Effect has occurred, or is reabbnkkely to occur, there shall be excluded amtatof facts, condition, chan
development, event or effect on the Company reguftiom or arising out of: (a) the outbreak or émstoan of war, hostilities «
terrorist activities, either in the United Statesabroad; (b) general economic or political comdi or events, circumstanc
changes or effects affecting the securities magketerally; (c) conditions affecting the industryvihich the Company opera
generally, (d) the Company’s failure to take anyiamcthat is specifically prohibited bgection 4.1and with respect to whis
Parent has refused to provide its written consargyant tdSection 4.3; (e) any failure by the Company to meet any prtajes
budgets or estimates of revenue or earnings (itgoenderstood that the facts and circumstanceag@ivse to such failure may
taken into account in determining whether there hasn a Material Adverse Effect (except to the mxtguch facts ¢
circumstances are otherwise excluded from beingntakto account by this proviso)) and (f) changesny applicable Law
GAAP or other accounting standargspvided, however, that in each case of clauses (a), (b), (c) ahdyeh state of fac
condition, change, development, event or effechoiohave a disproportionate or unique effect onGbenpany relative to oth
companies in the Company’s industry.

“ Named Executive” shall mean the individual set forth &@chedule 1.6(f)
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“ Non-Continuing Service Provider” shall mean any employee or independent contrattthiecCompany who
not a Continuing Employee or a Continuing Contraawof the Closing.

“ Non-Continuing Service Provider PTO Amount” shall mean the amount of all vacation and/or pian tofi
that has been accrued but unused by any of theQdortinuing Service Providers as of the Closing.

“ Other Certificates ” shall mean the Closing Statement Certificatevéetd pursuant t&ection 1.8(a)(i), the
Spreadsheet and the Spreadsheet Certificate dadiyersuant t&ection 5.20, and the FIRPTA Compliance Certificate delive
pursuant td&Section 5.18

“ Parent Common Stock” shall mean shares of Common Stock, par valuedkl.er share, of Parent.

“ Parent Transaction Expenses’ shall mean the Continuing Employee PTO Amount drel Advisor Des
Bonuses.

“ Permitted Liens ” shall mean (@) statutory liens for Taxes that areyet due and payable or which are b
contested in good faith through appropriate proicggdand for which adequate reserves have beelisbtd on the Financials
accordance with GAAP; (b) statutory liens to sealsBigations to landlords, lessors or renters uneases or rental agreeme
(c) deposits or pledges made in connection withtoosecure payment of, workersbmpensation, unemployment insuranc
similar programs mandated by applicable Law; (djutory liens in favor of carriers, warehousemeagchanics and materialm:
to secure claims for labor, materials or supplies ather like liens as to amounts that are notifawlt; and (e) nonexclusive end
user licenses to Company Intellectual Property tgchim the ordinary course of business.

“ Person” shall mean an individual or entity, including atparship, a limited liability company, a corporatjar
association, a joint stock company, a trust, atjgEmture, an unincorporated organization, or a éamwmental Entity (or ar
department, agency, or political subdivision théreo

“ Personal Data” shall mean: (i) a natural person’s name, straftress, telephone numbermail addres:
photograph, social security number or tax iderdgifan number, drives license number, passport number, credit card e
bank information, or customer or account numbemnatric identifiers, device or machine identifid?,address, or any other pis
of information that alone or in combination withet information directly or indirectly collectedeld, or otherwise processed
or for the Company allows for the identification ocontact with, a natural person or a particular gotimg device; (ii) an
information defined as “personal data”, “personaliientifiable information”, “individually identifiale health information”
“protected health information”, or “personal infaation” under any Law; and (iii) any information that issasiated, directly
indirectly, with any of the foregoing.

“ Plan” shall mean the Company’s 2008 Stock IncentivaPla

“ Pre-Closing Tax Period” shall mean any taxable period (or portion thereofjing on or prior to the Closi
Date.

“ Priority Service Provider ” shall mean each Target Service Provider who isgdastd as a Priority Serv
Provider on (i) Schedule 1.6(ghereto or (ii) Schedule 1.6(hhereto, as applicable.
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“ Pro Rata Consideration Portion” shall mean, with respect to each Indemnifying Ratpercentage equal
the quotient of (x) the aggregate amount of thealTGbnsideration receivable by such IndemnifyingyPpursuant tdSection 1.7
(b) hereof, divided by (y) the aggregate amount of Toéal Consideration receivable by all IndemnifyiRgrties pursuant
Section 1.7(b)hereof.

“ Pro Rata Escrow Portion” shall mean, (i) with respect to each Indemnifyiragt{? holding shares of Compe
Junior Preferred Stock immediately prior to theeEfive Time, a percentage equal to the quotierik)othe aggregate amount
the Aggregate Junior Preferred Consideration reddévby such Indemnifying Party pursuanStection 1.7(b)hereof, divided b
(y) the sum of (A) the aggregate amount of Aggregainior Preferred Consideration receivable bylralemnifying Partie
pursuant tdSection 1.7(b)hereof and (B) the aggregate amount of all Exeeuliransaction Bonuses, and (ii) with respect td
Indemnifying Party receiving an Executive TransattBonus, a percentage equal to the quotient othé&)amount of tt
Executive Transaction Bonus receivable by suchrmdfying Party, divided by (y) the sum of (A) thggregate amount
Aggregate Junior Preferred Consideration receivalall Indemnifying Parties pursuant 8ection 1.7(b)hereof and (B) tt
aggregate amount of all Executive Transaction Besus

“ Pro Rata Executive Escrow Portion” shall mean, with respect to each Indemnifying Phadlgding shares
Company Junior Preferred Stock immediately priothi® Effective Time, a percentage equal to theigabof (x) the aggrege
amount of the Aggregate Junior Preferred Consimeraeceivable by such Indemnifying Party pursuarection 1.7(b)hereof
divided by (y) the aggregate amount of AggregateailPreferred Consideration receivable by all mdéying Parties pursuant
Section 1.7(bhereof.

“ Pro Rata Indemnity Portion " shall mean, with respect to each Indemnifying Ratpercentage equal to
guotient of (x) the aggregate amount of ClosinghGdasnsideration receivable by such IndemnifyingyPpursuant td&ection 1.7
(b) hereof, divided by (y) the aggregate amount of @p&ash Consideration receivable by all IndemnifyParties pursuant
Section 1.7(b)hereof.

“ Related Agreements” shall mean the Key Employee Agreements, the Letér$ransmittal, the Joind
Agreements, the No@ompetition Agreements, the Parent Severance Agretsmand all other agreements and certificatesex
into or delivered by the Company Stockholders inmaction with the Merger and the other transactamemplated herein.

“ Series A Per Share Amount’ shall mean an amount of cash equal to the quotibtatined by dividing tt
Series A Pro Rata Amount by the Total OutstandiegeS A Preferred Shares, rounded to the nearesthondred thousanc
(0.00001) (with amounts of 0.000005 and above redngp).

“ Series A Percentagé shall mean that amount equal to the quotient obthby dividing the Series A Prefere
by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Preference.

“ Series A Preference shall mean that amount equal to the product ofTibtal Outstanding Series A Prefer
Shares multiplied by $1.00.

“ Series A Pro Rata Amount” shall mean that amount equal to the product oldalryemultiplying the Series
Percentage by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Ceragidn.

“ Series B Per Share Amount’ shall mean an amount of cash equal to the quotibtatined by dividing tt
Series B Pro Rata Amount by the Total OutstandiergeS B Preferred Shares,
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rounded to the nearest one hundred thousandthO@1)@with amounts of 0.000005 and above roundéd up

“ Series B Percentagé shall mean that amount equal to the quotient obtaby dividing the Series B Prefere
by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Preference.

“ Series B Preferencé shall mean that amount equal to the product ofTiital Outstanding Series B Prefel
Shares multiplied by $1.229.

“ Series B Pro Rata Amount’ shall mean that amount equal to the product oldaliyemultiplying the Series
Percentage by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Ceraidn.

“ Series C Per Share Amount’ shall mean an amount of cash equal to the quotibtatined by dividing tt
Series C Pro Rata Amount by the Total OutstandiegeS C Preferred Shares, rounded to the neareshndred thousanc
(0.00001) (with amounts of 0.000005 and above redng).

“ Series C Percentagé shall mean that amount equal to the quotient obtaby dividing the Series C Prefere
by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Preference.

“ Series C Preferencé shall mean that amount equal to the product ofTital Outstanding Series C Prefel
Shares multiplied by $2.814.

“ Series C Pro Rata Amount’ shall mean that amount equal to the product oldaliyemultiplying the Series
Percentage by the Aggregate Junior Preferred Ceragidn.

“ Series D Per Share Amount' shall mean an amount of cash equal to the quotietatined by dividing tt
Series D Preference by the Total Outstanding SeriBseferred Shares, rounded to the nearest ordréaithousandth (0.000(
(with amounts of 0.000005 and above rounded up).

“ Series D Preferencé shall mean that amount equal to the product ofTibtal Outstanding Series D Prefer
Shares multiplied by $3.024.

“ Stockholder Escrow Amount” shall mean an amount of cash equal to ten perdd%) of the Tot:
Consideration lesthe Transaction Bonus Escrow Amount.

“ Straddle Period” shall mean any taxable period that begins onedorle and ends after the Closing Date.

“ Subsidiary " shall mean, with respect to any party, any corpamabr other organization or Person, whe
incorporated or unincorporated, of which (x) suelnty or any other subsidiary of such party is aegehpartner (excluding su
partnerships where such party or any subsidiaguoh party does not have a majority of the votimgrest in such partnership’
(y) at least a majority of the securities or otimerests having by their terms ordinary voting powo elect a majority of the boi
of directors or otherperforming similar functions with respect to sudarporation or other organization is directly or inedtly
owned or controlled by such party or by any onenore of its subsidiaries or affiliates.

“ Target Service Provider” shall mean either (i) an employee of the Complstgd onSchedule 1.6(ehereto o
(ii) an independent contractor of the Company disia Schedule 1.6(fhereto.
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“ Total Consideration” shall mean $42,500,000 in cash, l&®s amount of any Company ThiRkrty Expense
lessany Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes, led® amount of any Closing Indebtedness, fihes Adjusted Net Equity Adjustme
Amount (resulting in an increase in Total Consitleraif such amount is a positive number or a deseein Total Consideratior
such amount is a negative number), lhesaggregate amount of the Company Transactioerisgs, pluthe aggregate amount
the Parent Transaction Expenses, i@esamount of any Excess Company Bridge Amaountustime Expense Fund Amount.

“ Total Outstanding Common Shares’ shall mean the aggregate number of shares of Compammon Stoc
issued and outstanding as of immediately prioh&Effective Time.

“ Total Outstanding Series A Preferred Shares’ shall mean the aggregate number of shares of Cor
Series A Preferred Stock issued and outstandimd iasmediately prior to the Effective Time.

“ Total Outstanding Series B Preferred Shares shall mean the aggregate number of shares of Cor
Series B Preferred Stock issued and outstandindiasmediately prior to the Effective Time.

“ Total Outstanding Series C Preferred Shares shall mean the aggregate number of shares of Cor
Series C Preferred Stock issued and outstandin@iasnediately prior to the Effective Time.

“ Total Outstanding Series D Preferred Shares shall mean the aggregate number of shares of Cor
Series D Preferred Stock issued and outstandinfjiasmediately prior to the Effective Time.

“ Transaction Bonus Escrow Amount” shall mean an amount equal to ten percent (10%hefExecutiv
Transaction Bonuses that are actually paid outéd=xecutive Transaction Bonus Recipients at tlosiad).

“ Transaction Payroll Taxes” shall mean the employer portion of any employmerayroll Taxes imposed
(i) any bonuses, option cashouts, severance, ckafrgentrol or other compensatory payments made in exion with thi
transactions contemplated by this Agreement thatnaade at or immediately after Closing and (ii) Ebeecutive Transactic
Bonuses.

“ Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes” shall mean (i) any Taxes of the Company attriblgéato any PreSlosing Ta
Period that are not yet paid, and (ii) any Taxdsbatable to the transactions contemplated by #higeement, includir
Transaction Payroll Taxeprovided, however, that Unpaid Pré&losing Taxes shall not include (x) any Taxes agsolely fron
an election made under Section 338 of the Code rbgd@arent with respect to the Company or (y) aslgss Taxes that t
Company failed to collect from transactions entémta with Xerox Corporation and/or any of its sigdiaries, if the Company h
obtained evidence reasonably satisfactory to Panebthe Company will have no liability for suclless Taxes because such ¢
Taxes have been paid by Xerox Corporation or anjtsosubsidiaries. For purposes of the foregoing; eeal, personal a
intangible property Taxes for any Straddle Perioallde allocated to the portion of the Straddl@deeending on the Closing Di
on a per diem basis, and all other Taxes for argd8ite Period shall be allocated as if such Steaédiriod ended on the Clos
Date, except that exemptions, allowances or deshgtihat are calculated on an annual basis (inaudiepreciation at
amortization deductions), other than with respegbroperty placed in service after the Closinglldb& allocated on a per die
basis.
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“ Xerox Receivable’ has the meaning set forth 8ection 10.6

1.7 Effect of Merger on the Capital Stockod Constituent Corporations

(a) _Effect on Company Common StockAt the Effective Time, by virtue of the Merger dasubject t
Section 1.9regarding Dissenting Shares and without any aatiorthe part of Sub, the Company or the holdershafes c
Company Capital Stock, each share of Company ConBtock issued and outstanding of as immediatelyr fid the Effectiv
Time will be cancelled and extinguished without sideration and will have no further rights.

(b) Effect on Company Preferred Stocldt the Effective Time, by virtue of the Mergerdasubject t
Section 1.9regarding Dissenting Shares and without any aabiorthe part of Sub, the Company or the holdershafes c
Company Capital Stock, each share of Company Peefe$tock issued and outstanding as of immediguedy to the Effectiv
Time, upon the terms and subject to the conditemtsforth in thisSection 1.7and throughout this Agreement, will be cance
and extinguished and, upon surrender of the amatdi representing such shares of Company Pref&tack in the mann
provided inSection 1.7(b)hereof, will be converted automatically into thehti to receive that portion of the Total Consider:
as follows:

(i) Each outstanding share of Company Series A Prefe@teck (other than any Dissent
Shares) will be converted automatically into tlghtito receive the Series A Per Share Amount;

(i) Each outstanding share of Company Series B PrdfeBteck (other than any Dissent
Shares) will be converted automatically into tlghtito receive the Series B Per Share Amount;

(iii) Each outstanding share of Company Series C Prdfé3teck (other than any Dissent
Shares) will be converted automatically into tlghtito receive the Series C Per Share Amount; and

(iv) Each outstanding share of Company Series D Prefesteck (other than any Dissent
Shares) will be converted automatically into thghtito receive the Series D Per Share Amount.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to e@dmpany Stockholder that holds shares of Companiot
Preferred Stock immediately prior to the Effectine, such Company StockholderPro Rata Escrow Portion of the Esc
Amount and such Company StockholdelPro Rata Executive Escrow Portion of the Exeeuigcrow Amount shall be withh
from the amount otherwise payable to such Compaogk8older pursuant to thSection 1.7(b), and the entire Escrow Amot
and Executive Escrow Amount shall be placed in@gqgoursuant to the escrow provisionsS#ction 1.10(b)and Article VII
hereof. The Total Consideration payable pursuatttigSection 1.7(b)ess the Escrow Amount and the Executive Escrow ém
shall be referred to herein as th€lbsing Cash Consideration”

(c) _Treatment of Company Options and Companyr&iviss.

0] Effect on Company OptionsNo outstanding Company Options shall be assurge@aent ¢
remain outstanding after the Effective Time. ThenPany shall cause each such Company Option torivenigted or cancelled
of immediately prior to the Effective Time, eithmursuant to its terms or pursuant to an agreemihttie holder thereof.
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(i) Effect on Company WarrantdNo outstanding Company Warrants, if any, shalhgsumed t
Parent, and the Company shall cause each such Qgriffarrant to be either exercised by the holdesugch Company Warrant
full or, to the extent not exercised in full, temated or cancelled as of immediately prior to thasibg, either pursuant to its ter
or pursuant to an agreement with the holder thereof

(iii) Necessary Actions Prior to the Effective Time, and subject to tkeeiew and approval
Parent, the Company shall take all actions necgssaffect the transactions contemplated by S@stion 1.7(c)under the Pla
all Company Option agreements, all Company Waragméements and any other plan or arrangement dEdnepany (wheth
written or oral, formal or informal), including deéring all required notices and obtaining any iiegpl consents, such that at
Effective Time the Company shall not have any amsing equity or equityelated interests other than shares of Com
Preferred Stock.

(d) Effect on Capital Stock of SubEach share of common stock of Sub issued andaowlisg as ¢
immediately prior to the Effective Time shall bengerted into and exchanged for one validly issdidl; paid and nonassessa
share of common stock of the Surviving Corporatieach stock certificate of Sub evidencing ownersiiany such shares st
continue to evidence ownership of such sharespifadastock of the Surviving Corporation.

1.8 Purchase Price Adjustments

(@) _Calculation of Purchase Price Adjustments

(i) The Company shall deliver to Parent, in arfeseasonably acceptable to Parent, not less tirar
(3) Business Days prior to the Closing Date, alfgtatement prepared in accordance with GAAP (tl&dsing Statement”)
setting forth in reasonable detail and accompamigdeasonably detailed bacip documentation the calculation of (A)
amounts of the Company Thifearty Expenses, Company Transaction Expenses aadtHaansaction Expenses, (B) the am
of the Unpaid Pr&losing Taxes, (C) the amount of the Closing Inddbess, (D) the Adjusted Net Equity Adjustment A
and (E) the amount of any Excess Company Bridge wxmoSuch Closing Statement shall be certifiedras, tcorrect ar
complete as of the Closing Date by the CompanyiefExecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officgéh¢ “ Closing Statemen
Certificate ").

(iFor the avoidance of doubt, the Current Assatsl £urrent Liabilities used to calculate
Adjusted Net Equity Amount shall be calculated e same way, using the same methodologies and racugpractices ar
principles applied on a consistent basis (includwith respect to determining estimates and allowah@s the line iter
comprising such Current Assets and Current Liabdias set forth iBchedule 1.6(apndSchedule 1.6(b) respectively.

(b) _Preparation and Delivery of Pd&3bsing StatementAs promptly as practicable, but in no event ldear
sixty (60) calendar days after the Closing DateeRashall prepare and deliver, or cause to begpegpand delivered, to 1
Escrow Representative a certificate (thedst-Closing Statement), executed by a responsible officer of Parent, sgfionth ir
reasonable detail Parent’s good faith calculatib(®Ap the amounts of the Company ThiR&rty Expenses, Company Transac
Expenses and Parent Transaction Expenses, (Btloeird of the Unpaid Pr€losing Taxes, (C) the amount of the Clo:
Indebtedness, (D) the Adjusted Net Equity Adjusttm&mount and (E) the amount of any Excess Comparigige Amount
accompanied by reasonably detailed bapkdocumentation for such calculation and any @it information reasonak
requested by the Escrow Representativeyided, however, in the event Parent does not deliver the Ribssing Statement to t
Escrow Representative within such 60-day periocctheulation of such amounts as set forth in the

14




Closing Statement shall be final and binding onghgies and not subject to appeal. The Riasing Statement shall be preps
in a manner consistent with the Closing Statenfenitowing the Closing, Parent shall provide the rBacRepresentative and
representatives reasonable access at reasonabkedmd upon reasonable notice to the records, piegpgrersonnel and (subj
to the execution of customary work paper accessrtetf requested) auditors of the Company relatmghe preparation of t
PostClosing Statement and shall cause the personrteeo€ompany to reasonably cooperate with the Esétepresentative
connection with its review of the Post-Closing 8tagént.

(c) Review of PostClosing StatementThe Escrow Representative shall have thirty (&Q)s following it:
receipt of the Post-Closing Statement (thBeéview Period”) to review the Pos€losing Statement together with informa
reasonably requested by the Escrow Representathiel( shall be promptly provided to the Escrow Raentative). On or befc
the expiration of the Review Period, the Escrowr@sentative shall deliver to Parent a written stetet accepting or disputing !
Post-Closing Statement. In the event that the Es&epresentative shall dispute the Pokising Statement, such statement ¢
include a detailed itemization of the Escrow Repngative’s objections and the reasons thereforh(statement, a Dispute
Statement”). Any component of the Posllosing Statement that is not disputed in a Disj8isgement shall be final and bind
on the parties hereto and not subject to appe#ielEscrow Representative does not deliver a BesBtatement to Parent wit|
the Review Period or delivers a statement acceghegPost-Closing Statement, the POkising Statement shall be final :
binding on the parties hereto and not subject peal

(d) Dispute Resolution If the Escrow Representative delivers a Disputetnent during the Revi
Period, Parent and the Escrow Representative [stwatiptly meet and attempt in good faith to resdher differences with respe
to the disputed items set forth in the Disputeestant during the thirty (30) calendar days immedyatollowing Parent receig
of the Dispute Statement, or such longer perio®agnt and the Escrow Representative may mutugtiyea(the “Resolutior
Period "). Any such disputed items that are resolved by Panedithe Escrow Representative during the Resali@riod shall t
final and binding on the parties hereto and nofestitio appeal. If Parent and the Escrow Repregeatdo not resolve all su
disputed items by the end of the Resolution Pertatent and the Escrow Representative shall suflimitems remaining i
dispute with respect to the Dispute Statement tM&HR.LP or any other nationally recognized indepertideccounting firm upc
which Parent and the Escrow Representative shadloreably agree (the Accounting Firm ”) for review and resolution. T
Accounting Firm shall act as an expert and notraitrator. The Accounting Firm shall make all cdltions in accordance w
the practices used in preparation of the Resing Statement, shall determine only those iteemsaining in dispute betwe
Parent and the Escrow Representative, and shallbenpermitted or authorized to determine an amuuithit respect to any su
disputed item that is equal to or between the amotisuch disputed item as proposed by ParentarPistClosing Statement
the amount of such disputed item as proposed byEsoeow Representative in the Dispute Statemerdh & Parent and tl
Escrow Representative shall (i) enter into a cuatynengagement letter with the Accounting Firmha time such dispute
submitted to the Accounting Firm and otherwise @vafe with the Accounting Firm, (ii) have the ogdpaity to submit a writte
statement in support of their respective positionth respect to such disputed items, to providepsujing material to tr
Accounting Firm in defense of their respective poes with respect to such disputed items and torsua written stateme
responding to the other parsyposition with respect to such disputed items @imdsubject to customary confidentiality &
indemnity agreements, provide the Accounting Firithvaccess to their respective books, records,operd and representati
and such other information as the Accounting Firaymequire in order to render its determinatione Ptcounting Firm shall |
instructed to deliver to Parent and the Escrow Bsgtative a written determination (such deternanab include a workshe
setting forth all material calculations used inang at such determination and to be based salelynformation provided to tl
Accounting Firm by Parent and the Escrow Represigajeof the disputed items within thirty (30) catiar days of receipt of t
disputed items,
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which determination shall be final and binding e fparties hereto and not subject to appeal. Tleeo®sRepresentative (
behalf of the Company Stockholders) and Parent paglthe portion of the fees and costs of the Aotimg Firm (“ Accountant
Costs”), if any, determined by multiplying the amount of thecountant Costs by a fraction the numerator oictvhs (witr
respect to each party) (A) the positive differefetween (1) the aggregate Total Consideration et using the amour
submitted by such party to the Accounting Firm ba PosiClosing Statement or Dispute Statement, as appéicaind (2) th
determination of the actual Total Consideration enag the Accounting Firm, and the denominator ofcihs (B) the aggrege
difference between the amounts of Total Considamatis calculated using the amounts on each patgmission of the Post-
Closing Statement or Dispute Statement, as appiicab

(e) PostClosing Payments

0] Upon the final determination of (A) the Company riHParty Expenses, Company Transac
Expenses and Parent Transaction Expenses, (B)rtpaidlPreClosing Taxes, (C) the Closing Indebtedness, (B)AbHjusted Ne
Equity Adjustment Amount and (E) the amount of &xgess Company Bridge Amount pursuant to $estion 1.8

(A) if the Total Consideration calculated using the ants finally determine
pursuant to thiSection 1.8is greater than the Total Consideration calculasdg the amounts set forth in the Closing State
(the difference between such amounts, tR®st-Closing Adjustment Exces$), then the Company Stockholders shall be en
to receive such Post-Closing Adjustment Excess fPament under thiSection 1.8(e)

(B) if the Total Consideration calculated using the ants set forth in the Closi
Statement is less than the Total Considerationutaiked using the amounts finally determined purst@rthis Section 1.8(the
difference between such amounts, thedst-Closing Adjustment Deficit”), then Parent shall be entitled to receive suobktP
Closing Adjustment Deficit from the Company Stockless under thiSection 1.8(e) and

©) if the Total Consideration calculated using the ants set forth in the Closi
Statement is equal to the Total Consideration ¢atied using the amounts finally determined purstais Section 1.8, then ni
payments shall be made pursuant to $astion 1.8(e)

(i) Within five (5) Business Days after the determioasi set forth in clause (i) of th&ection 1.8
(e), either (A) Parent shall, in the event there BoatClosing Adjustment Excess, deposit or shall caadeetdeposited with tl
Paying Agent, by wire transfer of immediately aable funds, an amount in cash equal to the Blsing Adjustment Exce:
which shall be payable to the Company Stockholaeexcordance witlsection 1.7; or (B) Parent and the Escrow Represent
shall, in the event there is a P@bsing Adjustment Deficit, provide a joint writténstruction to the Escrow Agent to deliver
amount in cash equal to the Pa@sosing Adjustment Deficit from the Escrow Fund,igthshall be deemed to be deducted f
the portion of the Escrow Fund attributable to eB&dmpany Stockholder based on such hotdBro Rata Escrow Portion of
Escrow Fund. For avoidance of doubt, any recovdryhe PostClosing Adjustment Deficit shall not be subjectaany o
limitations set forth irSections 7.3(apr (b) .

(iii) Any payment made under th&ection 1.8, to the maximum extent permitted by applic
Law, shall be treated for all Tax purposes as gusadent to the Total Consideration.
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1.9 Dissenting Shares

(@) Notwithstanding any other provisions ofstiiigreement to the contrary, any shares of Comizagyita
Stock held by a holder who has not effectively ditwn or lost such holder’s appraisal, dissenterssimilar rights for suc
shares under the applicable provisions of Delaware or the California Corporations Code@alifornia Law "), as applicabl
(collectively, the “Dissenting Shares), shall not be converted into or represent a righet®ive the applicable consideration
Company Capital Stock set forth$ection 1.7hereof, but the holder thereof shall only be esitlo such rights as are providec
Delaware Law and California Law.

(b) Notwithstanding the provisions $&ction 1.9(a)ereof, if any holder of Dissenting Shares shd#éatively
withdraw or lose (through failure to perfect or etlise) such holder’'s appraisal or dissentegdits under Delaware Law a
California Law, as applicable, then, as of therlafehe Effective Time and the occurrence of sexbnt, such holdes’shares shi
automatically be converted into and represent thyright to receive the consideration for Comp@aypital Stock, as applicak
set forth inSection 1.7hereof, if any, without interest thereon, and scibje the provisions obection 7.4hereof, upon surrenc
of the certificate representing such shares.

(c) The Company shall give Parent (i) promptia® of any written demand for appraisal receivedthoe
Company pursuant to the applicable provisions ofa®are Law or California Law and (ii) the opportiynito direct al
negotiations and proceedings with respect to sedmathds. The Company shall not, except with the pridgten consent of Pare
make any payment with respect to any such demandfes to settle or settle any such demands. Nbsténding the foregoir
to the extent that Parent, the Surviving Corporatiw the Company (x) makes any payment or paymentespect of ar
Dissenting Shares in excess of the consideratiandtherwise would have been payable in respestict shares in accorda
with this Agreement or (y) incurs any Losses (idahg reasonable out-of-pocket attorneys’ and cdastd’ fees, out-opocke
costs and expenses and including any such feds, @ad expenses incurred in connection with ingasitig, defending against
settling any action or proceeding) in respect of Bissenting Shares (excluding payments for sueles) ((x) and (y) together, “
Dissenting Share Payments), Parent shall be entitled to recover under tens ofArticle VII hereof the amount of su
Dissenting Share Payments. Notwithstanding anythanghe contrary contained herein, Parent shall extept with the pric
written consent of the Escrow Representative (socisent not to be unreasonably withheld), makelasgenting Share Payme
(and with respect to clause (y) of the previougesae, such amounts shall not be deemed to beribisge&Share Payments abs
such consentlprovided, that Parent may pay or incur amounts describetlaimses (x) and (y) of the previous sentence wr
aggregate of $200,000 without the prior written semt of the Escrow Representativellficonsented Payments); provided
further, that only 75% of the amount of each such UncaieseRayment shall be deemed to be a Dissenting $aament, unle
Parent has received prior to the Effective Timellg éxecuted Joinder Agreement from the CompangKBimiders constituting tl
holders of not less than 95% of the shares of Comgapital Stock outstanding immediately priortie Effective Time, in whic
case only 50% of the amount of each such Uncondétagment shall be deemed to be a Dissenting $tagment.

1.10 _Surrender of Certificates

(@) _Paying AgentParent, U.S. Bank National Association or anothstitution selected by Parent may serv
the paying agent (thePaying Agent”) for the Merger.

(b) _Parent to Provide CaslOn the Closing Date, Parent shall deposit (iphwite Paying Agent, an amo
equal to the Closing Cash Consideration, (ii) Wite Paying Agent, an amount equal to the Closingdfiparty Payoff Amount
(i) with the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to the
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Stockholder Escrow Amount to be held in the Escfeand and distributed in accordance with the ter¢his Agreemer
(iv) with the Escrow Agent, an amount equal to ffransaction Bonus Escrow Amount to be held in tlser&wv Fund ar
distributed in accordance with the terms of thigegment, (v) with the Escrow Agent, an amount etuahe Executive Escrc
Amount to be held in the Executive Escrow Fund distiibuted in accordance with the terms of thigefgnent. At such tim
Parent shall be deemed to have (i) deposited @dEscrow Fund (A) each Company Stockhokléto Rata Escrow Portion
the Escrow Amount,and (B) each Executive Transadionus Recipiens Pro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amour
each case rounded to the nearest cent, and @i}het Executive Escrow Fund, each Company StockhisldPro Rata Executi
Escrow Portion of the Executive Escrow Amount.

(c) Exchange ProceduresSubject to the conditions set forth in this Agnesit, as soon as commerci
practicable after the Effective Time, the PayingeAggshall mail or otherwise deliver to each Comp&tgckholder, at the addr
set forth opposite such Company Stockhoklerame on the Spreadsheet, a stockholder letteamgmittal in substantially t
form attached hereto as Exhibit(@e “ Letter of Transmittal ”), and, to the extent such Company Stockholder hasinead
executed and delivered a Joinder Agreement to Baxelvinder Agreement to each Company Stockheiifre address set fo
opposite such Company Stockholdename on the Spreadsheet. After receipt of sutthrlef Transmittal, Joinder Agreement
any other documents that Parent or the Paying Ageyt reasonably require in order to effect the arge (the “Exchange
Documents”), such Company Stockholder will surrender the cestBs representing his, her or its shares of Coynpagferre:
Stock (the “Company Stock Certificates”) to the Paying Agent for cancellation together wdtlly completed and valid
executed Exchange Documents. Upon surrender ofrgp@ay Stock Certificate for cancellation to the iRgyAgent, together wi
such Exchange Documents, duly completed and vadigcuted in accordance with the instructions ther@nd subject to tl
terms ofSection 1.10(dhereof, the holder of such Company Stock Certiéicsdtall be entitled to receive from the Paying Age
exchange therefor, the cash constituting that @ortif the Total Consideration to which such Comp&ityckholder is entitle
pursuant td&Section 1.7hereof less appropriate tax withholding amountd, tae Company Stock Certificate so surrendered bk
cancelled. Until so surrendered, after the Effectiime, each Company Stock Certificate will be deénfor all corpora
purposes thereafter, to evidence only the righteteive the consideration provided for in tAiicle | . No portion of the Tot
Consideration will be paid to the holder of any wmsendered Company Stock Certificate with respecstares of Compa
Preferred Stock formerly represented thereby uhélholder of record of such Company Stock Cesatécshall surrender st
Company Stock Certificate and the Exchange Docusnaumtsuant hereto.

(d) _Transfers of Ownershigf the cash payment or check evidencing the tagle paid pursuant t®ection 1.’
hereof is to be made to a Person other than theoRaevhose name is reflected on the Company StodifiCate surrendered
exchange therefor, it will be a condition of theuance thereof that the certificate so surrendetittde properly endorsed a
otherwise in proper form for transfer and that Begson requesting such exchange will have paidter® or any agent designe
by it any transfer or other taxes required by reasdahe payment of any portion of the Total Coesadion in any name other tt
that of the registered holder of the certificateresodered, or established to the satisfaction oéfReor any agent designated k
that such tax has been paid or is not payable.

(e) _Paying Agent to Return Merger Consideratiéhany time following the last day of the six (@pnth perio
following the Effective Time, Parent shall be datitto require the Paying Agent to deliver to Pamrits designated successo
assign any portion of the Total Consideration tiet been deposited with the Paying Agent purswa8ection 1.10(b)hereof
and not disbursed pursuant3ection 1.10(chereof, and thereafter the Company Stockholdeisishantitled
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to look only to Parent (subject to the termsSeftction 1.10(f)hereof) as general creditors thereof with respeeny and all ca:
amounts that may be payable to such Persons parsu8ection 1.7hereof. No interest shall be payable for the cambuant:
delivered to Parent pursuant to the provisionshas $ection 1.10(e)and which are subsequently delivered to the Con
Stockholders.

) No Liability . Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in tBisction 1.10 none of the Paying Age
the Surviving Corporation or any other party hersall be liable to a Company Stockholder for amoant paid to a publ
official pursuant to any applicable abandoned priypescheat or similar law.

1.11 _No Further Ownership Rights in Companyitahastock. The portion of the Total Consideration, if angjgol
payable in respect of the surrender for exchangahafes of Company Capital Stock in accordance thahterms hereof shall
deemed to be full satisfaction of all rights peritag to such shares of Company Capital Stock, aedetshall be no furth
registration of transfers on the records of thev&urg Corporation of shares of Company CapitalcRtthat were outstanding as
immediately prior to the Effective Time. If, aftéhe Effective Time, stock certificates that prewalyurepresented shares
Company Capital Stock are presented to the Suyid@arporation for any reason, they shall be caaddind, if they represen
shares of Company Preferred Stock, exchanged &&lpdoin thisArticle | .

1.12 _Lost, Stolen or Destroyed CertificatescBtoln the event any Company Stock Certificates shalle been los
stolen or destroyed, the Paying Agent shall isauexchange for such lost, stolen or destroyedfioarties or agreements, upon
making of an affidavit of that fact by the holdéeteof, such consideration, if any, as may be redupursuant t&ection 1.
hereof or the Spreadsheet, as applicaiievided, however, that the Paying Agent shall, as a condition pitengto the issuan
thereof, require the Company Stockholder who isavaer of such lost, stolen or destroyed certifisab deliver a bond in st
amount as it may reasonably direct, indemnifyingeRaand Paying Agent against any claim that mayhbde against Parent
the Paying Agent with respect to the certificatéegad to have been lost, stolen or destroyed.

1.13 _Withholding Taxes Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agment, the Company and, on its betl
Parent, the Surviving Corporation, the Paying Agemi the Escrow Agent shall be entitled to deduct withhold from an
consideration payable or otherwise deliverable ymms to this Agreement such amounts as may bereshjtd be deducted
withheld therefrom under any provision of U.S. fedestate, local or nobkS. tax law or under any applicable legal requant
and to request and be provided any necessary tasfancluding IRS Form W-9 or the appropriate i@rof IRS Form W8, a:
applicable, or any similar information. To the extany such amounts are so deducted or withhelgarover to the appropri
Governmental Entity, such amounts shall be tre&dedll purposes under this Agreement as having lgeed to the Person
whom such amounts would otherwise have been paid.

1.14 _Taking of Necessary Action; Further Aatidf at any time after the Effective Time, any het action is necess:
or desirable to carry out the purposes of this Agrent and to vest the Surviving Corporation withright, title and possession
all assets, property, rights, privileges, powerd &manchises of the Company, Parent, Sub, and ffieers and directors of tl
Company, Parent and Sub are fully authorized imntimae of their respective corporations or otheriastake, and will take, ¢
such lawful and necessary action.
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ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF THE COMPANY

The Company hereby represents and warrants to tPardrSub, subject to such exceptions as are gadlgifdisclosed i
the disclosure schedule (referencing the appr@pseattion and subsection numbers or disclosedyioter section, subsection
clause of the Disclosure Schedufpvided, however, that it is reasonably apparent upon reading dlisblosure withot
independent knowledge of the reader regarding théemdisclosed that the disclosure is responsiveuch other sectic
subsection or clause of thisticle Il ) supplied by the Company to Parent and Sub aneddas of the date hereof (the
Disclosure Schedul€) on the date hereof, and as of the Closing Daiteifl made as of a specified date, as of suchydate

2.1 _Organization of the Company

(@) The Company is a corporation duly organiaed validly existing under the laws of the Stat®elawart
and has the requisite corporate power and authoribyvn, lease and operate its assets and prapartiato carry on its busines:
currently conducted. The Company is duly qualifiedicensed as a foreign corporation to do businasd is in good standing
each jurisdiction where the character or locatibitsoassets or properties (whether owned, leasdidansed) or the nature of
activities make such qualification or licensing evally necessary to the Compasybusiness as currently conducted.
Company has made available to Parent a true améotazopy of its certificate of incorporation, anended to date (the “
Company Certificate of Incorporation ”), and bylaws, as amended to date (thédmpany Bylaws”), each in full force ar
effect on the date hereof (collectively, th€Harter Documents”). Except for the Certificate Amendment, the Boardokctors
of the Company has not approved or proposed anpdment to any of the Charter Documents not reftetiterein.

(b)  Section 2.1(b)f the Disclosure Schedule lists all of the direstand officers of the Company.
(c) Section 2.1(c)f the Disclosure Schedule lists every state agifpr jurisdiction in which the Company |
Employees or facilities or otherwise has condudetusiness since inception (specifying the ersteof Employees or faciliti

in each such state or jurisdiction).

2.2 _Company Capital Structure

(&) The authorized capital stock of the Compemysists of (i) 30,000,000 shares of Company Com8tonk
of which 3,792,403 shares are issued and outstgradirof the date hereof and (ii) 21,003,319 shafr€ompany Preferred Stoi
of which 20,792,969 shares are issued and outsigradi of the date hereof. Of the authorized shar€@mpany Preferred Stor
3,585,000 are designated as Company Series A Rr@fStock, of which 3,525,000 shares are issuedatsanding as of the d
hereof, 6,783,868 are designated as Company &mesferred Stock, of which 6,710,638 shares angeid and outstanding as
the date hereof, 5,634,451 are designated as Cgmpanes C Preferred Stock, of which 5,597,014 eshare issued a
outstanding as of the date hereof, and 5,005,08@esignated as Company Series D Preferred Stbekyioh 4,960,317 shar
are issued and outstanding as of the date hereah Bhare of Company Preferred Stock is convertiblea oneshare fo
one-share basis into Company Common Stock. As of the ldereof, the Company Capital Stock is held byR&esons with tt
domicile addresses and in the amounts set fortBemtion 2.2(apf the Disclosure Schedule, which further setshféot each suc
Person the number of shares held by such Persemutimber of the applicable stock certificate(syeepenting such shares,
number of shares

20




currently or previously subject to repurchase fdrioh elections under Section 83(b) of the Code wwttimely made. A
outstanding shares of Company Capital Stock ang aluthorized, validly issued, fully paid and r@assessable and are not sul
to preemptive rights created by statute, the Ch&euments, or any agreement to which the Compmaayparty or by which it
bound. There are no declared or accrued but urpaidends with respect to any shares of Companyit@laptock. Except as ¢
forth in thisSection 2.2(a) the Company has no other capital stock authoriseded or outstanding.

(b)  All outstanding shares of Company Capitalc8, Company Options, and Company Warrants haee
issued or repurchased (in the case of shares tha @utstanding and repurchased by the Companyostackholder of tt
Company) in compliance with all applicable fedesdgte, foreign, or local statutes, laws, rulestegulations, including fedel
and state securities laws, and were issued, tnaedfand repurchased (in the case of shares thatawstanding and repurcha
by the Company or any stockholder of the Companyadcordance with any right of first refusal or g@mright or limitatior
applicable thereto, including those in the Chabtecuments.

(c) Except for the Plan, the Company has nedepted, sponsored or maintained any stock optian pt an
other plan or agreement providing for equity congagion to any Person. The Plan has been duly améaprapproved ai
adopted by the Board of Directors of the Compardg/tie Company Stockholders and is in full force affdct. The Company h
reserved 5,366,057 shares of Company Common Stodgsuance to employees and directors of, anduttamss to, the Compa
upon the issuance of stock or the exercise of nptgranted under the Plan, of which (i) 4,767,07&es are issuable, as of
date hereof, upon the exercise of outstanding, ensesed options granted prior to the date hereakeurthe Plan, (i) 355,2
shares have been issued upon the exercise of sgfanted under the Plan and remain outstandirj ¢ee date hereof, (iii) r
shares have been issued in the form of restridtszk granted under the Plan and remain outstanasngf the date hereof, ¢
(iv) 235,090 shares remain available for futurengrall Company Options have been offered, issued delivered by tr
Company in compliance with all applicable laws luging federal and state securities laws, and mpl@nce with the terms a
conditions of the PlarSection 2.2(c)of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth, as of the Hareof, for each outstanding Comg
Option and Company Warrant, the name of the hatflsuch option or warrant, the type of entity o€lsunolder (if not a natur
person), the domicile address of such holder,ythe &ind number of shares of Company Capital Stesitkable upon the exerc
of such option or warrant, the exercise price afhsaption or warrant, the date of grant of suchoopbr warrant, the vestil
schedule for such option or warrant, including ¢Réent vested to date and whether (and to whahgxtee vesting of such opti
or warrant is subject to acceleration as a redulh® transactions contemplated by this Agreemadtwahether such option it
nonstatutory option or intended to qualify as aceitive stock option as defined in Section 422hef €ode. True and compl
copies of all agreements and instruments relatingrtissued under the Plan have been made availabRarent, and su
agreements and instruments have not been amendddian or supplemented other than as providetiimAgreement, and the
are no agreements to amend, modify or supplemehtagreements or instruments from the forms thgremfided to Parent.

(d) Except as set forth fBection 2.2(d)of the Disclosure Schedule, there are no optiomsyamts, calls, right
convertible securities, commitments or agreemeh&ny character, written or oral, to which the Camyp is a party or by whi
the Company is bound obligating the Company toeisdgeliver, sell, repurchase or redeem, or cause fesued, delivered, sc
repurchased or redeemed, any shares of the cajuitkl of the Company or obligating the Companyrang extend, accelerate
vesting of, change the price of, otherwise amenénter into any such option, warrant, call, rigfdmmitment or agreeme
There are no outstanding or authorized stock apgirec, phantom stock, profit participation, or ettsimilar rights with respect
the Company. As a result of the Merger, upon theuence of the Effective Time, Parent will be #ude record and benefic
holder of all issued and outstanding shares otabstiock of the Surviving Corporation and all igko acquire or
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receive any shares of capital stock of the Surgiv@orporation, whether or not such shares of theri8ng Corporation ar
outstanding.

(e) Except as set forth Bection 2.2(epf the Disclosure Schedule and except as conteetplagreby, there ¢
no (i) voting trusts, proxies, or other agreemeotsunderstandings with respect to the voting sto€kthe Company ar
(i) agreements to which the Company is a partsgtired) to the registration, sale or transfer (ingtgdagreements relating to rig
of first refusal, co-sale rights or “drag-alongghis) of any Company Capital Stock.

2.3 _SubsidiariesThe Company does not have and has never haduasidmries or affiliated companies and does
otherwise own and has never otherwise owned ameslud capital stock or any interest in, or contddectly or indirectly, an
other corporation, limited liability company, pagtship, association, joint venture or other busiretity.

2.4  _Authority and EnforceabilityThe Company has all requisite power and authéoitgnter into this Agreement,
Certificates and any Related Agreements to whicls i party and, subject to obtaining the Initiabckholder Consent,
consummate the Merger, file the Certificate Amendimaith the Secretary of State of the State of al®, and the oth
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby. XBeudon and delivery of this Agreement, the Cexdifes and any Relat
Agreements to which the Company is a party ancdmsummation of the Merger, and the other transastcontemplated here
and thereby, have been duly authorized by all rsecgscorporate action on the part of the Compang, ro further corpora
action is required on the part of the Company tthauize this Agreement, the Certificate Amendméime, Certificates and a
Related Agreements to which it is a party and thegactions contemplated hereby and thereby, dulnjcto the approval of tl
transactions contemplated by this Agreement byGbmpany Stockholders. The vote required of the Gomstockholders
approve this Agreement, the Certificate Amendmém, Certificates and the Related Agreements, thegéteand the oth
transactions contemplated hereby and thereby ifod#t in Section 2.40f the Disclosure Schedule (such vote, theequisite
Stockholder Vote”). This Agreement, including the plan of mergesdibed inArticle | , has been unanimously approved by
Board of Directors of the Company, and the Boar®ioéctors of the Company has unanimously recommeénidat the Compa
Stockholders approve this Agreement. This AgreentbatCertificates and each of the Related Agre¢sritenwhich the Compal
is a party have been duly executed and deliverethdyompany and, assuming the due authorizatieagusion and delivery |
the other parties hereto and thereto, constituée vidlid and binding obligations of the Company ecdable against it
accordance with their respective terms, subjedf)taws of general application relating to bankuayp insolvency, fraudule
conveyance, reorganization, moratorium and otheilai laws relating to or affecting creditonsghts generally and (ii) gene
principles of equity.

2.5 Initial_Stockholder Consent The Initial Stockholder Consent, when executed delivered, will satisfy &
requirements for consents, votes or approvals byhividers of any classes or series of Company &aptbck necessary
approve and adopt, and consummate, this Agreemfenilerger, and the transactions contemplated henmetluding the filing o
the Certificate Amendment with the Secretary oteStd the State of Delaware.

2.6 No Conflict. The execution and delivery by the Company of #thiseement, the Certificates and any Rel
Agreement to which the Company is a party, andctmesummation of the transactions contemplated feaat thereby, will nc
conflict with or result in any violation of or defth under (with or without notice or lapse of tim@, both) or give rise to, a
payment obligation, or a right of termination, celtetion, modification or acceleration of any ollign or loss of any bene
under (any such event, &onflict ") (a) any provision of the Company Certificate of Inpmration, as amended by the Certifi
Amendment, or the Company Bylaws, (b) any MateZiahtract, or (c) any judgment,
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order, decree, statute, law, ordinance, rule ouletipn applicable to the Company or any of itspenties or assets (whet
tangible or intangible)Section 2.60f the Disclosure Schedule sets forth all necessatiges, consents, waivers and approve
parties to any Material Contracts with the Comp#rat are required thereunder in connection withNleeger, or for any suu
Material Contract to remain in full force and effegthout limitation, modification or alteration mmediately after the Closing so
to preserve all rights of, and benefits to, the @any under such Material Contracts as of immediasdter the Closing
Immediately following the Closing, the Company wéibntinue to be permitted to exercise all of ights under the Mater
Contracts without the payment of any additional anmis or consideration other than ongoing fees, ltiegaor payments which t
Company would otherwise be required to pay purstatte terms of such Material Contracts had thegactions contemplat
by this Agreement not occurred.

2.7 ConsentsNo consent, notice, waiver, approval, order dhatization of, or registration, declaration oirfg with
any court, administrative agency or commissiontbeofederal, state, county, supranational, locaitber foreign governmen
authority, instrumentality, agency or commissioactg a “Governmental Entity ") or any third party, including a party to ¢
Contract with the Company (so as not to trigger @ownflict), is required by, or with respect to, tBempany in connection wi
the execution and delivery of this Agreement, tleetiicates and any Related Agreement to whichGbepany is a party or t
consummation of the transactions contemplated keasinl thereby, except for (a) the filing of the Wmate of Merger &
provided in Section 1.2hereof or (b) such consents, waivers and approaslsire set forth irbection 2.60f the Disclosur
Schedule.

2.8 Company Financial Statements

(@) Section 2.8 of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the Compar{)ysudited balance sheet as
December 31, 2013, and the related audited statsmoémcome, cash flow and stockholdeesjuity for the twelve (12) mor
period then ended, and (ii) unaudited balance simef August 31, 2014 (theBalance Sheet Daté), and the related unaudit
statements of income and cash flow for the eightr{8nths then ended (collectively, th&ihancials”) are true and correct in
material respects and have been prepared in acumdaith GAAP consistently applied throughout thexigds indicated ar
consistent with each other. The Financials presany in all material respects the Compasyfinancial condition, operatil
results and cash flows as of the dates and duh@geériods indicated therein. The Companyhaudited balance sheet as o
Balance Sheet Date is referred to hereinafter @s’ thurrent Balance Sheet.” The Company has identified all uncertain
positions contained in all Tax Returns filed by Bempany and has established adequate reservesaohel any appropric
disclosures in the Financials in accordance withrdguirements of Financial Interpretation No. 4&ASB Statement No. 1C
The books and records of the Company have beeraranioeing, maintained in all material respectadcordance with applicat
legal and accounting requirements, and the Finenaia consistent in all material respects witthsamoks and records.

(b) The Company has established and maintatligras to and enforces a system of internal acemuoontrol:
which are customary for a company of the CompsusiZze and stage of development that are designied effective in providir
reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilityirafntial reporting and the preparation of finand@tdtements (including t
Financials), in accordance with GAAP, including ipigls and procedures that (i) require the mainte@aof records that
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflecttthesactions and dispositions of the assets o€tmapany, (ii) provide assurar
that transactions are recorded as necessary totgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith GAAP, and that receij
and expenditures of the Company are being made ianjccordance with appropriate authorizations a@inagement and t
Companys Board of Directors and (iii) provide assuranagarding prevention or timely detection of unauthed acquisition, u:
or disposition of the assets of the Company. The@my has no Knowledge of (i) any
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significant deficiency or material weakness in fiystem of internal accounting controls utilizedthg Company, (ii) any frat
that involves the Comparg’management or other Employees who have a rdieeipreparation of financial statements ot
internal accounting controls utilized by the Compan (iii) any claim or allegation regarding anytb€ foregoing.

2.9 No Undisclosed Liabilities; No Material yetse Effect; Ordinary Course

(@ The Company does not have any Liability I(iding, for the avoidance of doubt, any expensécidacy,
guaranty or endorsement of any type), whether adgrabsolute, contingent, matured, unmatured @rpthat exceeds $10,C
individually and $25,000 in the aggregate, excepttiose which (i) have been reflected in the QurBalance Sheet, (ii) ha
arisen in the ordinary course of business condistéh past practices since the Balance Sheet Bxadeprior to the date here
(i) have arisen since the date hereof and doanse from a violation oSection 4.1hereof, (iv) are executory obligations ur
Contracts that have not arisen from a breach theredefault thereunder or (v) are Indebtednesgdfiharty Expenses or Unpi
Pre-Closing Taxes, in each case that will be inetuith the Closing Statement as of the Closing. pixas set forth irBection 2.9
(a) of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company has ndamaig Indebtedness as of the date hereof.

(b) Except for Liabilities reflected in the Fimaals, the Company has no d#lance sheet Liability of any nat
to, or any financial interest in, any third partasentities, the purpose or effect of which igléder, postpone, reduce or othen
avoid or adjust the recording of expenses inculmedhe Company. All reserves that are set forthrimeflected in the Curre
Balance Sheet have been established in accordaiticeGAAP consistently applied. Without limiting éhgenerality of tr
foregoing, the Company has never guaranteed artyodether obligation of any other Person.

(b) Since the Balance Sheet Date and prioréaltte hereof, there has not occurred any Matkdea¢rse Effec
with respect to the Company.

(c) Since the Balance Sheet Date and prioraaldie hereof, the Company has not taken any att@nif takel
after the date hereof, would require Parent’s catngederSection 4.1

2.10 _Accounts ReceivableAll of the accounts receivable, whether billedumbilled, of the Company arose in
ordinary course of business, are carried at vafletermined in accordance with GAAP consistentlyliagdp are not, to tf
Knowledge of the Company, subject to any valid aféter counterclaim, do not represent obligatioms §oods sold c
consignment, on approval or on a sale-return basis or subject to any other repurchasetorn arrangement. No Person has
Lien other than Permitted Liens on any accountsivable of the Company and no request or agreefoededuction or discou
has been made with respect to any accounts redeighthe Company.

2.11 Tax Matters

(@) _Definition of Taxes For the purposes of this Agreement, the teriaX ” or, collectively, “ Taxes” shal
mean (i) any and all U.S. federal, state, local aonU.S. taxes, assessments and other governmentagleshatuties (includir
stamp duty), impositions and liabilities, includiogpital gains tax, taxes based upon or measurgddsg receipts, income, prof
sales, use and occupation, and value added, ackrgltransfer, franchise, withholding, payroll, apture, employment, esch¢
excise and property taxes as well as public impdses and social security charges (including healhemployment, workers’
compensation and pension insurance) in the nafuadax, together with all interest, penalties, additions imposed with resp
to such amounts, (ii) any Liability for the paymefitany amounts of the type described in clausef ipis Section 2.11as a resu
of being a member of an affiliated, consolidatesmbined, unitary or similar group (including anysangement
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for group or consortium relief or similar arranger)efor any period, and (iii) any Liability for theayment of any amounts of
type described in clauses (i) or (ii) of tHfi®ction 2.11as a result of any express or implied obligatiorinemnify any othe
Person or as a result of any obligation under gmgeanent or arrangement with any other Personne#thect to such amounts |
including any Liability for taxes of a predeceseotransferor or otherwise by operation of law.

(b) _Tax Returns and Audits

0] The Company has (a) prepared and timely filedalbine and other material U.S. federal, <
local and non-U.S. returns, estimates, informattetements and reports Tax Returns ”) relating to any and all Tax
concerning or attributable to the Company or iterafions, and such Tax Returns are true and cdrredt material respects a
have been completed in accordance with applicaleahd (b) timely paid all Taxes it is requirecptry.

(i) The Company has paid or withheld with respectddiinployees, stockholders and other !
parties, all U.S. federal, state and nd!$. income Taxes and social security charges amilas fees, Federal Insurar
Contribution Act amounts, Federal Unemployment Pat amounts and other Taxes required to be paiditttheld, and he
timely paid over any such Taxes over to the appatprauthorities, and will pay or withhold (and payer) such Taxes that i
required to be paid or withheld with respect to @mransaction or event occurring or payment madsutth payees through ¢
including the Closing Date.

(iii) The Company has not been delinquent in the payrmokriny Tax, nor is there any T
deficiency outstanding, assessed or proposed agamsCompany, nor has the Company executed anyewaf any statute
limitations on or extending the period for the asseent or collection of any Tax.

(iv) No audit or other examination of any Tax Returih&f Company is presently in progress,
has the Company been notified in writing of anyuesj for such an audit or other examination, ardGbmpany does not he
Knowledge that any such action or proceeding indpebntemplated. No claim has ever been made tingthy any Tax authori
that the Company is or may be subject to taxatioa jurisdiction in which it does not file Tax Rets. No adjustment relating
any Tax Return filed by the Company has been pexgpdry any Tax authority. The Company is not a pgotgr bound by ar
closing or other agreement or ruling with any Goweental Entity with respect to Taxes. There aranadters relating to Tax
under discussion between any taxing authority hedCtompany.

(v) As of the Balance Sheet Date, the Company doedangt any Liabilities for unpaid Ta»
which have not been accrued or reserved on thee@uBalance Sheet, and the Company has not incamgdLiability for Taxe
since the Balance Sheet Date other than in th@angicourse of business.

(vi) The Company has made available to Parent or itd teginsel, copies of all income and o
material Tax Returns for the Company for the pitoee (3) taxable years.

(vii) There are (and immediately following the EffectiMene there will be) no Liens on the as:
of the Company relating or attributable to Taxdseothan Liens for Taxes not yet due and payable.

(viii) The Company has not been, at any timeUaited States Real Property Hold
Corporation” within the meaning of Section 897(¢)¢2the Code.
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(ix) The Company has not constituted either a “disthilgutcorporation” or a controllec
corporation” in a distribution of stock intendedcoalify for tax-free treatment under Section 355 of the Code.

(X) The Company has not engaged in a reportable trimsacunder Treasu
Regulation Section 1.60(b), including a transaction that is the sameutastantially similar to one of the types of trarigacs
that the Internal Revenue Service has determindmkta Tax avoidance transaction and identified datyce, regulation, or oth
form of published guidance as a listed transactisrget forth in Treasury Regulation Section 1.601)(2).

(xi) The Company has (A) never been a member of anadfil group (within the meaning
Section 1504(a) of the Code) filing a consoliddemteral income Tax Return (other than a group tmmon parent of which w
the Company), (B) never been a party to any Taxirsfpaindemnification or allocation agreement, does the Company owe ¢
amount under any such agreement, (C) no Liabititythe Taxes of any Person under Treasury Regunlgtib15026 (or an
similar provision of state, local or ndnS. law, including any arrangement for group ansmtium relief or similar arrangemel
as a transferee or successor, by operation of bgvwgontract (other than pursuant to the customaoyigions of an agreeme
entered into in the ordinary course of businessptiteary purpose of which is not related to Taxes)ptherwise, and (D) ne\
been a party to any joint venture, partnershiptbeioagreement that could be treated as a partpdoshlTax purposes.

(xii) The Company will not be required to include anyome or gain or exclude any deductiol
loss from Taxable income for any Tax period or jportthereof after the Closing as a result of (Ay ahange in method
accounting under Section 481 of the Code for anypeaiod or portion thereof ending on or prior e tClosing Date, (B) closil
agreement under Section 7121 of the Code executed prior to the Closing Date, (C) deferred intermpany gain or excess I
account under Treasury Regulations under Secti6@ bbthe Code in connection with a transactionscommated on or prior
the Closing Date (or in the case of each of (A),dBd (C), under any similar provision of appli@tdw), (D) installment sale
open transaction disposition consummated on or poicdhe Closing Date, or (E) prepaid amount resgiwn or prior to tt
Closing Date.

(xiii) The Company uses the cash method of accountirigdome Tax purposes.

(xiv) The Company is in full compliance with all termsdanonditions of any Té
exemption, Tax holiday or other Tax reduction agreet or order (each, aTax Incentive ”), and the consummation of
transactions contemplated by this Agreement witl mave any adverse effect on the continued validitgl effectiveness of a
such Tax Incentive.

(xv) The Company is not subject to Tax in any countheothan its country of incorporation
formation by virtue of having a permanent estalptisht or other place of business in that country.

(xvi) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to tlomtrary, the Company makes
representations or warranties regarding the amaeahie or condition of, or any limitations on, ahgx asset or attribute of 1
Company, including but not limited to net operatlogses and research and development creditsyaiisiany PreClosing Ta:
Period (each, a Tax Attribute ), or the ability of Parent or any of its affiliatea¢luding the Surviving Corporation) to utili
such Tax Attributes after the Closing.
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(c) _Executive Compensation Takxcept as set forth i&ection 2.11(cpf the Disclosure Schedule, no payn
or benefit which will or may be made by the Compavith respect to any Employee or any other “distjieal individual” (as
defined in Code Section 280G and the regulatioasetinder) will be characterized as a “parachutengay,” within the meanin
of Section 280G(b)(2) of the Code. There is no @wif agreement, plan or arrangement to which th@g&ny is a party or |
which it is bound to compensate any Employee foisextaxes paid pursuant to Section 4999 of theeCod

(d) 409A Compliance. Section 2.11(d) of the Disclosure Schedule lists eachofiqualified deferre
compensation plan”’aé defined in Section 409A(d)(1) of the Code) spoed or maintained by the Company. Each
nonqualified deferred compensation plan has beernatgd in compliance with Section 409A of the Cdde.compensation unc
any nonqualified deferred compensation plan spe@usor maintained by the Company and in effect gt tame prior to th
Closing shall be includable in the gross incomarof Employee as a result of the operation of Sec®A of the Code. No sto
option or other compensatory right to acquire Comyp@ommon Stock or other equity of the Companyé8 an exercise pri
that was less than the fair market value of theedgithg equity as of the date such option or righs granted, (ii) has any feat
for the deferral of compensation other than thesdaf of recognition of income until the later ofegcise or disposition of su
option or rights, or (iii) has been granted afteecBmber 31, 2004, with respect to any class oksté¢he Company that is r
“service recipient stock” (within the meaning ofpéipable regulations under Section 409A).

2.12 _Restrictions on Business ActivitieShere is no Contract (naempetition or otherwise), commitment, judgm
injunction, order or decree to which the Compang fgarty or otherwise binding upon the Company titias or may reasona
be expected to have the effect of (i) prohibitimgropairing in any material respect (A) any bussesgactice of the Company
which it is currently engaged, (B) any acquisitiohproperty (tangible or intangible) by the Compawny (C) the conduct
business by the Company as it is currently condiiae (ii) otherwise limiting the freedom of the B@pany to engage in any |i
of business or to compete with any Person. Witlimiting the generality of the foregoing, the Compgéaas not entered into ¢
Contract under which the Company is restricted fregliing, licensing, manufacturing, delivering dherwise distributing «
commercializing any Company Intellectual PropertyGompany Products or Future Products or from gliog services |
customers or potential customers or any class stbawers, in any geographic area, during any periduine, or in any segment
the market, including by means of any grant of esiity, or from hiring or soliciting potential ergyees, consultants,
independent contractors.

2.13 Title to Properties; Absence of Liens Bmdumbrances; Condition of Equipment

(@ The Company does not own any real propexy,has the Company ever owned any real property thre
Company party to any agreements to purchase oresglproperty.

(b) Section 2.13(b)of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth a list ofredll property leased, subleased or lice
by or from the Company or otherwise used or ocalipiethe Company (the lleased Real Property’), the name of the less
licensor, sublessor, master lessor and/or lesseajate and term of the lease, license, subleagther occupancy right and e
amendment thereto, the size of the premises anagidpegate annual rental payable thereunder. Thgp&ay has provided Par
with true, correct and complete copies of all Isasease guaranties, subleases, agreements figating, use or occupancy of
otherwise granting a right in or relating to theaked real Property, including all amendments, teations and modificatiol
thereof (“Lease Agreements); and there are no other Lease Agreements for repkepty affecting the Leased Real Propert
to which the Company is bound. There is not, uraier of such Lease Agreements, any existing defaulevent which wit
notice or lapse of time,
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or both, would constitute a default) and no remidst due. The Lease Agreements are valid andtiefdn accordance with the
respective terms, subject to (i) laws of generaliagtion relating to bankruptcy, insolvency and tielief of debtors, and (ii) rul
of law governing specific performance, injunctivelief and other equitable remedies. The executiod delivery of thi
Agreement by the Company does not, and the constiom@ the transactions contemplated hereby vatl nesult in any brea
of or constitute a default (or an event that witlice or lapse of time or both would become a défamder, or materially impe
the rights of the Company or alter the rights digattions of the sublessor, lessor or licensor undegive to others any rights
termination, amendment, acceleration or cancefiativany Lease Agreements. The Company currentiymies all of the Leas
Real Property for the operation of its business, taere are no other parties occupying, or witlghtito occupy, the Leased R
Property. The Leased Real Property is in good dipgraondition and repair, subject to normal wead &ar, and, as of the d
hereof, is suitable for the conduct of the busiresgpresently conducted therein. Neither the operatf the Company on t
Leased Real Property nor, to the Compariknowledge, such Leased Real Property, violatgdam relating to such property
operations thereon. The Company has performed @ @bligations under any termination agreemgnissuant to which it h
terminated any leases of real property that artonger in effect and has no continuing Liabilitytlvrespect to such termina
real property leases. The Company is not partynjoagreement or subject to any claim that may reqihie payment of any rt
estate brokerage commissions, and no such commissgwed with respect to any of the Leased Regbétty.

(c) The Company has good and valid title tq,iorthe case of leased properties and assetsl hasehol
interests in, all of its tangible properties andeds, real, personal and mixed, used or held ferimsand/or necessary for
conduct of the business of the Company as curreothglucted, free and clear of any Liens, excepti¢ins for Taxes not yet d
and payable, (ii) such imperfections of title amdtw@mbrances, if any, which do not materially ddtfemm the value or materia
interfere with the present use of the property ecttbijhereto or affected thereby, and (iii) Perrdittéens. Section 2.13(c)of the
Disclosure Schedule sets forth the tangible prageend assets, real, personal and mixed, usedrameld for use in the cond
of the business of the Company with an individudle of more than $10,000 as of the date hereof.

(d) Section 2.13(d)f the Disclosure Schedule lists all material iteshequipment (the Equipment ") ownec
or leased by the Company as of the date hereofsactd Equipment is (i) adequate for the conduthefbusiness of the Comp:
as currently conducted and (ii) in good operatiogdition, regularly and properly maintained, subjeacnormal wear and tear.

2.14 _Intellectual Property

(g) Definitions. For all purposes of this Agreement, the followilegms shall have the following respec
meanings:

“ Company Intellectual Property ” shall mean any and all Intellectual Property Rightg are owned
purported to be owned by the Company.

“ Company Products” shall mean all products and services developed,ufaatured or delivere
(excluding products and services not yet commdycialeased), made commercially available, markethdtributed, sol
imported for resale or licensed out by or on bebfthe Company since its inception.

“ Future Products” shall mean (a) all products and services curraniyer development by or on bel
of the Company that are not yet commercially reddeend that the
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Company intends to make commercially availabletrithiste, sell, import for resale, or license outhin twelve (12) months aft
the date hereof, and (b) Updates.

“ Intellectual Property Rights ” shall mean worldwide (i) patents and patent appdioa, (ii) copyrights
copyright registrations and applications for coghti registration, “moral’rights and mask work rights, (iii) trade seci
(iv) trademarks, trade names and service marksdigigions, continuations, continuationspart, renewals, reissuances
extensions of the foregoing (as applicable), amdafvalogous rights to those set forth above.

“ Near-Term Future Products ” shall mean (a) the products, services, updatesupgthdes listed «
Section 2.14(apf the Disclosure Schedule, and (b) all Future Betalthat the Company intends to make commerciafhilable
distribute, sell, import for resale, or license oator before March 31, 2015.

“ Registered Intellectual Property” shall mean patents, trademark registrations, cgbyregistratior
and applications, filings and registrations withy &aovernmental Entity for the foregoing or for aother Intellectual Proper
Rights.

“ Shrink-Wrap Code ” shall mean any generally commercially availablavgafe in executable code
hosted (software asservice) form that is available for a cost of nairenthan U.S. $5,000 for a perpetual or annuah$ieeo

subscription (as applicable) for a single user orkwstation (or $50,000 in the aggregate for akrasand work stations).

Technology” shall mean any or all of the following (i) works afithorship including computer programs, whethesaarce coc
or in executable code form, architecture and docuaten, (i) inventions (whether or not patentgbleiscoveries ar
improvements, (iii) proprietary and confidentiafarmation, trade secrets and know how, (iv) datebaslata compilations a
collections and technical data, (v) logos, tradmes trade dress, trademarks and service marksldiviain names, web addres
and sites, (vii) methods and processes, and (lgijces, prototypes, designs and schematics.

“ Updates” shall mean all updates to Company Products médetae date hereof.

“ User Documentation” shall mean explanatory and informational materaaacerning the Compa
Products, in printed or electronic form, which iempany or any of its subsidiaries have releasedligtribution to end use
with such Company Products, which may include mbnwkescriptions, user and/or installation instaret, diagrams, printou
listings, flow-charts and training materials.

(b) Company ProductsSection 2.14(b)of the Disclosure Schedule lists all Company Presl@nd Futut
Products by name and version number.

(c) _Company Intellectual Propert§pection 2.14(cpf the Disclosure Schedule lists (i) all Registelrgdllectua
Property that is part of Company Intellectual Prop€* Company Registered Intellectual Property”), all domain name
registered in the name of the Company and apmicatand registrations therefor and all materiakgistered trademarks usec
the Company with respect to Company Products ourEuProducts, (ii) any formal actions that musttddeen by the Compa
within ninety (90) days of the Closing Date witlspect to perfecting, maintaining or renewing anyhef foregoing, including tl
payment of any registration, maintenance or rendeed or the filing of any documents, applicationgertificates, and (iii) ar
proceedings or actions before any court or tribyiratluding the United States Patent and Traden@iffice (* PTO ") or
equivalent authority anywhere in the world) to whibe Company is or was a party and in which clanesor were raised
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relating to the validity, enforceability, scope, mavship or infringement of any of the Company Regexl Intellectual Proper
except, in the case of applications, as broughthlbyapplicable examiner thereof in the ordinaryrsewf prosecution of su
Company Registered Intellectual Property. With eespo each item of Company Registered Intelled®waperty: (1) all necess:
registration, maintenance and renewal fees in adrmmewith such item of Company Registered Intealla€ Property that are
will be due for payment on or before the ClosingeDigave been or will be timely paid and all neceasdacuments and certifica
in connection with such item of Company Registdrddllectual Property that are or will be due fitinfy on or before the Closil
Date have been or will be timely filed with the P®0Oother relevant patent, copyright, trademarktber authorities in the Unit
States or foreign jurisdictions, as the case mayfdrethe purposes of maintaining such item of CampRegistered Intellectt
Property; (2) each such item is currently in corupte with formal legal requirements (including pawof filing, examinatio
and maintenance fees and proofs of use); (3) each iem is sustaining, and, other than any pendipgjication, valid ar
enforceable, and (4) each such item is not subbpeany unpaid maintenance fees or taxes. To thevéume of the Compar
there are no facts, information, or circumstanéeduding any information or facts that would catge prior art, that wou
render any of the Company Registered Intellectuap&ty invalid or unenforceable, or would negdtivaffect any pendir
application for any Company Registered Intellec®dperty, in each case, except as disclosed tapghkcable examiner there
or contained in the applicable file wrapper. Therany has not misrepresented, or failed to disclsg facts or circumstanc
Known to the Company in any application for any @amy Registered Intellectual Property that wouldstibute fraud or
misrepresentation with respect to such applicatiothat would otherwise negatively affect the eoéability of any Compar
Registered Intellectual Property.

(d) _Transferability of Intellectual Property Al Company Intellectual Property will be fullyransferable
alienable and licensable by the Company withoutioti®n and without payment of any kind to anyr¢hparty.

(e) _Title to Intellectual Property The Company is the sole and exclusive owner ohetem of Compar
Intellectual Property, free and clear of any Lietiser than Permitted Liens and those set fortBaantion 2.14(epf the Disclosur
Schedule. The Company has the sole and exclusife to bring a claim or suit against a third pafty infringement ¢
misappropriation of the Company Intellectual ProypeExcept for trade secrets that lost their statsidrade secrets upon
release of a new Company Product, upon the issudrac@atent or publication of a patent applicatimnas a result of a good fe
business decision to disclose such trade secrtixaept for trademarks, trade names and servicksrfzat the Company mad
good faith business decision to stop using, the @@y has not (i) transferred ownership of, or grdrany exclusive license w
respect to, any Intellectual Property Rights that @, as of the time of such transfer or excludivense, were material to |
Company, to any other Person or (ii) permittedriplets of the Company in any Company Intellectualderty that is or was at t
time material to the Company to enter into the jgutbmain.

()  Third Party Intellectual Property Right©ther than Technology and Intellectual Properityhi licensed 1
the Company, or which the Company has rights to wséer (i) licenses for the Open Source Softwasedgefined below) listed
Section 2.14(n)of the Disclosure Schedule, (ii) licenses for Skidrap Code, (iii) agreements that do not materidiffer in
substance from the Standard Form Agreement (asiatkfboelow) attached t8ection 2.14(g)(2)of the Disclosure Schedu
(iv) Employee Proprietary Information Agreements &onsultant Proprietary Information Agreementsciieas defined beloy
and (v) the licenses set forth Bection 2.14(f)of the Disclosure Schedule, the Company IntelldcRraperty includes ¢
Technology and Intellectual Property Rights that ased in or necessary to the conduct of the besinEthe Company as
currently is conducted and, with respect to FuRmneducts, as it is currently proposed to be corstlbly the Company, includi
the design, development, manufacture, delivery, mseketing, import for resale, distribution, licémg out and sale
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of any Company Product, as each is or has beeructedl by or on behalf of the Company. The Compamgsy or possess
licensed copies of, all Technology that is usedinnecessary to the conduct of the business ofCimapany as curren
conducted, and, with respect to Future Productsyaently proposed to be conducted, by the Company

(9) Standard Form Agreement<Copies of the Company’s standard form(s) of d@tlosure agreeme
and the Company'’s standard form(s), including attaents, of non-exclusive licenses of the Compaigits and noexclusive
agreements to provide the Company Products to megtoor end-users (collectively, thestandard Form Agreements”) are
attached tdsection 2.14(g) (1and2.14(g)(2), respectively, of the Disclosure Schedule. Othant(i) nondisclosure agreeme
and (ii) nonexclusive licenses of the Company Petgland nonexclusive agreements to provide the @agnproducts (in ea
case of (i) and (ii), pursuant to any agreemeritliaa been entered into in the ordinary courseusiness that does not materi
differ in substance from the Standard Form Agredgm&ection 2.14(g)(3pf the Disclosure Schedule lists all contractsrige
and agreements to which the Company is a partyuaddr which the Company has granted, licensed arigied any Compat
Intellectual Property and/or Technology to thirdrtjgs (other than rights granted to contractorsvemdors to use Compsé
Intellectual Property and Technology for the saedfit of the Company).

(h) No Infringement by the Company The operation of the business of the Company waeeratly
conducted and, with respect to Future Productsuaently proposed by the Company to be condudtediuding the desig
development, use, import, branding, advertisinggnpotion, marketing, manufacture, delivery, sale &ndnsing out of ar
Company Product, as each is or has been condustear lon behalf of the Company, has not and doesimfoihge ol
misappropriate and will not infringe or misapprepei when conducted in substantially the same maboydParent and/or tl
Company following the Closing, any Intellectual peaty Rights of any Person, violate any right of Berson (including any rig
to privacy or publicity) or constitute unfair comjpien or trade practices under the laws of anyspliction; provided, however,
that the foregoing representations and warrantidedysas to the operation of the business as peapds be conducted by i
Company (but not as such has been or is condugtétebCompany), with respect to Future Productsgiothan Updates) but
Nea-Term Future Products or Updates, are made to thep@ny’s Knowledge;provided, furtherthat the foregoin
representations and warranties do not extend tmgd@ment, misappropriation or violation of Intefieal Property Rights of a
Person occurring after the date hereof that theokis®Representative (acting on behalf of the Inddéyimg Stockholders) ce
show, based on a preponderance of the evidencdd wotihave occurred (a) but for a change maderiay the direction of Pare
to any of the Company Products or Future Products the Company business or development plan, except for chamgele t
address any problem or issue with respect to amppaoy Products or Future Products, including thosdlems and issu
identified in Section 2.14(r), or (b) but for the combination of any Companyd®rct or Future Product with other Technolc
made by or at the direction of Parent. As of thie deereof, the Company has not received notice fragnPerson claiming tf
such operation, any Company Product, Future Prodarmgt Technology used by the Company or any Compatellectua
Property infringes or misappropriates any IntellattProperty Rights of any Person or constitutefiurompetition or trac
practices under the laws of any jurisdiction (noeslthe Company have Knowledge of any basis fomatige that would have
material adverse effect on the Company, its busineds financial condition). No Company Intellgat Property is subject to &
proceeding or outstanding decree, order, judgmergetiiement agreement or stipulation that restriotany manner the u
provision, transfer, assignment or licensing theEtgothe Company or may affect the validity or extmability of any Compar
Intellectual Property. Notwithstanding anything tiee contrary in this Agreement, thiSection 2.14(h)contains the on
representations or warranties made by the Compathy respect to infringement, misappropriation oolation of Intellectus
Property Rights of any other Person.
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0] Third Party Rights Except as set forth iBection 2.14(i)of the Disclosure Schedule, no third party
has licensed Intellectual Property Rights or predidiny Technology to the Company thereof has mdasole ownership of
exclusive license rights under any Intellectualperty Rights in any improvements or derivative veorkade solely or jointly |
the Company thereof under such license.

) Restrictions on BusinessWith respect to any Contracts to which the Compara party, neither tr
Agreement nor the transactions contemplated byAgieement will cause: (i) Parent, any of its sdlagies or the Company
grant to any third party any right to or with respt any Intellectual Property Rights owned bylicgnsed to, any of Parent, ¢
of its subsidiaries or the Company (other thantdgiranted by the Company on or prior to the Clpdiate under IntellectL
Property Rights owned by the Company as of thei@oBate), (ii) Parent, any of its subsidiariestee Company, to be bound
or subject to, any nooempete or other material restriction on the opemabr scope of their respective businesses (exuuan)
noncompete or other material restriction that arisemfany agreement to which the Company is not &/par (iii) Parent, any «
its subsidiaries or the Company to be obligatepiy any royalties or other license fees with respemtellectual Property Righ
of any third party in excess of those payable &y @mpany in the absence of this Agreement orrtresactions contempla
hereby.

(k) No Third Party Infringement To the Knowledge of the Company, no Person isinging ol
misappropriating any Company Intellectual Propeftye Company has the exclusive right to bring astiagainst any Person t
is infringing or misappropriating any Company lfgetual Property and to retain for itself any dassmgecovered in any st
action.

0] Proprietary Information Agreements Copies of the Comparny’ standard form of propriete
information, confidentiality and assignment agreetrfer employees (the Employee Proprietary Information Agreement ™)
and the Companyg’ standard form of consulting agreement contaimira@prietary information, confidentiality and assigen
provisions (the “Consultant Proprietary Information Agreement ”) are attached t&ection 2.14(1)(1)and Section 2.14(1)(2),
respectively, of the Disclosure Schedule. All catrand former employees of the Company, and atectiiand former consulta
of the Company and its subsidiaries and all othdividuals, in each case, who have been involveithéncreation, invention
development of Company Intellectual Property andhfelogy for or on behalf of the Company or its Sdlaries (each, a
Contributor "), have executed the applicable form of agreementditlimiting the foregoing, no Contributor ownstws an
right to Company Intellectual Property, nor has @wontributor made any assertions with respect to aleged ownership
rights. All current and former employees of the @amy and each of its subsidiaries who are or warthe time of employmei
residents of countries that recognize moral rigiitsvhose employment relationships are or were gmeeby applicable laws
countries that recognize moral rights have executditien agreements with the Company or the appleaubsidiary that to tl
fullest extent permitted under applicable law, veafer the benefit of the Company, all moral rightsany works of authorsh
relating to the business of the Company or anyso$ubsidiaries, including, as applicable the righthe integrity of the work, tl
right to be associated with the work as its autiyoname or under a pseudonym and the right to rear@nymous. The Compe
has taken reasonable steps that are required esswy to protect the confidentiality of confidahtnformation and trade secr
of the Company or of any third party that has piled any confidential information or trade secretthe Company.

(m) No Government FundingNo government funding, facilities or resources aiiversity, college, oth
educational institution, multi-national, bi-natidma international governmeraffiliated organization or research center was uis
the development of the Company Intellectual Prgpertany Technology for the Company.
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(n) Open Source SoftwareSection 2.14(n)f the Disclosure Schedule lists all software ibatistribute
as “open source softwaret under a similar licensing or distribution modekluding but not limited to the GNU General Pa
License (GPL), GNU Lesser General Public LicengBRL), Mozilla Public License (MPL), BSD licensebgtArtistic License
the Netscape Public License, the Sun Community c®olicense (SCSL) the Sun Industry Standards LedB8$SL) and tk
Apache License) (collectively,Open Source Software) that has been incorporated into or used in theelgliof any Compar
Product or Future Product in any way and describesmanner in which such Open Source Software wearporated (sut
description shall include, without limitation, whet (and, if so, how) the Open Source Software mvadified and/or distribute
by the Company and whether (and if so, how) suckrnOpource Software was incorporated into and linkedny Compar
Intellectual Property). The Company has not useérOBource Software in any manner that would orddather than wit
respect to the Open Source Software itself) (iumeqthe disclosure or distribution in source cddem of any Compar
Intellectual Property, (ii) require the licensingamny Company Intellectual Property for the purpo$enaking derivative work
(iii) impose any restriction on the consideratiorbe charged for the distribution of any Compartgllactual Property, (iv) crea
or purport to create, obligations for the Companthwespect to Intellectual Property Rights owngdtie Company or grant,
purport to grant, to any third party, any rights iormunities under Intellectual Property Rights odrgy the Company,
(v) impose any other material limitation, restctj or condition on the right of the Company to oselistribute any Compa
Intellectual Property. With respect to any OpenrSelboftware that is or has been used by the Coynpaany way, the Compa
has been and is in compliance with all applicaickenises with respect thereto.

(0) Source Code Neither the Company, nor any other Person admgs behalf has disclosed, delive
or licensed to any Person, agreed to discloseyetadr license to any Person, or permitted thelaksice or delivery to any escr
agent or other Person of, any source code for amyp@ny Product or Future Product except for disckss to employee
contractors or consultants under binding writtereagents that prohibit use or disclosure excefiterperformances of service:
the Company.

(P) Personally Identifiable Information Section 2.14(p)of the Disclosure Schedule describes !
category of Personal Data collected by or for tben@Gany through any means, specifying which Comgnoglucts collect, stol
or otherwise process such categories of Person@. D&ie Company, all Company Products, all Futwadircts, all websits
operated by or for the Company, and all third paraicting on behalf of the Company comply, and lsways complied with &
applicable (i) Laws, (ii) Company Privacy Polici€si) obligations contained within Contracts to ieh it is or was a party or |
which it is or was bound, (iv) rules of applicaldelf+egulatory or other industry organizations by whitlis or was bour
(including, solely to the extent applicable, thel Fiata Security Standard and any other rules ofRhgment Card Indust
Security Standards Council), (v) fiduciary obligais, and (vi) published industry standards (to wipablished industry standa
the Company has committed publicly or contractutdlpdhere, or has stated that it will adhere tany internal policy documei
(collectively, “ Privacy Laws and Requirements”), relating to (A) the privacy of users of all websiteperated by or for t
Company, and all Company Products and Future Ptsd{8) marketing to, or other communications witlonsumers or
consumer protection; and (C) the collection, usgage, retention, disclosure, security, trangfesposal, interception, or any ot
processing of any Personal Data or Customer Datarldpr the Company or by third parties having autted access to a
Personal Data or Customer Data maintained by otherCompany. The Company Products and Future Ptsdand, to tr
Knowledge of the Company, the use thereof by custerfor their intended or advertised purposes Isgotoers in accordan
with the Companys Contracts with such customers, do not violate Rimyacy Laws and Requirements. The executionyels
and performance by the Company of this Agreement,the transfer of all Personal Data and Custonata [haintained by or f
the Company to Parent, is and will be compliantwaif Privacy
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Laws and Requirements. Copies of all current Comptivacy Policies have been provided to ParenthE2ompany Privac
Policy and all materials distributed by the Comphaye at all times made all disclosures to usedscastomers required of 1
Company by all Privacy Laws and Requirements, antkerof such disclosures made or contained in aaly 8ompany Privac
Policy or in any such materials has been inaccunaitdeading or deceptive or in violation of anyBcy Laws and Requiremer
The Company has obtained a written agreement frach subcontractor to which it has supplied Persbadh, or permitted

collect or process Personal Data or Customer Dathe Companyg behalf, that binds the subcontractor to implemeasonab
and appropriate means for protecting such Perdoatal and Customer Data consistent with all Priviaayws and Requiremen
There is not and has not been any complaint tangraudit, proceeding, investigation (formal ooimmhal) or claim against, any
the Company or any of their customers (in the azfseustomers, to the extent relating to the prastiof the Company, a
Company Product, or any website operated for ahbyCompany) by any private party, the Federal & @dmmission, any st:
attorney general or similar state official or anljey Governmental Entity, in each case with resfmetite collection, use, retenti
disclosure, transfer, interception, storage, dish@s other processing of Personal Data or Cust@aéa.

Q) Protection of Personal Data and Customer Datdth respect to all Personal Data and Customes
collected, stored, used, processed, or maintairyedrbfor the Company, the Company has at all tireden commercial
reasonable steps (including implementing and mdngocompliance with reasonable measures with sfetechnical ar
physical security), including without limitationvaritten information security program that includeasonable controls that hi
been regularly tested and reviewed, designed tarerthat such Personal Data and Customer Datararected against loss ¢
against unauthorized access, use, modificatiortgssing, disclosure or other misuse. No unauthbapeess to or other misust
such Personal Data or Customer Data, maintainext fiyr the Company, has occurred.

0] Bugs. The Company has made available to Parent iteicufas of the date hereof) list of known k
maintained by its development or quality contrabugys with respect to the Company Products. The @agnas disclosed
writing to Parent all material information relating any Known problem or issue with respect to ahyhe Company Produ
which adversely affects, or may reasonably be erpeto adversely affect, the value, functionalityfitness for the intend:
purpose of such Company Products. Without limiting generality of the foregoing, (i) except as ldised by the Company
writing to Parent, there have been, and are, nenmahtefects, malfunctions or nonconformities ny af the Company Produc
(i) there have been, and are, no claims assegeithst the Company or, to the Knowledge of the Camgpany of its customers
distributors, in each case related to the perfermance of the Company Products; and (iii)@Gmenpany has not been and is
required to recall any Company Products.

(s) Contaminants All Company Products (and all parts thereof) dmel Technology used to deliver
Company Products are free of any and all “back ddttme bomb,” “Trojan horse,” “worm,” “drop deadevice,” “virus” or othe
software routines or hardware components that parngiuthorized access to, or the unauthorized dis@nt or erasure of, st
Company Products and the Technology used to dediv€ompany Products (or all parts thereof) oadatother software of us
(* Contaminants ). The Company uses commercially reasonable measorpsevent the introduction of Contaminants
Company Products and the Technology used to dediV€ompany Products.

® Security MeasuresThe Company has appropriate disaster recovesingss continuity, and secul
plans and procedures for the operation of its lmssinand has taken reasonable steps consisterapyilicable Laws, applicat
guidelines published by any Government Entity wébpect to such Laws, Contracts (to which the Camgmor has been a patr
and industry standards (to which published industapdards the Company has committed publicly otractually to adhere,
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or has stated that it will adhere to in any intépalicy document) to safeguard the Company Prajube Future Products,
Technology used to deliver all Company Products Batlire Products (and all parts thereof), and ttierination technologc
systems utilized in the operation of the busindg® Company, from unauthorized intrusions or bhes of security. There he
been no unauthorized intrusions or breaches o$dlkarity of such Company Products, Future Prodd@shnology, or systen
Such disaster recovery and security plans, proesdund facilities for its business are specifie8ention 2.14(t)of the Disclosur
Schedule.

(u) Performance All Company Products perform in all material res{s in accordance with the des
specifications to which such Company Products wdenesloped. The User Documentation associated wighCompany Produ
contains no material errors, other than of a typphical nature. All installation services, prograimgnservices, integratit
services, repair services, maintenance servic@posuservices, training services, upgrade servaéres other services that hi
been performed by the Company were performed imatkrial respects in conformity with all applioalsvarranties made by |
Company and all applicable Laws.

2.15 Material Contracts

(&) Except as set forth 8ection 2.15(apf the Disclosure Schedule (specifying the appedprparagraph), as
the date hereof the Company is not a party topand by:

(i) (A) any employment, contractor or consulting agreetn contract or commitment with
employee or individual consultant, contractor, aesperson, other than anyvatl employment or services agreement provi
no severance or other pdstmination benefits (other than continuation cagerrequired by law), (B) any Contract to grant
severance, termination or changeeofitrol pay (in cash or otherwise) to any Employ®egC) any consulting or sales agreemnr
contract, or commitment with a firm or other orgaation;

(i) any agreement or plan, including any stock optilam pstock appreciation rights plan or st
purchase plan, any of the benefits of which willibereased, or the vesting of benefits of whichl Wwé accelerated or may
accelerated, by the occurrence of any of the tdimses contemplated by this Agreement or the valiany of the benefits
which will be calculated on the basis of any of ttemsactions contemplated by this Agreement;

(iii) any fidelity or surety bond or completion bond;

(iv) any lease of any real or personal property;

(v) any agreement of indemnification or guaranty, othen solely as a result of indemnificai
provisions contained in agreements with customeastners, suppliers, distributors, licensors, oerisees entered into in

ordinary course of business and made availablater®,

(vi) any agreement, contract or commitment relatingaoital expenditures and involving fut
payments in excess of $10,000 individually or $28,0 the aggregate;

(vii) any Contract relating to the disposition or acdiaisi of assets or any interest in any busi
enterprise outside the ordinary course of the Caryipadusiness;
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(viii) any mortgages, indentures, guarantees, loans datit cegyreements, secur
agreements or other agreements or instrumentiigetatthe borrowing of money or extension of ctedi

(ix) any purchase order or contract for the purchasenaterials or services involving futt
payments in excess of $50,000 annually;

(X) any joint marketing, joint venture, partnershipattgic alliance, affiliate or joint developm
agreement;

(xi) any hedging, swap, derivative, ISDA or similar CGant;

(xii) any dealer, distribution, sales representativgjimai equipment manufacturer, manufactui
value added, remarketer, reseller, or independeftivare vendor or other Contract for use or distiitm of the product
technology or services of the Company; or

(xiii) any other agreement, contract or commitment naratise disclosed i®ection 2.15
(a) of the Disclosure Schedule that involves $25,0@vidually or $75,000 in the aggregate or more.

(b) The Company has made available to Pareatana complete copies of each Contract that haslee@este
by Parent or its counsel, which shall be deemethdlude, but shall not be limited to, all Contractgjuired to be disclos
pursuant tdSections 2.2 2.12, 2.13, 2.14(including, for the avoidance of doubt, each Casitemntered into on a Standard F
Agreement) an@.15(each together with each material nondisclosurefidgentiality or similar agreement, aMaterial Contract
" and collectively, the ‘Material Contracts ") and each of the other documents listed on treelDsure Schedule.

(c) Each Material Contract to which the Compang party or any of its properties or assets (lhdretangible ¢
intangible) is subject is a valid and binding agneat of the Company, and, to the Knowledge of tben@any, each other pa
thereto, enforceable against the Company, andhettcKhowledge of the Company, each other party tbene accordance with
terms, and is in full force and effect with respecthe Company and, to the Knowledge of the Comppaach other party there
subject to (i) laws of general application relattogoankruptcy, insolvency fraudulent conveyaneerganization, moratorium a
other similar laws relating to or affecting cred#orights generally, and (ii) general principles ofuidg The Company is
compliance with and has not materially breachedlated or defaulted under, or received notice thhas materially breache
violated or defaulted under, any of the terms arditions of any Material Contract, nor to the Knedge of the Company is ¢
party obligated to the Company pursuant to any Net€ontract subject to any material breach, vtiolaor default thereund:
nor does the Company have Knowledge of any presenikting facts or circumstances that, with thesk of time, giving ¢
notice, or both would constitute such a materiaglabh, violation or default by the Company or anghsather party that wou
have a material adverse effect on the Companpugsess or its financial condition.

(d) The Company has fulfilled all material olalipns required to have been performed by the Caynparsuar
to each Material Contract.

(e) All outstanding Indebtedness for borrowedheoof the Company may be prepaid without penalty.
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2.16 _Interested Party Transactions

(@ No officer, director or Key Employee (ntw,the Knowledge of the Company, any Company Stolckdr o
any immediate family member of any officer, direct&ey Employee or Company Stockholder, or anyttrpsrtnership «
corporation in which any of such Persons has orHaasan interest) (each, aririterested Party "), has or has had, directly
indirectly, (i) any interest in any Person whichifighed or sold, or furnishes or sells, servicesdpcts, or technology that |
Company furnishes or sells, or proposes to furarsell, or (ii) any interest in any Person thatghases from or sells or furnisl
to the Company, any goods or services, or (iii) angrest in, or is a party to, any Contract to abhthe Company is a par
provided, however, that ownership of no more than one percent (1#ohe outstanding voting stock of a publicly tra
corporation shall not be deemed to be an “intaneahy Person” for purposes of tf8gction 2.16

(b) All transactions pursuant to which any Iested Party has purchased any services, produdsctiolog
from, or sold or furnished any services, productteohnology to, the Company that were entered antor after the inception
the Company have been on an arieisgth basis on terms no less favorable to the @omphan would be available from
unaffiliated party.

2.17 _Company Authorization$ection 2.170f the Disclosure Schedule sets forth each conbeanse, permit, grant
other authorization (i) pursuant to which the Compaurrently operates or holds any interest in aiys properties, or (ii) whic
is required for the operation of the Company’s besses as currently conducted or the holding ofani interest (collectively,
Company Authorizations”). All of the Company Authorizations have been issaedranted to the Company, are in full force
effect and constitute all Company Authorizationguieed to permit the Company to operate or condsdbusiness or hold a
interest in its properties or assets.

2.18 _Litigation. There is no action, suit, claim or proceedingaafy nature pending, or to the Knowledge of
Company, threatened, against the Company, its giepdtangible or intangible) or any of the Comgarofficers or directors (
their capacities as such), nor, to the KnowledgtefCompany, are there any presently existing factircumstances that wo
constitute a reasonable basis for any action, daitn or proceeding that would have a materialeask effect on the Company,
business or its financial condition. There is neestigation, audit, or other proceeding pendingtorthe Knowledge of tt
Company, threatened, against the Company, its giepdtangible or intangible) or any of the Comgarofficers or directors (
their capacities as such) by or before any GoventahdEntity, nor, to the Knowledge of the Compaaye there any preser
existing facts or circumstances that would conigifureasonable basis for any investigation, aurditther proceeding that wol
have a material adverse effect on the Companygusiness or its financial condition. No Governmkmiatity has at any tin
challenged or questioned the legal right of the @amy to conduct its operations as presently oripusly conducted or .
currently contemplated to be conducted. There iaation, suit, claim or proceeding of any naturedieg or, to the Knowledge
the Company, threatened against any director acevfior other Person who has a contractual righé eight pursuant to tl
Charter Documents, Delaware Law or California Lavwnidemnification from the Company related to thet$ and circumstanc
existing prior to the Closing Date, nor are théoethe Knowledge of the Company, any presentlytexjsfacts or circumstanc
that would give rise to such an action, suit, claimproceeding that would have a material adveffeeteon the Company,
business or its financial condition.

2.19 _Minute Books The minutes of the Company made available torRa&@ntain complete and accurate records
material actions taken, and summaries of all mgstheld, by the Company Stockholders, the Boaiactors of the Compa
(and any committees thereof) since the time of ipo@ation of the Company. The Company has not esdjag any materi
transaction, maintained any
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bank account or used any material amount of cotpdtads except as reflected in its normally maired books and records.
the Closing, the minute books and other books aodrds will be in the possession of the Company.

2.20 _Environmental Matters

(@ No amount of any substance that has bedgrdgsd by any Governmental Entity or by applicdeleral
foreign, state or local law to be radioactive, thxiazardous or otherwise a danger to health, deption or the environmel
including PCBs, asbestos, petroleum, and urea fdehgde and all substances listed as hazardousasigbs pursuant to 1
Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensatimhl_iability Act of 1980, as amended, or defiresda hazardous wa
pursuant to the United States Resource ConservatdnRecovery Act of 1976, as amended, and thdatons promulgate
pursuant to said laws (aHazardous Material ) is present in, on or under any property, includimgland and the improvemel
ground water and surface water thereof, that th@gamy has at any time owned, operated, occupidelased (excluding offic
and janitorial supplies properly and safely maimdal).

(b) The Company has not exposed its employeeshers to Hazardous Materials in violation of &y or in ¢
manner that would result in Liability to the Companor has the Company disposed of, transportdd, eo manufactured a
product containing a Hazardous Material (any orddllthe foregoing being collectively referred tordia as “Hazardous
Materials Activities ") in violation of any rule, regulation, license, péntreaty or statute promulgated by any Governml
Entity to prohibit, regulate or control Hazardousatktials or any Hazardous Materials Activities.

(c) The Company does not have, and is not requio have any environmental approvals, permicgnbe:s
clearances or consents in connection with its lassiror facilities. The Company has not entered amy agreement that rr
require it to guarantee, reimburse, pledge, defeald, harmless or indemnify any other party withpect to Liabilities arising o
of or relating to the Hazardous Materials Acti\gtigf the Company or any third party.

(d) The Company is not in violation of any applile statute, law, or regulation relating to theimnment o
occupational health and safety, and to the Knovdenfgghe Company, no material expenditures areilbibe required in order
comply with any such existing statute, law or regioh.

2.21 _Brokersand FindersFees. Except as set forth iSection 2.210f the Disclosure Schedule, the Company ha
incurred, or will not incur, directly or indirectiany Liability for brokerage or finders’ fees ayemts’commissions, fees relatec
investment banking or similar advisory servicesaay similar charges in connection with this Agreamer any transactic
contemplated hereby, nor will Parent or the Comganwr, directly or indirectly, any such Liabilityased on arrangements m
by or on behalf of the Company.

2.22 Employee Benefit Plans and Compensation

(@) Definitions. For all purposes of this Agreement, the followtegms shall have the following respec
meanings:

“ COBRA " shall mean the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Ratation Act of 1985, as amended.
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“ Company Employee Plar’ shall mean any plan, program, policy, practice trzan, agreement or ott
arrangement providing for compensation, severaecmination pay, deferred compensation, performaweards, stock or sto
related awards, welfare benefits, fringe benefitetber employee benefits or remuneration of amg kivhether written, unwritte
or otherwise, funded or unfunded, including eaamp®yee benefit plan,Within the meaning of Section 3(3) of ERISA whic
or has been maintained, contributed to, or requipdae contributed to, by the Company or any ERFS#liate for the benefit ¢
any Employee, or with respect to which the Company ERISA Affiliate has or may have any Liabilitpdhany Internation
Employee Plan but excluding any Employee Agreement.

“ DOL ” shall mean the United States Department of Labor.

“ Employee” shall mean any current or former employee, consylindependent contractor or direc
of the Company or any ERISA Affiliate.

“ Employee Agreement’ shall mean each management, employment, seversegar,ation, settleme
consulting, contractor, relocation, bonus, repttiga expatriation, loan, visa, work permit or athritten agreement, or contr
(including, any offer letter or any agreement pdinvg for acceleration of Company Options or Comp@apital Stock subject tc
right of repurchase in favor of the Company) betwtee Company or any ERISA Affiliate and any Em@eyand under whis
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate has or may hawg Liability.

“ ERISA " shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Seciat of 1974, as amended.

“ ERISA Affiliate " shall mean each Subsidiary of the Company and #mr current or former Pers
or entity under common control with the Companyhimtthe meaning of Section 414(b), (c), (m) or ¢d)the Code, and t
regulations issued thereunder.

“ FMLA " shall mean the Family Medical Leave Act of 1988,amended.
“ HIPAA " shall mean the Health Insurance Portability amdduntability Act of 1996, as amended.

“ International Employee Plan” shall mean each Company Employee Plan or Emplogeeetnent thi
has been adopted or maintained by the CompanyyoERISA Affiliate, whether formally or informallyor with respect to whic
the Company or any ERISA Affiliate will or may hasay Liability, for the benefit of Employees whorfoem services outside t
United States.

“IRS " shall mean the United States Internal RevenugiSzr

“ Pension Plan” shall mean each Company Employee Plan that iemployee pension benefit plan,”
within the meaning of Section 3(2) of ERISA.

“ WARN ” shall mean the Worker Adjustment and Retrainirajifitation Act.

(b) _ScheduleSection 2.22(b)pf the Disclosure Schedule contains an accurateamglete list of each matel
Company Employee Plan and each material Employaeehgent. Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affdidias made a
plan or commitment to establish or enter into aeyw ICompany Employee Plan or Employee Agreememhaddify any Compar
Employee Plan or Employee Agreement (except t@tent required by law or to conform any such Camygamployee Plan
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or Employee Agreement to the requirements of ampfiegble law, in each case as previously discldasedlarent in writing, or i
required by this Agreement) or the terms of thdiapple Company Employee Plan or Employee Agreement

(c) _Documents The Company has made available to Parent (iecband complete copies of all docum
embodying each Company Employee Plan and each Ee®lagreement including all amendments theretoahcklated trus
documents, (ii) the three most recent annual regéiarm Series 5500 and all schedules and finastaééments attached there
if any, required under ERISA or the Code or by ather applicable law in connection with each Conypamployee Plan, (iii)
the Company Employee Plan is funded, the most tea@mual and periodic accounting of such Companpleyee Plan asse
(iv) the most recent summary plan description tegewith the summary(ies) of material modificatidhereto, if any, require
under ERISA or by any other applicable law withpexst to each Company Employee Plan, (v) all mdtesigien agreements a
contracts relating to each Company Employee Plaeiuding administrative service agreements and @iogurance contrac
(vi) each affirmative action plan, if applicablejiY all communications material to any EmployeeEmployees relating to a
Company Employee Plan and any proposed Company demlPlan, in each case, relating to any amendimmntsinations
establishments, increases or decreases in berefitsleration of payments or vesting scheduleshar @vents which would res
in any Liability to the Company, (viii) all corregpdence to or from any Governmental Entity relatmgny Company Employ
Plan other than routine correspondence in the Hocmase of operations of such Company Employee,Rl&) model COBR;/
forms and related notices, (x) policies pertaintogfiduciary liability insurance covering the fidades for each Compa
Employee Plan, (xi) all discrimination tests fockaCompany Employee Plan for the three most reglamt years, and (xii) tl
most recent IRS (or any other applicable tax aitfjodetermination or opinion letter issued withspect to each Compe
Employee Plan.

(d) _Employee Plan Complianc&he Company and its ERISA Affiliates have perfedhall material obligatior
required to be performed by them under, are ndefault or violation of, and, as of the date hereeither the Company nor ¢
ERISA Affiliate has any Knowledge of any materiafault or violation by any other party to, any Canp Employee Plan a
Employee Agreement, and each Company Employee &tdnEmployee Agreement has been established anutainaid it
accordance with its terms and in material compkawnith all applicable laws, statutes, orders, rdad regulations, includil
ERISA or the Code. Any Company Employee Plan inteintb be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Chds obtained
favorable determination letter (or opinion lettérapplicable) as to its qualified status under thede. For each Compe
Employee Plan that is intended to be qualified urection 401(a) of the Code, there has been noterecondition that hi
adversely affected or is likely to adversely affscich qualified status. No “prohibited transactiowjthin the meaning «
Section 4975 of the Code or Sections 406 and 4ERIEA, and not otherwise exempt under SectiongfBRISA, has occurre
with respect to any Company Employee Plan. Thezenaractions, suits or claims pending or, to thewdedge of the Compa
or any ERISA Affiliates, threatened or reasonabfficpated (other than routine claims for benefitgjainst any Compa
Employee Plan or against the assets of any Comiarployee Plan. Each Company Employee Plan can leaded, terminate
or otherwise discontinued after the Effective Timeccordance with its terms, without material liit§pto Parent, the Compa
or any ERISA Affiliate (other than ordinary adminegion expenses). There are no audits, inquingsraceedings pending or
the Knowledge of the Company or any ERISA Affiletehreatened by the IRS, DOL, or any other Govemtal Entity witt
respect to any Company Employee Plan. Neither thep2ny nor any ERISA Affiliate is subject to anynplty or Tax witl
respect to any Company Employee Plan under Sesfia(i) of ERISA or Sections 4975 through 4980 & @ode. The Compa
and each ERISA Affiliate have timely made all cdnitions and other payments required by and duerwtiee terms of ea
Company Employee Plan.
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(e) No Pension Plan Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate hagere maintained, establishi
sponsored, participated in, or contributed to, Ragision Plan subject to Part 3 of Subtitle B dTiof ERISA, Title IV of ERIS/
or Section 412 of the Code.

(/)  No Self Insured Plan Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate hagee maintained, establishi
sponsored, participated in or contributed to arftissured group health plan (within the meaning oft®a 5000(b)(1) of tr
Code) that provides benefits to Employees (inclgdiny such plan pursuant to which a stop loss policontract applies).

(g) Collectively Bargained, Multiemployer anduldple Employer Plan At no time has the Company or
ERISA Affiliate contributed to or been obligateddontribute to any multiemployer plan (as definedSection 3(37) of ERISA
Neither the Company nor any ERISA Affiliate has aaty time ever maintained, established, sponsoradicipated in c
contributed to any multiple employer plan or to ggn described in Section 413 of the Code.

(h) _No Post Employment Obligation€Except as set forth iBection 2.22(h)of the Disclosure Schedule,
Company Employee Plan or Employee Agreement prayidereflects or represents any Liability to po®yi post termination
retiree life insurance, health or other employedfase benefits to any Person for any reason, exaspiay be required
COBRA or other applicable statute and except fotiooation of coverage through the month of terrtigmaif required pursua
to such Company Employee Plan, and the Compangdwas represented, promised or contracted (whéathaal or written form
to any Employee (either individually or to Emplogeses a group) or any other Person that such Engysyer other Person wol
be provided with life insurance, health or othepéoyee welfare benefits potgrmination, except to the extent required by $a

(i) COBRA; EMLA; HIPAA . The Company and each ERISA Affiliate has, priorthe Effective Time
complied with COBRA, FMLA, HIPAA, the Women’s Hehland Cancer Rights Act of 1998, the Newborns’ lslinthers’ Healtt
Protection Act of 1996, and any similar provisiafsforeign or state law applicable to its Employeescompliance with tho:
provisions has been delegated to a third-party midtmator, and the Company does not have Knowledigey noneompliance b
such administrator. The Company has no materiatigfied obligations to any Employees or qualifeheficiaries pursuant
COBRA, HIPAA or any state law governing health ceogerage or extension.

() Effect of TransactionExcept as set forth iBection 2.22(j)of the Disclosure Schedule, neither the exec
and delivery of this Agreement nor the consummatitie transactions contemplated hereby or amgitettion of employment
service in connection therewith will (i) result Bny payment (including severance, golden parachuieus or otherwise
becoming due to any Employee, (ii) result in anygiieeness of Indebtedness, (iii) materially inceeasy benefits otherwi
payable by the Company or (iv) result in the olilmas to fund, or the acceleration of the time afment or vesting of, any st
benefits, except as required under Section 411)(df({®e Code.

(k) Employment Matters The Company is in compliance with all applicafdecign, federal, state and lo
laws, rules and regulations, collective bargairggeements and arrangements, extension ordersiraidgocustoms respecti
employment, employment practices, terms and canmditiof employment, worker classification, tax withtding, prohibites
discrimination, equal employment, fair employmenagtices, meal and rest periods, immigration sta¢énsployee safety a
health and wages and hours (including overtime gjagad in each case, with respect to Employegekag withheld and report
all amounts required by law or by agreement to bheld and reported with respect to wages, saarel other payments
Employees, (ii) is not liable for any arrears ofgega, severance pay or any Taxes or any penalfifare to comply with any «
the foregoing, and (iii) is not liable for any pagmt to any trust or other fund governed by or nzdived by or on behalf of
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any Governmental Entity, with respect to unemplogtr@mpensation benefits, social security or oberefits or obligations f
Employees (other than routine payments to be madeei normal course of business and consistentpeitth practice). There
no actions, suits, claims or administrative matteesnding or, to the Knowledge of the Company, temad or reasonat
anticipated against the Company or any of its Egg®s relating to any Employee, Employee Agreeme@ampany Employe
Plan. There are no pending or, to the KnowledgthefCompany, threatened or reasonably anticipdeehg or actions agair
Company or any Company trustee under any waskenmpensation policy or long term disability pplidhe Company is n
party to a conciliation agreement, consent decneetber agreement or order with any federal, sttdocal agency «
governmental authority with respect to employmensicfices. The services provided by each of the @Gmyip and its ERIS.
Affiliates’ Employees are terminable at the will of the Compang its ERISA Affiliates and any such terminatiwould result i
no Liability to the Company or any ERISA Affiliatether than claims for severance pay and benefitseasforth below
Section 2.22(k)of the Disclosure Schedule lists all Liabilitiestbé Company to any Employee that result from ¢énmination b
the Company or Parent of such Emplogeemployment or provision of services, a changeasftrol of the Company, or
combination thereof. The Company does not havenaagrial Liability with respect to any misclass#ion of: (a) any Person
an independent contractor rather than as an emmld{® any employee leased from another employeKcany employe
currently or formerly classified as exempt from divee wages.

()  Labor. No strike, labor dispute, slowdown, concertedisaf to work overtime, or work stoppage or I
strike against the Company is pending, or to thewidadge of the Company, threatened, or reasonattigipated. The Compa
does not have Knowledge of any activities or prdoggs of any labor union to organize any currenpleyees. There are
actions, suits, claims, labor disputes or grievangending or, to the Knowledge of the Company, ateeed or reasonal
anticipated relating to any labor matters involvary current employee, including charges of uriédor practices. The Compe
has not engaged in any unfair labor practices withe meaning of the National Labor Relations Adte Company is n
presently, nor has it been in the past, a partgrtboundby, any collective bargaining agreement or arrareggror union contra
with respect to Employees, and no collective baniggi agreement is being negotiated by the Compa@ihg. Company has r
taken any action which would constitute a “plamisihg” or “mass layoffwithin the meaning of the WARN Act or similar stas
local law, issued any notification of a plant ctagior mass layoff required by the WARN Act or simniktate or local law,
incurred any Liability or obligation under WARN any similar state or local law that remains un$iatls No terminations prior
the Closing Date would trigger any notice or otbleligations under the WARN Act or similar statdaeal law.

(m) No Interference or ConflictTo the Knowledge of the Company, no stockhold&gctor, officer, employe
or consultant of the Company is obligated under @mpntract or subject to any judgment, decree, demiof any court «
administrative agency that would interfere with lsuersors efforts to promote the interests of the Companyhat woulc
interfere with the Company’s business. Neithergkecution nor delivery of this Agreement, nor therging on of the Company’
business as presently conducted or proposed tormucted nor any activity of such officers, diresieemployees or consulta
in connection with the carrying on of the Companpusiness as presently conducted or proposed toriucted will, to tr
Knowledge of the Company, conflict with or resuita breach of the terms, conditions, or provisiofjsor constitute a defau
under, any Contract under which any of such officdirectors, employees, or consultants are nowdbou

(n) International Employee PlansEach International Employee Plan has been eshadnli maintained a
administered in compliance with its terms and ctons and with the material requirements prescrimedny and all statutory
regulatory laws that are applicable to such Intéonal Employee Plan. Furthermore, no Internatidraployee Plan has unfunc
liabilities, that as of the Effective Time, will hbe offset by insurance or fully accrued. Exceptegjuired by law, no
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condition exists that would prevent the Companyarent from terminating or amending any Internatid@mployee Plan at a
time for any reason without Liability to the Compaor its ERISA Affiliates (other than ordinary admstration expenses
routine claims for benefits).

(o) _Certain Employee MatterSection 2.22(o)pf the Disclosure Schedule contains a completeaaodrate lis
of the current employees of the Company as of #te dereof and shows with respect to each suchogewl(i) the employeg’
name, position held, base salary or hourly wage et applicable, including each employee’s detigmas either exempt or non-
exempt from the overtime requirements of the Fabdr Standards Act, and commission, profit sharingentive, bonus al
benefits arrangements between the Company andseabhemployee, (ii) the date of hire, (iii) vacatieligibility for the currer
calendar year (including accrued vacation fromrpyears), (iv) leave status (including type of leagxpected return date for non
disability related leaves and expiration datesdieability leaves), (v) visa status, (vi) the naofi@ny union, collective bargaini
agreement or other similar labor agreement covesagh employee, (vii) accrued sick days for theremir calendar ye:
(viii) relevant prior notice period required in tegent of termination, (ix) eligibility for Compargar or travel expenses, (X)
severance or termination payment (in cash or otisejvto which any employee is entitled, and (x@m@age ovetime payment
per month during the preceding twelve-month periazithe Knowledge of the Company, no employeedisteSection 2.22(opf
the Disclosure Schedule intends to terminate hiseoremployment for any reason, other than in atzoare with the employme
arrangements provided for in this Agreement.

(p) Section 2.22(p)f the Disclosure Schedule contains an accuratecamgblete list of (i) all Persons that h
or in the past have had a consulting or advisdgtiomship with the Company, (ii) with respect trrent consultants and advist
the start and end dates of such consulting or agvislationships, and (iii) with respect to cutreonsultants and advisors,
location at which such consulting or advisory seggihave been or are provided.

2.23 _Insurance Section 2.230f the Disclosure Schedule lists all insurance gieéi and fidelity bonds covering -
assets, business, equipment, properties, operatnployees, officers and directors of the Compangiuding the type «
coverage, the carrier, the amount of coverage,tdh@ and the annual premiums of such policies. herno claim by tt
Company pending under any of such policies or bawdt which coverage has been questioned, deniduted or that tl
Company has a reason to believe will be deniedsputed by the underwriters of such policies ordsorin addition, there is
pending claim for which its total value (inclusieé¢ defense expenses) the Company expects to exbeepolicy limits. Al
premiums due and payable under all such policielsbamds have been paid, (or if installment paymargsdue, will be paid
incurred prior to the Closing Date), and the Conypiarotherwise in material compliance with the teraf such policies and bor
(or other policies and bonds providing substantialmilar insurance coverage). Such policies anddbdor other policies a
bonds providing substantially similar coverage)éaeen in effect for the past three years and reiédull force and effect. Tt
Company does not have any Knowledge of threateerdiriation of, or premium increase with respectatoy of such policie
The Company has never maintained, establishedsepeah, participated in or contributed to any se#furance plan.

2.24 _Compliance with LawsThe Company has complied with, has not beendtation of, and has not received .
notices of suspected, potential, or actual viokatidth respect to, any material foreign, federttesor local Law.

2.25 _Export Control Laws

. The Company has at all times during the pa#t figars, conducted its export transactions in decme with (i) a
applicable U.S. export and reexport controls, idelg the United States Export Administration ActldRegulations and Forei
Assets Control
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Regulations and (ii) all other applicable imporgier controls in other countries in which the Compaonducts business. With:
limiting the foregoing:

(@) The Company has obtained all export and rinligenses, license exceptions and other conseots;es
waivers, approvals, orders, authorizations, regfistns, declarations and filings with any Governtakgntity required for (i) tr
export, import and reexport of products, servicasffware and technologies and (ii) releases ofneldygies and software
foreign nationals located in the United Statesamad (“Export Approvals ”);

(b) The Company is in compliance with the teohall applicable Export Approvals;

(c) There are no pending or, to the Knowledgehef Company, threatened claims against the Compati
respect to such Export Approvals;

(d) To the Knowledge of the Company, there argpresently existing facts or circumstances pertgito the
Companys export transactions that would constitute a neasie basis for any future claims with respectuichsExport Approva
that would have a material adverse effect on tha@my, its business or its financial condition;

(e) No Export Approvals for the transfer of exgdicenses to Parent or the Company are requinesiich Expo
Approvals can be obtained expeditiously withouteriat cost; and

(H  Section 2.25(f) of the Disclosure Schedule sets forth the true, pdete and accurate export con
classifications applicable to the Company’s progusérvices, software and technologies.

2.26 _AntiCorruption Laws Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiaridfcers, directors, employees, contro
affiliates, agents, or other Person acting on thelralf has, directly or indirectly:

(@) taken any action which would cause it tarbeiolation of the United States Foreign Corrupadices Act ¢
1977, as amended, United States Travel Act, Urteddom Bribery Act of 2010, Organization of EcongnCooperation ar
Development Convention on Combating Bribery of kgmePublic Officials in International Business Tsactions, or any simil
commercial or public anti-corruption or atiibery laws or legal requirements applicable ®@ompany or any of its Subsidial
in any jurisdiction (collectively hereinafterAnti-Corruption Laws ");

(b) used any corporate funds for unlawful conttitns, gifts, travel, entertainment or other urflavexpense
relating to political activity;

(c) made, offered, attempted or authorized amgwful payment or other thing of value to foreigndomesti
government officials (including officials or emplegs of companies or organizations that are ownezbitrolled by a foreic
government);

(d) made, offered, attempted or authorized anhkawiful payment or other thing of value to any membi
candidate of a foreign or domestic political party;

(e) made, offered, attempted or authorized antgwful payment or other thing of value to employee officials
of any public international organizations;
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(H made, offered, attempted or authorized atilyel) rebate, payoff, influence payment, kickbaclotier simila
unlawful payment to any person in violation of thati-Corruption Laws; or

(g) established or maintained any fund or agsetany such purpose that was not properly recolidethe
Company’s books and records.

Neither the Company nor any of its Subsidiariespthrer entities under the control of the same, haweducted an interr
investigation, received a whistleblower complaortpeen informally or formally investigated, chatger prosecuted, for condi
related to applicable AntCorruption Laws. The Company has established seiffianternal controls and procedures to er
compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws.

2.27 _State Takeover StatuteBne Board of Directors of the Company has takeaction necessary to ensure that
restrictions on business combinations containdddlaware Law or any other applicable law will npply to the Merger and t
other transactions contemplated by this Agreemidot.other “fair price,” “moratorium,” “control sharacquisition” or othe
similar anti-takeover statute or regulation or amti-takeover provision in the CompasyCharter Documents is, or at
Effective Time (following the effectiveness of ti@ertificate Amendment) will be, applicable to thentpany, the shares
Company Capital Stock, the Merger or the othersiaahons contemplated by this Agreement.

2.28 Complete Copies of Material§he Company has made available to Parent truecantgplete copies of ea
document (or summaries of the same if copies ateawailable) that has been requested in writingPlayent or its couns
including all Contracts and other documents listedhe Disclosure Schedule.

2.29 _Representations Complefo the Knowledge of the Company, none of thees@ntations or warranties made
the Company (as modified by the Disclosure Schédulthis Agreement, and none of the statementsemmadny exhibit, schedt
or certificate furnished by the Company pursuarthie Agreement contains any untrue statement ofterial fact, or omits
state any material fact necessary in order to nfaketatements contained herein or therein, itighé of the circumstances uni
which made, not misleading.

ARTICLE Il
REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES OF PARENT AND SUB

Each of Parent and Sub hereby represents and wsatoaiie Company on the date hereof as follows:

3.1 Organization Each of Parent and Sub is a corporation dulyrpm@ted, validly existing and in good stanc
under the laws of the State of Delaware. Each odrRaand Sub has the requisite corporate poweratitrity to own, lease a
operate its assets and properties and to carrg dnusiness as it is now being conducted.

3.2 _Authority and EnforceabilityEach of Parent and Sub has all requisite corpgratver and authority to enter i
this Agreement and any Related Agreements to witisha party and to consummate the transactionsecgplated hereby a
thereby. The execution and delivery by each of itaaed Sub of this Agreement and any Related Ageeé¢sito which it is a pat
and the consummation of the transactions conteetplareby and thereby have been duly authorizedl by
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necessary corporate action on the part of ParehSab. This Agreement and any Related Agreementitch Parent and Sub
parties have been duly executed and delivered bgnPand Sub and, assuming the due authorizatiemtuéon and delivery |
the other parties hereto and thereto constitutevétid and binding obligations of Parent and Sulfpeceable against each
Parent and Sub in accordance with their terms,estldp (i) laws of general application relating bankruptcy, insolvenc
fraudulent conveyance, reorganization, moratoriumd ather similar laws relating to or affecting dateds’ rights generally ar
(i) general principles of equity.

3.3 _No Conflict The execution and delivery by Parent and SulbiefAgreement and any Related Agreement to v
Parent or Sub is a party, and the consummationeofransactions contemplated hereby and thereliynatiresult in any violatio
of or default under (with or without notice or lapsf time, or both) any provision of Parent’s obSucertificate of incorporatic
or bylaws.

3.4 _Cash ResourceRarent has sufficient cash resources to pay ¢ted Tonsideration pursuant to this Agreement.
ARTICLE IV

CONDUCT PRIOR TO THE CLOSING

4.1 _Conduct of Business of the Comparjuring the period from the date of this Agreemamdl continuing until tt
earlier of the termination of this Agreement or @lesing, the Company shall operate the businetiseo€ompany in the ordine
course of business consistent with past practited| imaterial respects, except (x) as specificdiclosed inSection 4.10f the
Disclosure Schedule, (y) with the prior written sent of Parent (the decision with respect to wiigh not be unreasonakt
withheld or delayed) or (z) as specifically contdaigd by this Agreement or as requested by Paodioting the date hereof, t
Company shall take any action specifically requiebie Parent that does not materially deviate froendperation of the Compe
in the ordinary course of business consistent Wathpast practices. Notwithstanding the foregoexgept as set forth in clau:
(x), (y) and (z) above, the Company shall not framd after the date of this Agreement:

(&) make any expenditure or enter into any camemt or transaction exceeding $10,000 individuafl$25,00
in the aggregate;

(b) (i) sell or license or transfer to any Persmy rights to any Company Intellectual Propertyrechnology ¢
enter into any agreement with respect to any Compatellectual Property or Technology with any Rer®r with respect to a
Intellectual Property Rights or Technology of amgrddn (other than noexclusive agreements to provide Company Produr
Future Products to engsers pursuant to agreements that have been emerdd the ordinary course of business consisiétit
past practices that do not materially differ in stabbce from the Standard Form Agreements), (ii) twujicense any Intellectt
Property Rights or Technology or enter into anyeagrent with respect to the Intellectual Propertyhi®& or Technology of al
Person, (iii) enter into any agreement with respedhe development of any Intellectual Propertgh® or Technology with
third party, or (iv) terminate, fail to renew, ald@am, cancel, let lapse, fail to continue to proseawr defend any Compa
Intellectual Property;

(c) terminate or extend, or materially amendiveiamodify, or violate the terms of, any Contrdciclosed o
the Disclosure Schedule (or agree to do so), @remto any new Contract;
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(d) enter into or materially amend, waive or iifpthe terms of any Contract pursuant to which attyer part
is granted marketing, distribution, developmensiarilar rights of any type or scope with respecany Company Products, Fut
Products or Technology;

(e) modify or remove any Company Privacy Polioy,publish or make available any new Company Ry
Palicy;

() create any new Liability of any kind in exsseof $20,000 other than as required to consumthat®lerger;
(g) initiate or settle any litigation, other tht enforce its rights under this Agreement;

(h) declare, set aside, or pay any dividendsonmake any other distributions (whether in cagbcls ol
property) in respect of any Company Capital Staclksplit, combine or reclassify any Company Capf#talck or issue or author
the issuance of any other securities in respedndieu of or in substitution for shares of Compddapital Stock, or repurcha
redeem or otherwise acquire, directly or indirectiny shares of Company Capital Stock (or optievesrants or other righ
exercisable therefor) except in accordance withPfae or the agreements governing the Company @ptaotstanding as of t
date hereof;

(i) issue, grant, deliver or sell or authorizeppopose the issuance, grant, delivery or saleiofjurchase |
propose the purchase of, any shares of CompanyaC&bock or any securities convertible into, dbstriptions, rights, warrar
or options to acquire, or other agreements or camerits of any character obligating it to issue wrchase any such share:
other convertible securities, other than issuant€ompany Capital Stock pursuant to exercisesarh@any Options or Compa
Warrants in accordance with their terms;

() cause or permit any amendments to the Compzertificate of Incorporation, Company Bylaws dh&
organizational documents of the Company (whethanbyger or otherwise);

(k) acquire or agree to acquire by merging arsotidating with, or by purchasing any assets aitgcecuritie
of, or by any other manner, any business or anpacation, partnership, association or other busiregganization or divisic
thereof, or otherwise acquire or agree to acquiseassets which are material, individually or ie #iggregate, to the Compasy’
business;

() enter into any agreement to purchase ora®ll interest in real property, grant any securitgrest in ree
property, enter into any lease, sublease, licensgth@r occupancy agreement with respect to anypregerty or alter, amer
modify or terminate any of the terms of any Leaggegments;

(m) incur or guarantee any Indebtedness or isswsell any debt securities or guarantee any debuarities ¢
other obligations of others or create a Lien over af its assets;

(n) grant any loans to others or purchase deturgies of others or amend the terms of any anthg loa
agreement;

(o) grant any severance or termination pay #ish¢ equity or otherwise) to any Employee, inclgdiny officer
of the Company, except payments made pursuantegocCtmpany Employee Plans set forth in the Disciwsschedule ar
provided to Parent or pursuant to standard writtgreements outstanding on the date hereof andoséstlin the Disclosu
Schedule;
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(p) hire, offer to hire or terminate any Emplegeor encourage any Employees to resign from trepany, c
make any representations or issue any communicatiemployees that are inconsistent with this Agrent or the transactic
contemplated thereby, including any representatiegarding offers of employment from Parent ex@gpbtherwise required
the terms of this Agreement;

(@) adopt, amend or fail to maintain any Comp&nyployee Plan, enter into any employment contizey, o
agree to pay any special bonus or special remuoergd any director or Employee of the Company,mrease or agree
increase the salaries, wage rates, or other corapen®r benefits of its Employees (whether throtlghpayment of, or agreem
to pay, bonus amounts or otherwise) except paynmeatie pursuant to this Agreement or standard wrégreements outstand
on the date hereof and disclosed in the DiscloSahedule;

() revalue any of its assets (whether tangdvléntangible), including, without limitation, witg off notes ¢
accounts receivable, settle, discount or compromise accounts receivable, or reverse any reseryes than in the ordina
course of business and consistent with past peactic

(s) pay, discharge, waive or satisfy, in an amban excess of $10,000 in any one case, or $25/00b¢
aggregate, any claim, Liability, loan or obligati@absolute, accrued, asserted or unasserted, gentior otherwise), other tr
the payment, discharge or satisfaction in the amjirtourse of business of Liabilities reflected@served against in the Curr
Balance Sheet;

(t) make or change any Tax election, adopt angke any Tax accounting method, enter into anyirg
agreement or Tax ruling, settle or compromise aay dlaim or assessment, consent to any extensiaraimer of the limitatio
period applicable to any Tax claim or assessmerilecany amended Tax Return;

(u) enter into any license, distribution, resellDEM, joint venture or joint marketing or anyndar arrangeme
or agreement (other than non-exclusive licenseahefCompany Products or Future Products tous®is pursuant to agreeme
that have been entered into in the ordinary cowfsbusiness consistent with past practices thahalomaterially differ i
substance from the Standard Form Agreements);

(v) modify any benefits or other compensation of emgésyof or other services providers to the Comg

(w) adopt or change the Compasyaccounting policies or procedures, including wehpect to reserv
for excess or obsolete inventory, doubtful accoumt®ther reserves, depreciation or amortizatiolicigs or rates, billing ar
invoicing policies, or payment or collection poésior practices; or

(x) take, commit or agree in writing or otherwise tketaany of the actions describedSections 4.1(e
through4.1(w), inclusive.

4.2 No Solicitation

(@ Until the earlier of (i) the Closing, or)(the date of termination of this Agreement pursuarthe provisior
of Section 8.1hereof, the Company shall not, nor shall the Compgaermit any of its officers, directors, membenmpboyees
stockholders, agents, representatives or affiliGdash, a ‘Company Representative’) to, directly or indirectly, take any of t
following
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actions with any party other than Parent and isgiees: (A) solicit, initiate, participate or kniogly encourage any negotiatic
or discussions with respect to any offer or proptsacquire all or any portion of the Compasyusiness or properties, or
equity interest in the Company or shares of Compaayital Stock or any rights to acquire any shafeSompany Capital Sto
or other equity interests in the Company, regasdtédghe form of transaction (aCompeting Transaction”), or effect any suc
transaction, (B) disclose any information to anysBa concerning the business or properties of thegany, or afford to ai
Person access to the Compangtoperties, books or records other than in tiénary course of business, (C) assist or coop
with any Person to make any proposal regarding af@ting Transaction, or (D) enter into any agrednveith any Persc
providing for a Competing Transaction. In the eviatt the Company or any Company Representativié refltaive, prior to th
Closing or the termination of this Agreement in @dance withSection 8.1hereof, any offer, proposal, or request, directl
indirectly, of the type referenced in clause (AJ) br (D) above, or any request for disclosure areas as referenced in cla
(B) above, the Company shall, or shall cause summg@ny Representative to, immediately (x) terminatspend or otherwi
discontinue any and all discussions or other natiotis with such Person with regard to such offpreposals, or requests
(y) notify Parent thereof, including information tsthe identity of the Person making any suchraffeproposal and the spec
terms of such offer or proposal, as the case mawit such other information related thereto agmanay reasonably requs
including, but not limited to a copy thereof orwarsnary of the principal terms of any such inquoifer or proposal that is not
writing.

(b) The parties hereto agree that irreparabimheould occur in the event that the provisionghid Section 4.:
were not performed in accordance with their speddirms or were otherwise breached. It is accotglingreed by the parti
hereto that Parent shall be entitled to an immediginction or injunctions, without the necessifyproving the inadequacy
money damages as a remedy and without the nece$gisting any bond or other security, to prevmetiches of the provisic
of this Section 4.2and to enforce specifically the terms and provisibareof in any court of the United States or d@ateshavin
jurisdiction, this being in addition to any oth@medy to which Parent may be entitled at law oeqnity. Without limiting th
foregoing, it is understood that any violation loé¢ trestrictions set forth above by any Company &atative shall be deeme
be a breach of this Agreement by the Company.

4.3 _Procedures for Requesting Parent ConsHnthe Company desires to take an action whichuldidoe prohibite
pursuant tdSection 4.1hereof without the written consent of Parent, ptmtaking such action the Company may request
written consent by sending anreail or facsimile to each of the following individis:

Jason Corsello

Telephone: 1 (203) 779-5501

Facsimile: 1 (310) 752-0199

E-mail address: jcorsello@cornerstoneondemand.com

Adam Weiss

Telephone: 1 (310) 752-0113
Facsimile: 1 (310) 752-0145
E-mail address: aweiss@csod.com

Any of the parties set forth above may grant conearbehalf of Parent to the taking of any actiwat tvould otherwise |
prohibited pursuant t8ection 4.1by e-mail or such other notice that complies wiith provisions oSection 9.1
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ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS
5.1 Company Stockholder Approval

(@) As soon as possible following the executibthis Agreement (but no later than twelve (12)fsathereafter
the Company shall deliver to Parent a true, comadtcomplete copy of the Initial Stockholder Caonistn addition, the Compa
shall take all necessary actions in accordance thithAgreement to cause each Company Stockhdid¢reecuted a copy of
Initial Stockholder Consent to deliver an executeshder Agreement contemporaneously with the s@oirthis Agreement.

(b) The Company shall prepare, subject to Paeatisonable review and approval, an informatiatestent t
be distributed to the Company Stockholders in cotioe with soliciting the approval of such CompaBtockholders of th
Agreement, the Certificate Amendment and the tretigas contemplated hereby (thelriformation Statement "), which
Information Statement shall comply with the proeis set forth in thiSection 5.1. Promptly following the execution of tl
Agreement, but in no event later than ten (10) Bess Days after the date hereof, the Company stiathit this Agreement, t
Certificate Amendment, and the transactions conlkateg hereby to the Company Stockholders whoseetngas not obtained
described inSection 5.1(a)hereof for approval and adoption by such Compargck®iblders pursuant to execution of
Stockholder Written Consent. To the extent requbbgdelaware Law or California Law, the Companylkspeomptly deliver t
any Company Stockholder who has not approved tgreément and the transactions contemplated herabtiae of the approv
of the Merger and adoption of this Agreement ared @ertificate Amendment by written consent of tt@mpany Stockholde
pursuant to the applicable provisions of Delawasg land California Law, which notice shall consgtuhe notice to Compa
Stockholders required by applicable law that ditsshand/or appraisal rights may be available to Comp&tockholders i
accordance with Delaware Law and California Lawadiglition, as soon as practicable following theceien and delivery of th
Agreement, the Company shall take all necessaigrectn accordance with this Agreement to solickoinder Agreement fro
each Company Stockholder that did not execute alided a Joinder Agreement contemporaneously vhighlhitial Stockholde
Consent.

(c) As soon as reasonably possible following eélecution of this Agreement, the Company shalkiobanc
deliver to Parent a waiver agreement, substantialtiie form attached hereto as Exhibjal* 280G Waiver”), from each Persc
whom the Company reasonably believes is, with m@sge the Company or any ERISA Affiliate, adiSqualifiec
individual” (within the meaning of Section 280G of the Code dmel regulations promulgated thereunder), as detex
immediately prior to the initiation of the soliditan of the requisite Company Stockholder appraledcribed irSection 5.1(d),
and who might otherwise receive or have the righgnditiement to receive a parachute payment uSeetion 280G of the Co
unless the requisite Company Stockholder apprdvstlich parachute payments is obtained pursugéedction 5.1(d).

(d) As soon as reasonably possible following dieévery by the Company to Parent of each exec@g&@t
Waiver described irsection 5.1(c)(or written notice to Parent that certain “disgfiedl individuals” described ifsection 5.1(c
have elected not to deliver such 280G Waiver), Gompany shall solicit the Company Stockholdersfprave (in a mann
reasonably satisfactory to Parent) by such numb&ompany Stockholders as is required by the tefrSection 280G (b)(5)(t
of the Code any payments and/or benefits that @gest to a 280G Waiver and that Parent determimeg separately or in t
aggregate constitute “parachute paymentgithin the meaning of Section 280G of the Code #mal regulations promulgat
thereunder), such that such payments and benkeéitisr®t be deemed to be “parachute payments” uBdetion 280G
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of the Code, and prior to the Effective Time thex@any shall deliver to Parent evidence reasonailgfactory to Parent tha
Company Stockholder vote was solicited in conforoeamith Section 280G and the regulations promuthakereunder, ai
(1) the requisite Company Stockholder approval whisined with respect to any payments and/or bisnifat were subject to 1
Company Stockholder vote (the280G Approval ”) or (ii) that the 280G Approval was not obtained @sda consequence, 1
such “parachute payments” shall not be made origeedy pursuant to the 280G Waivers.

(e) Any materials to be submitted to the Comp&tgckholders in connection with the solicitatioh their
approval of this Agreement, the Certificate Amendtmand the Merger, including the Information Stagem(the “Soliciting
Materials "), shall be subject to reasonable review and apptowd&tarent and shall include information regardimg €Compan:
the terms of this Agreement, the Certificate Ameadtrand the Merger and the recommendation of tteedBof Directors of tr
Company in favor of this Agreement, the CertificAtmendment and the Merger. The Company will proypnptivise Parent
writing if at any time prior to the Closing the Cpany shall obtain Knowledge of any facts that migtake it necessary
appropriate to amend or supplement the Solicitirmtdvlals in order to make statements containeshasrporated by referen
therein not misleading or to comply with applicalde. Anything to the contrary contained hereinwitiistanding, the Compa
shall not include in the Soliciting Materials amyfarmation with respect to Parent or its affilia@sassociates, the form ¢
content of which shall not have been consented tarriting by Parent prior to such inclusion, excegt required pursuant
applicable law.

5.2 Access to InformationExcept as otherwise prohibited by applicable tawas would reasonably be expecte
violate the attorneglient or other legal privilege of the Companyl#ting agreed that the parties shall use their nedde effort
to cause such information to be provided in a mantna& does not cause such violation, prohibitionoss of privilege), tr
Company shall afford Parent and its accountanisns® and other representatives, reasonable aduesg the period from tl
date hereof and prior to the Closing to (a) allttué properties, books, contracts, commitments &edrds of the Compar
including all Company Intellectual Property and fieglogy used by the Company (including access Bigdeprocesses a
methodologies and all source code), (b) all othmdorination concerning the business, properties p@donnel (subject
restrictions imposed by applicable law) of the Campas Parent may reasonably request, and (cjrglldyees of the Compa
as identified by Parent. The Company agrees toigeo@ Parent and its accountants, counsel and odpeesentatives copies
internal financial statements (including Tax Retuand supporting documentation) promptly upon rsguso information ¢
knowledge obtained in any investigation pursuanthis Section 5.2or otherwise shall affect or be deemed to modify
representation or warranty contained herein ordbeditions to the obligations of the parties to suinmate the Merger
accordance with the terms and provisions hereof.

5.3 _Confidentiality Each of the parties hereto hereby agrees thabfitvenation obtained in any investigation pursi
to Section 5.1hereof, or pursuant to the negotiation and exewutib this Agreement or the effectuation of the s&ation
contemplated hereby, or, if applicable, in conrmetivith any disputes or arbitration proceedingslldbe governed by the terms
the Mutual Nondisclosure Agreement, dated as ofil8; 2014, as amended (theConfidential Disclosure Agreement”),
between the Company and Parent. In this regard;tmepany acknowledges that the Parent Common &qakblicly traded ar
that any information obtained during the courseus diligence could be considered to be materiat-pablic information withii
the meaning of federal and state securities lawxoAlingly, the Company acknowledges and agreestim@ngage in ai
discussions, correspondence or transactions iRdnent Common Stock in violation of applicable s#ies laws.
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5.4 _Public Disclosure The Company shall not (nor will it permit, as kpgble, any Company Representative
directly or indirectly, issue any statement or caunimation to any third party (other than its agetitat are bound |
confidentiality restrictions) regarding the subjetatter of this Agreement or the transactions cuoptated hereby, including,
applicable, the termination of this Agreement ahe teasons therefor or any disputes or arbitrgti@teedings, without tl
consent of Parent; except (a) to the extent sustiadiure is required by applicable Law or ordewinch case the Company or
Escrow Representative, as the case may be, slaiptly notify Parent of such requirement and coafeewith Parent to tl
extent reasonably practicable so as to seek t¢ timaiinformation disclosed to the informationstadvised by counsel is requi
by such applicable Law or order to be disclosed il to the extent reasonably practicable andPatents expense, seek
obtain a protective order over, or confidentiahtneent of such information, (b) to the extent thath information is or becorr
generally known to the public without violation this Agreement, the Confidential Disclosure Agreetra any other agreem
or obligation restricting the disclosure of sucformation by such party, and (c) from and after@besing, to the extent disclos
is made by a Company Stockholder that is a vertapital or private equity fund in communicationsit®investors as may
(i) legally or contractually required or (ii) reamably necessary in the good faith exercise of itlecfary duties of the gene
partner of such Company Stockholder, so long ak disclosure is (x) made in the ordinary coursbusfiness and consistent v
past practice and (y) such investors are obligatde&tep such communications confidential.

5.5 _Commercially Reasonable EffortSubject to the terms and conditions providedhis Agreement, each of 1
parties hereto shall use commercially reasonalftetefto take promptly, or cause to be taken préyngatll actions, and to ¢
promptly, or cause to be done promptly, all thimgxessary, proper or advisable under applicable lamd regulations
consummate and make effective the transactionegswmwiated hereby, to cause all conditions to thagatibns of the other parti
hereto to cause the Merger to occur, to obtaimedlessary waivers, consents, approvals and otlfeemants required to
delivered hereunder and to effect all necessargtragons and filings and to remove any injuncsiar other impediments
delays, legal or otherwise, in order to consumnaaie make effective the transactions contemplatethisyAgreement for tt
purpose of securing to the parties hereto the isrmfntemplated by this Agreemeptpvided, however, that no party shall |
required to agree (and the Company shall not agiteut the prior consent of Parent) to (a) angriise, sale or other disposit
or holding separate (through establishment of st ton otherwise) of any shares of its capital stoclof any of its business
assets or properties, its subsidiaries or afféia{®@) the imposition of any limitation on the dyilof Parent, its subsidiaries
affiliates or the Company to conduct their respecbusinesses or own any capital stock or assdts acquire, hold or exerci
full rights of ownership of their respective busises and, in the case of Parent, the businesstése adtompany, or (c) tl
imposition of any impediment on Parent, its sulagids or affiliates or the Company under any statutle, regulation, executi
order, decree, order or other legal restraint gawgr competition, monopolies or restrictive tradmgices (any such acti
described in (a), (b) or (c), anAttion of Divestiture "). Nothing herein shall require Parent or permit tloen@any (without th
prior consent of Parent) to litigate with any Goweental Entity. Nothing in this Agreement shall uigq Parent or permit tl
Company (without the prior consent of Parent) tp @ay consideration or agree to any modificatiohexisting Contracts or ent
into new Contracts (other than the payment of cuaty filing and application fees) in connection twibtaining any waiver
consents, approvals from Governmental EntitieloeroPersons in connection with this AgreementRbRted Agreements or |
transactions contemplated hereby or thereby.

5.6 Notification of Certain MattetsThe Company or Parent, as the case may be,gtalprompt notice to the ott
parties of: (a) the occurrence of any event thegasonably likely to cause any representationasramty of the
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Company or Parent, respectively and as the casebmagontained in this Agreement to be untrue acdarate at or prior to t
Closing, and (b) the occurrence of any event thaeasonably likely to cause the failure of anyditon in Section 6.2(a)(iii);
provided, howeverthat the delivery of any notice pursuant to t8isction 5.6shall not limit or otherwise affect any remet
available to the party receiving such notice. Necltisure by the Company or Parent pursuant toSidion 5.6, however, she
be deemed to amend or supplement the Disclosured8lehor prevent or cure any misrepresentatiorgdref representation
warranty or breach of covenant.

5.7 _Termination of 401(k) PlarEffective as of no later than the day immediagigceding the Closing Date, eacl
the Company and any ERISA Affiliate shall terminatey and all Company Employee Plans intended ttudeca Cod
Section 401(k) arrangement (each,401(k) Plan”) (unless Parent provides written notice to the Complat such 401(k) Pla
shall not be terminated); provided, however, the #01(k) Plan and its related trust shall contitmebe administered
accordance with the terms thereof (subject to angralments required by applicable law) until all @)Plan assets have b
distributed, except that no further contributionthér than loan repayments) shall be made to ti¢ki®lan after it has be
terminated (other than contributions as may hawguad on or before or are based on compensatiare@an or before tl
termination date). Unless Parent provides suchtemrihotice to the Company, no later than five (bsiBess Days prior to t
Closing Date, the Company shall provide Parent witldence that each 401(k) Plan has been termirfatésttive as of no lat
than the day immediately preceding the Closing Patesuant to resolutions of the Board of Directofshe Company, or su
ERISA Affiliate, as the case may be. The form amssance of such resolutions shall be subjectiewweand approval of Pare
The Company also shall take such other actionsrthdrance of terminating each 401(k) Plan as Panagy reasonably require.
the event that termination of a 401(k) Plan wowddsonably be anticipated to trigger liquidationrgka, surrender charges
other fees, then such charges and/or fees shaitha&led in ThirdParty Expenses and shall be the responsibilith@fQompan:
and the Company shall take such actions as aresseggeto reasonably estimate the amount of suclgebaand/or fees a
provide such estimate in writing to Parent no |#ten fifteen (15) calendar days prior to the GigdDate.

5.8 _Treatment of Company Options and Companyraiés. Subject to the prior review and approval of Pgréme
Company shall take all actions necessary to etfextprovisions set forth iections 1.7(cland 5.8 hereof under all Compa
Options, all Company Option agreements, all Comp#errants, and all Company Warrant agreementsudmnog, withou
limitation, any necessary amendments to the Pldraag Company Options or Company Warrants, andé¢heery of all require
notices and obtaining of any required consentstiveter.

5.9 _Consents The Company shall use commercially reasonablertefto obtain all necessary consents, waiver:
approvals of any parties to any Contract as araired) thereunder in connection with the Merger ar dny such Contracts
remain in full force and effect, all of which amqguired to be listed iBection 2.60f the Disclosure Schedule, so as to preser
rights of, and benefits to, the Company under stehtract from and after the Closing. Such consevasyers and approvals sk
be in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent.drettent that the Company is required to make aggngats, including, witho!
limitation, in connection with obtaining any consewaiver or approval of any party to any Contriggtied onSchedule 6.2(k),
then such payments shall the responsibility ofGbenpany and shall be paid by the Company priorltsi@g or, in the discretic
of the Company, included as Company THwakty Expenses in the Closing Statement Certifidade the avoidance of doubt,
Company shall not make any payments in connectitin ebtaining a consent, waiver or approval for &ontract orSection 2.
of the Disclosure Schedule without the prior wrtt®nsent of Parent unless such Contract is atsdlonSchedule 6.2(k)
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5.10 _Terminated AgreementsThe Company shall cause each of the agreenisted bnSchedule 6.2(Ihereto (the “
Terminated Agreements”) to be terminated, effective as of and contingerdnuthe Closing, including sending all requ
notices, such that each such agreement shall be fafrther force or effect immediately followingeti€losing. Upon the Closir
the Company shall have paid all amounts owed utideTerminated Agreements (as a result of the textimn of the Terminatt
Agreements or otherwise), and the Surviving Coramawill not be subject to or incur any claim, hility or obligation (absolut:
accrued, asserted or unasserted, contingent awodleg under any Terminated Agreement following @esing Date. In the eve
the Company is required to make any payments in@ction with the termination of any Terminated Aggreents, such payme
shall be the responsibility of the Company and Isbalpaid by the Company prior to the Closing orthe discretion of tf
Company, included as Company Third-Party Expensése Closing Statement Certificate.

5.11 _Modified Agreements The Company shall use commercially reasonalitetefto modify each of the agreeme
listed onSchedule 6.2(mhereto (the ‘Modified Agreements”) in the manner set forth ddchedule 6.2(mhereto effective as
and contingent upon the Closing, so that the reduinodifications are in effect immediately follogithe Closing. In the event 1
Company is required to make any payments in cororeatith the modification of any Modified Agreemensuch payments sf
be the responsibility of the Company and shall &iel py the Company prior to the Closing or, in th&cretion of the Compar
included in Company Third-Party Expenses in thesDlp Statement Certificate.

5.12 _Notices The Company shall send each of the notices @&t fn Schedule 6.2(n)hereto (the “Notices ™)
promptly following the date hereof.

5.13 _Proprietary Information and Inventions igament AgreementsThe Company shall use commercially reasor
efforts to cause each current employee of the Cag@and each former employee of the Company wlistesd onSchedule 5.1
hereto, to have entered into and executed, and mersion who becomes an employee of the Companythfiedate hereof a
prior to the Closing shall be required by the Conypto enter into and execute, an employee propyiétdormation agreeme
with the Company, in a form satisfactory to Paraftective as of such employsefirst date of employment or service.
Company shall use commercially reasonable effortatise each current consultant or contractoreo€mpany, and each forr
consultant or contractor of the Company who igtisbnSchedule 5.13ereto, to have entered into and executed, andRarso
who becomes a consultant or contractor of the Compdter the date hereof and prior to the Closihglisbe required by ti
Company to enter into and execute, a consultamirigtary information agreement with the Companyaiform satisfactory
Parent, effective as of such consultant or cordré&cfirst date of service.

5.14 _Resignation of Officers and DirectorsThe Company shall cause each officer and diremtdhe Company 1
execute a resignation and release letter in tha faitached hereto as Exhibi{the “ Director and Officer Resignation anc
Release Letter’), effective as of the Effective Time.

5.15 _New Employment and Consulting Arrangemersior to the Closing, the Company shall usearable efforts t
cause each Priority Service Provider to enter mitbher an awill employment arrangement or, if requested byeRgral
independent contractor arrangement with Parensuaut to such Person’s execution and delivery)adn(ioffer letter (each, a “
Parent Offer Letter ") and a proprietary information and inventions assignt agreement or (ii) an independent contr.
agreement (each, &arent Contractor Agreement”), in each case on Parent’s standard form.

5.16 _Termination of NeRontinuing Service ProvidersAt or prior to the Closing, the Company shathyide notice ¢
termination to each Non-Continuing Service Providére Company
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shall offer each such Non-Continuing Service Preria severance payment in an amount not less thar(4) weekssalary fo
such Non-Continuing Service Provider (théNbn-Continuing Service Provider Severance Amount), contingent upon sui
Non-Continuing Service Provider executing a valid gaheglease of claims and separation agreemertgifiorm attached here
as_Exhibit K(the “Non-Continuing Employee Releas®).

5.17 _Expenses Whether or not the Merger is consummated, alt faed expenses incurred in connection with
Merger (whether prior to or following Closing), inding all legal, accounting, financial advisorgnsulting and all other fees ¢
expenses of third parties (including any banker addisor fees) incurred by a party (including timeldmnifying Parties)
connection with the negotiation and effectuatioringf terms and conditions of this Agreement andridmesactions contempla
hereby, including, but not limited to, any paymemiade or anticipated to be made by such party l@slerage or finderdee
agents’ commission or any similar charge, in cotineavith the Merger, whenever incurredThird-Party Expenses”), shall be
the obligation of the respective party incurringtsfiees and expenses.

5.18 _FIRPTA Compliance On the Closing Date, the Company shall deliedParent a properly executed statement (:
FIRPTA Compliance Certificate ”) in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent faippses of satisfying Pareatobligation
under Treasury Regulation Section 1.142()(3).

5.19 _Repayment of IndebtednesBrior to or concurrent with the Closing, the Qamy shall repay and extinguish
Indebtedness, other than the Assumed Debt and lsinG Indebtedness, without any further Liabilibythe Company or Pare
In the case of all Indebtedness to be repaid atidgekshed at the Closing (including, for the awide of doubt, the Assurr
Debt and any Closing Indebtedness paid to the Bajywent on the Closing Date pursuansection 1.10(bhereof), the Compa
shall deliver, at least two (2) Business Days piiothe Closing Date, executed payoff letters valfinvoices, as applicable, fr.
each lender, creditor, noteholder or other couaryzo which such Indebtedness is owing (whetherad then due and payab
in each case (i) that sets forth the amount to d&d pn or prior to the Closing Date, together withie transfer instruction
(i) evidencing that the payment of such amount M@asult in the full repayment, satisfaction, esde, and discharge of all curt
and future obligations of the Company (and, in tase of hedging, swap or similar agreements, tmepkxie unwind ar
settlement of such arrangements) in respect of gach(except obligations for indemnification amimbursement that expres
survive repayment in full) and of all current andufre Liens relating to such item and (iii) contéatipg the delivery of UCG
termination statements and mortgage releases tiex ¥iled or recorded, as the case may be, willdécient to release any a
all Liens relating to such item. The Company shatange for delivery of all such UCE+{ermination statements and mortc
releases, if any, at the Closing.

5.20 _SpreadsheetThe Company shall deliver to Parent, not leas tiree (3) Business Days prior to the Closingl
a spreadsheet (theSpreadsheet’) in a form reasonably acceptable to Parent, whickagisheet shall be certified as complete
correct by the Chief Executive Officer and Chiehdcial Officer of the Company (such certificatiacghe “ Spreadshee
Certificate ”) as of the Closing and which shall include, amaitiger things, as of the Closing:

(@) with respect to each Company Stockholdgisuéh Persos’ address and email address, (ii) the aggr
number of shares of Company Series A PreferredkStoompany Series B Preferred Stock, Company S€rieseferred Stoc
and Company Series D Preferred Stock held by sumimp@ny Stockholder, (iii) the aggregate Series A leare Amoun
Series B Per Share Amount, Series C Per Share Atraneh Series D Per Share Amount receivable by €achpany Stockhold
pursuant td&Section 1.7(b)hereof, (iv) such Company StockholdePro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amount essed as
percentage and such Company Stockholder's ProEat@w Portion of
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the Escrow Amount expressed as a Dollar amountsuefh Company StockholderPro Rata Executive Escrow Portion of
Executive Escrow Amount expressed as a percentaysuch Company StockholderPro Rata Executive Escrow Portion of
Executive Escrow Amount expressed as a Dollar amdui) such Company StockholderPro Rata Indemnity Portion, and (
the portion of the Closing Cash Consideration tgael to such Company Stockholder at the Closingyant toSection 1.7(b
hereof, and (viii) such other information relevéimgreto that Parent or the Paying Agent may reddypmnaquest;

(b) with respect to each Executive Transactiami® Recipient, (i) such Persermaddress and email addr
(i) the amount of such Person’s Executive TrarieadBonus, if any, (iii) such PersanPro Rata Escrow Portion of the Esc
Amount expressed as a percentage and such PerBom’'Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amount essed as a Doll
amount, and (iv) such other information relevaetéto that Parent or the Paying Agent may reaspmaflest;

(c) with respect to each holder of Indebtedrafsthe Company, (i) such Perseraddress and email addr
(i) the principal amount of the Indebtedness oweduch Person, (iii) the initial issue date oruimence of such Indebtedne
(iv) the interest rate applicable to such Indebésdn (v) the interest accrued thereunder, (vipgwegate amount due and pay
in connection with such Indebtedness at the Clgsingluding any change of control premiums applieathereto, and
description of any such premiums, and (vii) sudfeoinformation relevant thereto that Parent orRhging Agent may reasona
request; and

(d) as applicable, the Spreadsheet shall aldade, with respect to each holder of shares of om Capite
Stock issued on or after January 1, 2011, or ahgrosecurity that would be deemed a “covered studnder Treasul
Regulation § 1.6048{a)(15), (i) the cost basis of such shares orrggexgy (ii) the respective date(s) of issuancawth shares
securities, (iii) the respective certificate nun{bgrepresenting such shares or securities, (e/yglspective class or series of ¢
shares or securities, and (iv) such other inforomatelevant thereto that Parent or the Paying Ageayt reasonably request.

5.21 _State Takeover Statutek the event that any “fair price,” “moratoriuhigcontrol share acquisition,” or other anti-
takeover statute or regulation or any dakeover provision of the Charter Documents is @zdmes, or at the Effective Til
(following the effectiveness of the Certificate Anaenent) will be, applicable to the Company, shafeSompany Capital Stoc
the Merger or the other transactions contemplayetthis Agreement, the Company, at the directiothefBoard of Directors, sh
use its best efforts to ensure that the Merger thedtransactions contemplated by this Agreement beyconsummated
promptly as practicable on the terms and subjethd@aconditions set forth in this Agreement, artteovise to minimize the effe
of such statute or regulation on this Agreementthedransactions contemplated hereby.

5.22 _Indemnification of Directors and Officefsthe Company

(@) _ndemnification Obligations During the period ending six (6) years after tigective Time, the Survivir
Corporation or its successor shall, and Parent shake the Surviving Corporation or its successdulfill its obligations to th
present and former members of the Company Boardhessknt and former officers of the Company (suokctbrs and officel
being herein called the Company Indemnitees”) pursuant to the terms of the CompanyCharter Documents and
indemnification agreements listed 8ohedule 5.22s in effect on the date hereof. Any claims foreimdification made under tl
Section 5.22on or prior to the sixth anniversary of the EffeetiTime shall survive such anniversary until theafiresolutio
thereof. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the obligas of Parent and the Surviving Corporation osiiscessor (i) shall be subj
to any limitation
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imposed by applicable Law and (ii) shall not berded to release any Company Indemnitee who is alsaffecer or director ¢
the Company or its subsidiaries from his or heigaltions pursuant to this Agreement or any Reldtgceement, nor shall su
Company Indemnitee have any right of contributiodemnification or right of advancement from the\®ing Corporation or it
successor or Parent with respect with any Lossneldiby any of the Indemnified Parties against stetmpany Indemnitee in |
or her capacity as a Company Stockholder purswatitit Agreement or any Related Agreement. Notuathging the foregoin
Parent shall have no obligation to maintain thestexice of the Surviving Corporation for any spedifiperiod following th
Effective Time; provided that Parent shall ensin&t fproper provision is made for the obligationghef Surviving Corporatic
under thisSection 5.22are assumed in accordance v8iction 5.22

(b) _Insurance Prior to the Effective Time, the Company shaltigiase and fully pay for an extended repo
period endorsement under the Company'’s existingctbrs’ and officersliability insurance coverage in a form acceptala
Parent that shall provide the Company Indemnitetds average for six (6) years following the Effi@et Time of not less than t
existing coverage and have other terms not mdietieds favorable to the insured persons than tbmgany’s directorsanc
officers’ liability insurance coverage presentlyimained by the Company (theD&O Tail Policy ”). Parent shall not, and st
cause the Surviving Corporation to not, take artypado eliminate such D&O Tail Policy.

(c) Inthe event that the Surviving Corporat@rany of its successors or assigns (i) consolsdaith or merge
into any other Person and shall not be the comtguar surviving corporation or entity of such cdigation or merger ¢
(i) transfers or conveys all or substantially afl its properties and assets to any Person, thas,irmeach such case, prc
provision shall be made so that the successorssigres of the Surviving Corporation or any of éspective successors or assi
as the case may be, shall succeed to the obligagetrforth in thiSection 5.22

(d) Notwithstanding anything in this Agreememtlie contrary, the obligations under tBisction 5.22shall no
be terminated or modified in such a manner as tem@ely affect any Company Indemnitee to whom 8estion 5.22applie:
without the consent of such affected Company Indean

5.23 Payment of Severance Amount&ll Non-Continuing Service Provider Severance Amounts,| fimages, an
benefits payable to No@ontinuing Service Providers and any former Empdsypursuant to Contracts in effect at any timer
to the Closing shall be the responsibility of thenfpany and shall be paid out prior to the ClosirgeDor, in the discretion of t
Company, included as Company Transaction Expenses.

5.24 _Interim FinancialsThe Company shall make commercially reasonalftetefto prepare and deliver to Parent :
prior to November 2, 2014 unaudited balance sheetsf September 30, 2013 and 2014, and the relatgddited statements
income and cash flows for the nine months endedteBdyer 30, 2013 and 2014, respectively (collegtivehe *
September Interim Financials”). The September Interim Financials shall be prepaneaiccordance with GAAP consister
applied throughout the periods indicated and ceeisiswith each other, and in a manner consistetit thie preparation of tl
Financials;providedthat, for the sake of clarity, the September ImeFinancials shall not be required to have undexgiSA!
100 review by such time.
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ARTICLE VI
CONDITIONS TO THE MERGER
6.1 _Conditions to Obligations of Each PartyEfitect the Merger The respective obligations of Parent, the Com

and Sub to effect the Merger shall be subject & datisfaction or written waiver, at or prior tetllosing, of the followin
conditions:

(@) _No Order. No Governmental Entity shall have enacted, issypedmulgated, enforced or entered
statute, rule, regulation, executive order, decme@nction, order or other legal restraint or ghition (whether temporar
preliminary or permanent) which is in effect andiethhas the effect of making the Merger illegalotinerwise prohibiting ¢
preventing the consummation of the Merger.

(b) No Injunctions; Restraints; lllegalityNo temporary restraining order, preliminary ormanent injunctio
or other order issued by any court of competensgguction or other legal restraint or prohibitioregenting the consummation
the Merger shall be in effect, nor shall any praeg brought by a Governmental Entity seeking thredoing be threatened
pending.

6.2 _Conditions to the Obligations of Parent &ulb. The obligations of Parent and Sub to effecthtezger shall b
subject to the satisfaction at or prior to the @igsf each of the following conditions, any of whimay be waived, in writin
exclusively by Parent and Sub:

(@) _Representations, Warranties and CovenafilsThe representations and warranties of the aomg ir
Sections 2.2(Company Capital Structure.4 (Authority and Enforceability)2.5 (Initial Stockholder Consent) ari27 (State
Takeover Statutes) shall have been true and caaeeof the date made and as of the Closing Datieoaigh such representati
and warranties were made on and as of such ddter(ttan the representations and warranties oCthrapany made as o
specified date, which shall be true and correcbfasuch date); (ii) the representations and waigantf the Company in tt
Agreement (other than those specified in clausea(yl other than the representations and warraafiése Company as of
specified date, which shall be true and correcffasich date) shall have been true and corredct@nate they were made and ¢
be true and correct in all material respects (wittgiving effect to any limitation as to “materigli set forth therein) on and as
the Closing Date as though such representationsvangnties were made on and as of such date (ttharthe representatic
and warranties of the Company made as of a spgdfiée, which shall be true and correct in all mialteespects as of such da
and (iii) the Company shall have performed and d@dpn all material respects with all covenantsl abligations under tr
Agreement required to be performed and compliet it such parties as of or prior to the Closing.

(b) _No Material Adverse EffectfThere shall not have occurred and be continuiktaterial Adverse Effect wii
respect to the Company.

(c) _Unanimous Board ApprovalThis Agreement and the Certificate Amendmentldiele been unanimou:
approved by the Board of Directors of the Compavtyich unanimous approval shall not have been atermdified, changed
revoked.

(d) _Company Stockholder ApprovaCompany Stockholders constituting the holdemsatfless than 93% of t
shares of Company Capital Stock outstanding amofediately prior to the Effective Time shall haygpeoved this Agreemel
the Certificate Amendment, the Merger and the &atisns contemplated hereby.

58




(e) _Joinder AgreementsParent shall have received a duly executed JoiAdeeement from the Compa
Stockholders constituting the holders of not lé=nt93% of the shares of Company Capital Stockanding as of immediate
prior to the Effective Time.

(H 280G Stockholder Approval; 280G WaiverdVNith respect to any payments and/or benefits Bearer
reasonably determines may constitute “parachutenpats” under Section 280G of the Code with respect to Bmployees
(i) Parent shall have received a 280G Waiver frawheEmployee receiving a payment that may constdutparachute payment”
under Section 280G of the Code and (ii) the Comatagkholders shall have (A) approved, pursuarihéomethod provided f
in the regulations promulgated under Section 28DtheoCode, any such “parachute payments(B) voted upon and disappro
such parachute payments and, as a consequencé'pswabhute paymentshall not be paid or provided for in any manned
Parent and its Subsidiaries shall not have anyilitiab with respect to such “parachute paymenEath 280G Waiver shall be
effect as of immediately prior to the solicitatiohthe 280G Approval from the Company Stockholders.

(g) _Litigation. There shall be no action, suit, claim, ordemtiigtion or proceeding of any nature pending
overtly threatened, against Parent or the Compidueyt, respective properties or any of their respeabfficers, directors or, wi
respect to Parent, subsidiaries arising out ofincany way connected with, the Merger, any Relaigdeements or the ott
transactions contemplated by the terms of this &gent or any Related Agreements or otherwise sgedqy of the results ¢
forth in Section 6.1(ahereof.

(h)  Termination of 401(k) PlansUnless Parent has explicitly instructed otherwpsesuant toSection 5.’
hereof, Parent shall have received from the Commatgence satisfactory to Parent that all 401(l@nBlhave been termina
pursuant to resolution of the Board of Directorstleé Company or the ERISA Affiliate, as the caseyrba, (the form ar
substance of which shall have been subject to wewied approval of Parent), effective as of no l#ban the day immediate
preceding the Closing Date, and Parent shall heseived from the Company evidence of the takingnyf and all further actio
as provided irBection 5.7hereof.

(i) Termination of Company OptionsThe Company shall have taken all necessary actomprovide for th
cancellation or termination of all Company Optitinat are outstanding as of immediately prior toEffective Time.

() Exercise or Termination of Company Warrant6he Company shall have taken all necessary actic
provide for the cancellation or termination of @bmpany Warrants, if any, that are outstanding fasnmediately prior to th
Effective Time, and each such Company Warrant $tzalé been either (i) exercised by the holder(such Company Warrants
full or (ii) to the extent not exercised in fulerminated or cancelled as of immediately priorhe €losing, either pursuant to
own terms or pursuant to an agreement with theen(dilthereof, and the Company shall have deliveydtarent written eviden
of such exercise, termination or cancellation.

(k) Third Party ConsentsThe Company shall have delivered to Parent atksgary consents, waivers
approvals of parties to any Contract (includingdeeAgreements) set forth &thedule 6.2(khereto.

(D  Termination of Agreements The Company shall have terminated each of thgseeaents listed «
Schedule 6.2(Ihereto effective as of and contingent upon thei@pand, from and after the Closing, each sucheageat sha
be of no further force or effect.
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(m) Modification of AgreementsThe Company shall have modified those agreemistési onSchedule 6.2
(m) hereto in the manner set forth 8ohedule 6.2(mhereto effective as of and contingent upon the iGipso that the requir
modifications are in effect upon and after the @igs

(n) _Notices for AgreementsThe Company shall have sent the notices set torchedule 6.2(nhereto.

(o) Key Employee AgreementsEach of the Key Employee Agreements entered dotocurrently with th
execution of this Agreement shall be in full forned effect and no Key Employee shall have termihatey such Key Employ
Agreement.

(p) New Employment and Consulting ArrangemerAs least 80% of the Priority Service Providerslshave
entered into (i) an employment arrangement withe®apursuant to the execution and delivery of sefaOffer Letter and
proprietary information and inventions assignmegreament with Parent or (ii) in Parentliscretion, an independent contra
arrangement with Parent pursuant to the executiwh delivery of a Parent Contractor Agreement, inheease on Parest
standard form.

(@) _NonCompetition Agreements Each of the NormGompetition Agreements entered into by the
Stockholders concurrently with the execution o§tAgreement shall be in full force and effect andrey Stockholder shall ha
terminated any such Non-Competition Agreement.

(n  Proprietary Information and Inventions Agsinent Agreements The Company shall have provic
evidence satisfactory to Parent that as of thei@josach current and former Employee, consultadtcamtractor of the Compai
including each Person listed dschedule 5.13hereto, has entered into and executed an employ@®igtary informatio
agreement or consultant proprietary informatioreagrent, as applicable, each in a form satisfattoBarent.

(s) _Resignation of Officers and Director®arent shall have received a duly executed iremhd Office
Resignation and Release Letter from each of theesff and directors of the Company, effective ahefEffective Time.

(t) _Amendment to Certificate of Incorporatiomhe Company shall have filed immediately priotte Closin
the Certificate Amendment with the Secretary ofteStef the State of Delaware, and such CertificateeAdment shall be in fi
force and effect.

(u) Certificate of the CompanyParent shall have received a certificate fromGbenpany, validly executed
the Chief Executive Officer of the Company for amthe Company behalf, to the effect that, as of the Closing, ¢bndition
set forth inSection 6.2(a)(to the extent relating to representations, waieantr covenants of the Company) &ection 6.2(b
have been satisfied.

(v) Certificate of Secretary of CompanyParent shall have received a certificate, valigkecuted by tt
Secretary of the Company, certifying as to (i) thvens and effectiveness of the Company CertificAt@corporation, as amenc
by the Certificate Amendment, and Company Bylaviiythe valid adoption of resolutions of the Boawél Directors of th
Company (whereby this Agreement, the CertificateeAgdment, the Merger and the transactions conteetpla¢reunder we
unanimously approved by the Companyoard of directors), (iii) the valid adoption reSolutions of the Company Stockholc
constituting the Requisite Stockholder Vote (whgrebe this Agreement, the Certificate Amendmeng Merger and tf
transactions contemplated hereunder were appraradl)iv) the results of any vote of the Companycktolders with respect
the approval or disapproval of any payments or
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benefits that may be deemed to constitute a “pataghayment” within the meaning of 280G of the Code

(w) Certificates of Good StandindParent shall have received a |Idogn certificate of good standing from
Secretary of State of the State of Delaware witipeet to the Company, dated as of a date withiays @f the Closing. Pare
shall have received a certificate of foreign stdtam the Secretary of State of the State of Califowith respect to the Compa
dated within a date within 5 days of the Closing.

(x) FIRPTA Certificate. Parent shall have received a copy of the FIRPTon@liance Certificate, valid
executed by a duly authorized officer of the Conypan

) Repayment of Indebtednes3he Company shall have delivered to Parent dontatien reasonab
satisfactory to Parent evidencing the Company’sgtiamnce in full withSection 5.19

(2 Spreadsheet Parent and the Paying Agent shall have receik@u the Company three (3) Busin
Days prior to the Closing Date the Spreadsheetlam®&preadsheet Certificate pursuaréation 5.20

(aa) Closing Statement CertificateParent shall have received the Closing Statei@entficate from th
Company not less than three (3) Business Days tarithre Closing Date pursuant$ection 1.8(a)(i).

(bb) _Termination of NoiContinuing Service ProvidetsThe Company shall have terminated its employroe
contractor relationship with each Non-Continuingv8se Provider.

6.3 _Conditions to Obligations of the Companyhe obligations of the Company to effect the dbershall be subject
the satisfaction at or prior to the Closing of eathhe following conditions, any of which may beiwed, in writing, exclusive
by the Company:

(@) _Representations, Warranties and Covendit¥he representations and warranties of PaaadtSub in th
Agreement (other than the representations and atsgsaof Parent and Sub as of a specified datewdtiall be true and correci
of such date) shall have been true and correct wiete and shall be true and correct in all mateggpects (without giving effe
to any limitation as to “materiality5et forth therein) on and as of the Closing Datthagagh such representations and warra
were made on and as of such date and (ii) eaclareihPand Sub shall have performed and compliedl imaterial respects wi
all covenants and obligations under this Agreemequired to be performed and complied with by sp@tties as of or prior to t
Closing Date.

(b) _Certificate of ParentCompany shall have received a certificate execatebehalf of Parent by an officel
Parent to the effect that, as of the Closing, te&liions set forth irbection 6.3(a)are satisfied.

ARTICLE VI

SURVIVAL OF REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES;
INDEMNIFICATION; ESCROW

7.1 _Survival of Representations and Warranti@$he representations and warranties of the Cognpantained in th
Agreement and in the Certificates shall survive doperiod of eighteen (18) months following the <thg Date (the date
expiration of such eighteen (18)
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month period, the Survival Date "), except to the extent subject to a pending climindemnification set forth in an Officer’
Certificate delivered prior to the termination bétEscrow Period, in which case such representati@rarranty shall survive, wi
respect to such pending claim only, until suchnelés resolved pursuant to the terms of this Agregnprovided, however, tha
in the event of fraud or knowing and willful breagjyr the Company of a representation or warrantyatoed in this Agreement
in the Certificates, as applicable, such representaor warranty shall not terminatprovided further, however, that (i) the
representations and warranties containe8dation 2.11(Tax Matters) hereof shall survive until sixty (GfJys after the expirati
of the applicable statute of limitations (excepthe extent subject to a pending claim for indeatfon set forth in an Offices’
Certificate delivered prior to such date, in whadse such representation or warranty shall surwit, respect to such pend
claim only, until such claim is resolved) and (iig representations and warranties containeseition 2.1(Organization of th
Company),Section 2.2(Company Capital Structure), arkection 2.4 (Authority and Enforceability) (the representatiosusc
warranties in (i) and (ii), the Surviving Representations”) shall not terminate. The representations and waesuof Paret
contained in this Agreement, the Related Agreemaniis any certificate or other instrument deliviepursuant to this Agreema
shall terminate at the Closing. Notwithstanding atlyer provision of this Agreement, it is the inten of the parties hereto ti
the foregoing survival periods and termination dasupersede any applicable statute of limitatiopplieable to suc
representations and warranties.
7.2 _Indemnification

(@) By virtue of the Merger, subject to the pstans of thisArticle VII , from and after the Effective Time,
Company Stockholders who received consideratiosyaunt toSection 1.7(b)and the Executive Transaction Bonus Recip
(each, an “Indemnifying Party ” and, collectively, the “Indemnifying Parties ”), shall severally and not jointly (except
otherwise specifically set forth in thirticle VII ), and in accordance with each such IndemnifyingyPa Pro Rata Escrc
Portion (with respect to Losses payable from therdws Fund) or Pro Rata Indemnity Portion (with msipto Losses payal
outside of the Escrow Fund), as applicable, ind&ramd hold harmless Parent and its officers, dnesc affiliates, employees &
agents, including the Surviving Corporation (thenlemnified Parties "), against all losses, Liabilities, Taxes, damagests
interest, awards, judgments, penalties and expemsesiding reasonable attorneys’ and consultafés’s and expenses
including any such reasonable outpafeket expenses incurred in connection with ingasitng, defending against or settling
accordance with the terms hereof, any of the fareg¢hereinafter individually a Loss” and, collectively, “Losses’) incurred o
sustained by the Indemnified Parties, or any ofmtl{encluding the Surviving Corporation) as a resafitthe following (the “
Indemnifiable Matters ”):

0] any breach or inaccuracy of a representation oramgy of the Company contained in 1
Agreement or in the Closing Certificates;

(i) any failure by the Company to perform or complyhaginy covenant or agreement applic
to the Company and contained in this Agreement;

(iii) any inaccuracy or omission or breach of a reprasient or warranty of the Compe
contained in any of the Other Certificates;

(iv) (A) any claims or threatened claims by or purpdyte behalf of any holder or former hols
of any shares of Company Capital Stock or rightpurported rights to acquire Company Capital Stmckther equity interests
the Company (or the economic value thereof), inolgidx) appraisal or dissentemghts proceedings, (y) claims arising ur
Contracts to which any
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such holder or former holder in its capacity ashsisca party or by which it is bound, or (z) claialkeging violations of fiducial
duty by the Companyg’ board of directors; or (B) any cash payments ntadeolders of Dissenting Shares (in each caser
clauses (A) and (B) above, without double counting Dissenting Share Payments and excluding caghguas to such holde
of Dissenting Shares not in excess of the condiderto which they would have been entitled foritishares of Company Capi
Stock had they received merger consideration paypbtsuant td&Section 1.7(b)rather than exercising appraisal or dissente
rights, but not excluding the reasonable oupogket costs and expenses incurred in connectitnamy proceedings relating
the exercise of appraisal or dissenters’ rightsluiing reasonable attorneys’ and consultants’, feeduding reasonable out-of-
pocket costs and expenses incurred in connectitim imvestigating, defending against or settlingastordance with the ter
hereof, any suit, claim or action in respect ofdisting Shares);

(v) any claim or threatened claim by any actual or ptigal Company Stockholder relating to
alleged action or failure to act on its behalf bg Escrow Representative or asserting any rigigdeive any portion of the Escr
Fund on an accelerated basis rather than in acooedaith the terms of thi&rticle VII ;

(vi) any Liabilities relating to or arising out of angxcess parachute paymentsithin the
meaning of Section 280G of the Code;

(vii) (A) any fraud committed by the Company or any ef Affiliates in connection with th
Agreement or the Certificates or (B) any knowingl amillful breach of this Agreement or the Certifiea committed by tt
Company or any of its Affiliates;

(viii) except to the extent taken into account in detdngithe Total Consideration, &
Unpaid Pre-Closing Taxes, whether or not requiocioet reflected on a balance sheet in accordanbeGAAP;

(ix) any Agreed-Upon Losses; and
(x) any Excess Executive Clawback Amount (as definegkiction 7.4(f)(ii)).

(b) Notwithstandingsection 7.2(a)or anything else in this Agreement to the contranthing in this Agreeme
shall limit the liability of any Indemnifying Partyho is a Company Stockholder committing, or havactual knowledge of, a
fraud or knowing and willful breach of this Agreemi@r the Certificates for any Losses incurredustained by the Indemnifi
Parties, or any of them (including the Company)aaesult of such fraud or knowing and willful becha provided that tt
provisions ofArticle VII shall not apply with respect to (and shall not lasis of recourse for) any such Losses.

(c) For the purposes of thisrticle VIl only, solely when determining the amount of Losseffered by a
Indemnified Party as a result of any breach, inesgu or failure (but not for purposes of determinwhether such breau
inaccuracy or failure has occurred), any representawarranty, covenant or agreement given or niadéhe Company or a
Indemnifying Party that is qualified or limited stope as to materiality or Material Adverse Efféatluding the definition ¢
Material Contracts), such representation, warractyenant or agreement shall be deemed to be madeen without suc
gualification or limitation.
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(d) No Indemnifying Party (or any affiliate tleaf) shall have any right of contribution, indenication or righ
of advancement from the Company, the Surviving Ga@ton or Parent with respect to any Loss claifmg@n Indemnified Par
against such Indemnifying Party.

(e) ThisArticle VII shall constitute the exclusive remedy after theegiffe Time for recovery of Losses by
Indemnified Parties pursuant to or in connectiothitliis Agreement or any of the transactions coptatad hereby for any and
Losses, claims and causes of action relating toddirthe Indemnifiable Matters or any other matieated to this Agreeme
provided, however, that (i) thisSection 7.2(e)shall not be deemed to constitute a waiver by aryypof any right to specif
performance, injunctive relief or other equitablemedies; (ii) nothing in this Agreement shall liniite liability of an
Indemnifying Party who is a Company Stockholderd(#ms Article VIl shall not be the sole and exclusive remedy in i&spl
such Indemnifying Party) in respect of any Lossésireg in connection with the matters described@eéction 7.2(b)hereof; an
(i) nothing in this Agreement shall limit the bdity of any Indemnifying Party under any Relatégreement.

7.3 _Maximum Payments; Remedy

(&) No claim for indemnification may be made @nflection7.2(a)(i) or Section 7.2(a)(ii)(other than recove
underSection 7.2(a)(i)or Section 7.2(a)(ii)for Losses resulting from any breach or inaccurafcthe Surviving Representatio
or any fraud or knowing and willful breach with pest to this Agreement or the Certificates, whetbemot pursuant
Section 7.2(a)(vi)and/orSection 7.2(b)), unless and until the aggregate amount of Logé#se Indemnified Parties that may
claimed thereunder (together with any Losses ttegt be claimed under any other subsectioSeftion 7.2(a)) exceeds $285,0
(the “Threshold "), and once such Threshold has been reached, the mifgiarg Parties shall be liable to the Indemnifiedrtie:
for the full amount of all Losses, including thabat comprised any portion of the Threshold.

(b) Except as otherwise set forth in tBisction 7.3(b), the maximum amount that the Indemnified Partiey
recover from each Indemnifying Party undaction 7.2(a)(i)and Section 7.2(a)(x)shall be limited to an amount equal to ¢
Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Escrow Portion of dnandred percent (100%) of the Escrow Amouyargvided, howeverthar
(i) for breaches of Surviving Representations or t|aud or knowing and willful breach with respéotthis Agreement or tl
Certificates pursuant tdection 7.2(a)(vii) , the maximum amount that the Indemnified Partiesy mecover from ea
Indemnifying Party shall be limited to an amounua&qto the sum of (A) such Indemnifying Pasty?ro Rata Escrow Portion
one hundred percent (100%) of the Escrow Amount @)dne hundred percent (100%) of the Closing C@ashsideratio
actually received by such Indemnifying Party, aifdf¢r breaches of the representations and wagamontained irfsection 2.1.
(Intellectual Property) hereof, the maximum amatiatt the Indemnified Parties may recover from dademnifying Party she
be limited to the sum of (A) such Indemnifying B&stPro Rata Escrow Portion of one hundred perced%g) of the Escro
Amount and (B) an amount of the Closing Cash Carattbn actually received by such Indemnifying P&dual to five perce
(5%) of such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Indemibrtion of the Total Consideration.

(c) Except as otherwise set forth in tBisction 7.3(c), the maximum amount that the Indemnified Parties
recover from each Indemnifying Party und@ections 7.2(a)(ii)through Section 7.2(a)(ix)is an amount equal to the surr
(A) such Indemnifying Partg’ Pro Rata Escrow Portion of one hundred perced®%i) of the Escrow Amount and (B) «
hundred percent (100%) of the Closing Cash Corsimer actually received by such Indemnifying Paitptwithstanding th
foregoing, (A) nothing in this Agreement shall lintle liability of any Indemnifying Party who is@ompany Stockholder (a
this Article VII shall not be the sole and exclusive remedy in sgiesuch Indemnifying Party) in respect of anystes arisir
in connection with the matters described in
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Section 7.2(b)hereof; and (B) nothing in this Agreement shallitithe liability of any Indemnifying Party under yariRelate
Agreement.

(d) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary &mth in this Agreement, in no event shall anydnuhifyinc
Party who is an Executive Transaction Bonus Regtfbe liable under this Agreement for amounts icesg of such Indemnifyi
Party’s Pro Rata Escrow Portion of one hundredgrer(100%) of the Escrow Amount.

(e) Nothing in thisArticle VII shall limit the Liability of any party hereto fong knowing and willful breach
any representation or warranty contained in thiss&gent or any Related Agreement if the Merger dogslose.

() Notwithstanding anything to the contrary detrth in this Agreement, the parties hereto ages®
acknowledge that any Indemnified Party may briredgém for indemnification for any Loss under thigticle VIl notwithstandin
the fact that such Indemnified Party had Knowled§ehe breach, event or circumstance giving rissuoh Loss prior to ti
Closing or waived any condition to the Closing tetbthereto.

(g) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary &&th in this Agreement, all claims for indemnéton by ai
Indemnified Party for Losses pursuant to tArsicle VII shall be satisfied (i) first, from the Escrow Fusad (ii) second, to tl
extent permitted under, and subject to the linotai of, thisSection 7.3, against the Indemnifying Parties who are Com
Stockholders directly, but only to the extent thath Losses cannot be recovered from the Escrow. Fun

(h) No Indemnified Party shall be entitled tademnification underArticle VIl for punitive or exemplal
damages unless such damages are payable in re$pacthird Party Claim for which such Indemnifiedrg is entitled t
indemnification under thiérticle VII .

() Losses shall be calculated net of actuabvedes received by or on behalf of Parent or Stimgi Corporatio
under insurance policies (net of any actual codtgecovery or collection, deductibles, retroactipeemium adjustmen
reimbursement obligations or other costs direalgted to the insurance claim and deductibleshgrights of indemnification «
contribution; provided, however, that neither Pamor the Surviving Corporation shall have any ghlion to take any action
obtain such payments (except as contemplat&gation 5.22(b)).

() Any indemnification hereunder for Lossestwiespect to Taxes shall not include any Losses respect t
Taxes that arise as a result of the continuaticzootiuct related to Taxes after the Closing.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) if and solely te #xtent the amount of any Loss is recovered bindemnified Part
through the actual payment of a Payable Claim &isied below) to such Indemnified Party, the samewnt of such Loss m
not be recovered again by such Indemnified Partyelagon of such Loss being subject to indemnibeatinder more than o
provision of this Agreement and (ii) if and soldty the extent that any Loss in connection with ademnifiable Matter w:
specifically taken into account in connection withlculations of the Adjusted Net Equity Amount, Gamy ThirdParty
Expenses, Closing Indebtedness, or the UnpaidCRrging Taxes, the same amount of such Loss may&atcovered unc
Article VII , but, in the case of the immediately precedings#a (i) and (ii), the amount, if any, of Loss thateeds the amot
already recovered under clause (i) or already takiEnaccount under clause (ii) shall be recoveraii and subject to the ter
and conditions of thiérticle VII .
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7.4 Claims for Indemnification; Resolution odiiflicts .

(@) _Making a Claim for Indemnification; Officer Certificate. Parent (on behalf of itself and/or any o
Indemnified Parties) may seek recovery of Lossesyant to thisArticle VII by delivering to the Escrow Representative (an
the case of recovery sought from fewer than athefIndemnifying Parties, delivering to the apghiealndemnifying Parties) i
Officer's Certificate in respect of such claim (and, in tase of a claim against the Escrow Fund, with py cdelivere
simultaneously to the Escrow Agent). The date ohaielivery of an Officer's Certificate is referremherein as the Claim Date
" of such Officer’s Certificate (and the claims fademnification contained therein). For purposeebf, “Officer’'s Certificate ”
shall mean a certificate signed by any officer afdnt: (i) stating that an Indemnified Party hasl psustained or incurred or i
reasonably likely that it will have to pay, sustamincur Losses and including, to the extent reabty practicable, a nobinding
preliminary estimate of the amounts of such Lossek (i) specifying in reasonable detail the indivél items of Losses includ
in the amount so stated, the date each such itesrpaid, sustained or incurred, or the basis foh suticipated Liability, and tl
nature of the Indemnifiable Matter to which suahmnitis relatedprovided, howevethat the Officers Certificate need only spec
such information to the knowledge of such officeisach Indemnified Party as of the Claim Date, Ishai limit any of the right
or remedies of any Indemnified Party, and may laatgrl and amended from time to time by the IndesthiParty by deliverir
an updated or amended OfficeCertificate to the Escrow Representative or apple Indemnifying Party(ies), as the case
be. Following the delivery of an Officar'Certificate, the Escrow Representative and ftsesentatives and agents shall be ¢
all such access (including electronic access, d@itent available) as they may reasonably redqoitee books and records of
Surviving Corporation and access to such persomnegpresentatives of the Surviving Corporation Bagent, including but n
limited to the individuals responsible for the neastthat are the subject of the Offise€ertificate, as they may reasonably rec
for the purposes of investigating or resolving ahgputes or responding to any matters or inquiresed in the Officee
Certificate.

(b) _Objecting to a Claim for Indemnification

0] The Escrow Representative (or, in the case ofimdgainst fewer than all of the Indemnify
Parties, the applicable Indemnifying Parties) maject to a claim for indemnification set forth im ®fficer's Certificate b
delivering to Parent a written statement of ob@actio the claim made in the Officer's Certifican (* Objection Notice ");
provided, howeveithat, to be effective, such Objection Notice mustife delivered to the Indemnified Party prior t8® p.m
(California time) on the 30th day following the @aDate of the applicable Officer's Certificate ¢pudeadline, the Objection
Deadline” for such Officers Certificate and the claims for indemnificatiomtained therein) and (B) set forth in reasonabtait
the nature of the objections to the claims in respé which the objection is made. Notwithstandihg foregoing, the Escrc
Representative and each Indemnifying Party herediyenthe right to object to any claims in respdarmy AgreedUpon Loss.

(i) To the extent the Escrow Representative (or thdicgiype Indemnifying Parties, in the ev
that indemnification is being sought hereunder frimwer than all of the Indemnifying Parties) doex object in writing (a
provided inSection 7.4(b)(i)) to the claims contained in an Officer’'s Certifiegorior to the Objection Deadline for such Officer
Certificate, such failure to so object shall beiaavocable acknowledgment by the Escrow Repreteatgor the applicab
Indemnifying Parties, as the case may be) thalntiemnified Party is entitled to the full amounttbé claims for Losses set fc
in such Officer's Certificate (and such entitlemesttall be conclusively and irrefutably establishédhy such claim, an “
Unobjected Claim ”). Within 30 days of a claim becoming an Unobjecteai@| the Indemnifying Parties shall make
applicable payment to such Indemnified Party, stthifeSections 7.3, 7.4(egnd7.5.
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(c) _Resolution of Conflicts; Arbitration

0] In case the Escrow Representative (or the appédalolemnifying Parties in the case of a cl
for indemnification sought from fewer than all thelemnifying Parties) timely delivers an ObjectiNotice in accordance wi
Section 7.4(b)(i)hereof (other than in connection with Agreétpon Losses as defined 8ection 7.4(c)(v)hereof), the Escro
Representative (or such objecting Indemnifying Yaaind Parent shall attempt in good faith to agrpen the rights of tt
respective parties with respect to each of suchmslaEither party may, but shall not be obligated initiate norbindinc
mediation of the dispute with the assistance ofatnal arbitrator belonging to and under the rotethe CPR Institute for Dispt
Resolution. The party requesting the mediation|slrhnge for mediation services, subject to thpreyal of the other part
which shall not be unreasonably withheld. Mediagball take place in Los Angeles County, Califorthiging reasonable busin
hours and upon reasonable advance notice. Mediataynbe scheduled to begin at any time, but witleasdt ten (10) Busine
Days’ written notice to all parties. If one party inigagtmediation, the parties (i) shall participatéhie mediation in good faith a
shall devote reasonable time and energy to theatediso as to promptly resolve the dispute or kmtecthat they cannot reso
the dispute and (ii) shall not pursue other renmgediile such mediation is proceeding. If the Esci®epresentative (or t
objecting Indemnifying Parties) and Parent reaclgmeement, a memorandum setting forth such agréeshall be prepared a
signed by all applicable parties (any claims coddrg such an agreementSéttled Claims”). Any amounts required to be paic
a result of a Settled Claim shall be paid by thdemnifying Parties to the Indemnified Parties parguo the Settled Claim witt
30 days of the applicable claim becoming a Sefflledim, subject t&ections 7.3, 7.4(eggnd7.5.

(i) If no such agreement can be reached after goddriaiotiation (and, if applicable, mediati
prior to 45 days after delivery of an Objection idet either Parent or the Escrow Representativéh@iobjecting Indemnifyir
Party) may demand arbitration of the matter unfleesamount of the Loss that is at issue is theestilgif a pending litigation wi
a third party, in which event arbitration shall thet commenced until such amount is ascertainedtbrgarties agree to arbitrati
and in either such event the matter shall be seftyearbitration conducted pursuant3ection 9.9.

(iii) Except as set forth iSection 7.4(c)(vhereof, arbitration unde3ection 9.9shall apply to ar
dispute among the Indemnifying Parties and therimdfied Parties under thisrticle VIl hereof, whether relating to claims uj
the Escrow Fund or to the other indemnificationgadions set forth in thidrticle VII .

(iv) The decision of the arbitrator or a majority of theee arbitrators, as the case may be, as
validity and amount of any claim in such OfficerCertificate shall be final, binding, and conchesiupon the parties to tl
Agreement and the Indemnifying Parties. Such degishall be written and shall be supported by amitfindings of fact ar
conclusions which shall set forth the award, judgtnelecree or order awarded by the arbitrator(d$in@ determined t
arbitration as provided in thiSection 7.4(c)(iv)are referred to as Resolved Claims.” Within 30 days of a decision of 1
arbitrator(s) requiring payment by an IndemnifyPgrty to an Indemnified Party, such Indemnifyingt{?ahall make the payme
to such Indemnified Party, subjectSections 7.3(a) 7.4(e)and7.5.

(v) Arbitration underSection 9.9shall not apply to claims made in respect of (A) &gen
Interpleader Expenses or Agent Indemnification Esgs pursuant to clausdsi) and (vii) of Section 7.5(d)hereof, (B) th
matters set forth orSchedule 7.4(c)(v)hereto, and (C) any Dissenting Share Payments (e&c®), (B), and (C), an “
Agreed-Upon Loss”). Claims against the Escrow Fund made in respkahy AgreedUpon Loss shall be resolved in the mau
described irBection 7.4(b)(ii)hereof and shall be considered an Unobjected Glaéneunder.
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(d) _Payable and Unresolved Claim8 “ Payable Claim” shall mean a claim for indemnification of Los
under thisArticle VII , to the extent that such claim has not yet beésfisal by cash payment by the applicable Indemng
Parties directly to the Indemnified Party or byeede to the Indemnified Party of funds from ther&@scFund, that is (i)
Resolved Claim, (ii) a Settled Claim, or (iii) anndbjected Claim. An “Unresolved Claim ” shall mean any claim f
indemnification of Losses under thsticle VII specified in any Officer's Certificate deliveredrpuant toSection 7.4(a), to the
extent that such claim is not a Payable Claim aamlrfot been satisfied by cash payment by the aigididndemnifying Parti
directly to the Indemnified Party or release to ltdemnified Party of funds from the Escrow Fund.

(e) _Escrow Amount

(i) Subject toSections 7.4(a) 7.4(b) and7.4(c) above, by virtue of this Agreement and as p:
security for the indemnity obligations provided forSection 7.2hereof, the Indemnified Parties shall, in the marprevided it
Section 7.3(g), this Section 7.4(e)and Section 7.5, recover the amount of any Losses with respeathih the Indemnifie
Parties are entitled to indemnification hereundethie release of funds from the Escrow Fund.

(i) On the date any claim becomes a Payable Claim icchnan Indemnified Party is obligatec
has elected to seek recovery from the Escrow Feadh Indemnifying Partg’ Pro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Am
shall be irrevocably and immediately reduced by&ah®unt of such claim, and payment of such amawm the Escrow Fur
shall be made to the Indemnified Parties in aceuédawith Section 7.5(b)(i); provided, howeverthat, if and to the exteni
Payable Claim is not payable by all the IndemnifyfParties based on their Pro Rata Escrow Portach éndemnifying Party’
Pro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amount slba@l reduced by the amount of the Payable Claim payap sucl
Indemnifying Party. The dollar amount of the aggrtegreductions of the Escrow Amount shall redueeRhyable Claims by t
exact same dollar amount. If, as a result of trexeguling proviso in thiSection 7.4(e)(ii), the Pro Rata Escrow Portion of
Escrow Amount attributable to one or more IndemindyParties is reduced to zero before the Pro Eataow Portion of tr
Escrow Amount of one or more other Indemnifyingtiaris reduced to zero, then the Indemnified Parshall, to the exte
permitted by thiArticle VII , recover Payable Claims directly from those Indéying Parties whose Pro Rata Escrow Portic
the Escrow Amount has been fully depleted. If tiserBw Amount attributable to all the Indemnifyingrites is reduced to ze
then the Indemnified Parties shall, to the extemtptted by thisArticle VII |, recover all Payable Claims directly from
Indemnifying Parties by whom such Payable Clainespayable.

(iii) On the date that is thirty (30) days after the 8&ahDate (the period between the Closing [
and such date, theEscrow Period”), if and to the extent any Indemnifying PadyPro Rata Escrow Portion of the remai
Escrow Amount, after taking into account all redles and adjustments pursuantS3ection 7.4(e)(ii), exceeds the amount,
determined by Parent reasonably and in good f#igmn necessary to serve as security for any UnvedoClaims, then su
Indemnifying Partys Pro Rata Escrow Portion of the remaining EscramoAnt shall be reduced by the amount of such exar
a payment shall be paid from the Escrow Fund im@ance withSection 7.5(b)(ii)to each such Indemnifying Party so that ¢
such Indemnifying Party receives such excess anaitnittutable to it, him or her.

(iv) From and after the Escrow Period termination daté aach Indemnifying Partg entire Pr
Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amount has beéin dlepleted pursuant t8ection 7.4(e)(ii), Section 7.4(e)(iii)and the la:
sentence of thi$ection 7.4(e)(iv), an Indemnified Party shall promptly deliver t@ tBscrow Representative a notice, as
Unresolved Claim (whether or not such Unresolvesir@lexisted on the Survival Date) becomes reschgeeither a
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Payable Claim or a claim that is not a PayablenGlaif such resolution and either (A) if and to théent the Unresolved Cla
has been resolved as a Payable Claim, the Indesdritiarty shall specify the amount by which eaclenmaifying Partys Pro Rat
Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amount has been redificegher in accordance with and subjecSkction 7.4(e)(ii)as a result «
such Unresolved Claim becoming a Payable ClainBdif(and to the extent the Unresolved Claim hasnbeesolved as a cla
that is not entirely a Payable Claim, specify theifive amount, if any, at such time by which thhe Rata Escrow Portion of t
remaining Escrow Amount (after taking into accoalhtreductions and adjustments pursuarséation 7.4(e)(iijand all paymen
pursuant tdSection 7.4(e)(iii)and the last sentence of ti8ection 7.4(e)(iv)), attributable to each Indemnifying Party whose
Rata Escrow Portion of the remaining Escrow Amountld have been reduced if such Unresolved Claioh ieen entirely
Payable Claim, exceeds the aggregate amount, esrieéd by Parent reasonably and in good faithn thecessary to serve
security for the remaining Unresolved Claims (imohg Unresolved Claims that did not exist on thevival Date) that, i
successful, would be payable by such Indemnifyiagy? The Pro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Amattributable to ea
such Indemnifying Party referenced in the precediagse (B) shall be reduced by such positive exaesount, if any, specifi
in accordance with the preceding clause (B) thaitti$butable to such Indemnifying Party and a pagtrshall be paid from t
Escrow Fund in accordance wifiection 7.5(b)(ii)to each such Indemnifying Party referenced in tleegding clause (B) so tl
each such Indemnifying Party receives such posaieess amount attributable to it, him or her.

(v) Any funds to be distributed pursuant3ections 7.4(e)(iijand 7.4(e)(iv) (A) shall be rounde
to the nearest one hundredth (0.01) (with amouri®3and above rounded up); provided, that if ti@ ®f the final amoun
payable to the Indemnifying Parties, rounded asrde=d in this clause (A), does not equal the raimgi amount in the Escrc
Fund, then the appropriate amount will be addedulatracted from the Indemnifying Party with theajest Pro Rata Escr
Portion such that the sum of such final amountssdegual the remaining amount in the Escrow Fund (@)df subject t
applicable tax withholding, shall be returned tadpa before distribution, and Parent will then dgdand pay over to tl
appropriate Governmental Entity the appropriatewi#thholding amounts and distribute net funds te #pplicable Indemnifyir
Party.

(H  Executive Escrow Amount

(i) If, at any time prior to the one (1) year anniveysaf the Closing Date, the Named Execu
has voluntarily terminated his employment with Péafer any reason or Parent has terminated the Nd&recutives employmer
for Cause (as defined in the Named Executive’'s Employee Agreement) (collectively, aExecutive Termination Event,”
which, for purposes of clarity, shall not includestdeath or disability of the Named Executive)ntiRarent shall be entitled
deduct from the Executive Escrow Fund an amountletjuthe Executive Clawback Amount, calculatedagtordance wi
Section 7.4(f)(ii)as of the date of the Executive Termination Eveot. the avoidance of doubt, in no event shall tRecktive
Escrow Fund be available for any purpose, includimipout limitation, any indemnity claims pursuantSection 7.2(a), othe
than deduction by Parent pursuant to the termigBection 7.4(flupon the occurrence of an Executive TerminatiomEve

(i) The Executive Clawback Amount shall be calculatesd od the date of the Execut
Termination Event and shall be an amount of casfalelp the result of (x) $4,800,000 minfy3 the product of (A) $400,000 a
(B) the number of calendar months that have elapsed the Closing Date (measured on the same afadach month as t
Closing Date). If, as of the date of the Execufi@mination Event, the amount then remaining inExecutive Escrow Fund
less than the Executive Clawback Amount, then tBecess Executive Clawback Amount shall be an amount equal to (x)
Executive Clawback Amount minus (y) the then renmgnamount of the Executive Escrow Fund, which anmboshall b
recoverable by Parent pursuanSection 7.2(a)(x)
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(iii) For as long as any amount of the Executive EscrowdFemains, each month after
Closing Date, on the same date of each month a€ittwing Date occurred, the Executive Escrow Fumal e reduced |
$400,000 (or if the amount remaining in the ExaautEscrow Fund is less than $400,000, by such réngaiamount) (a “
Executive Escrow Release Amount) and a payment shall be made by the Escrow Agemnt free Executive Escrow Fund
each Indemnifying Party so that each such Indermgf{Party receives his, her or its Pro Rata Exgeutiscrow Portion of su
Executive Escrow Release Amount. Parent and theo®sRepresentative shall promptly deliver joint them instructions to tt
Escrow Agent directing the Escrow Agent to relemssuch Indemnifying Parties such amount from tRedsdtive Escrow Fun
For purposes of clarity, the Executive Escrow Fahdll be deemed to be reduced on the same datzlofnreonth as the Closi
Date occurred, regardless of the date on whiclEgoeow Agent disburses funds to the Indemnifyingi®a

(iv) Any funds to be distributed pursuant3ection 7.4(f)(iii) (A) shall be rounded to the nea
one hundredth (0.01) (with amounts 0.005 and alvouaded up); provided, that if the sum of the finalounts payable to t
Indemnifying Parties, rounded as described indtdase (A), does not equal the remaining amouttiérExecutive Escrow Fur
then the appropriate amount will be added or satadafrom the Indemnifying Party with the greatést Rata Executive Escri
Portion such that the sum of such final amounts @gapial the remaining amount in the Executive Egdrond and (B) if subje
to applicable tax withholding, shall be returnedParent before distribution, and Parent will thesdutt and pay over to 1
appropriate Governmental Entity the appropriatewi#thholding amounts and distribute net funds te #pplicable Indemnifyir
Party.

7.5 Escrow Arrangements

(@) _Escrow FundBy virtue of this Agreement and as partial seguior the indemnity obligations provided
in Section 7.2hereof, at the Closing, Parent will deposit witle tBscrow Agent the Escrow Amount and Executive @g
Amount without any act of the Indemnifying Partiesaccordance witlsection 1.10(b), such deposit of the Escrow Amount
Executive Escrow Amount to constitute an escrowdftibe governed by the terms set forth herein.H$wow Amount (plus ai
interest paid on such Escrow Amount in accordanitle 8ection 7.5(c)(ii)hereof) (collectively, the Escrow Fund”) shall be
available to compensate the Indemnified Partiesufigr claims by such parties for any Losses sufferadcurred by them and 1
which they are entitled to recovery under thdicle VIl . The Executive Escrow Amount (plus any interesd pan sucl
Executive Escrow Amount in accordance w&hction 7.5(c)(iiyhereof) (collectively, the Executive Escrow Fund”) shall bt
available to compensate the Indemnified Partietherterms and conditions provided under titicle VIl . The Escrow Agel
may execute this Agreement following the date heaea prior to the Closing, and such later exeeytibso executed after t
date hereof, shall not affect the binding naturthsf Agreement as of the date hereof betweenttier signatories hereto.

(b) _Satisfaction of Claims

0] If the Escrow Amount attributable to any Indemniiyi Party is to be reduced pursuar
Section 7.4(e)(ii), Parent and the Escrow Representative shall ptprdptiver joint written instructions to the Escrofgen
directing the Escrow Agent to release to the applie Indemnified Party an amount from the Escrowd=eiqual to the amount
each such reduction of the Escrow Amount, plusocarata portion (based on the amount of such reglucf the Escrow Amou
relative to the rest of the aggregate Escrow Ampoohall amounts in the Escrow Fund that exceedatigregate Escrow Amot
as of immediately before such release.

(i) If the Escrow Amount attributable to any Indemnikyi Party is to be reduced pursuar
Section 7.4(e)(iii)or the last sentence 8kction 7.4(e)(iv) Parent and the Escrow
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Representative shall promptly deliver joint writtieistructions to the Escrow Agent directing the lBacAgent to release to st
Indemnifying Party an amount from the Escrow Fuqdad to the amount of such reduction of the Eschamount, plus a pro ra
portion (based on the amount of such reductiomefEscrow Amount relative to the rest of the aggiedescrow Amount) of ¢
amounts in the Escrow Fund that exceed the aggrdétmirow Amount as of immediately before such ssggo that each st
Indemnifying Party receives such amount attribwgablit, him or her).

(c) _Protection of Escrow Fund

0] The Escrow Amount and Executive Escrow Amount shallinvested in the Escrow Agent’
U.S. Money Market Deposit Account, and any intepegt on such Escrow Amount or Executive Escrow Amahall be adde
to the Escrow Fund or Executive Escrow Fund, adiagipe, and become a part thereof. The Escrow Agéall hold an
safeguard the Escrow Fund during the Escrow Penmiithe Executive Escrow Fund during the periodipgieal for herein, she
treat such fund as a trust fund in accordance thighterms of this Agreement and shall hold andadisof the Escrow Fund &
Executive Escrow Fund only in accordance with #went of thisArticle VII . The interests of the Indemnifying Parties in
Escrow Fund and Executive Escrow Fund shall ndtdresferable without the prior written consent aféht.

(i) The parties hereto agree that Parent is the owfreamyocash in the Escrow Fund and Exect
Escrow Fund, and that all interest on or other lilxéncome, if any, earned from the investment wfhscash pursuant to t
Agreement shall be treated for tax purposes asddmg Parent. The Escrow Agent is hereby instruttedistribute to Parel
within thirty days after the end of each calendasarter, 20% of any such interest or other incorpented as earned.

(d) _Escrow Agens Duties.

0] The Escrow Agent shall be obligated only for thefguenance of such duties as are specific
set forth herein, and as set forth in any additieniéten escrow instructions which the Escrow Agaray receive after the date
this Agreement which are signed by an officer ofeRaand the Escrow Representative, and may relyshall be protected
relying or refraining from acting on any instrumeeasonably believed to be genuine and to have sigead or presented by
proper party or parties. The Escrow Agent shallb®tiable for any act done or omitted hereunddfstsow Agent while acting
good faith and in the exercise of reasonable judgn@ed any act done or omitted pursuant to thécadwf legal counsel shall
conclusive evidence of such good faith.

(i) The Escrow Agent is hereby expressly authorizedidcegard any and all warnings giver
any of the parties hereto or by any other Persgogming only orders or process of courts of lamg @& hereby expres:
authorized to comply with and obey orders, judgmentdecrees of any court. In case the Escrow Ageeys or complies wi
any such order, judgment or decree of any couetBbcrow Agent shall not be liable to any of thetipa hereto or to any otl
Person by reason of such compliance, notwithstanality such order, judgment or decree being subsélyueversed, modifie
annulled, set aside, vacated or found to have betared without jurisdiction.

(iii) The Escrow Agent shall not be liable in any respectccount of the identity, authority
rights of the parties executing or delivering orpamrting to execute or deliver this Agreement oy @ocuments or pape
deposited or called for hereunder.

(iv) The Escrow Agent shall not be liable for the expira of any rights under any statute
limitations with respect to this Agreement or amgdments deposited with the Escrow Agent.

(v) In performing any duties under this Agreement, Bserow Agent shall not be liable to «
party for damages, losses or expenses, exceptdss gegligence, bad faith or willful misconducttbe part of the Escrow Age
Subject to the foregoing sentence, the Escrow Aglealt not incur any such Liability
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for (A) any act or failure to act made or omitt&dgiood faith, or (B) any action taken or omitted@fiance upon any instrume
including any written statement of affidavit progaifor in this Agreement that the Escrow Agentlsinagjood faith believe to |
genuine, nor will the Escrow Agent be liable orp@ssible for forgeries, fraud, impersonations, etedmining the scope of a
representative authority. In addition, the EscrogeAt may consult with legal counsel in connectiath\werforming the Escro
Agent’s duties under this Agreement and shall be fulbtguted in any act taken, suffered, or permittethibyher in good faith i
accordance with the advice of counsel. The Escr@snd is not responsible for determining and venifythe authority of ar
Person acting or purporting to act on behalf of pasty to this Agreement.

(vi) If any controversy arises between the parties t® flgreement, or with any other pa
concerning the subject matter of this Agreemeattétms or conditions, the Escrow Agent will notrbguired to determine t
controversy or to take any action regarding it. Eserow Agent may hold all documents and the Es@owunt and may wait fi
settlement of any such controversy by final appedpriegal proceedings or other means as, in theol#sAgents discretion, me
be required, despite what may be set forth elseavhrethis Agreement. In such event, the Escrow Agéh not be liable fo
damages. Furthermore, the Escrow Agent may aptierg file an action of interpleader requiring {b&rties to answer and litigi
any claims and rights among themselves. The Esémswnt is authorized to deposit with the clerk of ttourt all documents a
the Escrow Amounts held in escrow, except all gastpenses, charges and reasonable attorney teeseidh by the Escrow Age
due to the interpleader action (th&gent Interpleader Expenses) and which the parties agree to pay as follows: 50%e pair
to Parent and 50% to be paid by the Indemnifyingti®a on the basis of the Indemnifying Partiesspective Pro Re
Consideration Portiongrovided, however that in the event any Indemnifying Party failstimely pay his, her or its Pro R
Consideration Portion of the Agent Interpleader éhges, the parties agree that Parent may at itsnopdy such Indemnifyir
Party's Pro Rata Consideration Portion of the Agent piéaxder Expenses and recover an equal amount (whalhbe deemed
Agreed-Upon Loss) from such Indemnifying PadyPro Rata Escrow Portion of the Escrow Fund. Uptiiating such action, tt
Escrow Agent shall be fully released and dischargk@nd from all obligations and liability imposday the terms of th
Agreement.

(vii) The parties and their respective successors andnasagree jointly and severally
indemnify and hold Escrow Agent harmless againgtand all losses, damages, liabilities and expemselsiding reasonable out-
of-pocket costs of investigation, counsel fees, inalgdlisbursements that may be imposed on EscrowntAge incurred b
Escrow Agent in connection with the performancat®fduties under this Agreement, including but wited to any litigatiol
arising from this Agreement or involving its sulijecatter, other than those arising out of the megice, bad faith or willfi
misconduct of the Escrow Agent (théAgent Indemnification Expenses’) as follows: 50% to be paid by Parent and 50%
paid by the Indemnifying Parties on the basis ef tdemnifying Parties’ respective Pro Rata Consitlen Portionsprovided
however, that in the event any Indemnifying Party failstimely pay his, her or its Pro Rata Consideratamtion of the Agel
Indemnification Expenses, the parties agree the¢rfeanay at its option pay such Indemnifying Partl?ro Rata Considerati
Portion of the Agent Indemnification Expenses amtbwer an equal amount (which shall be deemed aeefigUpon Loss) fror
such Indemnifying Party’s Pro Rata Escrow Portibthe Escrow Fund.

(viii) The Escrow Agent may resign at any time upon gidnkgast thirty (30) days writt
notice to Parent and the Escrow Representativeyided, however that no such resignation shall become effectintl the
appointment of a successor escrow agent which bhaadiccomplished as follows: Parent and the Es&epresentative shall t
their commercially reasonable efforts to mutually
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agree on a successor escrow agent within thirty ¢a@s after receiving such notice. If the parfabto agree upon a succes
escrow agent within such time, the Escrow Agenti $lave the right to appoint a successor escromtzgathorized to do busine
in the State of California. The successor escroenaighall execute and deliver an instrument acoguch appointment anc
shall, without further acts, be vested with all 8states, properties, rights, powers, and duti¢seopredecessor escrow agent
originally named as escrow agent. Upon appointroéatsuccessor escrow agent, the Escrow Agent Baalischarged from a
further duties and liability under this Agreement.

(e) _Fees All fees of the Escrow Agent for performance tf duties hereunder shall be paid by Pare
accordance with the standard fee schedule of tbeo®wsAgent. It is understood that the fees and lushiarges agreed upon
services of the Escrow Agent shall be consideredpemsation for ordinary services as contemplatethisyAgreement. In tt
event that the conditions of this Agreement aregnomptly fulfilled, or if the Escrow Agent rendeasy service not provided f
in this Agreement, or if the parties request a &rigl modification of its terms, or if any coneysy arises, or if the Escr
Agent is made a party to, or intervenes in, angdtion pertaining to the Escrow Fund or its subjeatter, the Escrow Agent st
be reasonably compensated for such extraordinavices and reimbursed for all costs, attorsdges, including allocated cost:
in—house counsel, and expenses occasioned by suahtdeéday, controversy or litigation.

() Successor Escrow Agentény corporation into which the Escrow Agent is ihdividual capacity may |
merged or converted or with which it may be cortaikd, or any corporation resulting from any mergemversion ¢
consolidation to which the Escrow Agent in its Wridual capacity shall be a party, or any corporatmwhich substantially all tl
corporate trust business of the Escrow Agent innitividual capacity may be transferred, shall he Escrow Agent under tl
Agreement without further act.

7.6 Third-Party Claims In the event Parent becomes aware of a thiny g&im (other than a claim that is the suk
of an AgreedUpon Loss) (a Third Party Claim ") which Parent reasonably believes may result innaaghel against the Escr
Fund or for other indemnification pursuant to thidicle VIl , Parent shall notify the Escrow Representative ifothe ever
indemnification is being sought hereunder from fewwn all the Indemnifying Parties, such appliealldemnifying Party)
such claim, and the Escrow Representative shathtided on behalf of the Indemnifying Parties (orthe event indemnificatic
is being sought hereunder from fewer than all tideimnifying Parties, the applicable Indemnifyingtiea shall be entitled),
their expense, to participate in, but not to deteenor conduct, the defense of such Third Partyn€lahe failure to so notify tt
Escrow Representative shall not relieve the Ind&rimg Parties of any Liability, except to the extemd only to the extent t
Escrow Representative demonstrates that the detdrsech action is materially prejudiced thereliythere is a third party clai
that, if adversely determined, would give rise tight of recovery for Losses hereunder, then (Khwespect to the first $200,C
incurred by the Indemnified Parties in defenselloduch thirdparty claims, 100% of such costs, regardless obtlieome of suc
claims, shall be deemed Losses hereunder, (B)regpect to the second $200,000 incurred by theminifeed Parties in defen
of all such thirdparty claims, 50% of such costs, regardless obtlieome of such claims, shall be deemed Lossesiihaee an
50% of such costs, regardless of the outcome df slagms, shall not be Losses hereunder and sbdbbne by the Indemnifi
Parties, (C) with respect to the any additionatxdscurred by the Indemnified Parties in defenkallosuch thirdparty claims
100% of such costs, regardless of the outcomedif slaims, shall be deemed Losses hereunder. Paralhthave the right in |
sole discretion to conduct the defense of, ancaetibes any such claingrovided, howevelthat, except with the written consen
the Escrow Representative (or, in the event indéaarion is being sought hereunder from fewer thtthe Indemnifying Partie
such applicable Indemnifying Parties), no settlemeh any such Third Party Claim with third partyaichants shall t
determinative of the existence or amount of Losskging to such matter or whether an IndemnifiadyPis entitled to
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indemnification pursuant to thisrticle VII ; provided further, howevethe consent of the Escrow Representative with rtdp
any settlement of any such Third Party Claim shelldeemed to have been given unless the Escrovwestapative shall ha
objected within thirty (30) days after receipt ofvatten request for such consent by Parent. Tleedis Agent shall not disbur
any portion of the Escrow Fund to any third partgept in accordance with joint written instructioeseived from Parent and
Escrow Representative. In the event that the EsdRepresentative has consented in writing to anyh settlement, tf
Indemnifying Parties shall have no power or autlgdd object under any provision of thisticle VII to the amount of any Thi
Party Claim by Parent against the Escrow Fundgainst the Indemnifying Parties directly, as theecenay be, with respect
such settlement constituting a Payable Claim. Uperreasonable request of the Escrow RepresentBtivent shall endeavor (
neither Parent nor any other Indemnified Party Ishal under any obligation, contractual or otheryise keep the Escrc
Representative reasonably apprised of the statesiaf Third Party Claim, provided that Parent shatlbe required to provi
access to any information that is subject to aépitiient privilege to the extent doing so, in t@nion of Parens counsel, wou
cause such privilege to be waived (in which cagemsaries of such privileged information will be neaalailable to the extent |
violating any such privilege) and the Escrow Repnéative shall have executed any common intereseagents or confidentiali
agreements reasonably requested by Parent. Natavitting anything in this Agreement to the contranjs Section 7.6shall no
apply to any third party claim that is the subjecan AgreedUpon Loss. Claims made in respect of any Agréfabn Loss she
be resolved in the manner describe&eattion 7.4(b)(ii)above.

7.7 _Escrow Representative

(@) The Escrow Representative is hereby apmbiaseof the date hereof as the exclusive agenttaochey it
fact of the Indemnifying Parties as the Escrow Rsentative for and on behalf of the Indemnifyingtiea to give and recei
notices and communications in connection with thgreement and related matters, including in conaecwith claims fo
indemnification under thidrticle VIl and to agree to, negotiate, and enter into settiespadjustments and compromises of,
demand arbitration and comply with orders of coartd awards of arbitrators with respect to, suaintd, and to take all otf
actions that are either (i) necessary or apprapiiatthe judgment of the Escrow Representativetieraccomplishment of t
foregoing or (ii) specifically mandated by the terof this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoitigg Escrow Representat
shall have no obligation to act on behalf of thdeimnifying Parties, except as expressly providegiheand for purposes
clarity, there are no obligations of the Escrow fRepntative in any ancillary agreement, schedwhibé or the Disclosul
Schedule. Such agency may be changed by the InflenghParties from time to time upon not less thian (10) days pric
written notice to Parenprovided, however that the Escrow Representative may not be remawntks holders of a majority-in-
interest of the Escrow Fund agree to such remawélta the identity of the substituted agent. A vexyain the position of Escrc
Representative may be filled by the holders of gontg-in-interest of the Escrow Fund. No bond shall be meguof the Escro
Representative. Notices or communications to omfrthe Escrow Representative shall constitute notaeor from th
Indemnifying Parties. The powers, immunities amghts to indemnification granted to the Escrow Repngative and the Advisc
Group hereunder: (i) are coupled with an interest shall be irrevocable and survive the death, mmmetence, bankruptcy
liquidation of the respective Indemnifying Partydashall be binding on any successor thereto, ansh@ll survive the delivery
an assignment by any Indemnifying Party of the whaylany fraction of his, her or its interest ie thscrow Fund.

(b) Certain Indemnifying Parties have enterdd nletter agreement with the Escrow Represemtativprovid:
direction to the Escrow Representative in connactiih the performance of its services under thgse®ment (such Indemnifyi
Parties, including their individual representativesllectively hereinafter referred to as theA@visory Group ”). Neither th
Escrow
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Representative (together with its members, manadeestors, officers, contractors, agents and egg®s) nor any member of
Advisory Group (collectively, the Escrow Representative Group”) shall be liable for any act done or omitted hereural
Escrow Representative while acting in good faitd anthe exercise of reasonable judgment. The Imifging Parties on who:
behalf the Escrow Amount was contributed to ther@sd=und shall indemnify the Escrow Representafiveup and defend a
hold the Escrow Representative Group harmless stgaiy Loss, Liability or expense incurred withoegligence, bad faith
willful misconduct on the part of the Escrow Repmtstive Group and arising out of or in connectidgth the acceptance
administration of the Escrow Representative Grsufities hereunder, including the reasonable fedseapenses of any lei
counsel or other skilled professionals retainedtiy Escrow Representative Escrow Representative Expense€). The
immunities and rights to indemnification shall suevthe resignation or removal of the Escrow Regmé&stive or any member
the Advisory Group and the Closing and/or any teation of this Agreement. The Indemnifying Parteeknowledge that tl
Escrow Representative shall not be required torekpe risk its own funds or otherwise incur anyaficial liability in the exercis
or performance of any of its powers, rights, dutegrivileges or administration of its duties. I6aling the termination of tt
Escrow Period and the resolution of all pendingntéamade by the Indemnified Parties for LossesEdmrow Representative st
have the right to recover the Escrow Representa&iymenses first, from the Expense Fund, second fnoynremaining portion
the Escrow Fund prior to any distribution to thdémnifying Parties (and prior to any such distritait shall deliver to the Escrc
Agent a certificate setting forth the Escrow Repngative Expenses actually incurred) and thirdeally from the Indemnifyin
Parties. Upon receipt of such certificate, the &scAgent shall pay such Escrow Representative Esgerio the Escrc
Representative. Parent agrees to consent in witiitige distribution, to the extent permitted heydéfi so requested by the Esci
Agent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the EscrowpiReentatives right to recover Escrow Representative Expenkal so
prejudice Parent’s right to recover the full amoohindemnifiable Losses that Parent is entitlecetmver from the Escrow Fund.

(c) Upon the Closing, Parent shall wire to tlserféw Representative $150,000 (thExpense Fund Amount”).
The Expense Fund Amount shall be held by the Es&epresentative as agent and for the benefit dinthemnifying Parties in
segregated client account and shall be used fopuhgoses of paying directly, or reimbursing thefesentative for, any Escr
Representative Expenses incurred pursuant to tiieefnent or any Escrow Representative letter agree(the “Expense Func
"). The Escrow Representative will hold the ExpensedFsgparate from its corporate funds and will nduntarily make i
available to its creditors in the event of bankeyptThe Escrow Representative is not providing amwestment supervisic
recommendations or advice and shall have no regplitysor liability for any loss of principal oftte Expense Fund other than
result of its gross negligence or willful miscontdu€he Escrow Representative is not acting as hhelting agent or in al
similar capacity in connection with the Expense d;uend has no tax reporting or income distributidigations hereunder. .
soon as reasonably determined by the Escrow Reyedise that the Expense Fund is no longer requivdae withheld, Escro
Representative shall distribute the remaining Egpdfund (if any) to the Escrow Agent (or directithie Paying Agent or Part
if so instructed) for further distribution to thedemnifying Parties.

(d) The Escrow Representative shall be entitted(i) rely upon the Spreadsheet, (ii) rely upary aignatur
believed by it to be genuine, and (iii) reasonasgume that a signatory has proper authorizatisigtoon behalf of the applical
Indemnifying Party or other party. A decision, ainsent or instruction of the Escrow Represergatincluding but not limited
an amendment, extension or waiver of this Agreerparguant t&ection 8.3andSection 8.4hereof, shall constitute a decisior
the Indemnifying Parties and shall be final, birgdand conclusive upon the Indemnifying Parties sunth Indemnifying Partg’
successors as if expressly confirmed and ratifiedriting by such Indemnifying Party; and each imiéfying Party waives ar
and all defenses which may be available to
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contest, negate or disaffirm the action of the &scRepresentative taken in good faith under thisesAment. The Escrow Age
and Parent may rely upon any such decision, aoseard or instruction of the Escrow Representats/deing the decision, a
consent or instruction of the Indemnifying Parti€he Escrow Agent and Parent are hereby relievath fny Liability to an
Person for any acts done by them in accordancesuith decision, act, consent or instruction ofikerow Representative.

7.8 _Tax Treatment Any payment undedrticle VIl of this Agreement shall be treated by the parted £S. federa
state, local and non-U.S. income Tax purposespascase price adjustment unless otherwise reghirexpplicable law.

7.9 Cost Basis Reporting. Subject to the Company’s compliance with the comemaSection 5.19(c}o provide suc
information to Parent on the Spreadsheet, and witimany way limiting the Indemnified Partiegght to be indemnified for ai
inaccuracies in the Spreadsheet in accordancethatiterms of thidirticle VIl , Parent and Company shall affirm in writing
Paying Agent whether the securities being exchangettemed, or sold pursuant to the underlying &gent are classified
“Covered Securities” or “Non-Covered Securitiagider IRS Cost Basis Reporting regulations notr ldten 30 days after t
distribution hereunder. If such securities are gifeesl as “covered Securitiesthen Parent and the Surviving Corporation
provide accurate and complete cost basis informatioPaying Agent for purposes of Form 1@®%®reparation. The requir
information shall include each Company Stockhoklelate of acquisition and cost basis of the applecaecurity, and any ott
information that the Paying Agent may reasonabfuest to comply with IRS Form 10®+eporting regulations. The forego
information shall be based on the information sethfin the Spreadsheet, unless Parent or the \&BugvCorporation determi
that any such information was inaccurate.

ARTICLE VIII

TERMINATION, AMENDMENT AND WAIVER

8.1 _Termination. Except as provided isection 8.2hereof, this Agreement may be terminated and theg#
abandoned at any time prior to the Closing:

(@) by mutual agreement of the Company and Raven

(b) by Parent or the Company if the Closing Dstt@ll not have occurred by November 30, 20dyvided
however, that the right to terminate this Agreement unities Section 8.1(b)shall not be available to any party whose actic
failure to act has been a proximate cause of atezbsin the failure of the Merger to occur on efdre such date and such ac
or failure to act constitutes breach of this Agreain

(c) by Parent if the Initial Stockholder Consemtecuted by the Company Stockholders that reprebe
Requisite Stockholder Vote is not delivered to Rawmthin twelve (12) hours following the exchangesignature pages to tl
Agreement by Parent, Sub and the Company purso&sdtion 5.1(ahereof;

(d) by Parent or the Company if any Governmeht#ity shall have enacted, issued, promulgatefhreed o
entered any statute, rule, regulation, executiekemprdecree, injunction, order or other legal estrwhich is in effect and whi
has the effect of making the Merger illegal;
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(e) by Parent if there shall be any action takerany statute, rule, regulation or order enggbedmulgated ¢
issued or deemed applicable to the Merger by anyefdanental Entity, which would constitute an ActimiiDivestiture;

(N by Parent if it is not in material breachitsf obligations under this Agreement and eitheth@re has beer
breach of any representation, warranty, covenanagseement of the Company contained in this Agre¢nsech that tt
conditions set forth isection 6.2(ahereof would not be satisfied and such breach babaen cured within twenty (20) Busin
Days after written notice thereof to the Compgmgvided, howevey that no cure period shall be required for a bneabich by
its nature cannot be cured, or (ii) any of the d¢omas to Closing inArticle VI for the benefit of Parent are incapable of b
satisfied on or before the date specifie®éction 8.1(b), or

(g) by the Company if the Company is not in matéreach of its obligations under this Agreemand eithe
(i) there has been a breach of any representatiamanty, covenant or agreement of Parent contdimétis Agreement such tt
the conditions set forth i®ection 6.3(a)hereof would not be satisfied and such breach badbeen cured within twenty (2
Business Days after written notice thereof to Pammovided, howeverthat no cure period shall be required for a drealich by
its nature cannot be cured, or (ii) any of the @boks to Closing inArticle VI for the benefit of the Company are incapabl
being satisfied on or before the date specifie8antion 8.1(b).

8.2 _Effect of Termination In the event of termination of this Agreementpevided inSection 8.1hereof, thi
Agreement shall forthwith become void and therdldfeano Liability or obligation on the part of Raut or the Company, or th
respective officers, directors or stockholdergpplicablejprovided, however, that each party hereto and each Person shalin
liable for any knowing and willful breaches of ttAgireement or any Related Agreements prior toatmination; andgrovidec
further, however, that, the provisions dbection 5.3(Confidentiality), Section 5.4(Public Disclosure)Section 5.17(Expenses
Section 7.3(d)(Maximum Payments; Remedysticle IX (GENERAL PROVISIONS) and thiSection 8.2shall remain in fu
force and effect and survive any termination of thgreement pursuant to the terms of thiticle VI

8.3 _Amendment This Agreement may be amended by the partiestdhvet any time by execution of an instrumel
writing signed on behalf of the party against whenforcement is sought. For purposes of ®egtion 8.3, the Indemnifyin
Parties agree that any amendment of this Agreesigned by the EscroWRepresentative shall be binding upon and effe
against the Indemnifying Parties whether or noy theve signed such amendment.

8.4 _Extension; Waiver At any time prior to the Closing, Parent, on tme hand, and the Company and the Es
Representative, on the other hand, may, to thenelégally allowed, (i) extend the time for the joemance of any of tt
obligations of the other party hereto, (ii) waiveyanaccuracies in the representations and waesmntiade to such party contai
herein or in any document delivered pursuant heratal (iii) waive compliance with any of the covet® agreements
conditions for the benefit of such party contaifeein. Any agreement on the part of a party het@tany such extension
waiver shall be valid only if set forth in an ingtnent in writing signed on behalf of such partyr porposes of thiSection 8.4,
the Indemnifying Parties agree that any extensionvaiver signed by the Escrow Representative dialbinding upon ar
effective against all Indemnifying Parties whetbenot they have signed such extension or waiver.
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ARTICLE IX

GENERAL PROVISIONS
9.2 _Notices All notices and other communications hereundieil e in writing and shall be deemed given ifiviaiec
personally or by commercial messenger or courigrig® or mailed by registered or certified magt(rn receipt requested)
sent via facsimile (with acknowledgment of complétnsmission) to the parties at the following a&ddes (or at such ot
address for a party as shall be specified by ligdca or, if specifically provided for elsewhere fhis Agreement such
Section 4.3, by email);provided, however, that notices sent by mail will not be deemed giuatil received:

(a) if to Parent, to:

Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.
1601 Cloverfield Blvd.

Suite 620 South

Santa Monica, CA 90404
Attention: General Counsel
Facsimile No.: 1 (310) 752-0199

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Gwgtion
650 Page Mill Road

Palo Alto, CA 94304

Attention: Rachel B. Proffitt

Facsimile No.: (650) 493811

(b) if to the Company or the Escrow Represeveato:

Fortis Advisors LLC

Attention: Notice Department
Email: notices@fortisrep.com
Facsimile No.: (858) 408-1843

with a copy to (which shall not constitute notice):

Goodwin Procter LLP

135 Commonwealth Drive
Menlo Park, CA 94025
Attention: Lawrence M. Chu
Facsimile No.: (650) 853-1038

(c) If to an Indemnifying Party, to its addressset forth in the Spreadsheet.
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(d) If to the Escrow Agent, to:

U.S. Bank National Association
Corporate Trust Services

One California Street, Suite 1000
San Francisco, California 94111
Attention: John Collins

Facsimile No.: (415) 673769

9.2 _Interpretation

(@ The words “include,” “includes” and “includj” when used herein shall be deemed in each case
followed by the words “without limitation.”

(b) The table of contents and headings contaiméis Agreement are for reference purposes ondyy shall nc
affect in any way the meaning or interpretatiothi§ Agreement.

(c) The words “hereof,” “herein” and “herewitlahd words of similar import shall, unless otherwssated, b
construed to refer to this Agreement as a wholerado any particular provision of this Agreement,

(d) Article, section, paragraph, exhibit andestiie references are to the articles, sectionsgpaphs, exhibi
and schedules of this Agreement unless otherwiseifsgd.

(e) The meaning assigned to each term definegirhshall be equally applicable to both the siagund th
plural forms of such term, and words denoting aagder shall include all genders. Where a word oagshis defined herein, e:
of its other grammatical forms shall have a coresiing meaning.

(N A reference to any party to this Agreementaay other agreement or document shall includé gacty’s
successors and permitted assigns.

(g) A reference to any specific legislation orainy provision of any legislation shall includeyaamendment t
and any modification or repactment thereof, any legislative provision stibstd therefor and all regulations and statt
instruments issued thereunder or pursuant thereto.

(h) No summary of this Agreement or any exhaoischedule delivered herewith prepared by or dralb®f any
party will affect the meaning or interpretationtbis Agreement or any such exhibit or schedule.

(i) With respect to the determination of anyipérof time, “from” shall mean “from and includinggnd “to”
shall mean “to but excluding.”

() Documents or other information and materiggll be deemed to have beemade available” by the
Company if and only if the Company has posted sudmtuments and information and other materials tortaal data roor
managed by the Company at https://wwwnal.rrdveoud.prior to 9:00 a.m. on the date hereof.

(k) Dollar thresholds shall not be indicative what is material or create any standard with respe an
determination of a Material Adverse Effect.
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9.3 _Counterparts This Agreement may be executed in any numbeoohterparts, each of which shall be enforce
against the parties actually executing such copates, and all of which together shall constitutee anstrument. A facsimil
telecopy or other reproduction of this Agreemenyrba executed by one or more parties hereto andededl by such party |
facsimile or any similar electronic transmissiorvide pursuant to which the signature of or on blebauch party can be se
Such execution and delivery shall be considereid viainding and effective for all purposes. At tieguest of any party hereto,
parties hereto agree to execute and deliver ainatigf this Agreement as well as any facsimiléedepy or other reproducti
hereof.

9.4 _Entire Agreement; AssignmentThis Agreement, the exhibits hereto, the DiaalesSchedule, the Confiden
Disclosure Agreement and the Related Agreementsofistitute the entire agreement among the pasiidsrespect to the subje
matter hereof and supersede all prior agreementaiaderstandings both written and oral, among Hréigs with respect to t
subject matter hereof, (ii) are not intended tofepmpon any other Person any rights or remediesuneler except that (4
Article VII shall be for the benefit of not only the partiesehe but also each of the Indemnified Parties &)dSection 5.22hal
also be for the benefit of the Company Indemniteesl, (iii) shall not be assigned by operation @f & otherwise, except tt
Parent may assign its rights and delegate its afodigs hereunder to its affiliates as long as Rammains ultimately liable for :
of Parent’s obligations hereunder.

9.5 _Severability In the event that any provision of this Agreetamthe application thereof, becomes or is dedldy
a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegaljd/@r unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreemét continue in full force
and effect and the application of such provisiowtteer Persons or circumstances will be interpreteds reasonably to effect
intent of the parties hereto. The parties furttgFea to replace such void or unenforceable pravieidhis Agreement with a va
and enforceable provision that will achieve, to eéxent possible, the economic, business and qthgroses of such void
unenforceable provision.

9.6 _Other RemediesExcept as otherwise set forth herein, any ahealedies herein expressly conferred upon a
will be deemed cumulative with and not exclusiveany other remedy conferred hereby, or by law eitgaqipon such party, a
the exercise by a party of any one remedy willpretlude the exercise of any other remedy.

9.7 _Governing Law; Exclusive JurisdictionThis Agreement shall be governed by and condtiuaccordance with tl
laws of the State of Delaware, regardless of thes ldnat might otherwise govern under applicablagiples of conflicts of law
thereof. Subject t&ection 4.2(b), Section 7.4(a)and Section 9.9hereof, each of the parties hereto irrevocably eotssto th
exclusive jurisdiction and venue of any court witktie State of Delaware, in connection with anytendiased upon or arising
of this Agreement or the matters contemplated hesgrees that process may be served upon thenyimanner authorized
the laws of the State of Delaware for such Persmaswaives and covenants not to assert or pleadlgegtion which they mig
otherwise have to such jurisdiction, venue and guohess. Subject ®ection 4.2(b), Section 7.4(ajandSection 9.%hereof, eac
party agrees not to commence any legal proceedéatgted hereto except in such courts.

9.8 _Rules of Constructian The parties hereto agree that they have beeasemted by counsel during the negotie
and execution of this Agreement and, thereforeyvevaine application of any law, regulation, holdiagrule of constructic
providing that ambiguities in an agreement or ottiecument will be construed against the party oh@fsuch agreement
document.

9.9 _Resolution of Conflicts; Arbitration Subject taSection 4.2(b), Section 7.4(c)and Section 9.9(d), any claim ¢
dispute arising out of or related to this Agreementhe interpretation,
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making, performance, breach or termination therslodll (except as specifically set forth in thisrégment) be finally settled
binding arbitration in the County of Los Angelesli®rnia in accordance with the then current Conruiaé Arbitration Rules ¢
the American Arbitration Association and judgmepbn the award rendered may be entered in any ¢@mwing jurisdictiol
thereof. The arbitrator(s) shall have the authdotgrant any equitable and legal remedies thatdvbe available in any judici
proceeding instituted to resolve a dispute.

(@) _Selection of Arbitrators Such arbitration shall be conducted by a singldtrator chosen by mutt
agreement of Parent and the Escrow Representatiteg Company, if such arbitration occurs priothite Closing). Alternativel
at the request of either party before the commeroéraf arbitration, the arbitration shall be cortedcby three independs
arbitrators, none of whom shall have any competiiivterests with Parent or Escrow Representativeh@ Company, if sut
arbitration occurs prior to the Closing). Parend &scrow Representative (or the Company, if subltration occurs prior to tt
Closing) shall each select one arbitrator. Theawasitrators so selected shall select a third adaitr

(b) Discovery. In any arbitration under thiSection 9.9, each party shall be limited to calling a totaltlofee
witnesses both for purposes of deposition and thdration hearing. Subject to the foregoing lirtita on the number
witnesses, the arbitrator or arbitrators, as trse aqaay be, shall set a limited time period andbéistaprocedures designed
reduce the cost and time for discovery while allayvihe parties an opportunity, adequate in the jsdigment of the arbitrator
majority of the three arbitrators, as the case byto discover relevant information from the oppggarties about the subj
matter of the dispute. The arbitrator, or a majaoit the three arbitrators, as the case may bd, rsi@ upon motions to compel
limit discovery and shall have the authority to mep sanctions for discovery abuses, including radi@’ fees and costs, to 1
same extent as a competent court of law or egsiityuld the arbitrators or a majority of the threateators, as the case may
determine that discovery was sought without sulistajustification or that discovery was refused abjected to withol
substantial justification.

(c) Decision The decision of the arbitrator or a majority lé tthree arbitrators, as the case may be, as
claim or dispute (including the validity and amouwfiany indemnification claim set forth in an Offits Certificate) shall be fin:
binding, and conclusive upon the parties to thise&gent. Such decision shall be written and shalslpported by writte
findings of fact and conclusions that shall sethfahe award, judgment, decree or order awardethbyarbitrator(s). Withi
30 days of a decision of the arbitrator(s) reqgirpayment by one party to another, such party shake the payment to st
other party, including any distributions out of thecrow Fund, as applicable.

(d) _Other Relief The parties to the arbitration may apply to artofi competent jurisdiction for a tempor
restraining order, preliminary injunction or othiaterim or conservatory relief, as necessary, withareach of this arbitrati
provision and without abridgement of the powerghefarbitrator(s).

(e) _Costs and Expensedhe parties agree that each party shall paywits costs and expenses (incluc
counsel fees) of any such arbitration, and eacty paives its right to seek an order compelling atiger party to pay its portion
its costs and expenses (including counsel feegrfprarbitration.

(H Confidentiality. The parties agree that any claim or disputeragisut of or related to this Agreement, or
interpretation, making, performance, breach or teation thereof, shall be treated a€dnfidential Information ” in accordanc
with, and as defined by, the terms set forth inGbafidential Disclosure Agreement.

81




9.10 _Certain Procedures for Opening an Escrosodnt. To help the government fight the funding of eeism an
money laundering activities, federal law requirdimaancial institutions to obtain, verify and @@ information that identifie
each Person who opens an account. For anmtmidual Person such as a business entity, atghartrust or other legal entity t
Escrow Agent will ask for documentation to verifg formation and existence as a legal entity. Toerdwv Agent may also ask
see financial statements, licenses, identificatiod authorization documents from individuals claighauthority to represent 1
entity or other relevant documentation.

9.11 _Leqal Counsel The parties hereto acknowledge that Wilson Swniabodrich & Rosati, Professional Corpora
(* WSGR ") has represented Parent and Goodwin Procter LLBdodwin ") has represented the Company, in each ce
connection with the negotiation and execution &f fkgreement, the Related Agreements and the ttdosa contemplated here
and thereby, and neither WSGR nor Goodwin has taikam to represent any other party in connectierethith.

9.12 _Waiver of Representations; DisclaimeExcept as expressly set forth in this Agreemérd, Certificates, tt
Related Agreements or the Disclosure SchedulenpPao&knowledges that (a) none of the Company ngioémer Person has me
any representation or warranty, express or impksdo the Company, the accuracy or completeneasyinformation regardir
the Company furnished or made available to Pafdetger Sub and their representatives, includingheut limitation, an
internal budgets, plans, projections or forecastsahy period made by or on behalf of the Compédrgng kind or nature, or a
other matter related to the transactions contemgblaerein, and (b) Parent and Merger Sub haveelietiron any representatior
warranty from the Company or any other Person terd@ning to enter into this Agreememitrovided, however that that th
foregoing shall not apply to claims for Losses parg toSection 7.2(a)(vii)and/orSection 7.2(b).

ARTICLE X
TAXES

10.1 _Cooperation Each of Parent, the Company Stockholders, the Bs&epresentative, and the Company ¢
cooperate fully, as and to the extent reasonalyjyested by any of the others, in connection withfiling of Tax Returns ar
any legal proceeding with respect to Taxes. Sudp@&ation shall include the retention and (upomuestjtherefor) the provisi
of records and information reasonably relevant g auch legal proceeding and making employees aMailon a mutual
convenient basis to provide additional informatéord explanation of any material provided hereunBarent, the Company, ¢
the Company Stockholders agree to retain all baeoksrecords with respect to Tax matters pertinetihhé Company relating
any taxable period beginning before the ClosingeDettil expiration of the statute of limitationstbk respective taxable peric
and to abide by all record retention agreementsredtinto with any Governmental Entity with juristion over tax matters (*
Tax Authority ).

10.2 _Tax ReturnsParent shall prepare or cause to be prepared,ilendrfcause to be filed all Tax Returns of
Company for any Pre-Closing Tax Period, including &traddle Period, that are required to be filigrahe Closing Date (the “
Pre-Closing Tax Returns”). For all such Preclosing Tax Returns, (i) Parent shall deliver aftdod any such income or ott
material Tax Return that reflects a Tax for whibl tndemnifying Parties are liable to the Escroypr@sentative for review a
comment at least fifteen (15) Business Days pher filing thereof; and (ii) Parent shall considergood faith any reasona
changes or comments that the Escrow Represengativaits to Parent no less than seven (7) Businags prior to the due ds
for such Tax Return. For the avoidance of doubé-Fosing Tax Returns shall include any filings, staénts, agreements
other Tax Returns filed pursuant to a state volyndésclosure initiative or similar program.
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10.3 _Tax Contests Parent and the Company, on the one hand, andCtmpany Stockholders, the Esci
Representative and each of their Affiliates, on olieer hand, shall promptly notify each other upeceipt by such party
written notice of any inquiries, claims, actiongijts, assessments, audits or similar proceedingsents with respect to Tas
relating to a Pre-Closing Tax Period (&dx Matter ”). Any failure to so notify the other party of any Tisbatter shall not relie
such other party of any Liability with respect tach Tax Matters.

10.4 _RefundsExcept to the extent attributable to the carridoaicany Tax Attribute or Tax benefit generatedeathe
Closing Date, the Company Stockholders shall beélesto the amount of any refund or credit for qpayment of Taxes of tl
Company attributable to a P@esing Tax Period to the extent such refund oditres actually recognized by Parent or
Affiliates, net of any reasonable out-of-pocket @xpes and any nandemnified Tax cost to Parent of obtaining sudimd ol
credit. To the extent such refund or credit forrpaement is subsequently disallowed or requirebdet@eturned to the applica
Tax Authority, the Company Stockholders agree tommtly repay the amount of such refund or creditdieerpayment, togett
with any interest, penalties or other additionaloants imposed by such Tax Authority to Parent. ther avoidance of doul
Parent shall not be under any obligation to segkefund of Taxes.

10.5 _Amendments; Election®arent shall not amend any Tax Return of, or noalaange any Tax election (includ
without limitation pursuant to Section 338 of thedg) with respect to the Company for a Tax periodirgg on or before ti
Closing Date without the Escrow Representaiarior written consent, which shall not be unreaddy withheld, conditioned
delayed, unless such amendment or change is rddaiRarent’s sole reasonable discretion to avwdrnposition of penalties.

10.6 _Xerox ReceivableIn the event the Company determines, after ctasah with Parent in good faith, that ¢
amount is required to be included in the calcutatbd Unpaid PreZlosing Taxes on or prior to the Closing Date ooocant o
sales Taxes that the Company failed to collect fo@nsactions entered into with Xerox Corporatiad/ar any of its subsidiarie
then, notwithstanding any other provision of thigréement to the contrary, the Company shall be itteimto invoice Xero
Corporation and/or its appropriate subsidiarieglieramount of such sales Taxes and the amoun¥eiéed shall be treated as
account receivable (theXerox Receivable”) and a Current Asset for purposes of determiningAttiigsted Net Equity Amou
set forth on the Closing Statement; provided, haxethat such invoiced amount shall not be treatedn account receivable ¢
Current Asset for purposes of the PG#tsing Statement (but any amounts collected ipeetsof such account receivable as o
date on which the Post-Closing Statement is dediyéo the Escrow Representative pursuai@dction 1.8(b)shall be treated a:
Current Asset for such purpose).

(Remainder of page intentionally left blank)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Sub, the Company, therdv Agent and the Escrow Representative haveedaini
Agreement to be signed, all as of the date fir#tevr above.

CORNERSTONE ONDEMAND, INC.

By: /s/ Adam Miller
Name: Adam L. Miller
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Sub, the Company, therdv Agent and the Escrow Representative haveedaini
Agreement to be signed, all as of the date fir#tevr above.

DATA ACQUISITION SUB, INC.

By: /s/ Adam Miller
Name: Adam Miller
Title: Chief Executive Officer, President & Secigta

(Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Sub, the Company, therdv Agent and the Escrow Representative haveedaini
Agreement to be signed, all as of the date firgtevr above.

EVOLYV INC.

By: /s/ Maxwell Simkoff
Name: Maxwell Simkoff
Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger)
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Parent, Sub, the Company, therdv Agent and the Escrow Representative haveedaini
Agreement to be signed, all as of the date fir#tevr above.

ESCROW AGENT:

U.S. BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION

By: /s/ John Collins
Name: John Collins
Title:  Trust Officer

ESCROW REPRESENTATIVE:

FORTIS ADVISORS LLC

By: /s/ Ryan Simkin
Name: Ryan Simkin
Title:  Managing Director

(Signature Page to Agreement and Plan of Merger)
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Exhibit 21.1
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
SUBSIDIARIES:

Cornerstone OnDemand Global Operations, Inc. (Datajv
Cornerstone OnDemand Holdings, Inc. (Delaware)
Cornerstone OnDemand Limited (United Kingdom)
Cornerstone OnDemand Services India Private Linfitedia)
Cornerstone OnDemand Spain SL (Spain)

Evolv Inc. (Delaware)

Sonar Limited (New Zealand)



Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N8-B34198, 333-189389, 333-180311,
333-173754) of Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc. of oponedated February 27, 2015 relating to therfaia statements and the effectiveness o
internal control over financial reporting, whichpagars in this Form 10-K.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Los Angeles, California
February 27, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(A)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Adam L. Miller, certify that:

1.

2.

3.

4,
(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)

5.
(@)
(b)

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FofrKlof Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitede a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtf@ periods presented in this
report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdorbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfirial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgagding the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presantbd report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@s persons performing the
equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisa@ttifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Adam L. Miller
Adam L. Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2015



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 302(A)
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

[, Perry A. Wallack, certify that:

1.

2.

3.

4,
(@)
(b)
(c)
(d)

5.
(@)
(b)

| have reviewed this Annual Report on FofrKlof Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corsajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omgitede a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistances under which such statements were madmisleding with respect to tl
period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementsoéimer financial information included in this repdairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, andtf@ periods presented in this
report;

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | aesponsible for establishing and maintaining disate controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registramd &ave:

Designed such disclosure controls and proesdar caused such disclosure controls and proesdorbe designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsubsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly dgrite period in which this report is being prepared

Designed such internal control over finanogdorting, or caused such internal control ovearfirial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuramgagding the reliability of financial reporting atfte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presantbd report our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyéport based on such
evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in thastegnt's internal control over financial reportittgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regastt's internal control over financial reporting;dan

The registrant’s other certifying officer and | leadisclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorterhal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of directf@s persons performing the
equivalent functions):

All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that inved management or other employees who have aisa@ttifole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/sl Perry A. Wallack
Perry A. Wallack
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 27, 2015



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Adam L. Miller, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.Ce@&ion 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 9@tedbarbane®xley Act of 2002, the
the Annual Report of Cornerstone OnDemand, Indzam 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 3142wlly complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and tifiatmation contained in such Annual
Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all materéspects, the financial condition and resultspdrations of Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.

/s/ Adam L. Miller
Adam L. Miller
President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2015



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Perry A. Wallack, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S$&ction 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section B Garbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that the Annual Report of Cornerstone OnDemand,dnd-orm 10-K for the fiscal year ended Decemtegr2814 fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéearExchange Act of 1934, as amended, and tifiatnmation contained in such Annual
Report on Form 10-K fairly presents, in all materéespects, the financial condition and resultspdrations of Cornerstone OnDemand, Inc.

/sl Perry A. Wallack
Perry A. Wallack
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 27, 2015



